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Part 1 – BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

Item 1. Business 
 
1.1 Organization, Brief Description and Recent Developments    
 
Filinvest REIT Corp. (formerly, Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) (the “ParentCompany” or “Company”)  or 
(“FILRT”) was registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on January 14, 2000.  Its 
primary purpose is to acquire by purchase, lease, donate and/or to own, use, improve, develop, subdivide, 
sell, mortgage, exchange, hold for investment and deal with real estate of all kinds.  
 
In August 12,2021, the Company completed its initial public offering, and was listed and currently traded 
in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) as a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) entity.  

  
As a REIT entity, the Company is entitled to the following: (a) not subject to 2% minimum corporate 
income tax (MCIT), (b) exemption from value-added tax (VAT) and documentary stamp tax (DST) on the 
transfer of property in exchange of its shares, (c) deductibility of dividend distribution from its taxable 
income, and (d) fifty percent (50%) of the standard DST rate on the transfer of real property into the 
Company, including the sale or transfer of any and all security interest thereto, provided they have 
complied with the requirements under Republic Act (RA) No. 9856 and Implementing Rules and 
Regulations (IRR) of RA No. 9856.  

.  
The Parent Company is a subsidiary of Filinvest Land, Inc. (“FLI”), a subsidiary of Filinvest Development 
Corporation (“FDC”).  A.L. Gotianun Inc. (“ALG”) is the Company’s ultimate Parent Company.  FLI, FDC 
and ALG were all incorporated in the Philippines. 

 
FILRT, formerly CPI, began commercial operations on May 1, 2001. FILRT is registered with PEZA as an 
Economic Zone Facilities Enterprise, which entitles FILRT to certain tax benefits and non-fiscal incentives 
such as paying a 5% tax on its gross income in lieu of payment of local and national taxes.  FILRT is a 
qualified enterprise for the purpose of VAT zero-rating of its transaction with its local suppliers of goods, 
properties and services related to its provision of services to PEZA-registered enterprises. The VAT-zero 
rating shall not apply to FILRT’s facilities at Filinvest Axis Towers One, Vector Three and Filinvest 
Cyberzone Cebu Tower 1.  FILRT owns and operates the IT buildings in Northgate Cyberzone, an 18.7-
hectare Special Economic Zone within Filinvest City in Alabang Muntinlupa. The land where FILRT built 
its buildings in Northgate Cyberzone is owned by its parent FLI, under a long-term land lease agreement. It 
also has a Build-Transfer- Operate (BTO) agreement with the Cebu Province for a project named Filinvest 
Cyberzone Cebu occupying a land area of 12,290 square meters which currently has two operational 
buildings and two more under construction. 
 
FILRT became one of the first companies to operate as a major BPO-centric lease provider outside Makati, 
Bonifacio Global City, and Ortigas. Anticipating the traffic congestion in these districts, FILRT took 
advantage of building on the land owned by FLI in Alabang, Muntinlupa City. 
 
A PEZA-registered IT Park, as defined by PEZA, is an area that provides infrastructures and other support 
facilities required by IT Enterprises, as well as amenities required by professionals and workers involved in 
IT Enterprises, who will have easy access to such amenities. The combined competitive advantage of its 
location and the benefits of its PEZA registration attract BPO companies to lease office spaces in Northgate 
Cyberzone. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

As of end 2021, there are sixteen (16) fully operational office buildings in Northgate Cyberzone as follows: 
 

Existing Buildings  
Building Name GLA 

(SQM) 
Office 

& 
Retail 

Occupancy 
Rate as of 
End 2021 

 PEZA 
Registered 

LEED 
Certification 

Rental 
Income (in 

millions 

Valuation (in 
millions) 

Plaz@ A 10,860 100.0% Yes N.A. 100 1,655 
Plaz@ B 6,488 80.7% Yes N.A. 56 893 
Plaz@ C 6,540 100.0% Yes N.A. 57 1,034 
Plaz@ D 10,860 83.2% Yes N.A. 81 1,483 
Plaz@ E 14,859 100.0% Yes N.A. 145 2,421 
Capital One 
Building 

18,000 100.0% Yes N.A. 187 2,998 

5132 Building 9,409 100.0% Yes N.A. 86 1,443 
iHub 1 9,480 59.6% Yes N.A. 56 1,449 
iHub 2 14,181 100.0% Yes N.A. 128 2,336 
Vector One 17,764 92.0% Yes N.A. 150 2,769 
Vector Two 17,889 100.0% Yes N.A. 164 3,134 
Vector Three 36,345 68.3% Yes LEED Gold 226 6,053 
Filinvest One  19,637 100.0% Yes N.A. 184 3,423 
Filinvest Two 23,784 100.0% Yes N.A. 210 4,180 
Filinvest Three 23,784 44.7% Yes N.A. 101 3,716 
Axis Tower One 40,869 88.7% Yes LEED Gold 363 6,442 

 
FILRT also developed and operates the Filinvest Cyberzone Cebu located in Lahug, Cebu City, Cebu, 
wherein Tower One is fully operational and is included in the assets of FILRT: 
 

Building Name GLA (SQM) 
Office & Retail 

Occupancy 
Rate as of End 

2021 

PEZA 
Registered 

Rental Income 
(in millions 

Valuation (in 
millions) 

Cebu Tower One 20,612 99.1% Yes 164 3,118 
 

 
Moving forward, FILRT will remain to be focused on its office space leasing business and will continue to 
look for opportunities to expand its portfolio of investment properties both in existing and new locations. 
With the Northgate Cyberzone property fully developed in terms of land space, FILRT has the option to 
replace existing structures with taller structures to increase GLA or it may expand beyond the property into 
the land owned by FLI and FAI within the Filinvest City through several land use arrangements – purchase, 
lease or joint venture. Future expansion of FILRT can come mainly from the projects of its sponsor FLI, 
which includes Axis towers 2,3, and 4 in Alabang and Cyberzone Cebu, Towers 2, 3 and 4 over the next 
two years. The Parent Company is also looking at other potential properties in Cebu for development into 
other office spaces. Beyond these two locations, FILRT is also looking at the potential of other cities as 
possible sites for future Cyberzones. 
 
1.2 Equity investment  
 
The Parent Company was the holding company of ProOffice Works Services, Inc. (ProOffice). On  
March 18, 2019, ProOffice was incorporated to engage in the business of administration, maintenance and 
management of real estate developments and projects.  ProOffice has started its commercial operations on 
August 1, 2019.  On December 23, 2020, the Parent Company entered into a Deed of Assignment to sell its 
interest in ProOffice to Filinvest Land, Inc. (FLI) for a total consideration of  
17.16 million.  Accordingly, the Parent Company lost control over ProOffice. The transaction has no 
material impact to the consolidated financial statements. 

 
 
 
 



 
 

1.3 Target Market & Revenue Contribution 
 
FILRT’s office space leasing business has primarily targeted multinational Business Process Outsourcing 
(BPO) companies locating their operations in the Philippines.  

 
The Business Processing Outsourcing Industry 
Business Process Outsourcing (BPO) is the contracting of the operations and performance of certain 
business processes to a third-party service provider. The third-party service providers perform certain “non-
core” business processes such as accounting, customer service and IT services for multinational global 
enterprises.  BPOs are usually categorized into back office outsourcing, which involves internal business 
functions such as human resources, IT,  accounting, and front office outsourcing, which involves customer-
related services such as contact center services. The industry is divided further into sub-segments such as 
Knowledge Processing Outsourcing (KPO) and Legal Process Outsourcing (LPO) based on the functions 
they do or the industries they serve. The processes that are transferred to these third-party service providers 
are often information-technology based and are done through the use of different technology platforms 
which allows these service providers to be based offshore. 

 
The rationale for BPO services has always been the flexibility it offers to their client companies and the cost 
savings it generates from locating in the Philippines specifically from lower employee wages and tax 
incentives given by Philippine government through PEZA. The transfer of ‘non-core’ functions such as 
accounting, IT, and HR allows companies to focus on its ‘core’ revenue-generating functions while 
ensuring that these support functions still reach a certain level of quality required by the client company 
through service level agreements (SLAs) with these third-party service providers. Client companies also 
benefit from best practices and economies of scale that BPO companies are able to harness from their broad 
experience and focus in performing these functions for clients from different industries which is able to 
reduce bottlenecks usually associated with the outsourced functions. However, the headline benefit and 
continuing driver for the BPO industry is still the significant cost savings it offers client companies. Studies 
have shown that by moving outsourcing support functions companies can save between 30-50% in 
operational costs. With most BPO companies charging on a fee-for-service setup, client companies are able 
to turn what would have been fixed costs into variable costs which can adjust to the specific needs of the 
business. 
 
The global business process outsourcing (BPO) market size is expected to grow at a compound annual 
growth rate of 8.5% starting 2021. And its value is projected to reach $435.89 billion in 2028. This could be 
the result of companies accepting the work-from-home model and using project outsourcing as a way to 
boost their operations post-COVID. (*Source: Yahoo Finance News: The Most In-Demand BPO Services in 
2022, According to Experts [DesignRush QuickSights] (yahoo.com) 
 
Business process outsourcing in the Philippines accounts for 10 to 15 percent of the global BPO market, 
where the local BPO sector has grown at a compound annual rate of 10% over the past decade.  The 
Philippines has also consistently ranked among the top five outsourcing destinations in the world. 
 
The IT-BPM industry has delivered a multitude of direct and indirect benefits and remains a critical pillar 
of the Philippine economy, especially when it comes to job creation for millions of Filipinos.  
 
The Philippines’ Business Process Outsourcing or BPO industry has been the backbone of the country’s 
economy since its beginnings in the early ‘90s contributing nearly $30 billion to the country’s economy 
each year. Now more than ever, the Philippines’ Business Process Outsourcing industry continues to be a 
lifesaver, not just for the economy, but for over 1.3 Million Filipinos. According to a 2021 article, more 
than a million Filipinos were employed in over 1,000 BPO companies in 2019, showing an average of  8-
10% growth annually. With 10-15% of the global BPO market held by the Philippines,  the industry is 
expected to increase its revenue by 8% (vs. 1.4% in 2020) by the end of 2021. (*Source: Sourcefit: Factors 
that shaped 2021 for BPOs in the Philippines) 
 
The Philippines’ steady growth trajectory continues to attract many investors from abroad to establish or 
expand their operations here. BPOs are also seen to continue to diversify from voice services to more 
specialized and higher-skilled processes such as healthcare outsourcing, legal outsourcing, and animation 
which will make it more resilient from a slowdown in growth. According to the revised 2022 Roadmap 
outlined by the IT & Business Processing Association of the Philippines (IBPAP), they expect headcount 
growth at 2.7 percent to 5 percent, or around 1.37 million to 1.43 million full-time employees, and industry 



 
 

revenues amounting of $29.09 billion with a Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) of 3.2 percent to 5.5 
percent in the next two years.  
*Sources: IT and Business Process Association Philippines (IBPAP) Website: 
https://manilastandard.net/business/it-telecom/340042/bpo-sector-expects-recovery-with-revenue-of-29b-by 
2022.html 

 
Philippine Offshore Gaming Operators (POGO) 
Offshore gaming refers to the offering by a licensee of PAGCOR – authorized online games of chance via 
the internet using a network and software program – exclusively to offshore authorized players excluding 
Filipinos abroad, who have registered and established an online gaming account with the licensee.  
 
 The pandemic that causes foreign travel ban of Chinese work force to go back to the Philippines, the 
demand of POGOs to lease office buildings dramatically declined. 
 
Demand for office space in Metro Manila is still largely driven by Information Technology and Business 
Process Management (IT-BPM) companies, specifically for the ecommerce, logistics, healthcare, IT, 
Medical encoding industries as they need space for their back office, customer support operations, IT and 
technical support. 

 
Filinvest REIT Corp. (FILRT) Tenancy profile 
FILRT has the following profile of tenants in Northgate Cyberzone and Cebu Cyberzone as of end 2021: 
 

Tenant sector breakdown by 2021 total rent 
 

  
  
  
  

  
 
 

2021 No.  of tenants GLA sqm % 
BPO 27 239,245.91 91% 
Offshore gaming services 1 2,306.40 1% 
Traditional office and others 17 20,451.57 7% 
Retail 12 1,545.55 1% 
Total Area leased  263,549.43 100% 
 
FILRT has the largest BPO companies in the Philippines as its current tenants. Some of its major tenants 
are Capital One, Genpact, Concentrix CVG, Synchrony, Accenture and Optum Global Solutions Inc, among 
others.  In recent years, to reduce its concentration risk, FILRT I has worked to diversify the types of BPO 
companies leasing its office spaces. 



 
 

  
The Parent Company believes that its tenant base is committed to continue doing business in the Philippines 
in the foreseeable future through further expansions. The Parent Company is not dependent on  a single 
tenant,  and no single  tenant would account for at least 20% of the Parent Company’s revenues. The Parent 
Company is also continually looking to diversify its tenant base even further to prevent reliance on a single 
tenant. 

 
FILRT offers two types of leasing: standard office spaces and build-to-suit office spaces. Standard office 
spaces refer to the standard properties designed, developed, and constructed by FILRT to cater to the 
general needs of any prospective tenant specifically Multinational BPO firms, Regional Office Head 
Quarters (ROHQ). These properties would have the basic features and amenities that FILRT has 
determined. Build-to-suit office spaces are properties designed  and built according to the clients’ 
specifications. Majority of the Parent Company’s business is from leasing out its standard office spaces 
with build-to-suit projects accounting for only about 5% of FILRT’s total leasing business. 
 
The Parent Company has a standard set of terms and conditions that are the basis of contracts signed with 
potential tenants. Some of these terms are: 
 
 A minimum lease term of 3 years for leasing of standard office spaces and 10 years for build-to-suit 

office spaces, with most leases on a 5-year average lease term  
 5% escalation in lease rates starting on the 3rd year for a 5-year lease term and 5% escalation in lease 

rates starting on the 2nd on a 3-year lease term. 
 The tenant must put up a security deposit worth 3 months of rent that generally increase subject to 

corresponding rent adjustment/ escalation. This security deposit will be forfeited in case the tenant 
preterminates the contract without prior notice or before the pretermination option, or if there are issues 
encountered such as non-payment of rent. 

 For POGO, six (6) months security deposits and at three (3) to six (6) months advance rent based on 
rate of last year of lease term but payable upfront. Note that we continue our focus to lease to global 
BPO and ROHQ and Traditional firms and not POGOs 

 When the Contract of Lease is signed, the tenant must pay advance rent for 3 months. 
 Pretermination option after the 3rd year with 6 months prior written notice from the tenant and subject 

to three (3) months penalties payable to FILRT.  
 The tenant is subject to rental penalties and interest if unable to pay rent  

 
These terms and conditions are still subject to change through negotiations on the final leasing contract, and 
upon agreement by both FILRT and the potential tenant. The Parent Company does not currently have any 
issues with any of its existing tenants. 
 
1.4 Lease Marketing  
 
FILRT has engaged ProOffice Works Services Inc (ProOffice) to provide property management service 
including leasing of spaces.  ProOffice primarily makes use of in-house leasing and marketing teams of an 
affiliate Filinvest Cyberparks Inc (FCI). One of regular practices is to approach its existing lessees in the 
property if they are interested to expand. 
 
Another approach being used by ProOffice to attract new lessees is through the services of professional, 
multinational commercial real estate leasing agents /brokers (including, but not limited to Jones Lang 
LaSalle, Santos Knight Frank, Colliers, CB Richard Ellis and Leechiu Property Consultants). These brokers 
work on a non-exclusive basis and earn commissions based on the term of the lease except for the Filinvest 
Cebu Cyberzone buildings located in IT Park Metro Cebu City wherein Santos Knight Frank is the 
exclusive leasing agent but also earn commission base on the term of the lease 
 

 
1.5 Competition 
 
The Company faces significant competition in the office leasing market in Metro Manila and Metro Cebu. 
The Company believes that it competes with companies in the office leasing industry such as Megaworld 
Corporation, SM Prime Holdings, Inc., Ayala Land, Inc., Robinsons Land, Inc and Eton Properties 
Philippines, Inc.in Metro Manila, and Ayala Land, Inc. and Megaworld Corporation in Metro Cebu.  
According to “Business and Properties - Competition” and industry report of Jones Lang Lasalle 



 
 

Philippines, the office supply in Metro Manila is expected to grow by 1.5 million sq.m.  from 2021 to 2025, 
and that office supply in Metro Cebu is expected to grow by 358,950 sq.m. from 2021 to 2025.  
 
The Company may have to compete on pricing to maintain its competitiveness, which may decrease its 
margins. The Company may also need to incur additional operating and capital expenditure to maintain or 
improve the quality of its properties. Further, the increase in office supply, the effect of the COVID-19 
pandemic on demand for office space, and potential downside risks to demand recovery may lead to slower 
or negative net absorption of tenants leading to higher vacancy rates and downward pressure on rental rates. 

 
The Parent Company believes that one of its major strengths besides its superior build of its IT park, brand 
and reputation is the cost of space which is generally lower in Alabang as compared to Makati, Ortigas, or 
BGC. 

 
According to JLL’s 4Q 2021 Property Market Overview and Leechiu Property Consultants’ Philippine Real 
Estate 4Q 2021 Market Insights, Muntinlupa City, Alabang is still one of the cheapest options for BPOs, 
Traditional and ROHQs locators in terms of the cost of office leasing which makes it an attractive location 
for their companies which aim to minimize their costs. 

  
Cost of Office Space 

Location 
Monthly average asking rents 
for offices in Metro Manila in 

Php/sq.m. for year 2021 

Est. Total Vacant as 
of end 2021  (GLA 

sq. m.) 
Makati CBD (Prime and 

Grade A Buildings) 1,300 – 1,400  668,700 

BGC 1300 – 1,400 433,620 

Ortigas, Pasig, Mandaluyong, 700 - 800 1,000,040 

Quezon City 700 - 800 884,230 

Bay City 800 - 850 1,277,000 

Alabang/Muntinlupa 600 -700 375,200 
*Sources: JLL 4Q 2021 Property Market Overview and Leechiu Property Consultants 
Philippine Real Estate 4Q 2021 Market Insights  

  
 

Some of the Parent Company’s major competitors include: 
 
Ayala Land, Inc. (ALI) 
Ayala Land is real estate arm of the Ayala Group, one of the largest conglomerations in the Philippines. 
Ayala Land is one of the largest real estate corporations in the country with businesses in residential 
properties, office space leasing, and shopping malls. ALI has office buildings in most major business 
districts in Metro Manila and Cebu, and is anchored by its premier properties in the Makati Central 
Business District, Bonifacio Global City, and Cebu IT Park. ALI believes their strength to be their branding 
and reputation, quality of support services provided by the property manager, rental rates, and the quality 
and premier locations of their office buildings.  
 
Robinson’s Land Corporation (RLC) 
Robinson’s Land Corporation is the real estate arm of the JG Summit Holdings Inc., the holding company 
of Gokongwei family. RLC is involved in the development and operation of shopping malls and hotels, and 
the development of mixed-use properties, office and residential buildings, as well as land and residential 
housing developments, including socialized housing projects located in key cities and other urban areas 
nationwide. Some of its marquee properties include the Cybergate Towers along EDSA in Mandaluyong 
and the Robinsons Summit Center in Makati. RLC was also one of the pioneers of setting up office spaces 
for BPO within their mall developments. RLC believes their strength to be their branding, the quality of 
their office spaces, and the location of these office spaces being in the heart of Metro Manila. 

 
Eton Properties Philippines, Inc. 
Eton Properties is the real estate brand of the Lucio Tan Group which develops residential, commercial, and 
office buildings. Eton Properties has two major office developments, Eton Centris in Quezon City and Eton 
Cyperbod Corinthian in Ortigas.  



 
 

SM Prime Holdings, Inc. 
SM Prime Holdings Inc. is the real estate arm of the Sy family led SM Group which has operations in 
residential properties, offices, malls, and hotels. It is most well-known for operating the SM Malls chain, 
the largest mall chain in the Philippines, and also office leasing. 
Megaworld Corporation 
Megaworld is the real estate arm of Andrew Tan’s Alliance Global Group Inc. It is a diversified real estate 
company with businesses in residential properties, malls, hotels, and office buildings. Megaworld is the 
largest provider of BPO office spaces. Most of Megaworld’s office properties are located in Bonifacio 
Global City with a total GLA of 300,000 square meters making them the largest owner of office buildings 
in that business district. Megaworld office leasing segment also has a significant presence in its Eastwood 
property in Libis, Quezon City. Megaworld believes that its advantages are their reputation and brand, the 
quality of their properties, and the optimal location of their properties.  

 
1.6 Intellectual Property and Trademarks 
 
The following trademarks were registered with the Philippine Intellectual Property Office (IPO) with a term 
of ten (10) years: 
 

Mark Date of Registration 
FILREIT 01 August 2021 
FILRT 01 August 2021 
FILINVEST REIT CORP. 8 October 2021 
FILINVEST REIT CORPORATION 8 October 2021 
FILINVEST REIT 12 November 2021 

 
1.7 Government and Environmental Regulations 
 
The real estate business and office space leasing business in the Philippines is subject to significant 
government regulations over among other things, land acquisition, development planning and design, and 
construction. 
 
Approval of development plans is conditioned on, among other things, completion of the acquisition of the 
project site and the developer’s financial, technical and administrative capabilities. Approvals must be 
obtained at both the national and local levels, and the Parent Company’s results of operations are expected 
to continue to be affected by the nature and extent of the regulation of its business, including the relative 
time and cost involved in procuring approvals for each new project, which can vary from project to project.  
 
PEZA Regulations 
Republic Act No. 7916 (“R.A. 7916”) provided for the creation and management of Special Economic 
Zones, which are selected areas with highly developed or which have the potential to be developed into 
agro-industrial, industrial tourist/recreational, commercial, banking, investment, and financial centers. 
 
PEZA is the government agency that is mandated to operate, administer and manage these designated 
Ecozones. These Ecozones are generally established by a proclamation issued by the President of the 
Philippines, upon the recommendation of the PEZA. 
 
Enterprises offering IT services (such as call centers, and BPO using electronic commerce) are entitled to 
fiscal and non-fiscal incentives if they are PEZA-registered locators in a PEZA-registered IT Park, IT 
Building, or Ecozone. An IT Park is an area capable of providing infrastructures and other support facilities 
required by IT enterprises, as well as amenities required by professionals and workers employed in these 
enterprises, or easy access to such amenities. An IT Building is an edifice, a portion or the whole of which, 
provides such infrastructure, facilities, and amenities. PEZA requirements for the registration of an IT Park 
or IT Building may differ depending on location. These PEZA requirements include clearances or 
certifications issued by the city or municipal legislative council, the DAR, the National Water Resources 
Board (“NWRB”), and the DENR. 
 
Prior to becoming a REIT, the Company enjoys a preferential tax rate of 5% on gross income from 16 of its 
buildings in Northgate Cyberzone, from tenants that are also PEZA registered. Likewise, the BPO/IT 
companies who lease office space in Northgate or Cebu Cyberzone which are PEZA-registered enjoy 
certain tax incentives as follows: 



 
 

 Exemption from the payment of all national and local taxes, such as gross receipts tax, value-
added tax, ad valorem tax, excise tax, income tax, documentary stamp tax, percentage taxes, and 
all other taxes found in the National Internal Revenue Code. 

 Exemption from the payment of all local government impost, fees, licenses, or taxes including 
local business tax, transfer tax on the sale of real property, real estate taxes (except real estate tax 
on the land), community tax, mayor's permit fee, sanitary fee, other regulatory fees and other taxes 
and fees found in the Local Government Code and particularly in the Tax Ordinance of the local 
government unit where the economic zone is located. 

 In lieu of the exemption from national and local taxes, the ECOZONE enterprise shall pay a 5% 
preferential tax on gross income, which is split between the City Treasurer of Muntinlupa (2/5) and 
BIR (3/5).  For an ECOZONE export enterprise, the following are considered to be allowable 
deductions from net sales/revenues: 

o Direct salaries, wages, or labor expenses 
o Service or production supervision salaries 
o Raw materials 
o Goods in process 
o Finished goods 
o Supplies and fuels used in production 
o Depreciation of machinery, equipment and buildings owned and/or constructed 
o Financing charges associated with fixed assets 
o Rent and utility charges for buildings, equipment, and warehouses, or handling goods 

 Exemption from duties and taxes on imported capital equipment, spare parts, raw materials, and 
supplies. 

 Exemption from wharfage dues, export tax, impost, or fee 
 For the first five years of operation, additional deduction equivalent to one-half of the wages paid 

corresponding to the increment in the number of direct labors for skilled and unskilled workers 
 

Effective August 12, 2021, as a REIT entity, the Parent Company is entitled to the following: (a) not 
subject to 2% minimum corporate income tax (MCIT), (b) exemption from value-added tax (VAT) 
and documentary stamp tax (DST) on the transfer of property in exchange of its shares, 
(c) deductibility of dividend distribution from its taxable income, and (d) fifty percent (50%) of the 
standard DST rate of the transfer of real property into the Company, including the sale or transfer of any 
and all security interest there to, provided they have complied with the requirements under RA No. 9856 
and Implementing Rules and Regulations (IRR) of RA No. 9856. 
 
Environmental Regulations 
FILRT has complied with all applicable Philippine environmental laws and regulations. FILRT’s 
compliance with environmental laws is dictated by and in accordance with the environmental laws and 
regulations applicable to specific and individual projects. Compliance with such laws, in FILRT’s opinion, 
is not expected to have a material effect on FILRT’s capital expenditures, earning or competitive position. 
The cost of such compliance is not significant and FILRT does not keep a separate account thereof. 

 
1.8 Employees and Labor 
 
Management believes that FILRT’s current relationship with its employees is generally good. The Parent 
Company has not experienced a work stoppage or any labor related disturbance as a result of labor 
disagreements. None of FILRT’s employees belongs to a labor union. FILRT currently does not have an 
employee stock option plan. 
 
There are no significant arrangements between FILRT and its significant employees to assure that these 
persons will remain with FILRT and not compete with it upon their termination. FILRT, however, relies on 
its good relationship with its senior managers and significant employees to ensure loyalty. FILRT likewise 
provides managers, supervisors and general staff the opportunity to participate in both in-house and external 
training and development programs which are designed to enhance skills, to improve productivity, to 
develop leadership and to prepare employees for future assignments. These programs range from the 
orientation of new employees to technical training for engineers and customer service. FILRT has also 
provided a mechanism through which managers and staff are given feedback on their job performance, 
which FILRT believes will help to ensure the continuous development of its employees. FILRT also offers 
employees benefits and salary packages that it believes are in line with industry standards in the Philippines 
and which are designed to help the Parent Company compete in the marketplace for quality employees. 



 
 

1.9 Related Party Transactions 
 
A summary of the FILRT’s related party transactions in 2021 and 2020 are shown in the following table: 

                                                            2021  

 
Amount/ 
Volume 

Outstanding 
balance Terms Conditions Note 

Bank under common control      
Cash and cash equivalents P= 2,219,841,487 P=2,219,841,487 0.1010% to 3.75% No impairment 17 (a) 
Interest income 4,062,940 –    

 P= 2,223,904,427 P=2,219,841,487    

Trade receivables (Note 5)    

Parent CompanyRental revenue P= 25,827,386 P=4,140,316
Noninterest-bearing; 
due and demandable Unsecured 17 (b) 



 
 

Affiliate    

Rental revenue 96,513,930 29,374,766

Noninterest-bearing; 
  collectible every 20th 

day of the month Unsecured 17 (b) 
Service fee income (Note 21) 31,381,132 – Noninterest-bearing Unsecured 17 (b) 
Commission income (Note 21) – – Noninterest-bearing Unsecured 17 (d) 

 P= 153,722,448 P=33,515,082    

Other Noncurrent Asset    
Affiliate    
 DCS connection charge 
  (Note 11) (148,925,007) P=203,626,962  No impairment 17 (f) 
 Connection fees (Note 11) (9,568,811) (6,595,943)    
 (P=138,992,197) P=197,031,019    

Accounts payable and accrued 
 expenses (Note 12) 

Parent Company 

Rental expense (P=41,183,886) (P=41,183,886)
Noninterest-bearing;

payable on demand Unsecured 17 (c) 
Affliliate   

         Service and energy fees  (12,276,703) (34,050,962) Noninterest-bearing Unsecured 17 (f) 
  
Affiliate  

 Service fee (9,925,905) (4,024,132)
Noninterest-bearing;

payable on demand Unsecured 17 (d) 
Management fee,  
 manpower cost and others (6,843,411) (6,843,411)

Noninterest-bearing;
payable on demand Unsecured 17 (d) 

 (P=70,229,905) (P=86,102,391)

Lease liabilities 

 
Parent Company 

Lease liabilities (Note 20) (P=2,162,276,983) P=– 
Noninterest-bearing;

payable Unsecured 17 (c) 

Other Noncurrent Liabilities    
Parent Company 
 Security deposit P=549,299  (P=7,827,359) 

Noninterest-bearing;
payable Unsecured 17 (b) 

Affiliate   Noninterest-bearing;  
 Security deposits 6,732,636 (20,866,382) payable Unsecured 17 (b) 
 P=7,281,935 (P=28,693,741) 

 



 
 

 2020  

 
Amount/ 
Volume 

Outstanding 
balance Terms Conditions Note 

Bank under common control      
Cash and cash equivalents P=738,640,515 P=738,640,515 0.1010% to 3.75% No impairment 17 (a) 
Interest income 3,908,966 –    

 P=742,549,481 P=738,640,515    

Trade receivables (Note 5)    
Parent Company 
Rental revenue P=24,965,196 P=306,370

Noninterest-bearing; 
due and demandable Unsecured 17 (b) 



 
 

Affiliate    

Rental revenue 88,007,272 146,729

Noninterest-bearing; 
  collectible every 20th 

day of the month Unsecured 17 (b) 
Service fee income (Note 21) 8,990,356  – Noninterest-bearing Unsecured 17 (d) 
Commission income (Note 21) 23,166,200 – Noninterest-bearing Unsecured 17 (d) 

 P=145,129,024 P=453,099    

Other Noncurrent Asset    
Affiliate    
 DCS connection charge 
  (Note 11) P=15,266,782 P=352,187,969  No impairment 17 (f) 
 Connection fees (Note 12) – (16,164,753)    
 P=15,266,782 P=336,023,216    

Accounts payable and accrued 
 expenses (Note 12)      

Parent Company   Noninterest-bearing;   
Rental expense (P=304,190,850) P=– payable on demand Unsecured 17 (c) 
Affiliate    

Advances (350,000,000) –
Interest-bearing at 6.0%, 

payable on demand Unsecured  
Accrued interest (9,966,667) – Noninterest-bearing Unsecured 17 (e) 

Service and energy fees  
  (Note 20) (290,551,981) (46,327,665)

Noninterest-bearing; 
payable on demand 
Noninterest-bearing 

Unsecured 
Unsecured 

17 (f) 
Rental expense (4,467,493) – 17 (c) 

Affiliate 
Noninterest-bearing; 
payable on demand Unsecured  

 Service fee (35,361,288) (13,950,037)   17 (d) 
Management fee and  

manpower cost – –
Noninterest-bearing; 
payable on demand Unsecured  

 (P=994,538,279) (P=60,277,702)    

Lease liabilities    
Parent Company    

Lease liabilities (Note 20) (P=2,149,262,141) (P=2,190,115,165)
Noninterest-bearing; 
payable Unsecured 17 (c) 

Other Noncurrent Liabilities    
Parent Company 
 Security deposit (P=7,278,060) (P=7,278,060)

Noninterest-bearing; 
payable Unsecured 17 (b) 

Affiliate    

 Security deposits (12,018,424) (14,133,746)
Noninterest-bearing; 
payable Unsecured 17 (b) 

 (P=19,296,484) (P=21,411,806)    

Significant related party transactions are as follows: 

a) The Group maintains savings accounts and short-term deposits with East West Banking Corporation 
(EW), an affiliated bank.  Cash and cash equivalents earn interest at the prevailing short-term 
investment rates.  
 

b) Lease agreements with related parties - Group as lessor 
 The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with FLI, for the office 

space in one of the Group’s buildings.  Lease period is from December 6, 2021 to December 5, 
2031. 

 
The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Filinvest Alabang, Inc. (FAI), an 
entity under common control, for the office spaces in the Parent Company’s buildings. Lease period is from 
September 2, 2019 to September 1, 2024 for Axis Tower 1 and April 1, 2021 to March 31, 2031 for Vector One 
office. 

 The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Pro-Excel Property 
Managers, Inc. (PEPMI), an affiliate, for the office space in one of the Parent Company’s 
buildings. Lease period is from July 15, 2020 to July 14, 2025. The lease was assigned to FLI, as a 
result of the property dividend distribution effective July 14, 2021. 
 

 The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Dreambuilders Pro, 
Inc. (DPI), a fellow subsidiary under FLI, for the office space in one of the Parent Company’s 



 
 

buildings. Lease period is from August 10, 2017 to October 9, 2022. The lease was assigned as a 
result of the property dividend distribution effective July 14, 2021.  

 
 The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Chroma Hospitality, 

Inc., a fellow subsidiary under FLI, for the office space in one of the Group’s buildings. Lease 
period is from June 2, 2017 to June 1, 2027. 
 

 The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a lease agreement with Festival Supermall, Inc. 
(FSI), a fellow subsidiary under FLI, for the office space in one of the Group’s buildings. Lease 
period is from June 2, 2017 to June 1, 2027.  
 

 The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Corporate 
Technologies Inc (CTI), for the office space in one of the Parent Company's buildings. Leasing 
period is from November 15, 2018 to November 14, 2023 
 

c) Lease agreements with related parties - Group as lessee 
 

The Parent Company, as a lessee, entered into a land lease agreement with FLI on the location 
of the buildings currently leased to third parties and on those still under construction. Rental 
expense is based on certain percentages of the Parent Company’s gross rental income. 
 
In 2020, the Parent Company’s lease agreement was amended as follows (see Note 20): 
• the Parent Company shall pay either a minimum guaranteed rent or a percentage share 

from Gross Lease, whichever is higher, effective July 1, 2020; and, 
• the lease terms were extended for an additional term of 25 years. 

 
In 2021, the Parent Company’s lease agreement was amended as follows (see Note 20): 
• rental rates shall be solely variable (10% or 15% based on Gross Lease Income); and, 
• in case of redevelopment, FLI and the Parent Company shall mutually agree on the 

minimum monthly rent during construction period. 
• lease period shall be in full force and effect for a period of 50 years which shall commence 

on February 11, 2021 and shall expire on February 10, 2071. 
 

In addition, the Parent Company, as a lessee, entered into a land lease agreement with FAI on 
the location of the parking currently leased out to third parties. Rental is based on a certain 
percentage of income earned from the parking space. 

 

d) Service agreements with related parties 
 The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with FAI whereby the Parent Company 

shall pay service fees for general management services rendered by the latter for the operations of 
the Group. FAI is also the provider of water services within the Filinvest City where majority of 
the buildings of the Company are located.  
 

 
 The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with Filinvest Cyberparks, Inc. (FCI), and 

Filinvest Asia Corp. (FAC), entities under common control, whereby the Parent Company shall 
lease out a portion of its office space and perform accounting and administrative services to the 
latter for a fee. This agreement is only up to February 28, 2021.  

 
 The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with FDC Retail Electricity Sales, 

Corporation (FDC RES), an entity under common control, whereby the Parent Company shall 
engage and pay the services rendered by the latter to provide the electricity requirements of its 
facilities. 

 
 The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with its affiliate, Parking Pro, Inc., to  

operate and maintain the Parent Company’s parking facilities. 
 



 
 

 The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with ProOffice Works, Inc., an affiliate, 
whereby the Parent Company shall engage and pay the services rendered by the latter to operate 
maintain, manage, and market each Property, subject to the overall management and directions of 
the Fund Manager. 

 
 The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with FREIT Fund Manager, Inc. (FFMI), an 

affiliate, whereby the Parent Company shall engage and pay the services rendered by the latter to 
execute and implement the investment strategies for the Company. 

 
 The Parent Company entered into a facilities management agreement with Professional Operations 

and Maintenance Experts Incorporated (PROMEI), whereby the Parent Company shall engage and 
pay the services rendered by the latter to operate and maintain its equipment and premises.  

 
 The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with CTI, whereby the Company shall 

engage and pay for varied information and technology services. Services shall include application 
development, apps support and system maintenance, system application, software licensing and 
administration, internet bandwidth allocation, network, database and server management plus 
desktop and telecom support. 
 

e) On February 27, 2019, the Parent Company availed advances from FCI amounting to 
P=300.0 million.  The Parent Company availed additional advances amounting to 50.0 million on April 
1, 2020. These advances were all paid in 2020. Related interest amounting P=6.0 million was incurred 
by the Parent Company. 

 
f) BOT Agreement 

In accordance with the terms of Build Operate and Transfer (BOT) agreement between the Parent 
Company and Philippine DCS Development Corporation (PDDC), the Parent Company paid prepaid 
DCS connection charges to PDDC amounting to P=248.9 million, to be consumed by existing and future 
buildings within Northgate Cyberzone in Muntinlupa City over the service period of 20 years.   
 
Amortized portion of DCS connection charge pertaining to existing buildings amounted to =P12.6 
million and =P15.0 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. These amounts were recognized as part of 
utilities expense in consolidated statement of comprehensive income (see Note 2). In 2021, the Group 
derecognized prepaid DCS amounting =P132.4 million pertaining to property dividends distributed and 
was charged to FLI. Connection and service charges incurred for these buildings as of December 31, 
2021 and 2020, aggregated to =P197.0 million and =P336.0 million, respectively (see Note 11). 
 

g) Deed of Assignment of BTO rights to FLI 
On February 26, 2021, the Parent Company entered into an agreement with FLI assigning its right to 
manage and operate the Towers 2, 3 and 4 of Filinvest Cebu Cyberzone Towers under the BTO 
Agreement and Agreement for Transfer and Conveyance. The consideration amounting to =P966.1 
million was settled in November 2021. 

Key Management Personnel 

The key management functions of the Group are handled by FCI starting March 2021. For the years 
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, compensation of other key management personnel directly paid by 
the Group pertains to short-term employee benefit amounting =P1.5 million and =P9.7 million, 
respectively. 

 
1.10 Major Risk Factors 
 
Risks Relating to the Group and the Industry 
The performance of the Group and its industry is interconnected to the performance and state of the 
Philippine BPO industry. Being focused on a specific group of clients, the office space leasing segment and 
the Group  are very much affected by the same trends and factors which affect the BPO industry. 
 
Demand for, and prevailing leasing prices of, office space is directly related to the demand for BPO 
services in the Philippines which is contingent on a host of different factors including but not limited to:  
 



 
 

1. Economic climate (including overall growth levels and interest rates) in the Philippines and 
internationally, especially in countries such as the US where 70% of BPO companies in the 
Philippines originate from. As an industry focused on non-core support services (i.e. Customer 
service, accounting, human resources), the general economic climate will dictate the demand from 
companies for BPO services. Poor economic climate may affect the BPO industry negatively which 
will cascade down to a decrease in demand for office spaces as these companies cease expansion or 
even downsize their workforces.    
 

2. The attractiveness of the Philippines as a destination for the BPO industry. The BPO industry has 
been attracted to the Philippines mainly due to the demographics of the population which includes 
high literacy, education rates and fluency in English. As the needs of the BPO industry evolves, 
there is a risk that the Philippines will no longer be fit to the requirements of the industry or may 
face significant competition from other countries that may reduce its market share in the BPO 
industry. 

 
3. Pandemic and lockdowns that might trigger some BPO locators to pre-terminate and/or downsize.   

 
The Parent Company is subject to and relies on a number of government regulations and initiatives which 
covers both the BPO industry and office space leasing segment. The Parent Company and its lessees enjoy 
preferential tax rates on its properties as a result of the government’s thrust to spur the growth of the BPO 
industry through PEZA. The Parent Company’s growth prospects are directly connected to being able to 
continue to enjoy such preferential tax incentives to maintain its margins as well as market its properties to 
prospective tenants. On the other hand, the Parent Company is also subject to many regulations including 
the National Building Code, environmental regulations, and requirements prescribed by PEZA. Any 
violations of these regulations may pose a risk to the business and its operations and expose it to possible 
litigation or repercussions. 
 
The Parent Company exists in a highly competitive industry with many players which may be larger and 
have more resources. Therefore, it is imperative that the Parent Company maintain its competitive strengths 
in order to attract clients to its properties. It must maintain competitive pricing which, if its costs increase, 
may decrease the Parent Company’s margins. The Parent Company must also ensure the quality of its 
properties, and that it has an adequate property management team in place to keep customers satisfied. 
 
There are risks that some projects may not attract sufficient demand from prospective buyers thereby 
affecting anticipated sales. The Parent Company is also exposed to the risk of the termination of a material 
number of leases or the inability of its tenants to pay rent. In addition, the time and the costs involved in 
completing the development and construction of projects may be adversely affected by many factors 
including unstable prices and supply of materials and equipment and labor, adverse weather conditions, 
peso depreciation, natural disasters, labor disputes with contractors and subcontractors, accidents, changes 
in laws or in government priorities and other unforeseen problems or circumstances. As a result, rising 
prices for any construction materials will impact the Parent Company’s construction costs, and therefore its 
pricing and margins. Any increase in prices resulting from higher construction costs could adversely affect 
the Parent Company’s margins and ability to maintain its competitive pricing. Further, the failure by the 
Parent Company to complete construction of its projects to its planned specifications or schedule may result 
in contractual liabilities to lessees and lower returns. 
 
The business and operations of the Company have been and will continue to be adversely affected by the 
global outbreak of COVID-19. 
 
The profitability of the Company depends on the rental of office and retail space of the Properties. The 
uncertainty and disruption brought by COVID-19 could adversely affect the demand for the Company’s 
rental space and the ability of the Company to effectively operate. 

In addition, the continued spread of COVID-19 has led to disruption and volatility in the global capital 
markets. It is possible that the continued spread of COVID-19 could cause a global economic slowdown or 
recession. The deterioration of the regional economy and financial markets in general will have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.  

The duration of border controls, travel and movement restrictions and the longer-term effects of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on the business of the Company, whether any further restrictions will be imposed by 



 
 

the Government in response to COVID-19, and the recovery trajectory for the Company remains uncertain. 
Even when restrictions are lifted, there may be a period of significantly reduced economic activity, 
increased unemployment and reduced consumer spending. Should this be the case, this will continue to 
affect the Company’s business operations, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

 The loss of the Properties’ PEZA-accreditation or other similar benefits could result in the loss of 
tenants. 

The Properties are Grade A, PEZA-accredited buildings that offer competitive amenities and the latest 
technologies to the Company’s lessees. If the PEZA-accreditation of the Properties is lost or revoked 
(whether by industry-wide regulations or otherwise), the Company’s tenants may find the Properties (or the 
Philippines in general) as a less desirable or less compelling venue or destination for the operations, and 
may decide not to renew their leases at the Properties. Similarly, potential tenants may decide not to lease at 
all. The loss of the Properties’ PEZA-accreditation may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, financial condition and results of operations. See also “—Risks Relating to the Company’s 
Business—The Company’s operations are covered by certain tax exemptions and incentives, the loss of 
which could increase the Company’s tax liability and decrease any net income the Company might have in 
the future.” 

Artificial intelligence  
In the 2022 road map of the ITBPAP, it was identified that the low level,  first tier skilled work force is 
being trained to level up to mid and high level skills to augment to the growing demand of a more 
personalized, more complicated calls. Thus, the industry is training and even hiring more to suit this 
growing client needs that AI cannot process. Note that AI is handling some of the very basic calls only that 
needs no human personalized approach but simple cases of change of address, copy of statements and the 
like.  

  
Associated risks with POGOs 
POGO demand is drastically reduced due to the pandemic where there are travel restrictions and. Although 
FILRT has just one very small POGO licensed tenant, there are also risks associated with its operations 
such as Chinese government’s crackdown on some POGOs operating in the country due to alleged illegal 
activities connected with offshore gaming operations, immigration issues on illegally recruited and 
undocumented Chinese workers and tax evasion cases. Such risks expose POGOs to possible business 
closure resulting to pre-termination of their leases and consequently will impact lessors by having high 
vacancy rate. 
 
However, FILRTs policy is to award only to duly registered POGO operators that have secured licenses 
from PAGCOR and complete SEC documentation. The company chooses to lease out a very minimal space 
or around 1% to a POGO tenant or one (1) tenant in its total office Company portfolio. 

 
Item 2. Properties, Business Development and project line up 

 
2.1 Land Bank 
 
The Company, together with FLI and FAI (collectively known as the Filinvest Consortium), owned a 19.2-
hectare lot in Cebu’s South Road Properties (SRP). However, in October 2020, FILRT formerly CPI sold 
1.5-hectare of its share of the land in SRP to a third party. The balance was declared as property dividend to 
FLI in December 4 2020. As of December 2021, FILRT does not own any land.  
 
The Parent Company also leases land or takes on partners that will provide the land to be used for the 
development. The Parent Company is not prohibited from acquiring any land if there are opportunities in 
the future with good project potential. 
 

 
2.2 Northgate Cyberzone 
 
The Northgate Cyberzone, an 18.7-hectare PEZA-registered IT park with multinational tenants is 
approximately 15 kilometers south of the Makati City central business district, a 30 minute to one hour 
drive.  The IT Park was designed, master-planned, and built around the specific needs of BPOs, from 
infrastructure to support businesses that help sustain the workforces of these companies. The property was 



 
 

envisioned to be an attractive alternative to the congested major central business districts of the Metro 
where BPOs have primarily located their offices. Given the accessibility of Alabang area through the South 
Luzon Expressway and Skyway as well as Northgate being located near public transportation hubs in the 
area, it was a natural choice of location for the IT park.   
 
The IT Park forms part of Filinvest City in Alabang, a master-planned urban development consisting of 
residential, commercial, and industrial properties. FILRT leases the land from FLI, and develops and owns 
the office buildings on the property which it then leases to BPO companies. Currently, there are nineteen 
(19) fully completed and operational buildings in Northgate Cyberzone, with a total Office and Retail GLA 
of 330,279 square meters as of end of 2021. 
 
 
2.3 Filinvest Cyberzone Cebu (FCC) 

 
FILRT’s other major location is the Filinvest Cyberzone Cebu, which is a 1.2-hectare joint project with the 
Provincial Government of Cebu operating under a 25-year Build Transfer Operate (BTO) scheme plus 5-
year extension. Seeing the potential of Cebu, which is identified as one of the next big cities for BPO 
companies to locate in, FILRT decided to venture into Cebu through the development of  Filinvest 
Cyberzone Cebu. The project is located adjacent to the Cebu IT Park in Salinas Lahug, Cebu City.  
 
Currently, FILRT has one completed building on the property which is Filinvest Cyberzone Cebu Tower 1 
has a total Office and Retail GLA of  20,612 square meters and is currently 99.1% occupied. 

 
In Feb 11, 2021, FILRT transferred back to FLI its rights for Filinvest Cyberzone Cebu Towers 2, 3, and 4 
under the BTO agreement. 

 
       Typhoon Odette did not hamper the operations of Filinvest Cyberzone Cebu Tower 1 when it made 

landfall on December 16, 2021. The building remained operational on a 24/7 basis despite the power 
interruption in the area, utilizing backup generators until power was fully restored on January 6, 2022. 
Damage to property was not material and eligible to receive insurance claims. 

 
FLI owns and operates the Filinvest EDSA Wack Wack Building, a 7,358 square meter office building 
located along EDSA in Mandaluyong City which is not yet part of the FILRT portfolio.   The land on which 
the building is located is being leased from a third party for a period of twenty-five (25) years and six (6) 
months, starting on December 30, 2010 and may be renewed upon mutually agreed terms and conditions. 
The Company declared this building as property dividend to FLI which was approved by SEC on July 15, 
2021. 

 
Moving forward, FILRT will continue to focus on its core business of leasing office spaces catering to 
BPO, IT and traditional companies in Metro Manila as well as in the provinces. FILRT also aims to 
increase recurring income through lease management and business development and optimization of 
existing properties, in Northgate Cyberzone and Cebu properties, and the development of new properties. 
As the BPO industry continues to expand outside Metro Manila, FILRT continues to monitor areas beyond 
Metro Manila as potential destinations for its expansion plans. 
  
FILRT will continue to look for other locations that will provide good opportunity for growth. It can also 
enter into land acquisition or joint venture agreement to any landowner, for project development.  
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

 
The Parent Company or any of its subsidiaries is not a party to, and its properties are not the subject of, any 
material pending legal proceeding that could be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Parent 
Company or its results of operations. 
 
 
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 
 
There were no matters submitted to a vote of FILRT’s shareholders, through the solicitation of proxies or 
otherwise, in 2021. 

 



 
 

Part II – OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

Item 5. Market for Issuer’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters 
 

Market Information 
The shares of the Company were listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) on August 12, 2021 under 
the symbol “FILRT”. The following table shows, for the periods indicated, the high, low and period end 
closing prices of the shares as reported in the PSE: 

 
Period High Low End 

2021 3rd Quarter 7.58 6.96 7.22 
2021 4th Quarter 7.99 7.20 7.40 

 
Stockholders 
 
the Company has a total of 13,067 stockholders. 
The following are the top 20 stockholders as of December 31, 2021: 
 

Name Number of Common 
Shares 

Percentage of 
Common Shares 

Filinvest Land Inc. 3,095,498,345 63.27% 
PCD Nominee Corporation (FIL)* 1,709,071,235 34.93% 
PCD Nominee Corporation (NF) 87,996,800 01.80% 
G.D. Tan & Co., Inc.  150,000 00.00% 
Villanueva, Milagros P.  14,200 00.00% 
Villanueva, Myra P. 14,200 00.00% 
Villanueva, Myrna P. 14,200 00.00% 
Cabreza, Marietta V. 5,000 00.00% 
Cabrera, Charmaine C.  3,000 00.00% 
Cabrera, Ricardo R.  3,000 00.00% 
Ramirez, Vivien C. 3,000 00.00% 
Palileo, Amy Rose I. 2,000 00.00% 
Tagalicud, Alfredo C. Jr.  1,000 00.00% 
Repe, Ivan Rick Q. 1,000 00.00% 
Roman, Leira Micah Gianni 1,000 00.00% 
Yap, Lourdes Josephine G. 2 00.00% 
Brion-Lirio, Maricel 2 00.00% 
Gotianun, Francis Nathaniel C. 2 00.00% 
San Pedro, Gemilo J. 2 00.00% 
Las Marias, Tristaneil D. 2 00.00% 
Suarez, Val Antonio B. 2 00.00% 
Obcena, Virginia T. 2 00.00% 

      *Inclusive of the direct and indirect shares of the directors and officers.  
 

Declaration of Property Dividends 
On December 4, 2020, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration of property dividends with 
carrying value amounting to ₱6,611.9 million, out of its unappropriated retained earnings in 2020.  

  
On February 11, 2021, the BOD of the Parent Company approved another batch of property dividends.  The 
dividend declaration will result to derecognition of ₱306.4 million and ₱1,384.0 million investment 
properties and intangible assets, respectively 

 
The distribution of these properties was made upon approval of the SEC on July 15, 2021. 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 

Declaration of Cash Dividends 
The following table shows the cash dividends declared by the Parent Company’s BOD on the outstanding 
capital stock: 
 

 
Declaration date 

 
Record date 

Dividend per  
common shares 

Total  
dividends declared 

 
Payment date 

August 31, 2021 September 15, 2021 P=0.112 P=547,991,135 September 30, 
2021 

November 18, 2021 December 3, 2021 0.112 547,991,135 December 20, 2021 
 
 

    

 
On February 15, 2022, the BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends amounting to ₱548 million with 
dividend per share of 0.112. Dividends were paid in March 20, 2022. 

 
Distributable Income under the IRR of REIT Act of 2009 

 
Under the Revised Implementing Rules and Regulations of REIT Act of 2009, section 4c, the Parent 
Company shall present a computation of its distributable dividend taking into consideration requirements 
under the provisions of the Act and the Rule. Distributable income is not a measure of performance under 
the PFRS. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the distributable income amounted to ₱1,855.1 million, 
inclusive of earnings from January 1 to August 11, 2021 (pre-REIT listing) and August 12 to December 
31, 2021 (post-REIT listing) amounting to ₱1,316.4 million and ₱538.7 million, respectively.  
 

In Php Million 
Non-REIT period 
Jan 1 to Aug 11, 

2021 

REIT period 
Aug 12 to Dec 

31, 2021 

Full Year 2021 
(Audited 

Revenues          =P2,183.3     =P1,258.7             =P3,442.0  
Expenses                      (699.1)                (461.7)  (1,160.8)  
Depreciation                      (275.9)                (151.8)  (427.7)  
EBITDA                     1,208.3                   645.3               1,853.6  
Interest income/expense                    (233.1)             (106.6)  (339.7) 
Gain on derecognition of lease liabilities                       189.2                   -                    189.2  
Benefit from tax/Provision for Tax                       152.0                    -                    152.0  

Distributable Income                  P=1,316.4                P=538.7            P=1,855.1 
 

Item 6. Bonds Issuance 
 

On July 7, 2017, the Group issued fixed rate bonds with aggregate principal amount of P=6,000.0 
million and term of five and a half (5.5) years from the issue date or in January 2023. The fixed rate is 
5.05% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears starting October 7, 2017. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
the outstanding balance of bonds payable amounted to =P5,987.0 million and P=5,974.2 million, respectively. 

 
The bonds are redeemable at 100% of face value on maturity date, which is January 7, 2023, unless    the 
Group exercises its early redemption option. Interest expense which was capitalized relating to bonds 
payable amounted to nil, =P108.8 million, and P=212.1 million in 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively 

Total interest expense charged to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income amounted to 
P=307.2 million, P=199.2 million, and =P95.2 million in 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. 
 
Unamortized debt issuance cost on bonds payable amounted P=13.0 million and =P25.8 million as of December 
31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Amortization of transaction costs included under “Interest and other 
financing charges” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income amounted to =P12.9 million, =P12.8 
million and =P12.7 million in 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. 
 
The bonds require the Group to maintain a maximum debt-to-equity ratio of 2.33x and minimum debt 
service coverage ratio of 1.1x. As of December 31, 2021, and 2020, the Group is not in breach of these 
financial covenants and has not been cited in default on any of its outstanding obligation. 



 
 

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation 
  

Results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2020 
 

Revenues and income 

The Company’s total revenues and income decreased by ₱440.0 million or 11.3% from ₱3,882.0 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2020 to ₱3,442.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. 
 
The decline in total revenues was primarily due to the decrease in rental revenue by ₱314.1 million or 11.1% 
from ₱2,833.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to ₱2,519.3 million for the year ended December 
31, 2021, and the decrease in other income by ₱125.9 million or 12.0% from ₱1,048.6 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2020 to ₱922.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The decrease in revenues and 
other income was caused by the pre-termination of leases primarily by POGO tenants and transfer of assets to 
FLI, not qualified to be REIT assets. 
 
Costs and expenses 

The Company’s consolidated costs and expenses decreased by ₱37.0 million or 2.3% from ₱1,625.4 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2020 to ₱1,588.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily due to 
decrease in utilities expenses, rental expenses, taxes and licenses expenses and depreciation and amortization 
expenses. 
 
The Company’s utilities expenses decreased by ₱19.8 million, or 6.6%, to ₱277.8 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2021 compared to ₱297.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease in utilities 
expenses was mainly due to lower utilities consumption resulting from a combination of energy efficiency 
programs and lower density on site in compliance to quarantine protocols and transfer of assets to FLI. 
 
The Company’s depreciation and amortization expenses decreased by ₱58.4 million, or 12.0%, to ₱427.7 
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to ₱486.1 million for the year ended December 31, 
2020. The decrease in depreciation was mainly due to transfer of assets to FLI. 
 
 
The Company’s rental expense decreased by ₱26.9 million, or 9.0%, to ₱271.1 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2021 compared to ₱298.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was 
primarily due to lower rent on the land lease with FLI which is based on a percentage of the Company’s rent 
revenues and transfer of assets to FLI. 
 
The Company’s taxes and licenses expenses decreased by ₱23.5 million, or 19.8%, to ₱95.4 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2021 compared to ₱118.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was 
mainly due to lower real property tax due to assets transferred to FLI, and documentary stamp taxes paid in 
2021. 
 
The Company’s service and management fees increased by ₱21.1 million, or 49.5%, to ₱63.8million for the year 
ended December 31, 2021 compared to ₱42.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase was 
mainly due to retroactive charges by Corporate Technologies Inc (CTI) for information and technology services 
and Filinvest Alabang Inc (FAI) for shared supply chain and procurement services. 
 
The Company’s manpower and service cost decreased by ₱0.9 million, or 0.4%, to ₱235.5 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2021 compared to ₱236.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was 
due to the transfer of the Company’s employees to another affiliate. The company will only be charged for its 
proportion share in the manpower cost. Lower manpower cost was also incurred for expenses such as security 
and janitorial as a result of the cost management in relation to lower density on site in compliance to community 
quarantine measures implemented in Metro Manila. 
 
The Company’s repairs and maintenance increased by ₱50.7 million, or 38.2%, to ₱183.5 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2021 compared to ₱132.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase was 
mainly due to comprehensive maintenance programs for the property equipment especially those not anymore 
under warranty coupled with sanitation protocols. 



 
 

The Company’s insurance increased by ₱11.9 million, or 296.0%, to ₱15.9 million for the year ended December 
31, 2021 compared to ₱4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase was mainly due to 
insurance paid covering year 2020-2021 of the Company’s buildings. 
 
Other income (charges) 

The Company recognized gain on derecognition of lease liabilities amounting to ₱189.2 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2021, due to removal of the minimum guaranteed rent per the amended lease contract 
between FLI and the Company with respect to properties in Northgate Cyberzone, and the assignment of right-
of use assets relating to Cebu Tower 3 and 4 to FLI.  
 
The Company’s interest income increased by ₱6.1 million, or 155.5%, to ₱10.0 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2021 compared to ₱3.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase was mainly 
due to higher interest income from short term cash investment instruments. 
 
The Company’s interest expense and other financing charges decreased by ₱3.1 million, or 0.9%, to  
₱348.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to ₱351.4 million for the year ended December 
31, 2020. The decrease was mainly due to transfer to FLI of loans associated to the assets transferred to it. 
 
Income before Income Tax 

The Company’s income before income tax for the year ended December 31, 2021 was ₱1,703.1 million, a 
decrease of ₱274.6 million or, 13.9%, from its income before income tax of ₱1,977.7 million recorded for the 
year ended December 31, 2020 due to reasons stated above. 

Provision for Income Tax 

The Company recognized a benefit from income tax of ₱152.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, 
and provision for income tax of ₱116.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The benefit mainly arose 
from the deferred tax liability derecognized in relation to being a REIT company change in tax rate due to 
CREATE. 

 

Net Income 

As a result of the foregoing, net income decreased by 0.3% or ₱5.7 million from ₱1,860.8 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2020 to ₱1,855.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. 

 
 
 

Financial Condition as of December 31, 2021 compared to as of December 31, 2020 
 

The Company’s assets were ₱13,972.2 million as of December 31, 2021, a decrease of ₱11,257.4 million, or 
44.6%, from assets of ₱25,229.5 million as of December 31, 2020. 

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents were ₱2,587.2 million as of December 31, 2021, an increase of 
₱1,716.7 million, or 197.2%, from cash and cash equivalents of ₱870.5 million as of December 31, 2020, due to 
collections of receivables primarily from FLI in relation to the transfer of assets. 

Receivables 

The Company’s receivables were ₱755.0 million as of December 31, 2021, a decrease of ₱75.1 million, or 
9.1%, from receivables of ₱830.1 million as of December 31, 2020, primarily due to transfer of assets to FLI. 

 



 
 

Other current assets 

The Company’s other current assets were ₱64.1 million as of December 31, 2021, a decrease of ₱1,107.3 
million, or 94.5%, from other current assets of ₱1,171.3 million as of December 31, 2020. This decrease was 
due to the utilization of the Company’s input VAT mainly in relation to the assignment of BTO rights for Cebu 
Towers 3 and 4. 

Noncurrent assets held for distribution 

The Company’s other noncurrent assets held for distribution was nil as of December 31, 2021, a decrease of 
₱6,843.7 million, or 100.0%, from other noncurrent assets held for distribution of ₱6,843.7 million as of 
December 31, 2020.  On December 04, 2020, the company declared property dividends covering the Axis 
Tower 2, Axis Tower 3 and Axis Tower 4 buildings. In additional , On February 11, 2021, the Company’s 
Board  approved the declaration of property dividends to stockholders of record as of February 15, 2021, 
consisting of four existing buildings, (i) Concentrix Building in Northgate Cyberzone, (ii) IT School in 
Northgate Cyberzone, (iii) the Filinvest Building at EDSA, Wack Wack, Mandaluyong City,  which have been 
identified for redevelopment , and (iv) Cebu Tower 2 in Filinvest Cyberzone Cebu which is yet to qualify for 3 
year income generating period to qualify as a REIT asset.. The properties comprising the Property Dividend are 
classified as noncurrent assets held for distribution in the Company’s books until the distribution of these 
properties is approved by the Philippine SEC, which was received in July 15, 2021. 
 
Advances to contractors 

The Company’s advances to contractors were ₱13.3 million as of December 31, 2021, a decrease of ₱5.1 
million, or 27.7%, from advances to contractors of ₱18.4 million as of December 31, 2020, due to recoupment 
of down payment from progress billings made by the contractors.  
 
Investment properties 
 
The Company’s investment properties were ₱9,165.9 million as of December 31, 2021, a decrease of ₱2,463.9 
million, or 21.2%, from investment properties of ₱11,629.8 million as of December 31, 2020 primarily due to 
the property dividends declared. 
 
Property and equipment 
 
The Company’s property and equipment was ₱81.7 million as of December 31, 2021, an increase of ₱13.3 
million, or 19.4%, from property and equipment of ₱68.4 million as of December 31, 2020, due to additional 
purchases of machinery and equipment. 

 

Intangible assets 
 
The Company’s intangible assets comprising BTO rights and the right-of-use assets from such BTO and land 
lease arrangements were ₱1,054.5 million as of December 31, 2021, a decrease of ₱2,354.4 million, or 69.1%, 
from intangible assets of ₱3,408.8 million as of December 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily driven by the 
inclusion of Cebu Tower 2 in the properties declared for dividend distribution and the assignment of Cebu 
Towers 3 and 4 to FLI. 
 
Other noncurrent assets 
 
The Company’s other noncurrent assets were ₱250.5 million as of December 31, 2021, a decrease of ₱137.9 
million, or 35.5%, from other noncurrent assets of ₱388.4 million as of December 31, 2020, primarily due to the 
amortization of DCS connection charges paid per the BOT agreement between the Company and PDDC. 
 
Liabilities 
 
The Company’s liabilities were ₱7,988.5 million as of December 31, 2021, a decrease of ₱12,134.9 million, or 
60.3%, from liabilities of ₱20,123.5 million as of December 31, 2020. 
 
 



 
 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 

The Company’s accounts payable and other current liabilities were ₱1,222.7 million as of December 31, 2021, a 
decrease of ₱361.1 million, or 22.8%, from accounts payable and other current liabilities of ₱1,583.7 million as 
of December 31, 2020, primarily due to payment of advances from related parties. 

 
Loans payable – current portion 

The Company’s loan payables – current portion was nil as of December 31, 2021, compared to loan payables – 
current portion of ₱744.2 million as of December 31, 2020, as the Company’s loans were assigned to FLI as 
consideration for additional capital subscription in the Company in the amount of ₱3,746.3 million. 
 
Lease liabilities – current portion 

The Company’s lease liabilities – current portion were ₱1.8 million as of December 31, 2021, a decrease of 
₱90.8 million, or 98.0%, from lease liabilities – current portion of ₱92.6 million as of December 31, 2020 due to 
derecognition of lease liabilities for the properties in Northgate Cyberzone per the Contract of Lease as amended 
on February 11, 2021. 
 
Security and other deposits – current portion 

The Company’s security and other deposits – current portion was ₱97.0 million as of December 31, 2021, a 
decrease of ₱19.4 million, or 16.7%, from security and other deposits – current portion of ₱116.4 million as of 
December 31, 2020, primarily due to transfer of deposits to FLI. 
 

Dividends Payable  

The Company’s dividend payable was nil as of December 31, 2021, compared to dividend payable of ₱6,611.9 
million as of December 31, 2020. This amount reflects the carrying value of the properties subject of the First 
Property Dividend. Distribution of the property dividends was booked upon approval of the Philippine SEC, 
which was received in July 15, 2021. 
 

Income tax payable 

The Company’s income tax payable was nil as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020. In 2020, the 
Company still has enough creditable withholding tax applied to income tax payable. While in 2021, the 
company became a REIT company, and has no more income tax due as it declares cash dividends. 
 

Loans payable – net of current portion 

The Company’s loans payable – net of current portion was nil as of December 31, 2021, compared to loans 
payable – net of current portion of ₱1,600.0 million as of December 31, 2020, as the Company’s loans were 
assigned to FLI as consideration for additional capital subscription in the Company in the amount of ₱3,746.3 
million. The increase in capital stock and subscription by FLI was approved by SEC on July 2, 2021. 
 

Bonds payable 

The Company’s bonds payable was ₱5,987.0 million as of December 31, 2021, an increase of ₱12.9 million, or 
0.2%, from bonds payable of ₱5,974.2 million as of December 31, 2020 due to amortization of bond issuance 
costs. 
 
Lease Liabilities – net of current portion 

The Company’s lease liabilities – net of current portion was ₱26.0 million as of December 31, 2021, a decrease 
of ₱2,071.5 million, or 98.8%, from lease liabilities – net of current portion of ₱2,097.5 million as of December 



 
 

31, 2020 due to the derecognition of lease liabilities for the properties in Northgate Cyberzone transferred to FLI 
and were presented as noncurrent assets held for distribution as of December 31, 2020 and also pursuant to the 
Feb 11 2021 amendment on the Contract of Lease, where the lease is purely a percentage of revenues.  
 
Deferred tax liability – net  

The Company’s deferred tax liability – net was nil as of December 31, 2021, compared to deferred tax liability – 
net of ₱269.9 million as of December 31, 2020, primarily due to derecognition of deferred tax on lease liabilities 
related to assets transferred to FLI, and to the company being a REIT and is expected to have zero taxable 
income in the future.  
 
Security and other deposits – net of current portion 

The Company’s security and other deposits – net of current portion were ₱654.0 million as of December 31, 
2021, a decrease of ₱78.7 million, or 10.7%, from security and other deposits – net of current portion of ₱732.7 
million as of December 31, 2020, primarily due to transfer of deposits to FLI.  
 
Other noncurrent liabilities 

The Company’s other noncurrent liabilities was nil as of December 31, 2021, compared to other noncurrent 
liabilities of ₱300.4 million as of December 31, 2020, primarily driven by decrease in retention payable.  
 
 
Performance Indicators 

 

Financial Ratios Particulars 

For the 
year ended 
December 
31, 2021 

For the 
year ended 
December 
31, 2020 

Earnings per Share 
__________Net Income________ 

Weighted Ave. number of outstanding shares 

0.53  0.80  

Debt to Equity Ratio 
____Loans Payable+Bonds Payable+Lease 

Liabilites___ 
Total Stockholder’s Equity 

1.01: 1 2.06: 1 

Current Ratio 
__Current Asset__ 
Current Liability 

2.58: 1 1.06: 1 

Debt Ratio 
Total liabilities 

Total assets 
0.57: 1 0.80: 1 

Income before income 
tax, interest and other 

financing charges, 
depreciation and 

amortization (IBITDA) 
to total interest paid 

IBITDA 
Total interest paid 

7.84: 1 5.97: 1 

Quick asset ratio 
Current assets – Inventories 

Current liabilities 
2.58: 1 1.06: 1 

Solvency ratio 
Net Income + Depreciation 

Total liabilities 
0.29: 1 0.11: 1 

Interest coverage ratio 
Income before income tax (IBIT) + interest and 

other financing charges 
Interest and other financing charges 

6.01: 1 6.63: 1 

Net profit margin 
Net Income 

Revenue 
0.54: 1 0.60: 1 

Return on equity 
Net income 

Shareholder’s Equity 
0.31: 1 0.36: 1 

 
Movement of Earnings per share (EPS) thru the years is directly related to the movement of net income. 

 



 
 

Item 8. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
 

SyCip, Gorres, Velayo & Co (SGV) has been the duly appointed independent auditors for the years covered 
by this report.  

 
SGV has been recommended for election as external auditor for the year 2019. FILRT, in compliance with 
SRC Rule 68(3)(b)(iv) relative the seven-year rotation requirement of its external auditors, has designated 
Ms Wanessa Salvador as its engagement partner starting CY 2020.  Thus, Ms Salvador is qualified to act as 
such until year 2025. 
 
There has been no disagreement with the company’s independent accountants on any matter of accounting 
principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure. 
 

Part III – CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 
           

Item 9. Directors and Executive Officers of the Issuer 
 

Set forth below are the directors and officers of the Parent Company and their business experience for the 
past five (5) years:  

 
Lourdes Josephine 
Gotianun-Yap 
Chairperson of the Board of 
Directors  

Mrs. Yap, 66, Filipino, was elected as Chairperson of the Board of FILRT on 
February 11, 2021. She has been a director of FILRT since 2001. She is also a 
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer of Filinvest Development 
Corporation (FDC) and Filinvest Land, Inc. (FLI), and a Director in Eastwest 
Banking Corporation (EWBC), all publicly-listed companies.  She is the 
Chairperson and CEO of Filinvest Alabang, Inc. (FAI), a director of FDC 
Utilities, Inc. (FDCUI) and in other companies within the Filinvest Group. 
She obtained her Master’s Degree in Business Administration from the 
University of Chicago in 1977. 

 
Maricel Brion-Lirio 
Director, President and 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

Mrs. Lirio, 52, Filipino, was elected as Director, President and Chief 
Executive Officer of FILRT on February 11, 2021. Prior to that, she was the 
Executive Vice-President and Chief Operating Officer of FILRT and Senior 
Vice President-Offices and Vice President-Project Group Head of FAI.  She 
was also formerly a Senior Assistant Vice President and Marketing Director 
for Philam Properties Corporation, National Sales Manager for Triumph 
International (Phils.) Inc., Marketing and Leasing Manager of D.C. Realty and 
Finance Corp., Marketing Services and Customer Relations Manager of 
Mazda and BMW Philippines and a money market trader of CityTrust 
Banking Corp., a Citibank N.A. subsidiary. She obtained her Bachelor’s 
Degree in Mass Communications from Assumption College Makati. She also 
attended the Business Management Program of Asian Institute of 
Management and earned units in the Graduate School of Management at the 
University of San Francisco, California. 

 
Tristaneil D. Las Marias  
Director 

Mr. Las Marias, 47, Filipino, was elected as Director of FILRT on September 
30, 2020. He also serves as the Executive Vice-President and Chief Strategy 
Officer of FLI. He is also the Chairman of FREIT Fund Managers, Inc., 
President of Property Specialist Resources, Inc.  and a director in other 
companies under the Filinvest Group.  He started in 1997 as Head of Regional 
Projects and went on to hold a higher position as Senior Vice-President and 
Cluster Head for Visayas and Mindanao projects as well as Southwest and 
Central Luzon of FLI. Prior to joining the Filinvest Group, he was Assistant 
Vice President and Head of Marketing and Business Development of 
Landtrade Properties and Marketing Corporation and a Project Officer of 
Landco Pacific Corporation.He obtained his Bachelor of Arts, Major in 
Management Economics degree from Ateneo de Manila University 

 
Francis Nathaniel C. 
Gotianun 

Mr. Gotianun, 38, Filipino, was first elected as Director of the Company on 
September 30, 2020.  His appointment as Director of the Company became 



 
 

Director effective on July 2, 2021. He is the Senior Vice-President of Filinvest 
Hospitality Corporation, a subsidiary of FDC, the primary role of which is to 
evaluate, plan, develop and optimize potential and current hospitality 
investments of the Filinvest Group. He serves as a director of Filinvest 
Mimosa, Inc. and as the President and CEO of The Palms Country Club Inc. 
He is also a director of FLI, a publicly-listed company. He obtained his 
Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from the University of Virginia in 2005 and 
his Master’s in Business Administration degree in IESE Business School – 
University of Navarra in 2010. 

 
Val Antonio B. Suarez 
Independent Director 

Mr. Suarez, 63, Filipino, is an independent director of FILRT, having been 
first elected on April 6, 2017. He is the Managing Partner of the Suarez & 
Reyes Law Offices and was the former President and Chief Executive Officer 
of The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc.. Mr. Suarez is also an independent 
director of FDC, FLI and Lepanto Consolidated Mining Company, all 
publicly listed companies, and a member of the Integrated Bar of the 
Philippines (Makati Chapter) and the New York Bar. He obtained his 
Bachelor of Laws degree from the Ateneo de Manila University Law School 
and a Master of Laws degree from Georgetown University Law Center.  

 
Virginia T. Obcena 
Independent Director 

Ms. Obcena, 74, Filipino, was first elected as an independent director of 
FILRT on July 17, 2019. She is also an independent director of FDC, a 
publicly-listed company. She is a member of the Friends of the Philippine 
General Hospital (FPGH), a non-stock, non-profit organization. She served as 
independent director and head of the Audit Committee of the Capital Markets 
Integrity Corporation. She was a former partner, member of the management 
committee and head of quality and risk management at SyCip Gorres Velayo 
& Co. (SGV & Co.). She obtained her Bachelor of Science in Business 
Administration degree, Magna cum Laude, at the University of the East and 
her Master in Business Administration degree at the University of the 
Philippines. She is a Certified Public Accountant. 

 
Gemilo J. San Pedro 
Independent Director 

Mr. San Pedro, 68, Filipino, was first elected as Director of the Company on 
September 30, 2020. His appointment as Director of the Company became 
effective on July 2, 2021. He has 38 years of experience in public accounting 
and business advisory services. Prior to his retirement on 30 June 2015, he 
served various leadership roles at SGV & Co. He was a partner in SGV & Co. 
from 1991 to 2015 and Professional Practice Director and Quality and Risk 
Management Leader from 2004 to 2015. He is also an independent director of 
FLI, a publicly-listed company. He finished his Bachelor of Science in 
Commerce-Major in Accounting degree at Rizal Memorial Colleges, Davao 
City, in 1976. He obtained his Master of Business Administration, 
concentration in Finance and International Business, at the Graduate School of 
Business, New York University, (now Stern Graduate School) USA, in 1983. 

 
Ana Venus A. Mejia 
Treasurer and Chief 
Finance Officer 

Ms. Mejia, 56, Filipino, is the Treasurer; Chief Finance Officer of FILRT. She 
also serves as the First Senior Vice President, Treasurer, Chief Finance 
Officer of FLI.  She is a Certified Public Accountant and a magna cum laude 
graduate of Pamantasan ng Lungsod ng Maynila. She obtained her Master’s 
Degree from the Kellogg School of Management of Northwestern University 
and the School of Business and Management at the Hong Kong University of 
Science and Technology. 

 
Katrina O. Clemente-Lua 
Assistant Corporate 
Secretary and Corporate 
Information Officer  

Ms. Clemente-Lua, 38, Filipino, was appointed as FILRT’s Assistant 
Corporate Secretary on 15 February 2022. She joined the Corporate and Tax 
Advisory Division of the Legal Department of Filinvest Land, Inc. (“FLI”) in 
October 2018. She is also the Assistant Corporate Secretary and Corporate 
Information Officer of FLI and FDC. Prior to joining FLI, she served as the 
Legal Counsel of Philippine Stratbase Consultancy, Inc. and Executive 
Director of Stratbase ADR Institute. She was previously an associate of Carag 



 
 

Jamora Somera & Villareal Law Offices as well as Senior Corporate Affairs 
Officer of Anchor Land Holdings. She obtained her Bachelor of Arts degree 
in Legal Management from De La Salle University and her Juris Doctor 
degree from Ateneo de Manila University.  

 
Maria Victoria Reyes-
Beltran 
Compliance Officer 

Ms. Reyes-Beltran, 55, Filipino was appointed as Compliance Officer of 
FILRT on 18 November 2021. She also served as Senior Vice-President – 
General Counsel and Compliance Officer of Filinvest Land, Inc. (“FLI”). 
Prior to joining FLI, she served as Director of the Office of Internal Legal 
Counsel of R.G. Manabat & Co., a professional partnership firm affiliated 
with KPMG International. She also served as General Counsel of the 
Corporate Legal Unit of JG Summit Holdings, Inc. and Universal Robina 
Corporation, its subsidiaries, and regional operations in Southeast Asia as well 
as Corporate Secretary of the printed media unit of the group. She obtained 
her Bachelor of Arts degree major in Philosophy from the University of the 
Philippines and her Bachelor of Laws degree from San Beda College of Law. 
She completed her Master of Laws in International Commercial Law at the 
Ateneo School of Law and course on Structuring International Joint Venture 
at the University of California, Davis Campus.  

 
Raymond Wilfred L. 
Castañeda 
Data Protection Officer  
 

Mr. Castañeda, 45, Filipino, is the Data Privacy Officer of FILRT. He 
concurrently serves as President and Chief Operations Officer of Corporate 
Technologies Incorporated.  He has twenty-two (22) years combined 
experience in different areas covering sales and marketing, information 
technology, strategy and general management. He was previously the Chief 
Information Officer and Head of IT for Petron Corporation. Prior to his 
experience in the Oil and Gas industry, he was with the fast-moving consumer 
goods business where he was involved in the digital transformation of the 
multinational companies such as Unilever, Johnson and Johnson and SC 
Johnson. He graduated from the Ateneo de Manila University, with a degree 
in BS Management Information Systems in 1999.  

 
Patricia Carmen D. Pineda 
Investor Relations Officer 

Ms. Pineda, 48, Filipino, is the Investor Relations Officer of FILRT. She also 
serves as the Senior Assistant Vice-President and Group Investor Relations 
Head of FDC. She was previously the Head of Investor Relations for 
Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company. She also served as the Head of Investor 
Relations Concurrent Head of Controllership and Analysis for Manila Water 
Company, Inc. and Investor Relations Manager for Ayala Land, Inc. She 
holds a Bachelor of Science degree, major in Economics from the University 
of the Philippines, and a Master of Science degree in Finance from the same 
university. 

 
Other Significant Employees 
 
FILRT has no significant employees other than those directors and officers already mentioned above.   

 
Family Relationship 
 
Mr. Francis Gotianun, Director, is the nephew of Ms. Lourdes Josephine G. Yap, Chairperson of the Board. 
There are no other family relationships by either consanguinity or affinity among the Company’s executives 
and directors other than the foregoing.  
 
Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings 
 
To the best of the Company’s knowledge and belief and after due inquiry, none of the Directors, or 
executive officers of the Company have, in the five-year period prior to the date of this Information 
Statement, been convicted judicially or administratively of an offense or judicially declared insolvent, 
spendthrift, or incapacitate to contract. 
 

 



 
 

Item 10. Executive Compensation 
 

The table below sets forth the compensation of the CEO and top four (4) highest compensated officers of the 
Company for the years indicated: 
 
Name and Principal Position Year Salary  

(P million) 
Bonus  

(P million) 
Other Annual 
Compensation 

(P million) 

Total 
(P million) 

CEO and top four (4) highest 
compensated officers* 

     

Maricel Brion-Lirio (CEO) 
Ana Venus Mejia (CFO) 
Raymond Castaneda  
(Data Protection Officer) 2022 - - - - 
Maricel Brion-Lirio (CEO) 
Michael Mamalateo (SAVP)* 
Yasmin M. Dy (AVP)* 
Ana Venus Mejia (CFO, 
Compliance Officer) 
Raymond Castaneda (Data 
Protection Officer) 
 
 2021 1.5 - - 1.5 
Lourdes Josephine Gotianun-
Yap (President & CEO) 
Maricel Brion-Lirio (EVP) 
Ana Venus Mejia (Treasurer & 
CFO) 
Michael Mamalateo (SAVP) 
Yasmin M. Dy (AVP) 2020 7.8 1.6 0.4 9.7 
All officers and directors as a 
group unnamed 

2022 
Estima

ted - - - - 
2021 1.5 - - 1.5 
2020 7.8 1.6 0.4 9.7 

* Resigned on February 28, 2021 
 

The officers of the Company do not receive compensation from the Company and as such the officers are 
paid by the other entities within the Filinvest Group. Aside from Ms. Yasmin Dy and Mr. Michael 
Mamalateo, who both resigned from FILRT on February 28, 2021, FILRT did not have any other directors, 
officers or employees that receive compensation. 
 
Except for a per diem of P50,000.00 being paid to each of the independent directors for every meeting 
attended, there are no other arrangements for the payment of compensation or remuneration to the directors 
in their capacity as such. 

 
There are no Employment Contracts between the Company and the named Executive Officers. There are no 
compensatory plan or arrangement with respect to a named executive officer. There are no outstanding 
warrants or options held by the Company’s CEO, the named executive officers, and all officers and 
directors as a group. There are no stock warrants or options previously awarded to any of the officers and 
directors. 

 
 
Key Management Personnel 
 
The key management functions of the Group are handled by FCI starting March 2021. For the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, compensation of other key management personnel directly paid by the Group 
pertains to short-term employee benefit amounting P=1.5 million and P=9.7 million, respectively.  
 
Item 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 



 
 

 
The names, addresses, citizenship, number of shares held, and percentage of total of persons owning more 
than five percent (5%) of the outstanding voting shares of FILRT as at 31 December 2021 are as follows: 

 

Title of 
Class of 

Securities 

Name/Address of 
Record Owner and 
Relationship with 

FILRT 

Name of 
Beneficial 

Owner/Relati
onship with 

Record 
Owner 

Citizenship 
No. of shares Held 
 

% of 
Ownership 

Common 

Filinvest Land Inc, 
79 EDSA, Highway 
Hills, Mandaluyong 

City 

FLI3 Filipino 3,095,498,345 (R) 63.27% 

 
Except as stated above, the Board of Directors and Management of the Company have no knowledge of any 
person who, as of the date of the annual report, was directly or indirectly the beneficial owner of more than five 
percent (5%) of the Company’s outstanding shares or who has voting power or investment power with respect to 
shares comprising more than five percent (5%) of the Company’s outstanding common stock. 
 
Total number of shares of all record and beneficial owners is 4,892,777,994 common shares representing 100% of 
the total issued and outstanding common shares. 
 
As of December 31, 2021, 87,996,800 common shares or 1.80% of the outstanding common shares of the 
Corporation are owned by foreigners.  
 
The names, citizenship, number of shares held and percentage to total of persons forming part of the Board and 
Management of the Company as of December 31, 2021 are as follows: 

 

Title of 
Class 

Name of Beneficial Owner 
Amount and Nature of 
Beneficial Ownership 

Citizenship 
Percentage 

of 
Ownership 

Common Lourdes Josephine Gotianun-Yap 2 (D) 

8,594,934 (I)4 

Filipino Negligible 
0.18% 

Common Maricel Brion-Lirio 6,002 (D) 
0 (I) 

Filipino Negligible 

Common Tristaneil D. Las Marias 2 (D) 
0 (I) 

Filipino Negligible 

Common Francis Nathaniel C. Gotianun 2 (D) 
0 (1) 

Filipino Negligible 

Common Val Antonio B. Suarez 2 (D) 
0 (I) 

Filipino Negligible 

Common Virginia T. Obcena 2 (D) 
0 (I) 

Filipino Negligible 

Common Gemilo J. San Pedro 2 (D) 
0 (I) 

Filipino Negligible 

Common Ana Venus A. Mejia 100,000 (D) 
70,000 (I) 

Filipino Negligible 
Negligible 

N.A. Maria Victoria Reyes-Beltran 0 (I) Filipino Negligible 
N. A. Raymond Wilfred L. Castañeda 0 Filipino N. A. 
N. A. Patricia Carmen D. Pineda 0 Filipino N. A. 

                                                 
 
3 Stockholders are the beneficial owners.  Ms. Lourdes Josephine Gotianun-Yap is typically appointed by Filinvest Land, Inc. 
(“FLI”) as its representative, with authority to vote FLI’s shares in stockholders’ meetings of FILRT. 
4 Includes 900,000 indirect shares through shares of stock in FILRT under the name Joseph Patrick G. Yap, Jr., Isabelle Therese G. Yap and 
Joseph &/or Josephine Yap, and the 7,694,934 indirect shares beneficially owned through shares of stock in Filinvest Land, Inc. under the 
name Joseph &/or Josephine Yap 



 
 

Title of 
Class 

Name of Beneficial Owner 
Amount and Nature of 
Beneficial Ownership 

Citizenship 
Percentage 

of 
Ownership 

N. A. Katrina O. Clemente-Lua 0 Filipino N. A. 
 TOTAL 106,014 (D) 

8,664,934 (I) 
 Negligible 

0.18% 
 
Voting Trust Holders of 5% or more 
There are no persons holding 5% or more of a class of shares under any voting trust or similar agreement. 
 
Changes in Control 
There are no arrangements that may result in change in control of the Parent Company.
 
 
Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 
 
There are no transactions with officers, directors, or any principal stockholders that are not in the regular 
course of business of the Company. In addition, there have been no disputes or conflicts regarding related 
party transactions of the Company. 

 
 
Part IV – CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

Item 13. Corporate Governance 
 

Compliance with Leading Practices on Corporate Governance 
 
FILRT is in substantial compliance with its Manual for Corporate Governance as demonstrated by the 
following: (a) the election of two (2) independent directors to the Board; (b) the appointment of members of 
the audit, nomination and compensation committees; (c) the conduct of regular quarterly board meetings 
and special meetings, the faithful attendance of the directors at these meetings and their proper discharge of 
duties and responsibilities as such directors; (d) the submission to the SEC of reports and disclosures 
required under the Securities Regulation Code; (e) FILRT’s adherence to national and local laws pertaining 
to its operations; and (f) the observance of applicable accounting standards by FILRT.  
 
FILRT welcomes proposals, especially from institutions and entities such as the SEC, PSE and the Institute 
of Corporate Directors, to improve corporate governance.  
 
There is no known material deviation from FILRT’s Manual on Corporate Governance. 

 
Part V – STATUS OF IMPLEMENTATION OF THE REINVESTMENT PLAN 
 

Section 5.e of  the Implementing Rules and Regulations of the Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) Act 
of2009 (R.A. No. 9856) issued on Jan 20,2020, primarily requires the submission of a Reinvestment Plan 
with a firm undertaking to reinvest (a) any proceeds realized by the Sponsor/Promoter from the sale of 
REIT shares or other securities issued in exchange for income-generating Real Estate transferred to the 
REIT and (b) any money raised by the Sponsor/Promoter from the sale of any of its income-generating 
Real Estate to the REIT, in any Real Estate, including any redevelopment thereof, and/or Infrastructure 
Projects in the Philippines. This reinvestment shall be made within one (1) year from the date of receipt of 
proceeds or money by the Sponsor/Promoter.  

 
FILRT did not receive any proceeds from its IPO. The Sponsor FLI receives the proceeds from the 
secondary offering on Aug 12, 2021. As such the reinvestment plan was submitted by FLI, and accordingly 
the progress reports thereon are also submitted by FLI. 

 
 
 Item 14 –   2021 Annual Progress Report on the Disbursement of Proceeds from the Initial Public 
Offering ("IPO") of Filinvest REIT Corp. ("FILRT") 
 



 
   

 Below is an excerpt from the report filed by FLI to the SEC on Jan 14, 2022 
 

          
 
 For the details of the capital expenditures, please refer to attached Exhibit on the submission of the above report 
filed by sponsor FLI on Jan 14, 2022, on the application of proceeds from the sale of shares of FILRT, owned 
by FLI, via secondary sale.  
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VISION
To grow a trusted portfolio of sustainable 
Grade A office properties that enriches the 
lives and well-being of our community.

MISSION
•	 To enable the growth of our locators 

through dependable, redundant and 
sustainable environment

•	 To create and add value for our 
investors

•	 To build vibrant communities that 
enrich the lives of those who live and 
work in them

•	 To respect and protect the environment

ABOUT THIS ANNUAL AND 
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

This combined Annual and Sustainability Report is the disclosure of Filinvest REIT Corp. 
(FILRT) on its financial and non-financial performance covering the calendar period ending 
December 31, 2021. It may contain “forward-looking statements” which are subject to a 
number of risks and uncertainties that could affect FILRT’s business and results of operations. 
Any forward-looking statements are made based on current assessments. Although FILRT 
believes that expectations reflected in any forward-looking statements are reasonable, it can 
give no guarantee of future performance, action or events.

The report on non-financial performance is published in compliance with the provisions of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Memorandum Circular No. 4, Series of 2019 
(SEC MC 4), and aligns with the Sustainability Reporting Guidelines for Publicly Listed 
Companies (the SEC ESG Guidelines). It also uses the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 
Standards’ principles and reporting guidelines as reference.    

Feedback on or inquiries about this report may be forwarded to ir@filinvestreit.com.   

Feedback on or inquiries about this report or any matter concerning the EESG performance 
of Filinvest REIT Corp. may be forwarded to sustainability@filinvestgroup.com.
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ABOUT FILRTCONTENTS

Filinvest REIT Corp. (FILRT) is a real estate investment trust 
backed by Filinvest Land, one of the largest property 
developers in the Philippines with an established portfolio of 
residential, commercial, industrial, and office developments 
around the archipelago. 

Listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange on August 12, 2021, 
FILRT is a wholly owned subsidiary of Filinvest Land, maintains 
a highly competitive and attractive portfolio of office 
buildings which cater mainly to high-growth multinational 
Business Process Outsourcing (BPO) firms. Competitive rental 
rates, as well as fiscal and non-fiscal benefits for locators, 
attract BPO companies to lease office space. 

FILRT’s portfolio consists of 17 office buildings: 16 located in 
Northgate Cyberzone, a Philippine Economic Zone Authority 
(PEZA) registered IT Park in Filinvest City, Alabang, and one 
in Cebu Cyberzone, the gateway of Cebu IT Park in Lahug, 
Cebu City. All these Grade A office buildings of more than 
300,000 square meters of gross leasable area sit on prime 
property. 

FILRT operates as a Real Estate Investment Trust in compliance 
with Republic Act No. 9856, otherwise known as the REIT Act 
of 2009. 

Cost Effectiveness

CORE VALUES

Sustainability Integrity Proactive Service Innovation
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2021 Financial and Operating Highlights

Statement of Income (₱ millions)
Total Revenues  3,442 
Net Income  1,855 
Statement of Financial Position (₱ millions)
Cash and Cash Equivalents  2,587 
Total Assets  13,972 
Bonds Payable  5,987 
Total Liabilities  7,989 
Stockholders’ Equity  5,984 
Statement of Cashflows (₱ millions)
Net Cashflow provided by Operating Activities  2,140 
Net Cash provided by Investing Activities  1,002 
Net Cash used in Financing Activities -1,425 
Financial Ratios
Current Ratio 2.58
Debt-to-equity ratio 1.01
Stock Information (as of end-2021)
Market Capitalization (₱ millions)  36,207 
Stock Price (₱) 7.40
Outstanding Shares (millions)  4,893 
Earnings per Share (₱) 0.53
Operational Highlights
Total GLA ('000 sqm)  301,362 
Average Occupancy 89%
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OUR PORTFOLIO

OUR LOCATIONS

No. Building Description Year 
Completed

Total GLA
(sqm)

1 Axis Tower 1 Grade A, LEED Gold, PEZA-accredited Mar-18 40,869

2 Filinvest One Grade A, PEZA-accredited Jun-13 19,637

3 Filinvest Two Grade A, PEZA-accredited Sep-15 23,784

4 Filinvest Three Grade A, PEZA-accredited Jan-15 23,784

5 Vector One Grade A, PEZA-accredited May-11 17,764

6 Vector Two Grade A, PEZA-accredited Sep-14 17,889

7 Vector Three Grade A, LEED Gold, PEZA-accredited Jan-17 36,345

8 Plaza A Grade A, PEZA-accredited Oct-07 10,860

9 Plaza B Grade A, PEZA-accredited Mar-01 6,488

10 Plaza C Grade A, PEZA-accredited Mar-01 6,540

11 Plaza D Grade A, PEZA-accredited Jun-07 10,860

12 Plaza E Grade A, PEZA-accredited Feb-14 14,859

13 iHub1 Grade A, PEZA-accredited Jun-08 9,480

14 iHub2 Grade A, PEZA-accredited Aug-09 14,181

15 5132 Building Grade A, PEZA-accredited Nov-07 9,409

16 Capital One Grade A, PEZA-accredited Oct-05 18,000

17 Cebu Tower 1 Grade A, PEZA-accredited Jun-15 20,612

PHILIPPINES

MANILA

CEBU

BUILDINGS #1-#16

BUiLDING #17
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OUR PORTFOLIO

Axis Tower 1
Grade A, LEED Gold,  
PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: March 2018
GLA: 40,869 sq. meters

Vector One
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: May 2011
GLA: 17,764 sq. meters

Plaza B
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: March 2001
GLA: 6,488 sq. meters

Filinvest One
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: June 2013
GLA: 19,637 sq. meters

Vector Two
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: September 2014
GLA: 17,889 sq. meters

Plaza C
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: March 2001
GLA: 6,540 sq. meters

Filinvest Two
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: Sept 2015
GLA: 23,784 sq. meters

Vector Three
Grade A, LEED Gold,  
PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: January 2017
GLA: 36,345 sq. meters

Plaza D
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: March 2007
GLA: 10,860 sq. meters

Filinvest Three
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: January 2015
GLA: 23,784 sq. meters

Plaza A
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: October 2007
GLA: 10,860 sq. meters

Plaza E
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: February 2014
GLA: 14,859 sq. meters

1

5

9

2

6

10

3

7

11

4

8

12
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iHUB1
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: June 2008
GLA: 9,480 sq. meters

iHUB2
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: August 2009
GLA: 14,181 sq. meters

5132 Building
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: November 2007
GLA: 9,409 sq. meters

Capital One
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: October 2005
GLA: 18,000 sq. meters

Cebu Tower 1
Grade A, PEZA-accredited
Year Completed: June 2015
GLA: 20,612 sq. meters

13

14

15 1716

MANILA, 
PHILIPPINES
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I
t is with pride that we publish our 2021 Annual 
and Sustainability Report, our first as a publicly 
listed company on the Philippine Stock Exchange. 
We are pleased to report the accomplishments of 
Filinvest REIT Corporation (FILRT) and the financial 

results of the Company in 2021, as well as the 
growth plans we have laid out for the future. We are 
committed to grow the Company organically from our 
initial portfolio and inorganically from the acquisition 
of new assets, as we constantly seek ways to create 
value for our various stakeholders.

Our journey towards becoming a listed entity was not 
easy. Amidst the uncertainties in the macroeconomic 
environment, we managed to launch FILRT as 
Filinvest’s flagship commercial REIT and the third 
REIT in the country. Looking back at 2021, we are 
convinced that we could not have done it at a more 
opportune time.  

The Philippines’ REIT Act is not new. It was first 
enacted over a decade ago, in 2009, but did 
not gain traction because of its many restrictions 
and impositions. This prompted the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) and the Bureau of 
Internal Revenue (BIR) to issue new regulations on the 
taxability of REITs, as well as amendments to the REIT 
Implementing Rules and Regulations January 2020. 
This gave us the impetus to revisit our plans and 
evaluate our REIT-able assets. 

The result was a formidable portfolio comprised of 17 
Grade A office assets with a total valuation of ₱48.5 
billion, representing over 300,000 square meters of 
gross leasable area (GLA). 

Geographically, the portfolio is strongly focused on 
Metro Manila, in particular, the Alabang central 
business district where Filinvest, the Sponsor of FILRT, 
is the market leader with almost half of the market 
share. Alabang is a strong commercial business 
district (CBD) market and has seen higher rental rate 
growth than Makati and Metro Manila over the last 
10 years.

What sets FILRT apart
Sixteen of the 17 assets or 94% of our portfolio by 
valuation are located in the award-winning Filinvest 
City, an integrated and masterplanned township in 
the Alabang CBD in southern Metro Manila. With 
offices, retail centers, world-class hotels, affordable 
living alternatives such as The Crib Dormitel, schools 
and hospitals - all wrapped with lush greens, jogging 
and biking trails and inspiring open spaces - Filinvest 
City is truly a live-work-play-and-learn metropolis. 
The remaining asset is located in Cebu, on the 
gateway of Cebu IT park, a fast-growing office 
expansion destination outside Metro Manila. Cebu 
Tower 1 is 100% occupied by top multinational BPO 
firms, a testament to the trust of the industry in FILRT 
developments.

To differentiate FILRT from the growing REIT market 
in the Philippines, we positioned our portfolio as the 
first sustainability-themed REIT, given its many green 
features. Filinvest City, where majority of the buildings 
are located, is the first CBD in the Philippines 
to receive LEED® v4 Gold for Neighborhood 
Development Plan certification for its township-wide 
green and sustainability features. Two of these 
buildings are LEED Gold-certified. 

JOINT MESSAGE FROM THE  
CHAIRPERSON AND THE PRESIDENT AND CEO

Transforming and Building 
a Sustainable Workplace
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A testament to this sustainability thrust is the 
recognition FILRT earned from the prestigious 12th 
Asia CEO Awards. FILRT was hailed as a Circle of 
Excellence Awardee for Sustainability Company of 
the Year. 

Filinvest City has excellent connectivity to major CBDs 
and neighboring regions, boosting its attractiveness 
to the locators of FILRT. The portfolio also has 
access to a wide range of supporting amenities and 
infrastructure such as the 1400 KVA truck-mounted 
PEZA-approved mobile genset as additional backup 
to the in-building gensets. Majority of the buildings 
are attached to the largest district cooling system 
(DCS) plant in the Philippines, substantially reducing 
energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions 
by as much as 40%, and saving about 11,500 tons 
of carbon dioxide per year. 

Ahead of the curve
At the time of the IPO listing, our portfolio was leased 
primarily to business process outsourcing (BPO) office 
tenants which accounted for 91% of occupied GLA. 
Traditional office tenants made up 8%, and the small 
remainder was leased to Philippine online gaming 
operators (POGO) and retail tenants. The top 10 
tenants in the portfolio contributed about 60% of GLA 
and include major multinational BPO companies and 
a global bank.

With these value propositions, FILRT’s public listing on 
August 12, 2021 led to a fully subscribed 12.6-billion 
IPO. Barely three months later, FILRT joined the MSCI 
Philippine Small Cap Index — an affirmation of the 
Company’s positive growth prospects. 

We are committed to grow the Company organically from 
our initial portfolio and inorganically from the acquisition 
of new assets, as we constantly seek ways to create value 
for our various stakeholders.”
Lourdes Josephine Gotianun - Yap, Chairperson
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Since the IPO, we have been exceeding our 
targets. Despite the widespread community 
lockdowns from the second to the third quarters 
of 2021, FILRT recorded a net income of ₱1.9 
billion on revenues of ₱3.4 billion in 2021. This 
allowed us to distribute three cash dividends to 
date, totaling ₱0.336 per share, equivalent to 
an annualized dividend yield of 6.4%. This is 
higher than the 6.3% dividend yield we projected 
for 2021 in our REIT Plan and based on our IPO 
price of ₱7.00 %per share. Taking into account 
the market price appreciation since the IPO, FILRT 
has provided a total return of 12.11% to our IPO 
investors as of end-2021.

Our average portfolio occupancy was recorded at 
89% with a weighted average lease expiry (WALE) 
of 3.7 years by end-2021. Despite the challenges 
of a globally changing workplace environment, 
we maintained a very strong history of lease 
renewals. We signed and renewed 90% of our 
2021 expiring leases with an average five-year 
lease term. We are in the process of renewing 
2022 lease expiries comprised of multinational 
BPO and ROHQ tenants. We have also signed and 
renewed the contract of two of our valued tenants 
with more than 4,300 square meters six months 
ahead of expiry schedule and signed the Letter 
of Intent for more than 11,880 square meters of 
two other multinational blue chip BPO companies. 
This is a testament to the trust and confidence of 
our global tenants in FILRT and an affirmation of 
the resiliency of the BPO industry in general. With 
the reopening of the economy and the growing 
demand from multinational BPO companies for 
office spaces, we remain optimistic that occupancy 
will further improve despite the lingering effects of 
the pandemic.   

Given our robust tenant base, 91% of 
which are comprised of BPOs as of end-
2021, FILRT’s buildings will continue to 
attract locators for several reasons.”
Maricel Brion-Lirio, President and Chief Executive Officer
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Given our robust tenant base, 91% of which are 
comprised of BPOs as of end-2021, FILRT’s buildings 
will continue to attract locators for several reasons, 
including superior workforce accessibility, competitive 
lease rates, ease of expansion within the location, 
heightened health and safety standards that adhere 
to strict government protocols, and Grade A-quality 
PEZA buildings with green and sustainable features. 
These are factors that are essential to our tenants and 
critical during this period of economic recovery post-
pandemic. 
 
The road ahead
Contractual escalation terms are built into about 
90% of our leases, averaging 5% per annum rental 
escalation overall. Thus, we expect our portfolio to 
further benefit from intrinsic and organic growth as 
the economy bounces back and building occupancy 
improves.

We are also banking on our robust inorganic growth 
potential through the right of first refusal (ROFR) that 
sponsor Filinvest Land Inc. (FLI) has granted to FILRT. 
This covers all significant commercial properties 
owned by FLI and its wholly owned subsidiaries. FLI 
has about 315,000 square meters of office gross 
GLA in key CBDs that are potential acquisitions for 
FILRT. 

As our sponsor, FLI is fully committed to grow FILRT’s 
portfolio with regular asset infusions. In our three-
year investment plan submitted to the Philippine Stock 
Exchange and the SEC in December 2021, FILRT’s 
fund management company signified that it will 
sustain the portfolio expansion and provide a stable 
and competitive return to investors, with focus on 
dividend yield protection. 

To date, a pipeline of possible commercial projects 
has been identified for potential asset infusion, as 
announced by FLI. There are two office buildings 
with almost 70,000 square meters in GLA that may 
potentially be added in 2022. Other asset classes 
may also be added to the REIT once they meet the 
investment criteria. 

Assisting us in scaling our portfolio are our fund 
and property management companies, FREIT Fund 
Managers, Inc. and ProOffice Work Services, Inc. 
Both are strongly aligned with our aspirations to 
continuously grow the Company. We are cognizant 
that any asset infusion will add to the liquidity and 
size of FILRT going forward. This meets our goal of 
allowing the wider capital market to participate in the 
new and growing Philippine commercial REIT sector.

We would like to thank our shareholders, creditors 
and customers for their continued trust and 
confidence. Our appreciation also goes to our fellow 
Board of Directors for their guidance and support, 
and the people behind FILRT for their tireless efforts 
to build FILRT to where it is today. Together we will 
endeavor to provide stable returns, expand the 
portfolio, and deliver the value we have committed to 
you, our valued shareholders. 

Thank you.

Lourdes Josephine Gotianun - Yap
Chairperson 

Maricel Brion-Lirio
President and Chief Executive Officer
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Portfolio 
FILRT’s portfolio consists of 17 Grade A office 
buildings with over 300,000 square meters of gross 
leasable area (GLA). Sixteen of the 17 buildings are 
in Northgate Cyberzone in Filinvest City in Alabang, 
Metro Manila, a Philippine Economic Zone Authority 
(PEZA) Special Economic Zone and IT park. Another 
building is located in the gateway of Cebu IT Park 
in Lahug, Cebu City. The assets were valued by an 
independent appraisal company at ₱48.5 billion. 

Geographically, the portfolio is strongly focused on 
Metro Manila, in particular, the Alabang Central 
Business District (CBD) where Filinvest is the market 
leader with almost half of the market share. Alabang 
is a strong CBD market that has seen higher rental 
rate growth than Makati City and Metro Manila over 
the last 10 years.

Building with 
You in Mind
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Filinvest City is an integrated township with 
excellent connectivity to major CBDs and 
neighboring regions such as CALABARZON. 
The township features superior accessibility 
with five major thoroughfares such as the 
Skyway, South Luzon Expressway, and 
Alabang-Zapote Road, as well as one of 
South Metro Manila’s largest multi-modal 
transport hubs.

The portfolio is leased primarily to BPO office 
tenants which contribute 91% of occupied 
GLA. Traditional office tenants take up another 
8%, and the small remainder is leased to 
online gaming operators and retail tenants. 
The top 10 tenants in the portfolio account for 
about 60% of the GLA.

Given the tenant base of predominantly 
BPOs, the portfolio offers the following 
attributes important to the locators: 1) superior 
workforce accessibility; 2) competitive rates, 
and; 3) ease of expansion within the location, 
being situated in PEZA-registered IT Parks.   

The portfolio had an average occupancy of 
89% and a weighted average lease expiry 
(WALE) of 3.7 years as of end-2021, with 
well-spread out lease expiries. A bulk of the 
leases or 39% have yet to expire in 2025 and 
beyond.

The assets are on land held on leasehold 
basis, with long lease terms of 75 years for 
the Metro Manila assets leased from Sponsor 
Filinvest Land, Inc. (FLI). 

Financial Performance
FILRT reported a net income of ₱1.9 billion 
in 2021. This was achieved on the back of 
rental and other revenues that reached ₱3.4 
billion and a gain on derecognition of lease 
liabilities of ₱189 million. 

Dividends
Following its strong performance, FILRT 
distributed three quarterly cash dividends — 
in September and December 2021, and in 
March 2022 — totaling ₱0.336 per share. 
This is equivalent to an annualized dividend 
yield of 6.4% which is higher than benchmark 
rates and better than the 6.3% dividend yield 
it projected for 2021 in its REIT Plan and 
based on its initial public offering (IPO) price 
of ₱7.00 per share.

Growth Prospects
FLI is fully committed to grow the REIT portfolio 
with regular asset infusions. In its three-year 
investment plan submitted to regulators in 
December 2021, FILRT’s fund management 
company signified it will constantly endeavor 
to expand the portfolio and provide a stable 
and competitive return to investors, with focus 
on dividend yield protection. 

A pipeline of possible commercial projects 
has been identified for potential asset infusion 
as announced by FLI. There are two office 
buildings totaling almost 70,000 square 
meters of GLA that may potentially be added 
within 2022. 

Part of FILRT’s investment policy is to invest in 
properties that have sustainability features to 
align with FILRT’s differentiation as a “green” 
or sustainability-themed REIT. Its current 
portfolio includes two LEED Gold-certified 
office buildings and 16 buildings located 
in Filinvest City in Alabang, the first central 
business district in the country and the largest 
in Southeast Asia to receive Gold Certification 
from LEED® v4 for Neighborhood 
Development Plan. The buildings are cooled 
by the country’s largest district cooling system 
that reduces carbon emissions and energy 
consumption.

BPO office tenants contribute 
91% of occupied GLA.
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BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

1.	 Lourdes Josephine Gotianun-Yap  
Chairperson

2.	 Maricel Brion-Lirio  
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer

3.	 Francis Nathaniel C. Gotianun 
Director

1. 2. 3.

12

FILRT 2021 ANNUAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORT



5.4.

6. 7.

4.	 Tristaneil D. Las Marias 
Director

5.	 Virginia T. Obcena 
Independent Director 

6.	 Gemilo J. San Pedro 
Independent Director

7.	 Val Antonio B. Suarez 
Independent Director
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MANAGEMENT 
TEAM

L-R

Maricel Brion-Lirio 
President and Chief Executive Officer

Ana Venus A. Mejia 
Treasurer and Chief Finance Officer

Raymond Wilfred L. Castañeda 
Data Protection Officer
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L-R

Patricia Carmen D. Pineda 
Investor Relations Officer

Katrina O. Clemente-Lua 
Assistant Corporate Secretary and 
Corporate Information Officer

Maria Victoria Reyes-Beltran 
Compliance Officer
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BUSINESS MODEL WITH EXTERNAL 
ENVIRONMENT & OUTLOOK

Filinvest REIT Corp. (FILRT) is the platform for the 
Filinvest group’s commercial assets with FILRT 
shareholders as its valued business partners. 
FILRT is part of a capital recycling strategy and 

the engine that will fuel the continued growth of the initial 
investment portfolio.

Having listed FILRT on August 12, 2021 with an asset size 
of P48.5 billion, FILRT’s key objective is to expand the 
portfolio and provide a competitive return to investors, with 
focus on dividend yield protection. Its actions are driven by 
a given set of objectives.

Investment Objectives

1.	 Drive organic growth through proactive asset 
management and enhancement. This involves active 
asset management strategies with focus on customer 
experience to propel stable annual escalation of rental 
rates and sustain high occupancy levels. 

2.	 Leverage on economies of scale and sustainability 
features of properties to drive profitability. The campus-
type developments with well thought of integration of 
sustainability features are believed to be cost efficient 
for FILRT and its locators. 

3.	 Pursue inorganic growth through well-planned and 
timed asset infusions. The strategy is to acquire high-
quality commercial properties that are dividend yield 
accretive to the existing portfolio. Potential assets 
for acquisition may come from the Filinvest group’s 
commercial assets as well as third parties.

4.	 Prudent and focused management of capital and risk. 
FILRT may access the capital markets for debt, equity, 
hybrid or other forms of capital, and utilize hedging 
instruments in order to manage the financial risk 
exposures. FILRT has successfully accessed the retail 
bond market in the past and is expected to continue to 
use leverage in growing its leasing portfolio.
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Investment Criteria

A core tenet of FILRT’s investment policy is to invest in 
income-generating real estate properties that meet the 
following investment criteria: 

1.	 Located in key CBDs in Metro Manila and major 
regional hubs or key cities in the Philippines

2.	 Be primarily Grade A commercial property but may be 
another type of real estate property, including retail, 
residential, leisure or industrial

3.	 With an office tenant mix of primarily Business Process 
Outsourcing, regional office headquarters and other 
traditional locators with stable occupancy

4.	 Has potential for asset enhancement and with 
sustainability features and certifications from widely 
used international green building rating systems in the 
world such as, but not limited to, LEED, WELL or EDGE

5.	 Long term lease agreements with stable income of at 
least three years for office assets and corresponding 
industry standard term for non-office assets.

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT AND 
EMERGING TRENDS THAT COULD 
AFFECT THE REIT SPACE

Less mobility restrictions after the 
COVID-19 pandemic

The announcement in February 2022 of Alert Level 1 status 
in most of the Philippines resulted in companies instructing 
its employees to start coming back to the workplace. This 
move can potentially increase the demand for leased office 
spaces, if not maintain the pre-pandemic demand. The 
imposition of health guidelines such as social distancing 
and mask wearing is likely to be sustained beyond the 
tapering of COVID-19 cases. This will necessitate the 
reconfiguration of office spaces to provide physical 
distance between workers and increase the required space 
per individual. The opening of the country’s borders to 
international travelers may lead to the return of POGO 
operators and demand for office spaces.      

Geopolitical events affecting national 
economies

The recent outbreak of war in Europe has led to Western 
democracies imposing sanctions on Russia which resulted 
in the shortage of oil and natural products in the global 
market, causing massive price increases in fuel around 
the world, including the Philippines.  This may cause a 
short- or medium-term economic contraction, depending 
on the duration of the war in Ukraine, and may evolve 
into a global recession and affect the locators occupying 
REIT spaces. The war also has given rise to discussions on 
the possible decline of globalization trends.  Multinational 
companies may choose to bring back their critical roles and 
functions closer to home. However, the interplay of factors 
such as managing risk versus lesser operating costs in 
developing countries has yet to be seen.

The inertia of ‘Work From Home’

The abnormal rise in fuel prices, combined with the fear of 
worsening traffic as people report back to work, has led to 
calls from various sectors to restore the Work From Home 
or hybrid policies which could reduce the current need for 
floor spaces. There also has been a rise in the incidence of 
millennials opting to leave their current jobs when told to 
go back to work and preferring to keep flexible work hours 
and work locations.  

Philippine economic recovery

According to projections of the Asian Development Bank, 
the Philippine economy is poised to grow by at least 6% 
in 2022 and 2023, higher than the estimates for other 
Southeast Asian countries.  The relaxation of border 
restrictions is seen to boost tourism and employment in the 
service sector. However, the outcome of the May 2022 
elections along with geopolitical tensions are factors that 
may lead to the recalibration of this forecast. Nonetheless, 
the fundamentals of the Philippine economy is intact and the 
optimism of the business sector remain high as the world 
recovers from the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic.   
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VALUE CREATION

Our Capitals Business Model/Process Outputs and 
Outcomes

Contributions 
to UN SDGs

Financial Capital

•	Market Capitalization  
(as of December 31, 2021): 
₱36.2 billion

•	Loans: ₱6.0 billion 
Property valuation (as of March 
31, 2021): ₱48.5 billion

FILRT’s business model focuses on a long-
term growth strategy, incorporating risk 
management, sustainability and a prudent 
capital management approach, intended 
to yield stable revenues and dividends for 
shareholders.  

Adoption of the following investment criteria 
for the evaluation of properties for inclusion in 
the portfolio: 

•	Grade A buildings in central business 
districts

•	High-value locations

•	Three-year operating history with stable 
occupancy rates

•	 Incorporation of Green Building principles 
in the design and operations of properties

Steady portfolio growth with stable 
recurring income and dividends 

•	 Revenues

•	 Net Income

•	 Distributable Income

•	 Loan-to-Value Ratio

Manufactured and Intellectual 
Capital

•	 Properties under FILRT

	» 16 Grade A properties 
in Filinvest City, Alabang, 
Muntinlupa City

	» One Grade A property in 
Cebu

•	 Filinvest’s institutional knowledge 
and experience of more than 50 
years in property development 
and management

Property assets in strategic locations 
in Muntinlupa and Cebu

•	 Gross leasable office space of 
299,158 sq.m.

•	 Gross leasable retail space of 
2,204 sq.m.

•	 Average land lease tenure of 
74.3 years (as of December 31, 
2021)

•	 Multinational blue-chip BPO 
and Regional Operating 
Headquarters

•	 89% average occupancy in 
2021

•	 90% contract renewal rate in 
2021

•	 Average lease duration of five 
years 
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Our Capitals Business Model/Process Outputs and 
Outcomes

Contributions 
to UN SDGs

Natural Capital

•	 High-value properties in strategic 
locations where natural resources 
need to sustain operations are 
available and adequate

•	 LEED v4 Gold Certification for 
Neighborhood Development 
Plan for Filinvest City (location of 
16 buildings), and 2 LEED Gold 
certified developments (buildings) 

FILRT’s business model focuses on a long-
term growth strategy, incorporating risk 
management, sustainability and a prudent 
capital management approach, intended 
to yield stable revenues and dividends for 
shareholders.  

Adoption of the following investment criteria 
for the evaluation of properties for inclusion in 
the portfolio: 

•	Grade A buildings in central business 
districts

•	High-value locations

•	Three-year operating history with stable 
occupancy rates

•	 Incorporation of Green Building principles 
in the design and operations of properties

Green building designs that 
minimize resource use  

Responsible housekeeping which 
results in resource and energy 
efficiencies, reduced wastes, and 
compliance with environmental laws

•	 Over 4,900 trees and seedlings 
planted

•	 Filinvest City 360 Eco-Loop, an 
e-transport system; and 2.2 km 
of pedestrian and bike paths, 
with multi-modal transport hub 
to connect with the rest of the 
metropolis

•	 Green spaces with linear parks, 
river park, and water garden 
occupying more than 30% of the 
total development

•	 Reduced energy consumption 
versus baselines (BAU) due to 
incorporation of decentralized 
cooling system, the largest in the 
Philippines, potentially reducing 
power consumption by as much 
as 40% and 11,500 tons of CO2 
emissions avoided.

•	 Compliance with all 
environmental permits and 
reportorial requirements. No 
environmental notice of violation 
or penalties in 2021.

Human Capital

•	 Filinvest’s strong and experienced 
cross-functional team of property 
development and property 
management professionals

•	 Competent manpower from 
Filinvest’s Supply Chain 

Jobs generated and assured health 
and safety during the pandemic

•	 48 seconded talents of 
Filinvest Group involved with 
FILRT operations

•	 53% females in the seconded 
workforce

•	 Engaged 10 service providers 
for outsourced services, with 
767 indirect jobs provided

•	 All locators in the FILRT 
properties were able to 
operate under a mix of 
work-from-home and work-
from-office arrangements. No 
locator closed shop in 2021.

•	 Filinvest’s seconded personnel 
vaccinated against COVID-19. 

Relationship 

•	 The Sponsor’s trusted Filinvest 
brand has been a contributor to 
the growth of the nation and its 
economy for more than 30 years, 
helping build the dreams of 
millions of Filipinos.  

•	 PEZA accreditation of all 
properties in the portfolio 

Opportunity for the public to invest 
in high-value properties that have 
recurring returns and stable growth

•	 Participation of almost 8,300 
retail investors during the IPO

•	 Increase in stock price from IPO 
on August 12, 2021 (₱7.00 per 
share) to end of 2021 (₱7.40 
per share), leading to growth in 
market capitalization from IPO 
(₱34.2 billion) to end of 2021 
(₱36.2 billion)  
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These are the material topics identified by FILRT Sponsor, 
Filinvest Land, Inc. (FLI), during a materiality assessment 
exercise in 2019 to establish the link between its business 
performance with economic, environment, social, and 
governance (EESG) issues. COVID-19 and mobility were 
added subsequently

EESG Aspect Material Topics
Economic •	Jobs generated/maintained

•	Support to businesses and 
tenants

•	Financial liquidity

Social •	Occupational health and 
safety

•	COVID-19 related health and 
mobility

•	Talent development and 
engagement 

•	Onsite transport options

Environment •	Environmental compliance

•	Resource efficiency

•	Energy efficiency, renewable 
energy, and climate change 
mitigation

•	Waste management

•	Green Buildings and 
Neighborhoods, and climate 
change adaptation

Governance •	Good governance structure

•	Government policy and 
regulatory compliance

•	Disclosure transparency 

As FILRT’s business model involves commercial space 
leasing, there are some material topics identified by FLI 
that are not material to FILRT operations. These are the 
following:

•	FILRT does not have direct employees but engages 
seconded talents from FLI, Filinvest Development Corp. 
(FDC), and other subsidiaries within the Filinvest group 
for leadership, management, and day-to-day operations. 
Property management and fund management are 
performed by different entities (ProOffice Work Services, 
Inc. and FREIT Fund Managers, Inc.). Discussions on 
human capital are thus captured in the sustainability 
reports of FLI and FDC. 

•	FILRT does not undertake development and construction 
of new buildings, but only leases and manages existing 
properties.

•	Property management of one of the buildings in FILRT’s 
portfolio, Capital One, is not directly under any of 
Filinvest’s subsidiaries, unlike the other 16 buildings. FILRT 
merely serves as a lessor.  

•	FILRT will conduct a formal materiality assessment in 
2022 aligned with the development of a sustainability 
agenda that is supportive of the strategic thrusts of the 
business and responsive to both internal and external 
EESG concerns. This will also be the core basis of EESG 
target setting and reporting in the future.  

MATERIALITY AND SCOPE
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Stakeholder Engagement

Being primarily in the business of leasing, 
particularly office space, FILRT deals with 
limited stakeholder groups. Nevertheless, 
it keeps track of all concerns and employs 
multiple channels to address such concerns 
and attain common objectives. 

Stakeholders Concerns Engagement Channels and Response

Seconded 
employees from 
Filinvest Group

•	Occupational health and 
Safety

•	Training and development

•	Workload 

•	Employee engagement

•	COVID-19 protocols and vaccination program

•	Email communications, bulletins, and town hall meetings

•	Online administrative tools

•	Trainings using online methods

Clients/Tenants •	Personnel health and safety

•	Staff mobility during the 
COVID-19 pandemic

•	Support to businesses 
during pandemic

•	EESG performance

•	Building protocols on COVID-19

•	Hygiene and sanitation provisions in office spaces 

•	Compliance with IATF regulations and directives

•	Disclosures on the environmental performance of building 
operations

Investors and 
Lenders

•	Financial liquidity/
sustainability

•	Disclosure transparency

•	Good governance

•	EESG performance

•	Timely and transparent disclosures

•	Press releases, FILRT website, one-on-one meetings, and investor 
conferences

•	Publication of Annual Report and Sustainability Report

•	Development of a sustainability framework and EESG data 
system

Supply Chain and 
Service Providers

•	Supplier accreditation

•	Jobs maintained

•	Occupational health and 
safety

•	Centralized supply chain management

•	COVID-19 protocols

•	Continuous support to supply chain due to pandemic disruptions, 
including FilVax vaccination program

Government 
Agencies

•	Government incentives

•	Compliance

•	Good governance

•	Sustaining PEZA accreditation 

•	Timely regulatory filings and permit renewals

•	 Independent board members appointed to critical governance 
roles

•	Participation in public consultations on proposed regulations

Environment •	Compliance

•	Energy efficiency

•	Waste management

•	Green spaces 

•	Green Design and 
Resiliency

•	Climate Change mitigation

•	Consistent compliance with all environmental regulations, 
including wastewater effluents, hazardous wastes and air 
emissions 

•	District cooling system (DCS)

•	E-Jeepneys and pedestrian paths 

•	Building LEED-certifications and green design of assets
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ENVIRONMENT

Building Smart and Green 

FILRT’s growth strategy is largely anchored on 
having a pipeline of high-value and environment-
friendly assets that attract tenants who share 
Filinvest’s journey towards a future in real estate 

where environmental sustainability is embedded in the 
design of spaces and daily operations.   

FILRT’s assets in Alabang are located in a master-
planned community which has a LEED Certification for 
Neighborhood Development. Two of the properties — Axis 
Tower One and Vector Three — are LEED Gold certified. 
These buildings are designed to be more energy efficient 
by at least 10% compared to conventional buildings. They 
feature highly efficient façade glazing, efficient HVAC 
equipment and LED lighting, and with energy recovery 
ventilators that provide cooled fresh air to lower the power 
load of the air-conditioning equipment of the building. 
Building designs also specified low-flow plumbing fixtures 
which help lower water consumption by as much as 30% 
when  combined with treated effluent reuse.

District Cooling System 
Another distinct feature of the FILRT properties is the District 
Cooling System (DCS) which supplies chilled water for the 
buildings’ air-conditioning systems, potentially reducing the 
collective electricity consumption by as much as 40%. This 
was implemented through a partnership between Filinvest 
and French multinational utility company ENGIE. In 2021, 
variable frequency drives were installed in 50% of chilled 
water pumps, boosters, transfer pumps, and pressurization 
blowers to provide enough power to the equipment to 
address real-time demand from users.      

Lighting
FILRT is also switching from CFL to LED lighting systems 
on all its properties. As of end-2021, 90% of the light 
fixtures in the common areas of FILRT buildings have been 
replaced with LED, with only two buildings remaining for 
full conversion.  

Mobility
All FILRT properties have bicycle parking facilities to help 
reduce the use of motorized vehicles and encourage 
greener modes of transport. Wide sidewalks and paths are 
provided to ensure pedestrian safety and promote mobility. 
Electric jeepneys, which run on electric energy and are 
operated by a jeepney drivers’ cooperative, ply the streets 
of the neighborhood to offer low-carbon transport for 
the commuting public. FILRT and Sponsor FLI continue to 
collaborate with government planners in the development 
of a transport infrastructure that integrates with the national 
and city master plans.  

Energy 
FILRT’s energy management approach revolves around two 
key focus areas: energy efficiency and using renewable 
energy whenever economically feasible. 

The Company follows best practices in green building 
design and operations, including equipment retrofits, to 
achieve energy efficiency. It also specifies the use of 100% 
renewable energy (RE) in the Open Access contracts 
of some of its buildings. Since 2017, several buildings 
that eventually formed part of the FILRT portfolio became 
contestable under the Open Access scheme and have 
entered into supply contracts with FDC Retail Electricity 
Sales Corp. (FDC RES). Of these buildings, six derive 
energy from 100% RE sources, accounting for 26.5% of 
FILREIT’s current total energy consumption.   
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Another distinct feature of the FILRT properties is 
the District Cooling System (DCS) which supplies 
chilled water for the buildings’ air-conditioning 
systems, potentially reducing the collective electricity 
consumption by as much as 40%. 

Total Energy Consumption
Energy by Fuel Type 2021 2020

Gasoline (liters) 0 0

LPG (liters) 0 0

Diesel (liters) 123,980 44,948

Electricity – FDC RES with 100% RE sources (KWH) 3,836,340 5,754,576

Electricity – Meralco + FDC RES (KWH) 10,652,456 12,802,055

Total Electricity (KWH) 14,488,796 18,556,631

The data presented cover only the electric consumption of common areas.
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All FILRT buildings consume diesel on a recurring basis 
for regular testing and preventive maintenance work on 
generator sets (gensets) for emergency use. The spike in 
diesel consumption in 2021 was due to the continuous 
deployment of the emergency gensets of the Filinvest 
Cyberzone Cebu Tower One after the onslaught of Super 
Typhoon Odette (international name: Rai) on December 
11, 2021 which resulted in a massive power outage in the 
island of Cebu for several weeks. Taking out the impact 
of this one-time event, the diesel consumption rate of FILRT 
would have been 2.8% year-on-year. The building did not 
have any downtime.

Electricity consumption in 2021 decreased by 21.9% 
due to mobility restrictions during the pandemic, which 
prompted some locators to adopt work-from-home 
arrangements for part of their employee pool. Lower 
electricity use was also because of the decline in physical 
occupancy in four buildings.

FILRT Buildings Electricity Source KWH and % of total 
consumption in 2021

Filinvest 3, Plazas 
B, C, D and E, and 
5132

Local Utility 2,821,178 
(19.5%)

Filinvest Cyber Cebu 
Tower 1, Axis Tower 
1, Filinvest 2 and 
Vector 3

FDC RES 7,831,279 
(54.0%)

Plaza A, iHub 1, 
iHub 2, Vector 1 and 
2, and Filinvest 1

FDC RES with 
100% RE

3,836,340 
(26.5%)

Note that one of the 17 buildings (Capital One) is 
not under the direct operational supervision of FILRT’s 
property management team.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions
GHG Emission Type 

(in tons CO2-eq)
2021 2020

Scope 1* 335 121

Scope 2** 7,587 9,118

Scope 3*** 7,793 8,839

Total 15,715 18,078
*For Scope 1, the diesel emission factor is 2.706 kg CO2 per liter (from 2021 US 
EPA & GHG Protocol updates).    
**For Scope 2, electricity emission factor used was for the Luzon-Visayas electricity 
grid at 0.7122 tons CO2-eq per MWH; this applies to electricity bought from 
Meralco and FDC RES. Six properties under FDCR RES have a 100% RE source.
***Scope 3 is the emission due to the DCS’ indirect emissions from bought 
electricity attributable to FILRT’s demand for chilled water. DCS electricity 
consumption attributed to FILRT buildings was 10,942,435 KWH in 2021 and 
12,410,690 KWH in 2020, sourced from FDC RES.

The greenhouse gas emissions of FILRT properties were 
largely attributed to Scope 1 emissions from the burning of 
diesel onsite for genset maintenance and operations. Scope 
2 emissions were due to the purchase of electricity used in 
common areas while Scope 3 emissions were due to the 
refrigeration services provided by the DCS.  

The significant increase in Scope 1 GHG emissions was 
due to the one-time use of diesel for Filinvest Cyberzone 
Cebu Tower One for several days due to the massive power 
outage caused by Super Typhoon Odette in December 
2021.

Six buildings (iHub 1 & 2, Vector 1 & 2, Filinvest One and 
Plaza A) sourcing from FDCRES with 100% renewables 
do not contribute to Scope 2 emissions. The total avoided 
carbon emissions of these buildings amounted to 2,732 
tons in 2021. Six other buildings source from a FDC 
RES contract and the rest buy electricity directly from the 
local distribution utility. FILRT is assessing if the non-RE 
covered buildings can avail of the 100% RE source or be 
considered as contestable or eligible for Open Access.  

Since the DCS is a third party that provides services to 
various buildings, the electricity consumption required 
to produce chilled water is considered Scope 3 from 
the perspective of FILRT. Other Scope 3 emissions are 
continually being assessed for breaching materiality limits. 
The electricity used by e-jeepneys plying in Filinvest City 
are not eligible for Scope 3 as their services are rendered 
directly to the commuting public.  

From 2020 to 2021, there was a 13% decrease in FILRT’s 
total GHG emissions, largely driven by the lower physical 
occupancy of the buildings during the pandemic-induced 
intermittent lockdowns.

ENVIRONMENT
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Water, Wastewater and Effluent 
Reuse

FILRT currently sources water for a majority of its buildings 
portfolio from the public water utility of Metro Manila’s west 
zone, which sources raw water from sustainable surface 
water bodies. The sole FILRT building located in Cebu 
gets water from the local water utility, which uses mostly 
groundwater. Around 10% comes from a surface water 
source north of Cebu. 

All wastewater generated in FILRT properties in Alabang 
are collected and conveyed to the Filinvest City sewage 
treatment facility for full treatment. The facility consistently 
complies with the latest effluent standards of the Department 
of Environment and Natural Resources-Environmental 
Management Bureau (DENR-EMB). The Cebu property 
also has its own sewage treatment facility that discharges 
effluent into a creek which empties into the Mactan 
Channel. 

The treated effluent of the Filinvest City sewage treatment 
plant is discharged to the Alabang-Cupang (Mangangate) 
River which empties into the western bay of Laguna Lake. 
Part of the treated effluent is reused for landscape irrigation 
around the FILRT properties and Filinvest City.  

Water Consumption, Wastewater 
Generation and Reuse

2021 2020

Water used – common 
and leased areas (m3)

262,424 334,330

Wastewater 
generated and 
treated* (m3)

228,309 290,867

Treated wastewater 
reused** (m3)

9,074 14,722

*Total effluent generated under FILRT was based on a return factor versus water 
consumed of 87%, using the Filinvest Cyberzone Cebu’s operations as reference.  
**In 2021, the Filinvest City sewage works collected and treated 972,704 m3 of 
wastewater, and reused 38,658 m3 of treated effluent for landscape irrigation. Of 
these, 23.5% is attributable to FILRT. In 2020, FC STP treated 1,305,995 m3 and 
reused 66,101 m3.  

The mobility restrictions and government-mandated 
reduction in physical occupancy of office spaces forced 
FILRT’s clients to reduce the number of their employees 
required to report onsite, resulting in the reduction of water 
consumption and sewage generation in 2021.       

Solid Waste and Hazardous Wastes

The municipal solid wastes generated in FILRT properties 
come from typical office operations, e.g., waste office 
supplies mainly paper, packaging, and food waste. Non-
hazardous wastes from operations for the common areas 
consist mainly of yard waste from landscaping.   

All FILRT buildings have their own materials recovery facility 
and solid waste segregation is implemented. A third-party 
contractor is engaged for proper waste disposal.   

Hazardous wastes generated are busted fluorescent 
lamps (BFL), used battery, used oil from gensets and waste 
electronic equipment. With the full conversion to LED 
lighting, the generation of BFLs will be reduced to zero in 
the future. Hazardous wastes are generally stored no more 
than six months in designated onsite facilities. However, 
the mobility restrictions in 2021 affected the operations 
of hazardous waste service providers. As such, stored 
materials will be hauled out and treated when operational 
restrictions ease.

Municipal Solid Waste  
(non-hazardous)

Solid Wastes Generated 
(kg)

2021 2020

Reusable 0 0

Recyclable 117 no data

Composted 0 0

Incinerated 0 0

Residuals/Landfilled 
(tons)

838 1,151

Total MSW

Hazardous Waste
Solid Wastes Generated 

(kg)
2021 2020

Total hazardous 
waste* generated (kg)

477 no data

Total hazardous waste 
transported

0 no data
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Environmental Compliance

All FILRT properties have secured the necessary one-time 
permits such as the Environmental Compliance Certificate 
and Laguna Lake Development Authority (LLDA) Clearance, 
as well as permits which require semi-annual renewal. 
Mandatory quarterly and semi-annual self-monitoring 
reports are submitted to both the DENR-EMB and LLDA 
regulators.   

There were no Notices of Violations issued by the regulator 
in 2021 nor were there any regulatory disputes and 
penalties. An amended (relaxed) effluent standard was 
issued by the regulator. The wastewater treatment facility 
that serves the FILRT properties continues to comply with the 
effluent limits.     

To proactively manage compliance risk, FILRT’s property 
management team, along with environmental managers 
across the Filinvest Group, are active in the development 
of national and regional policies and regulations by 
participating in public consultations and sharing common 
policy advocacies and best practices with industry peers.  

2021 2020

Total amount of monetary 
fines for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and/or 
regulations

0 0

Number of non-monetary 
sanctions for non-compliance 
with environmental laws and/or 
regulations

0 0

Number of cases awaiting 
resolution 

0 0

Number of cases resolved 
through a dispute resolution 
mechanism

0 0

Mobility Options for the Commuting 
Public

All FILRT properties have bicycle parking facilities to help 
reduce the use of motorized vehicles and encourage 
greener modes of transport. Dedicated bike lanes have 
also been marked on the streets to help ensure rider safety. 
Wide sidewalks and paths and well-marked crosswalks 
are provided to ensure pedestrian safety and encourage 
mobility.  

E-jeepneys, which run on electric energy and are operated 
by a jeepney drivers’ cooperative, ply the streets of 
the neighborhood to offer low-carbon transport for the 
commuting public. Prior to the onset of the pandemic, a 
fleet of 25 e-jeepneys, each with a seating capacity of 13, 
was operated by an organization of 50 drivers, support 
staff, supervisors, and manager. Due to people’s limited 
mobility during the pandemic, the fleet was downsized 
to six large e-jeepneys, each with a seating capacity of 
23 as of end-2021. It is expected that the reopening of 
the economy in early 2022 will restore the pre-pandemic 
demand for transport within the neighborhood.     

FILRT and Sponsor FLI continue to collaborate with 
government planners in the development of a transport 
infrastructure that integrates with national and local master 
plans.  

ENVIRONMENT
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Enhancing Environmental 
Sustainability 

Other properties of the Sponsor to be added to FILRT’s 
portfolio will feature environmentally responsible designs 
which incorporate energy, resource, and water efficiencies in 
their operations, as well as green spaces and green mobility 
options that uplift quality of life. The buildings queued for 
inclusion in the portfolio, such as Axis Tower 2 and Filinvest 
Cyberzone Cebu Tower 2, are already LEED pre-certified. 
Sixty-percent of the Axis building cluster in Alabang, which is 
comprised of four towers, is green space.  

FILRT continues to be on the lookout for opportunities to 
further enhance its environmental performance. These are: 

•	The full conversion to LED lighting and the 100% 
installation of variable frequency drives for pumps and 
motors in its buildings in 2022;

•	The shift to renewable energy sources under the Open 
Access contract with FDC RES once competitive rates from 
renewables become possible ahead of contract expiration;

•	Rainwater harvesting for its Cebu property which is now 
the subject of a feasibility study it commissioned;

•	Upscaling of solid waste management solutions such as 
reduction and recycling with partners that consider FILRT’s 
wastes as inputs to their production; and

•	Revival of its partnership with a non-government 
organization for recycling used batteries and used oil 
donated by FILRT.

FILRT continues 
to be on the 
lookout for 
opportunities to 
further enhance 
its environmental 
performance.”
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SOCIAL

Building for People

As the COVID-19 pandemic entered its second 
year in 2021, Filinvest continued to address 
the health and safety risks to its people, 
customers, business partners, and the general 

public through its active participation and investment in the 
country’s vaccination drive. It also provided opportunities 
for the investing public to partipate in the initial public 
offering (IPO) of FILRT.

Prioritizing health and safety 

In 2021, the Filinvest Group, to which FILRT belongs, 
sustained its COVID-19 response put in place at the 
onset of the pandemic in March 2020. Various work 
arrangements were set up to ensure continued productivity. 
Skeleton forces were required to work onsite while 
employees occupying other roles were instructed to work 
from home with while provided with health and IT support 
services. 

Onsite protocols for sanitation, hygiene, and COVID-19 
detection were institutionalized to ensure that employees 
and tenants of FILRT were adequately protected when they 
reported for work. FILRT and its tenants complied with the 
guidelines of the government’s Inter-Agency Task Force 
(IATF).     

In 2021, Filinvest mounted an aggressive vaccination drive 
for its people and supply chain employees. The Filinvest 
group’s free vaccination program, dubbed FilVax, targeted 
more than 13,000 vaccinated individuals by end-2021.  
Actual availment rate of 93% surpassed the government’s 
70% target.

28

FILRT 2021 ANNUAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORT



In 2021, the Filinvest Group, to which FILRT 
belongs, sustained its COVID-19 response put 
in place at the onset of the pandemic in March 
2020.
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Promoting diversity

FILRT does not have direct employees. There are 48 talents 
seconded from the Filinvest group who perform overall 
management, leasing, financial, and property operations. 
Of these employees, 56% are female. The leadership team 
is also composed of women, except for those in the Data 
Privacy role. The FILRT Board of Directors has three women, 
including the chairperson. 

Filinvest is ranked among the top 10 companies in the 
world led by women chief executive officers (CEOs) and 
with the highest percentage of women executive officers.

This is according to the latest report of Corporate Women 
Directors International (CWDI), a nonprofit organization 
based in Washington, D.C., USA, which surveyed nearly 
3,000 companies in 55 countries to generate baseline data 
on women in leadership roles.
 
Seconded Filinvest Employees, by Gender (2021)

Male Female

Executive 2 5

Manager 5 5

Supervisor 2 6

Rank and File 12 11

TOTAL 21 27

The training and development for the Filinvest-seconded 
employees are discussed in the annual reports of FLI and 
holding company Filinvest Development Corporation. 

Filinvest is ranked 
among the top 10 
companies in the 
world led by women 
chief executive 
officers (CEOs) and 
with the highest 
percentage of 
women executive 
officers.

SOCIAL
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Generating Economic Opportunities

The Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) Act of 2009 offers 
opportunities for small individual investors to take part in 
investing in large-scale, income-producing commercial 
real estate without needing to buy real estate. It reduces 
an individual’s overall portfolio risk and offers capital 
appreciation in the long run. It also provides a steady 
stream of income due to the requirement that at least 90% 
of the REIT’s distributable income be given as dividends to 
shareholders.   

The availability of REIT investments for the general public, 
including that of FILRT, and the overwhelming response 
to publicly listed REITs in a time of pandemic served as a 
vote of investor confidence in the eventual recovery of the 
Philippine economy. 
  
During FILRT’s IPO, almost 8,300 retail or individual 
investors participated in the offering. This is equivalent to 
26% of the new investor base of FILRT. 

Secretary Carlos Dominguez III of the Department of 
Finance, in a speech during FILRT’s IPO listing ceremony, 
said allowing the average Filipino to invest in REITs 
contributes to the “broadening base of our financial system 
towards building a more inclusive economy.” 

In addition to the direct economic opportunities from 
investing in FILRT, the Company also generates indirect 
economic benefits through its strategic partnerships with 
service contractors who provide housekeeping, grounds 
maintenance, equipment maintenance, security and 
property management services. 

In 2021, FILRT property management had ongoing 
11 service contracts with 10 service providers who 
had a total of 767 employees. This enabled FILRT to 
indirectly contribute to providing economic opportunities, 
especially during the pandemic when there are massive 
unemployment and job uncertainty.    
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As soon as COVID-19 ravaged the country affecting families and businesses alike, Filinvest Development 
Corporation together with its foundations and subsidiaries sprung into action to help the government protect 
Filipino families all over the country against the virus. The company’s response was three-pronged: taking care of 
the business, our employees, and our community. The Filinvest group weathered the COVID crisis thanks in part 

to agile decision-making, strategic business continuity plans, well-instituted health and safety protocols, and an accelerated 
digitalization journey. The company pledged Php 100 Million for the fight against COVID-19 and has gone well beyond 
the pledged amount through various initiatives designed to help fight COVID-19.

The company welcomed 2021 with a renewed sense of optimism aptly inspired by the rapid development and effective 
roll-out of vaccines which add a new layer of protection against COVID-19.  As the year went by, the Filinvest group 
remained steadfast in its commitment to helping the country fight the pandemic from providing COVID care kits, free 
vaccines, to sending medical-grade facemasks to the provinces. 

100,000
Vaccine doses procured 
for FILVAX

93%
Employees Vaccinated

2 Million
Facemasks from Temasek 
Foundation distributed

27
LGU recipients of 
facemasks

FEATURE:  

FILINVEST  
SPEARHEADS FILVAX
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Filinvest Group’s free, nationwide vaccination program 
FilVax for employees, drivers, messengers, utility 
workers, sales people, and security guards assigned 
to FDC properties and workspaces nationwide kicked 
off last August 4, 2021. Held at the Filinvest Mega 
Vaccination Center at Festival Mall, Filinvest City, 
Muntinlupa, the event was led by Filinvest Land, Inc. 
(FLI) Director Francis Gotianun and EastWest Banking 
Corporation (EWB) Director Isabelle Gotianun Yap, with 
Muntinlupa City Mayor Jaime Fresnedi as the guest of 
honor. Other Filinvest Mega Vaccination Centers across 
the country such as Clark, Cebu, Misamis, and Davao 
were also opened during the year.

We want our customers and 
business partners to FilFree to 
come to us and FilSafe to work 
with us. Our vaccination track 
record is a strong testament to 
this commitment.”
Francis Gotianun, Director, Filinvest REIT Corporation and 
Filinvest Land, Inc. 

Cooperation Agreement Signing Ceremony with the Province of Cebu 
for the donation of 2,000 Oxford-AstraZeneca Vaccine Doses
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FilVax’s message is to 
#FilFreeFilSafe. We want 
to keep our employees, 
partners, workplaces, 
and properties safe and 
healthy for all.”
Isabelle Gotianun Yap, Director,  
EastWest Banking Corporation

The Filinvest Group kicks off FILVAX #FilFreeFilSafe 
conglomerate-wide vaccination program with a ribbon 
cutting ceremony led by guest of honor Muntinlupa City 
Mayor Jaime Fresnedi, Muntinlupa OIC City Health 
Officer Dr. Juancho Bunyi together with FLI Director Francis 
Gotianun, EWB Director Isabelle Gotianun Yap, FLI EVP 
and Chief Strategy Officer Tristan Las Marias, and FLI SVP 
and Business Group Head for Mixed-use and Retail Joselito 
Santos.

The Filinvest Group procured 100,000 Oxford-AstraZeneca 
vaccine doses through the help of the national government. 
Part of the doses were donated to communities where 
businesses of the Filinvest Group operate. 

By year-end, a total of 11,348 employees of the Filinvest 
group have been vaccinated accounting for 93.16% of the 
Filinvest group’s total workforce.

Employees of the Filinvest group awaiting their 
turn to receive the vaccine at the Filinvest Mega 
Vaccination Center in Filinvest City, Muntinlupa

FEATURE:  

FILINVEST  
SPEARHEADS FILVAX
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Distribution of 2 Million Facemasks

Singapore-based Temasek Foundation sent 2 million medical-grade surgical facemasks to the Philippines in 
support of the country’s ongoing fight against COVID-19. Temasek Foundation is the non-profit philanthropic arm 
of Singapore investment company, Temasek Holdings. 

This donation is part of Temasek Foundation’s Stay Masked program where they distribute medical grade surgical 
facemasks for added coverage, protection and assurance. The Stay Masked program is a key component of Stay 
Prepared, a Temasek Foundation initiative to help prepare communities for emergencies. Temasek Foundation 
partnered with the Ambassador of the Republic of the Philippines to Singapore, H.E. Joseph del Mar Yap and the 
Filinvest group and its foundations for its donation to the Philippines.
 

The fight against the pandemic is a long one and when like-minded partners 
work together, we can help our communities to overcome these challenging 
times. We are grateful to partner with the Filinvest group and the Embassy of 
the Philippines in Singapore to support the Philippines in tackling COVID-19. 
This most recent donation of 2 million masks comes on the back of earlier 
initiatives in the past year, including the donation of essential items and 
medical equipment. We hope that these will go a long way in helping the 
community to manage the situation.”
Benedict Cheong, Chief Executive, Temasek Foundation International
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Filinvest shouldered the shipment and distribution cost of the 2 million facemasks from Singapore to 27 priority cities, 
municipalities, and provinces nationwide. The facemasks have been donated and received by the local government units 
of Quezon City, Manila City, Taguig City, Makati City, Pasig City, Muntinlupa City, Davao City, Municipalities of San 
Nicolas, Villanueva, and Tagoloan in Misamis Oriental, Province of Misamis Oriental, Cagayan de Oro City, Dagupan 
City, San Jose del Monte City in Bulacan, Municipality of San Mateo in Rizal, Zamboanga City, Balanga City in Bataan, 
Dumaguete City, Tagaytay City in Cavite, Cebu City, Talisay City, and Lapu-lapu City in Cebu, the Province of Cebu, 
Municipality of Malay in Aklan, Municipality of Matalam in Cotabato, and Municipality of Hagonoy in Davao del Sur. 

Misamis Oriental Governor Yevgeny Emano receives surgical facemask 
donation from FDC Utilities

Stay Safe COVID-19 Communication Program
To help keep employees safe and healthy against COVID-19, the Filinvest group continued its Stay Safe employee 
communications program. Stay Safe provided COVID-prevention tips, wellness ideas, as well as news and updates for 
employees across the conglomerate. With uncertainties and rampant misinformation on COVID variants and the vaccines, 
Stay Safe educated the employees by using verified, accurately-sourced articles, infographics, and videos.

Quezon City Mayor Joy Belmonte receives surgical facemask donation 
from Filinvest Land

FEATURE:  

FILINVEST  
SPEARHEADS FILVAX
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Community Handwashing Stations
Washing of hands is one of the first defenses against the COVID-19. The Filinvest group provided handwashing 
facilities for the host communities of FDC Misamis Power Corporation. This aimed to ensure that residents have easy 
access to handwashing facilities in their respective barangays.

Community Handwashing Stations were installed in Barangays Tambobong and Balacanas in Villanueva and 
Barangays Mohon, Sta. Ana, Baluarte, and Sta. Cruz in Tagoloan, as well as the Kalingagan National Highschool.

37

WORKPLACE REIMAGINED  Accelerated Transformation for a Sustainable Workplace



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

FILRT commits to the principles and best practices in good 
corporate governance. It has established and updated its 
Revised Manual for Corporate Governance to ensure its 
compliance with the leading practices on good corporate 
governance and related rules and regulations of the 
Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). 
The first Manual of Corporate Governance was approved 
and adopted by the Board of Directors on April 11, 2017, 
while the Revised Manual was adopted on September 30, 
2020, and subsequently on March 15, 2022. 

Compliance with Best Practices 
FILRT complied with the PSE and the SEC regulatory 
requirements in 2021. It is also in compliance with its 
Revised Manual, with the following as highlights:  

a)	Election of three independent directors to the Board; 

b)	Appointment of the members of the Audit and Risk 
Management, Compensation, Related Party Transactions, 
and Corporate Governance Committees; 

c)	Conduct of regular quarterly board meetings and special 
meetings, the faithful attendance of the directors in these 
meetings, and their proper discharge of duties and 
responsibilities; 

d)	Timely and accurate submission of reports and 
disclosures to the SEC and the Philippine Stock Exchange 
(PSE) required under the Real Estate Investment Trust 
(REIT) Act of 2009 and its Implementing Rules and 
Regulations (IRR), Securities Regulation Code, and the 
PSE Listing and Disclosure Rules;

e)	FILRT’s adherence to national and local laws pertaining to 
its operations; 

f)	Observance of applicable accounting standards by FILRT;

g)	Conduct of annual corporate governance seminar to its 
directors and senior management officers; and

h)	Continuous enhancement of FILRT’s website to provide 
our shareholders and stakeholders with quicker reference 
to our corporate governance policies. 

The Company continuously reviews and updates its 
corporate governance manual, in compliance with SEC 
directives and to reflect current best practices.  

To keep abreast of best practices in corporate governance, the 
members of the Board and key officers participated in the joint 
Annual Corporate Governance Training Program conducted by 
SGV & Co. on November 12, 2021.

FILRT, through its Board and in coordination with Management, 
reviews its corporate governance practices annually and 
welcomes proposals, especially from institutions and entities 
such as the SEC, PSE, and the Institute of Corporate Directors.

Board of Directors
Leading the practice of good corporate governance is the 
Board of Directors. The Board of FILRT is firmly committed 
to the adoption of and compliance with the best practices 
in corporate governance, as well as the observance of all 
relevant laws, regulations, and ethical business practices.

Nominations and Voting for the Board of Directors
The members of the Board are elected during the annual 
stockholders’ meeting. FILRT stockholders may nominate 
individuals to be members of the Board.  

The Corporate Governance Committee, acting as the 
Nominations Committee, receives nominations for 
independent directors as may be submitted by the 
stockholders. After the deadline for the submission, the 
Corporate Governance Committee meets to evaluate the 
qualifications, as well as grounds for disqualification, 
if any, of the nominees based on the criteria set forth in 
FILRT’s Revised Manual on Corporate Governance, the REIT 
Act and its IRR, and the Securities Regulation Code.  All 
nominations shall be signed by the nominating stockholders 
together with the acceptance and conformity by the would-
be nominees. The Corporate Governance Committee 
shall then prepare a Final List of Candidates enumerating 
the nominees who passed the screening. The name of 
the person or group of persons who recommended the 
nominees for independent directors shall be disclosed along 
with their relationship with such nominees.

Only nominees whose names appear on the Final List of 
Candidates shall be eligible for election as independent 
directors. No other nomination shall be entertained after 
the Final List of Candidates shall have been prepared. No 
further nomination shall be entertained or allowed on the 
floor during the annual meeting.

The conduct of the election of independent directors shall 
be in accordance with FILRT’s Revised Manual and By-Laws.  

It shall be the responsibility of the Chairperson of the 
annual meeting to inform all stockholders in attendance 
of the mandatory requirement of electing independent 
directors. The Chairperson shall ensure that independent 
directors are elected during the annual meeting. Specific 
slots for independent directors shall not be filled up by 
unqualified nominees. In case of failure of election for 
independent directors, the Chairperson of the meeting shall 
call a separate election during the same meeting to fill up 
the vacancy. 
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A stockholder may vote such number of shares for as 
many persons as there are directors to be elected. He may 
cumulate these shares and give one candidate as many 
votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied by 
the number of his shares, or he may distribute them on the 
same principle among as many candidates as he shall see 
fit; provided, that the total number of votes cast by him shall 
not exceed the number of shares owned by him as shown 
in the books of FILRT multiplied by the whole number of 
directors to be elected.  

The directors of FILRT are elected at the annual stockholders’ 
meeting, to hold office until their respective successors have 
been duly appointed or elected and qualified.  Vacancies 
in the Board occurring mid-term are filled as provided in 
the Revised Corporation Code and FILRT’s Revised Manual. 
Officers and committee members are appointed or elected 
by the Board typically in its first meeting following the 
annual stockholders’ meeting, each to hold office until a 
successor shall have been duly elected or appointed and 
qualified.

Independent Directors
Before the annual meeting, a stockholder of FILRT may 
nominate individuals to be independent directors, taking 
into account the following guidelines:

A.	“Independent director” means a person who, apart 
from his fees and shareholdings, is independent of 
management and free from any business or other 
relationship which could, or could reasonably be 
perceived to, materially interfere with his exercise of 
independent judgement in carrying out his responsibilities 
as director in any corporation that meets the requirements 
of Section 17.2 of the Securities Regulation Code and 
includes, among others, any person who:

i.	 is not, or has not been, a senior officer or employee 
of the covered Corporation unless there has been 
a change in the controlling ownership of the 
Corporation;  

ii.	 is not, and has not been, in the two years 
immediately preceding the election, a director of the 
covered Corporation; a director, officer, employee of 
the covered Corporation’s subsidiaries, associates, 
affiliates or related companies; or a director, officer, 
employee of the covered Corporation’s substantial 
shareholders and its related companies (except 
when the same shall be an independent director of 
any of the foregoing);

iii.	 has not been appointed in the covered Corporation, 
its subsidiaries, associates, affiliates or related 
companies as Chairperson “Emeritus,” “Ex-Officio” 
Directors/Officers or Members of any Advisory 
Board, or otherwise appointed in a capacity to 
assist the Board in the performance of its duties 
and responsibilities within two years immediately 
preceding his election; 

iv.	 is not an owner of more than 2% of the outstanding 
shares of the covered Corporation, its subsidiaries, 
associates, affiliates or related companies; 

v.	 is not a relative of a director, officer, or substantial 
shareholder of the covered Corporation or any of 
its related companies or of any of its substantial 
shareholders. For this purpose, relatives include 
spouse, parent, child, brother, sister and the spouse 
of such child, brother or sister; 

vi.	 is not acting as a nominee or representative of any 
director of the covered Corporation or any of its 
related companies; e.g., is not a securities broker-
dealer of listed companies and registered issuers of 
securities. “Securities broker dealer” refers to any 
person holding any office of trust and responsibility 
in a broker-dealer firm, which includes, among 
others, a director, officer, principal shareholder, 
nominee of the firm to the Exchange, an associated 
person or salesman, and an authorized clerk of the 
broker or dealer; 

vii.	 is not retained, either in his personal capacity or 
through a firm, as a professional adviser, auditor, 
consultant, agent or counsel of the covered 
Corporation, any of its related companies or 
substantial shareholder, or is otherwise independent 
of Management and free from any business or 
other relationship within the two years immediately 
preceding the date of his election; 

viii.	 does not engage or has not engaged, whether 
by himself or with other persons or through a firm 
of which he is a partner, director or substantial 
shareholder, in any transaction with the covered 
Corporation or any of its related companies or 
substantial shareholders, other than such transactions 
that are conducted at arm’s length and could not 
materially interfere with or influence the exercise 
of his independent judgment within the two years 
immediately preceding the date of his election;

ix.	 is not affiliated with any non-profit organization 
that receives significant funding from the covered 
Corporation or any of its related companies or 
substantial shareholders; and 

x.	 is not employed as an executive officer of another 
Corporation where any of the covered Corporation’s 
executives serve as directors.
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B.	 When used in relation to FILRT subject to the 
requirements above:

i.	 “Related company” means another company which 
is: a) its holding company, b) its subsidiary, or c) a 
subsidiary of its holding company; and

ii.	“Substantial shareholder” means any person who 
is directly or indirectly the beneficial owner of more 
than 10% of any class of its equity security.

C.	 An independent director of FILRT shall have the 
following qualifications:

i.	 He shall have at least one share of stock of FILRT;

ii.	 iHe shall be at least a college graduate or he shall 
have been engaged in or exposed to the business of 
FILRT for at least five years;

iii.	He shall possess integrity/probity; and

iv.	 He shall be assiduous.

D.	 He shall likewise be disqualified during his tenure 
under the following instances or causes:

i.	 He becomes an officer or employee of FILRT, or 
no longer qualifies based on the definition of an 
“Independent Director” indicated above;

ii.	 His beneficial security ownership exceeds 10% of 
the outstanding capital stock of FILRT;

iii.	He fails, without any justifiable cause, to attend at 
least 50% of the total number of board meetings 
during his incumbency unless such absences are 
due to grave illness or death of an immediate family 
member; and

iv.	 He becomes disqualified under any of the grounds 
stated in FILRT’s Revised Manual.

E.	 Pursuant to SEC Memorandum Circular No. 9, Series 
of 2011, as amended by SEC Memorandum Circular 
No. 04, Series of 2017, the following additional 
guidelines shall be observed in the qualification of 
individuals to serve as independent directors:

i.	 There shall be no limit in the number of covered 
companies that a person may be elected 
as Independent Director, except in business 
conglomerates where an ID can be elected to only 
five companies of the conglomerate, i.e., parent 
company, subsidiary or affiliate;

ii.	 The independent director shall serve for a maximum 
cumulative term of nine years;

iii.	After this, the independent director shall be 
perpetually barred from re-election as such in the 
same company, but may continue to qualify as non-
independent director;

iv.	 In the instance that a company wants to retain an 
independent director who has served for nine years, 
the Board should provide meritorious justification/s 
and seek shareholders’ approval during the annual 
shareholders’ meeting; and

v.	 The reckoning of the cumulative nine-year term is 
from 2012.

Members of the Board of Directors, 
Attendance and Committee Memberships
The table lists down the members of the Board of Directors 
and their attendance in Board Meetings in 2021.

Directors Date of  
First Election

Meetings 
Attended/Held

% 
Attendance

L. Josephine Gotianun-Yap 
Chairperson

November 1, 
2001

14/14 100

Maricel Brion-Lirio
Director*

February 11, 
2021

14/14 100

Tristaneil D. Las Marias 
Director

September 30, 
2020

14/14 100

Francis Nathaniel C. 
Gotianun  
Director**

September 30, 
2020

6/6 100

Val Antonio B. Suarez 
Independent Director

April 6, 2017 14/14 100

Virginia P. Obcena 
Independent Director

July 17, 2019 14/14 100

Gemilo J. San Pedro 
Independent Director**

September 30, 
2020

6/6 100

*	 First elected as director on February 11, 2021
**	First elected as Director on September 30, 2020, subject to the approval of 

the Philippine SEC of the increase of the Company’s number of directors. Their 
appointment as Director of the Company became effective on July 2, 2021.

The table lists down the attendance of the Board of 
Directors during the November 18, 2021 Annual 
Stockholders’ Meeting and their memberships in various 
committees:

Directors Attended
Annual 

Stockholders’ 
Meeting

Committees

L. Josephine Gotianun-Yap Yes Compensation 
(Member)

Maricel Brion-Lirio Yes N/A

Tristaneil D. Las Marias Yes N/A

Francis Nathaniel C. Gotianun Yes N/A
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Directors Attended
Annual 

Stockholders’ 
Meeting

Committees

Val Antonio B. Suarez 
Independent Director

Yes Compensation 
(Chairman)
Corporate Governance 
(Chairman)
Audit & Risk 
Management (Member)
Related-Party 
Transaction (Member)

Virginia P. Obcena Independent 
Director

Yes Audit & Risk 
Management 
(Chairperson)
Related-Party 
Transaction 
(Chairperson)
Compensation 
(Member)
Corporate Governance 
(Member)

Gemilo J. San Pedro 
Independent Director

Yes Audit & Risk 
Management (Member)
Corporate Governance 
(Member)
Related-Party 
Transaction (Member)

Duties and Responsibilities of Board 
Committees

Audit and Risk Management 
Committee
The Board constituted an Audit and Risk Management 
Committee composed of at least three non-executive 
director-members with accounting and financial 
background, the majority of whom should be independent 
directors, including the Chairperson. At least one member 
of the committee must have relevant thorough knowledge 
and experience on risk and risk management. 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee shall have the 
following duties and responsibilities: 

Internal Audit
a.	 Recommend the approval of the Internal Audit (IA) 

Charter, which formally defines the responsibilities, 
powers and authority of the IA Department, the audit 
plan of the IA Department, as well as oversees the 
implementation of the IA Charter; 

b.	 Through the IA Department, monitor and evaluate the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the corporation’s internal 
control system, integrity of financial reporting, and 
security of physical and information assets; 

c.	 Oversee the IA Department, and recommend the 
appointment and removal of an IA head as well as 
his qualifications, and grounds for appointment and 
removal. The Audit Committee should also approve 
the terms and conditions for outsourcing internal audit 
services, if applicable; 

d.	 Establish and identify the reporting line of the Internal 
Auditor to enable him to properly fulfil his duties and 
responsibilities. For this purpose, he should directly 
report to the Audit Committee; 

e.	 Monitor the management’s responsiveness to the Internal 
Auditor’s findings and recommendations; 

f.	 Prior to the commencement of the audit, discuss with 
the External Auditor the nature, scope and expenses of 
the audit, and ensure the proper coordination if more 
than one audit firm is involved in the activity to identify 
proper coverage and minimize duplication of efforts; 

g.	 Evaluate and determine the non-audit work, if any, of 
the External Auditor, and periodically reviews the non-
audit fees paid to the External Auditor in relation to the 
total fees paid and the corporation’s overall consultancy 
expenses. The Audit Committee should disallow any 
non-audit work that will conflict with the duties of 
an External Auditor or may pose a threat to his/her 
independence. The non-audit work, if allowed, should 
be disclosed in the corporation’s Annual Report and 
Annual Corporate Governance Report;

h.	 Review and approve the Interim and Annual Financial 
Statements before their submission to the Board, with 
particular focus on the following matters:

•	 Any change/s in accounting policies and practices 

•	 Areas where a significant amount of judgment has 
been exercised 

•	 Significant adjustments resulting from the audit 

•	 Going concern assumptions 

•	 Compliance with accounting standards 

•	 Compliance with tax, legal and regulatory 
requirements 

i.	 Review the recommendation in the External Auditor’s 
management letter; 

j.	 Establish standard for the selection of and assess the 
integrity and independence of the External Auditor, 
as well as review and monitor the External Auditor’s 
suitability and effectiveness on an annual basis; 

k.	 Perform oversight functions over the corporation’s 
Internal and External Auditors and ensure their integrity 
and independence and unrestricted access to all 
records, properties and personnel to enable them to 
perform their respective audit functions taking into 
consideration relevant Philippine professional and 
regulatory requirements;

l.	 Coordinate, monitor and facilitate compliance with 
laws, rules and regulations; 
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m.	Recommend to the Board the appointment, 
reappointment, removal and fees of the External 
Auditor, duly accredited by the Commission, who 
undertakes an independent audit of the corporation, 
and provides an objective assurance on the manner by 
which the financial statements should be prepared and 
presented to the shareholders; 

n.	 Evaluate on an ongoing basis existing relations between 
and among businesses and counterparties to ensure 
that all related parties are continuously identified, RPTs 
are monitored, the Related Party Registry is updated 
to capture subsequent changes in relationships with 
counterparties (from non-related to related and vice 
versa); 

o.	 In case of the absence of a Related Party Transactions 
(RPTs) Committee, evaluate all RPTs to ensure that these 
are not undertaken on more favorable economic terms 
(e.g., price, commissions, interest rates, fees, tenor, 
collateral requirement) to such related parties than 
similar transactions with non-related parties under 
similar circumstances and that no corporate or business 
resources of the Corporation are misappropriated or 
misapplied; and 

p.	 Meet internally and with the Board at least once every 
quarter without the presence of the CEO or other 
Management team members, and periodically meet with 
the head of the IA.

Risk Management 
a.	 Develop a formal Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) 

plan which contains the following elements: (a) common 
language or register of risks, (b) well-defined risk 
management goals and objectives, (c) uniform processes 
of assessing risks and developing strategies to manage 
prioritized risks, (d) designing and implementing risk 
management strategies, and (e) continuing assessments 
to improve risk strategies, processes and measures; 

b.	 Oversee the implementation of the ERM plan. The 
committee conducts regular discussions on the 
Corporation’s prioritized and residual risk exposures 
based on regular risk management reports and assesses 
how the concerned units or offices are addressing and 
managing these risks; 

c.	 Evaluate the risk management plan to ensure its 
continued relevance, comprehensiveness, and 
effectiveness. The committee should revisit defined risk 
management strategies, looks for emerging or changing 
material exposures, and keeps abreast of significant 
developments that seriously impact the likelihood of 
harm or loss; 

d.	 Advise the Board on its risk appetite levels and risk 
tolerance limits; 

e.	 Review at least annually the Corporation’s risk appetite 
levels and risk tolerance limits based on changes and 
developments in the business, the regulatory framework, 

the external economic and business environment, 
and major events which may have occurred in the 
Corporation; 

f.	 Assess the probability of each identified risk becoming 
a reality and estimate its possible significant financial 
impact and likelihood of occurrence. Priority areas of 
concern are those risks that are the most likely to occur 
and to impact the performance and stability of the 
corporation and its stakeholders; 

g.	 Oversee the management’s activities in managing 
credit, market, liquidity, operational, legal, and other 
risk exposures of the Corporation. This function includes 
regularly receiving information on risk exposures and 
risk management activities from management; and 

h.	 Report to the Board on a regular basis, or as deemed 
necessary, the Corporation’s material risk exposures, 
the actions taken to reduce the risks, and recommends 
further action or plans, as necessary.

Compensation Committee
The Board constituted a Compensation Committee 
composed of at least three director-members, one of whom 
must be an independent director.

Duties and Responsibilities:
a.	 Establish a formal and transparent procedure for 

developing a policy on executive remuneration and for 
fixing the remuneration packages of corporate officers 
and directors, and provide oversight over remuneration 
of senior management and other key personnel ensuring 
that compensation is consistent with the Company’s 
culture, strategy and control environment;

b.	 Designate the amount of remuneration, which shall 
be in a sufficient level to attract and retain directors 
and officers who are needed to run the Corporation 
successfully;

c.	 Establish a formal and transparent procedure for 
developing a policy on executive remuneration and for 
fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors, 
if any, and officers;

d.	 Develop a form on Full Business Interest Disclosure 
as part of the pre-employment requirements for all 
incoming officers, which, among others, compel all 
officers to declare under the penalty of perjury all their 
existing business interests or shareholdings that may 
directly or indirectly conflict in their performance of 
duties once hired;

e.	 Disallow any director to decide his or her own 
remuneration;

f.	 Provide in the Corporation’s annual reports, 
information and proxy statements a clear, concise 
and understandable disclosure of compensation of 
its executive officers for the previous fiscal year and 
ensuing year; and
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g.	 Review the existing Human Resources Development or 
Personnel Handbook, to strengthen provisions on conflict 
of interest, salaries and benefits policies, promotion 
and career advancement directives and compliance of 
personnel concerned with all statutory requirements that 
must be periodically met in their respective posts.

Corporate Governance Committee
The Corporate Governance Committee shall assist the 
Board in fulfilling its corporate governance and compliance 
responsibilities. The Committee shall be composed of at 
least three director-members, majority of whom shall be 
independent directors, including the Chairperson.

Duties and responsibilities: 
a.	 Oversee the implementation of the corporate 

governance framework and periodically reviews the 
said framework to ensure that it remains appropriate 
in light of material changes to the corporation’s size, 
complexity of operations and business strategy, as well 
as its business and regulatory environments; 

b.	 Oversee the periodic performance evaluation of the 
Board and its committees as well as the executive 
management, and conduct an annual evaluation of the 
said performance; 

c.	 Ensure that the results of the Board evaluation are 
discussed, and that concrete action plans are developed 
and implemented to address the identified areas for 
improvement; 

d.	 Recommend the continuing education/training programs 
for directors, assignment of tasks/projects to board 
committees, succession plan for the board members 
and senior officers, and remuneration packages for 
corporate and individual performance; 

e.	 Adopt corporate governance policies and ensure 
that these are reviewed and updated regularly, and 
consistently implemented in form and substance; 

f.	 Propose and plan relevant trainings for the members of 
the Board; 

g.	 Act as nomination committee and determines the 
nomination and election process for the Corporation’s 
directors and defines the general profile of board 
members that the Corporation may need, and ensure 
that appropriate knowledge, competencies and 
expertise that complement the existing skills of the Board 
are adopted as standards and criteria for nomination 
and election; 

h.	 Establish a formal and transparent procedure for 
determining the remuneration of directors and officers 
that is consistent with the corporation’s culture and 
business strategy as well as the business environment in 
which it operates; and 

i.	 Review and evaluate the qualifications of all persons 
nominated to the Board, as well as those nominated 
to other positions requiring appointment by the Board 
and provide an assessment on the Board’s effectiveness 
in directing the process of renewing and replacing the 
Board’s members.

 
The Corporate Governance Committee shall also serve as 
the Nominations Committee. It shall review and evaluate 
the qualifications of all persons nominated to the board 
as well as those nominated to other positions requiring 
appointment by the Board and assess the effectiveness 
of the Board’s process and procedures in the election or 
replacement of directors.

Related Party Transactions 
Committee
The Related Party Transactions (RPT) Committee is 
composed of at least three non-executive directors, two of 
whom must be independent, including the Chairperson of 
the Committee.

The Committee has the following duties and responsibilities: 
•	 Conduct continuous evaluation and monitoring of 

existing relations among counterparties to ensure that all 
related parties are identified, RPTs are monitored, and 
subsequent changes in relationships with counterparties 
(from non-related to related and vice versa) are 
captured. Related parties, RPTs and changes in 
relationships should be reflected in the relevant reports 
to the Board and the SEC; and

•	 Evaluate all material RPTs to ensure that these are 
transacted on an arm’s length basis and that no 
corporate or business resources of the company are 
misappropriated or misapplied, and to determine any 
potential reputational risk issues that may arise as a 
result of or in connection with the transactions. 

In evaluating RPTs, the Committee may take into account:
•	 The related party’s relationship to the Company and 

interest in the transaction;

•	 The material facts of the proposed RPT, including the 
proposed aggregate value of such transaction;

•	 The benefits to the Company of the proposed RPT;

•	 The availability of other sources of comparable products 
or services; 

•	 An assessment of whether the proposed RPT is on 
terms and conditions that are comparable to the terms 
generally available to an unrelated party under similar 
circumstances. The company should have an effective 
price discovery system in place and exercise due 
diligence in determining a fair price for RPTs;
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•	 Ensure that appropriate disclosure is made to the 
regulating and supervising authorities relating to the 
Corporation’s RPT exposures, and policies on conflicts 
of interest or potential conflicts of interest; 

•	 Report to the Board, on a regular basis, the status and 
aggregate exposures to each related party, as well as 
the total amount of exposures to all related parties;

•	 Ensure that transactions with related parties, including 
write-off of exposures, are subject to a periodic 
independent review or audit process; and

•	 Oversee the implementation of the system for 
identifying, monitoring, measuring, controlling, and 
reporting RPTs, including a periodic review of RPT 
policies and procedures.

2021 Board of Directors Attendance in Committee Meetings

Board Committees and Members Date of Appointment Meetings Attended/
Held

% Attendance Length of Service in the Committee*

Audit and Risk Management Committee
Virginia T. Obcena  
Chairperson, Independent Director 

November 18, 2001 1/1 100 1 year

Gemilo J. San Pedro  
Independent Director

November 18, 2001 1/1 100 1 year

Val Antonio B. Suarez  
Independent Director

November 18, 2001 1/1 100 1 year

Compensation Committee
Val Antonio B. Suarez  
Chairman, Independent Director

November 18, 2001 1/1 100 1 year

L. Josephine Gotianun-Yap, Director November 18, 2001 1/1 100 1 year

Virginia T. Obcena  
Independent Director

November 18, 2001 1/1 100 1 year

Corporate Governance Committee
Val Antonio B. Suarez  
Chairman, Independent Director

November 18, 2001 1/1 100 1 year

Virginia T. Obcena  
Independent Director

November 18, 2001 1/1 100 1 year

Gemilo J. San Pedro  
Independent Director

November 18, 2001 1/1 100 1 year

Related Party Transaction Committee
Virginia T. Obcena  
Chairperson, Independent Director 

November 18, 2001 1/1 100 1 year

Val Antonio B. Suarez  
Independent Director

November 18, 2001 1/1 100 1 year

Gemilo J. San Pedro  
Independent Director

November 18, 2001 1 year

Committee members are elected annually.
*	First elected as Director on September 30, 2020, subject to the approval of the Philippine SEC of the increase of the Company’s number of directors. There 

were no meetings of the Related Party Transaction Committee held after the appointment of Mr. San Pedro as director of the Company became effective on July 
2, 2021.
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Shareholders’ Benefits
The Company recognizes that the most cogent proof of 
good corporate governance is that which is visible to the 
eyes of its investors. Therefore, the following provisions are 
issued for the guidance of all internal and external parties 
concerned, as governance covenant between the Company 
and all its investors. 

The Board shall be committed to respect the following rights 
of the stockholders:

I.	 Right to Nominate and Vote

1.	Shareholders shall have the right to elect, remove 
and replace directors and vote on certain corporate 
acts in accordance with the Revised Corporation 
Code.

2.	Cumulative voting is mandatory in the election of 
directors.

3.	A director shall not be removed without cause if it 
will deny minority shareholders representation in the 
Board.

II.	 Power of Inspection 
All shareholders shall be allowed to inspect corporate 
books and records including minutes of Board meetings 
and stock registries, in accordance with the Revised 
Corporation Code, during business hours and upon 
prior written notice to the Company, for legal purposes. 
 
All shareholders shall be furnished with annual 
reports, including financial statements, without cost or 
restrictions.

III.	 Right to Information

1.	The shareholders shall be provided, upon request, 
with periodic reports which disclose personal and 
professional information about the directors and 
officers and certain other matters such as their 
holdings of the Company’s shares, dealings with 
the Company, relationships among directors and 
key officers, and the aggregate compensation of 
directors and officers.

2.	The minority shareholders shall be granted the right 
to propose the holding of a meeting, and the right 
to propose items in the agenda of the meeting, 
provided the items are for legitimate business 
purposes and in accordance with SEC regulations.

3.	In accordance with the SEC regulations, the 
minority shareholders shall have access to any and 
all information relating to matters for which the 
management is accountable for and to those relating 
to matters for which the management shall include 
such information and, if not included, then the 
minority shareholders shall be allowed to propose to 
include such matters in the agenda of stockholders’ 
meeting, being within the definition of “legitimate 
purposes.”

IV.	Right to Dividends

1.	 Shareholders shall have the right to receive 
dividends subject to the discretion of the Board.

2.	 The Commission may direct the Company to declare 
dividends when its retained earnings shall be in 
excess of 100% of its paid-in capital stock, except: 
i) when justified by definite corporate expansion 
projects or programs approved by the Board; ii) 
when the Company is prohibited under any loan 
agreement with any financial institution or creditor, 
whether local or foreign, from declaring dividends 
without its consent, and such consent  has not 
been secured; or iii) when it can be clearly shown 
that such retention is necessary under special 
circumstances obtaining in the Company, such 
as when there is a need for special reserve for 
probable contingencies.

V.	 Appraisal Right 
The shareholders shall have appraisal right or the right 
to dissent and demand payment of the fair value of their 
shares in the manner provided for under the Revised 
Corporation Code of the Philippines, under any of the 
following circumstances:

•	 In case any amendment to the articles of 
incorporation has the effect of changing or restricting 
the rights of any stockholders or class of shares, or 
of authorizing preferences in any respect superior 
to those of outstanding shares of any class, or 
of extending or shortening the term of corporate 
existence;

•	 In case of sale, lease, exchange, transfer, mortgage, 
pledge or other disposition of all or substantially all 
of the corporate property and assets as provided in 
the Revised Corporation Code; and

•	In case of merger or consolidation.

VI.	Right to Attend and Participate in Shareholders’ 
Meetings 
The Board should be transparent and fair in the conduct 
of the annual and special shareholders’ meetings of the 
corporation.

Shareholders should be encouraged to personally attend 
such meetings. If they cannot attend, they should be 
apprised ahead of time of their right to appoint a proxy. 
Subject to the requirements of the By-Laws, the exercise 
of that right shall not be unduly restricted and any doubt 
about the validity of a proxy should be resolved in the 
shareholder’s favor.

It shall be the duty of the directors to promote 
shareholder rights, remove impediments to the exercise 
of shareholders’ rights and allow possibilities to 
seek redress for violation of their rights. They shall 
encourage the exercise of shareholders’ voting rights 
and the solution of collective action problems through 
appropriate mechanisms. 
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They shall be instrumental in removing excessive costs 
and other administrative or practical impediments 
to shareholders participating in meetings and/or 
voting in person. The directors shall pave the way for 
the electronic filing and distribution of shareholder 
information necessary to make informed decisions 
subject to legal constraints.

Dividend Policy and Dividends Paid
The Company has adopted a dividend policy in 
accordance with the provisions of the REIT Act, pursuant to 
which shareholders may be entitled to receive at least 90% 
of the Company’s annual distributable income no later than 
the fifth month following the close of its fiscal year. 

On August 31, 2021, FILRT paid cash dividends of 
₱0.0112 per share or a total of ₱548 million to all 
shareholders on record as of September 15, 2021 and 
payable on September 30, 2021. On November 18, 
2021, FILRT paid cash dividends of ₱0.0112 per share or 
a total of ₱548 million to all shareholders on record as of 
December 3, 2021, and payable on December 20, 2021.

Annual Stockholders’ Meeting and 
Procedures

Notice of Annual Stockholders’ Meeting

On October 8, 2021, FILRT disclosed to the PSE that its 
Board had fixed the date of the Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting on November 18, 2021 with the record date set 
on October 22, 2021.

Stockholders were informed that the Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting for 2021 would be conducted virtually on 
November 18, 2021 (Thursday) at 9:00 a.m. Only 
stockholders of record as of October 22, 2021 were 
entitled to attend and vote in this meeting. Right after the 
stockholders’ meeting, FILRT disclosed to the PSE the results 
of the annual stockholders’ meeting which included the 
following:

a.	Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting held on September 30, 2020;

b.	Ratification of the Audited Financial Statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2020;

c.	Declaration of cash dividends in the amount of 
Php0.112 per share to all stockholders of record 
as of December 3, 2021, with payment date on 
December 20, 2021;

d.	Ratification of all the acts, resolutions and 
proceedings of the Board, Board Committees, 
and Management from the date of the last annual 
stockholders’ meeting up to November 18, 2021; 

e.	Appointment of Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co. as the 
independent external auditor of FILRT for the year 
2021. 

FILRT likewise disclosed that the election of the following as 
directors to serve for the period 2021-2022 and until their 
successors shall have been duly elected and qualified:

1.		 L. Josephine Gotianun-Yap

2.		 Maricel Brion-Lirio

3.		 Tristaneil D. Las Marias

4.		 Francis Nathaniel C. Gotianun

5.		 Virginia T. Obcena (as independent director)

6.		 Gemilo J. San Pedro (as independent director)

7.		 Val Antonio B. Suarez (as independent director)
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Statutory Compliance
FILRT fully complied with the PSE and SEC regulatory 
requirements. Below is the Company’s Reportorial Compli-
ance Report:

Type of Report Number of Filings

Financials
Annual Report (17-A) 1

Quarterly Report (17-Q) 3

2021 Audited Financial Statements 1

Request for extension in filing 17-A, 17-Q None

Ownership
Annual List of Stockholders – for Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting

1

Foreign Ownership Monitoring Report 6

Public Ownership Report 2

Report on Number of Shareholders and Board Lot 5

Initial Statement of Beneficial Ownership of Securities 
(23-A)

8

Statement of Changes in Beneficial 
Ownership of Securities (23-B)

11

Top 100 Stockholders’ List 2

Notices – Stockholders’ Meetings/
Briefings/Dividends
Notice of Annual/Special Stockholders’ Meeting 1

Dividend Notice (part of disclosure on Results of 
Stockholders’ Meeting)

1

Other Disclosures
Certification – Qualifications of Independent Directors 1

Clarifications of News Articles None

Definitive Information Statement (20-IS) 1

General Information Sheet 1

Preliminary Information Statement (20-IS) 1

SEC Form 17-C (Current Report)
Which includes the following:

a)	 Results of Annual Stockholders’ Meeting/Board 
Meetings 

11

b)	 Press Releases 8

c)	 Other Matters 16

Investor Relations
FILRT’s website, www.filinvestreit.com, makes available to 
the public current information on the Company, including 
details of its operations.  

The Investor Relations section of the website provides 
information regarding the Company’s operations, financial 
performance and other significant developments. It likewise 
contains financial statements, press releases, declaration 
of dividends, ownership structure and any changes in the 
ownership of major shareholders and officers, and other 
reportorial requirements by the PSE.

The contact details of the Investor Relations Department are 
available on the website.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

FILRT’s risk governance is led by a Board Audit and Risk Oversight Committee which considers strategic, operational, 
financial and compliance risks, sets the tone for risk treatment and assesses risk monitoring and assessment reports. 
The President and CEO serves as the risk executive for FILRT. 
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The table lists down the significant risk items with the corresponding risk mitigation actions.

TOP RISKS Company Response
Philippine macroeconomics and demand for commercial 
space

Continued development of Filinvest City and interconnections 
with government’s planned transport infrastructure

COVID-19 pandemic and resulting economic downturns 
and mobility restrictions

Support to and compliance with government’s directives on 
COVID-19, on both health and deferred payments 

Focus on its leasing strategy to multinational global firms, 
including BPO, IT and traditional companies

Various measures for the safety of tenants, customers, 
suppliers, service providers and employees

Government’s real estate-related policies Engagement with national agencies during the public 
consultations on policies or regulations under development

Related party transactions Corporate governance provisions and related party 
transactions policy

Application of arms-length principle in all dealings 

Compliance with BIR transfer pricing guidelines

Lease-related risks: global leasing trends, vacancies, 
reduced occupancy, untimely expiration or early 
termination of leases, delays and inability to collect rent 
payment, volatility in market rental rates

Leasing policies on screening tenant applicants

Securing appropriate mix of tenants;

Security deposits and advance rent

Reconfiguration of tenant spaces where required

Flexibility to tenant needs 

Loss of PEZA accreditation, tax exemptions and 
incentives

Compliance with conditions in accreditations and permits

Timely renewal of permits and filing of mandatory reports

Competition in real estate market Continuous investments in quality properties

Continuous repair and maintenance of properties

Illiquidity of real estate investments Active management of capital structure

Well-balanced risk management strategy

Increase in operating expenses Optimization of operating costs

Operational efficiencies, including energy management and 
digital solutions

Litigation risks and regulatory disputes Relationship management with regulators
 
Adoption of clear dispute resolution mechanisms
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EESG PERFORMANCE METRICS  
AND SEC CONTENT INDEX

A. Economic disclosures 2021
Economic Performance 
Direct Economic Value Generated and Distributed Total (in PHP)

Direct economic value generated (Revenue) 

Direct economic value distributed* 

Procurement Practices 
Proportion of Spending on Local Suppliers %

Percentage of procurement budget used for significant locations of operations that is 
spent on local suppliers

Anti-Corruption 99%

Training on Anti-Corruption Policies and Procedures 

Percentage of employees who have received written communication about corporate 
anti-corruption policies and procedures 

0% 

Percentage of business partners who have received written communication about 
corporate anti-corruption policies and procedures 

0% 

Percentage of directors and management who have received anti-corruption training 100% 

Percentage of employees who have received anticorruption training 100% 

Incidents of Corruption

Number of incidents in which directors were removed or disciplined for corruption 0 

Number of incidents in which employees were dismissed or disciplined for corruption 0 

Number of incidents when contracts with business partners were terminated due to 
corruption 

0 

B. Environment Disclosures 2021
Resource Management Unit Amount

Energy consumption within the organization and Reduction of Energy Consumption 

Energy consumption - by fuel type - Gasoline Liters 0

Energy consumption - by fuel type - Diesel Liters 123,980

Energy consumption - by fuel type - Electricity kwh 14,488,796

Water consumption within the organization 

Water consumption within the organization (common & leased areas)
m3 

262,424

Water recycled and reused 9,074 

Materials Used by the Organization

Materials used by weight or volume kg N/A
(FILRT does not construct property assets does not engage in 

manufacturing)

Materials used by weight or volume - cement Kg N/A

Percentage of recycled input materials used to manufacture the 
organization’s primary products and services 

% N/A

Ecosystems and Biodiversity 

Operational sites owned, leased in, or adjacent to, protected areas and 
areas of high biodiversity value outside protected areas 

 None.  All FILRT assets are located in urban areas. 

Habitats protected or restored  N/A

IUCN Red List species and national conservation list species with habitats 
in areas affected by operations 

 N/A 

EESG Performance Metrics 
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C. Social Disclosures 2021
 Employee Management

Employee Hiring and Benefits TOTAL | MALE | FEMALE

Total number of employees FILRT does not have permanent employees but seconded talents from the Filinvest 
Group.

Attrition rate N/A

Ratio of lowest paid employee against minimum wage N/A

Employee Training and Development 

Total training hours provided to employees (by male/female) Training information for the seconded talents from the Filinvest group are 
indicated in their respective sustainability reports.

Average training hours provided to employees (by male/female) 

Labor Management and Relations

B. Environment Disclosures 2021
Environmental Impact Management 

Ecosystems and Biodiversity 

Air Emissions - Green House Gasses (GHG) Unit  Amount

Direct (Scope 1) GHG Emissions  Tons CO2-eq 235

Indirect (Scope 2) GHG Emissions  Tons CO2-eq 7,587

Indirect (Scope 3) GHG Emissions (due to DCS) Tons CO2-eq 7,793

Air Pollutants 

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) Kg Nil

Sulfur oxides (SOx) Kg Nil

Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) Kg Nil

Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) Kg Nil

Hazardous air pollutants (HAPs) Kg Nil

Particulate matter (PM) Kg Nil

Solid Waste

Reusable 

Tons

0

Recyclable 0.117

Composted 0

Residuals/Landfilled 838

TOTAL 838

Hazardous Waste

Total weight of hazardous waste generated
KG

144

Total weight of hazardous waste transported 0

Effluents

Total volume of water discharges  CBM 9,074

Percent of wastewater recycled % 3.97%

Environmental Compliance 
Non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations 

Total amount of monetary fines for noncompliance with environmental 
laws and/or regulations

PHP 0

EESG Performance Metrics 
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C. Social Disclosures 2021
% of employees covered by Collective Bargaining Agreements N/A

Number of consultations conducted with employees concerning employee-
related policies

N/A

Diversity and Equal Opportunity 

% of workers in the workforce by gender 56% of Filinvest talents seconded/assigned to FILRT are women.

Number of employees from indigenous communities and/or vulnerable 
sector 

0

Workplace Conditions, Labor Standards, and Human Rights Occupational Health and Safety 

Safe Man-Hours 235,226

No. of work-related injuries 0

No. of work-related fatalities 0

No. of work-related ill-health 0

Labor Laws and Human Rights 

Policies that explicitly disallow violations of labor laws and human rights 
(e.g. harassment, bullying) in the workplace 

0

No. of legal actions or employee grievances involving forced or child 
labor 

0

Relationship with Community 
Significant Impacts on Local Communities

For operations affecting IPs, total number of Free and Prior Informed 
Consent (FPIC) consultations and Certification Preconditions (CPs) secured

0

Customer Management 

Customer Satisfaction Score(s) No survey result was available for 2021.

Health and Safety

Number of substantiated complaints on product or service health and 
safety 

None on record

Number of complaints addressed None on record

Marketing and Labelling 

Number of substantiated complaints on marketing and labelling None on record

Number of complaints addressed None on record

Customer Privacy  

Number of substantiated complaints on customer privacy 0

Number of complaints addressed 0

Number of customers, users and account holders whose information is 
used for secondary purposes 

0

Data Security

No. of data breaches, including leaks, thefts and losses of data 0

EESG Performance Metrics 

EESG PERFORMANCE METRICS  
AND SEC CONTENT INDEX
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SEC Content Index 

Disclosures Reporting location Remarks/Explanation
Company details 

Name of Organization 

About This Report 

Filinvest REIT Corp. (FILRT)
Location of Headquarters 23rd Floor, Axis Tower 1, Northgate 

Cyberzone, Filinvest Corporate 
City, Alabang, Muntinpula City, 
Philippines

Location of Operations Alabang, Muntinlupa City and Cebu 
City

Report Boundary: Legal entities included in this report Materiality All FILRT assets leased out in 
Alabang and Cebu, except for the 
operations of Capital One which has 
its own property management office

Business Model Business Model Property Leasing and Operations 
Reporting Period About this Report August __ – December 31, 2021.  

FILRT was listed in the PSE on August 
12, 2021.  The properties in the 
FILRT portfolio have been operational 
for more than 3 years prior to FILRT 
listing, under Cyberzone Properties, 
Inc.

Highest Ranking Person for this report Maricel Brion-Lirio FILRT President and CEO

A. Economic disclosures Reporting location Remarks/ explanation 
Economic Performance    
Direct Economic Value Generated and Distributed

General 
Disclosures 

Management Approach 
The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section 
Stakeholders Affected 

KPIs 
Direct economic value generated (Revenue) Performance Metrics
Direct economic value distributed 

Climate-Related Risks and Opportunities    

General 
Disclosures 

Governance  

--

Climate-related information not 
available at time of reporting.  
FILRT’s Sustainability Framework, 
incl. climate change policy and 
commitments, is under development.  

Strategy  
Risk Management  
Metrics and Targets 

Procurement Practices    
Proportion of Spending on Local Suppliers 

General 
Disclosures 

Management Approach Our Suppliers All procurement in the Filinvest group 
is centralized under Supply Chain 
Management of SharePro, a recently 
organized shared services company.  
Local procurement in 2021 was at 
99%. 

The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section 
Stakeholders Affected 

KPI
Percentage of procurement budget used for significant 
locations of operations that is spent on local suppliers

Economic Performance

Anti-Corruption    
Training on Anti-Corruption Policies and Procedures 

General 
Disclosures 

Management Approach 
Corporate Governance FILRT’s Corporate Governance 

is aligned with the Corporate 
Governance practices of the 
Sponsor, FLI.

The Impact and Where it Occurs 
Stakeholders Affected

KPI Percentage of employees who have received written 
communication --

about corporate anti-corruption policies and procedures
Percentage of business partners who have received written 
communication about corporate anti-corruption policies and 
procedures
Percentage of directors and management who have 
received anti-corruption training
Percentage of employees who have received anti-corruption 
training
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SEC Content Index 
Disclosures Reporting location Remarks/Explanation

Incidents of Corruption 
General 
Disclosures 

Management Approach 

Corporate Governance section

The Impact and Where it Occurs 
Stakeholders Affected 

KPIs Number of incidents in which directors were removed or 
disciplined for corruption 
Number of incidents in which employees were dismissed or 
disciplined for corruption 
Number of incidents when contracts with business partners 
were terminated due to corruption

B. Environment Disclosures 
Resource Management   
Energy consumption within the organization and Reduction of Energy Consumption 
General 
Disclosures 

Management Approach Environmental Performance
section

The Impact and Where it Occurs Materiality
Stakeholders Affected 

KPIs Energy consumption - by fuel type Environmental Performance  
section

Most of the energy consumption of 
FILRT is on electricity bought from 
both Meralco and via FDC RES open 
access contract. 

Energy reduction - by fuel type 
Water consumption within the organization 

General 
Disclosures 

Management Approach Our Environmental Impact
The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section 
Stakeholders Affected 
ESG Risks and Opportunities 

Our Environmental Impact 
Performance MetricsKPIs

Water consumption within the organization Water consumed is primarily from 
surface water sources provided by 
the utility.  Filinvest Alabang operates 
its own sewage treatment facility 
which receives the raw wastewater 
from FILRT buildings.  

Water withdrawal 
Water consumption 
Water recycled and reused 

Materials Used by the Organization  

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Environment Section
The Impact and Where it Occurs 

About this Section 
Stakeholders Affected 

KPIs

Materials used by weight or volume Our Environmental 
Impact Performance Metrics

Percentage of recycled input materials used to manufacture 
the organization’s primary products and services 

-- FILRT does not engage in construction 
nor manufacture products.

Ecosystems and Biodiversity 
General 
Disclosures 

Management Approach Environment Section
The Impact and Where it Occurs  
Stakeholders Affected 

KPIs

Operational sites owned, leased in, or adjacent to, 
protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside 
protected areas The location of the FILRT assets are 

not biodiversity hotspots. Habitats protected or restored 
IUCN Red List species and national conservation list species 
with habitats in areas affected by operations 

EESG PERFORMANCE METRICS  
AND SEC CONTENT INDEX
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Disclosures Reporting location Remarks/Explanation
Environmental Impact Management   
Air Emissions - Green House Gasses (GHG) 

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Environment Section
The Impact and Where it Occurs 
Stakeholders Affected 
ESG Risks and Opportunities 

KPIs

Direct (Scope 1) GHG Emissions  
Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG Emissions  GHG emissions are primarily from 

diesel consumption and electricity 
bought.  Some of the electricity is 
sourced from 100% renewables.  
Scope 3 is from the electricity used 
by the district cooling system which 
is a third party service provider to 
FILRT.

Emissions of ozone-depleting substances (ODS) -- Not Reported on
Air Pollutants

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach --
The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section
Stakeholders Affected 

KPIs

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) 

--
Nil.  While the gensets are regularly 
tested, these are only for very short 
durations, in minutes.  

Sulfur oxides (SOx) 
Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) 
Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) 
Hazardous air pollutants (HAPs) 
Particulate matter (PM) 

 Solid Waste 

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Our Environmental Impact 
The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section
Stakeholders Affected 

KPIs Total solid waste generated - by type Our Environmental Impact
Performance Metrics

Hazardous Waste 

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Our Environmental Impact
The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section 
Stakeholders Affected 

KPIs
Total weight of hazardous waste generated   Performance Metrics 
Total weight of hazardous waste transported 

Effluents

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Our Environmental Impact
The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section 
Stakeholders Affected 

KPIs Total volume of water discharges Our Environmental Impact
Performance Metrics

Wastewater discharges are 
estimated as a percentage of the 
total water consumed.  Wastewater 
is treated in a centralized facility 
in Filinvest Alabang which includes 
sewage from other locators.

Percent of wastewater recycled Part of the treated effluent is sent 
back to the neighborhood for 
landscape irrigation.

Environmental Compliance   
Non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations 

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Our Environmental Impact
The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section
Stakeholders Affected 

KPIs

Total amount of monetary fines for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and/or regulations 

Our Environmental Impact
Performance Metrics

In 2020, there were no NOVs issued 
by both DENR EMB NCR and LLDA 
regulators.

Number of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and/or regulations 
Number of cases resolved through a dispute resolution 
mechanism 

SEC Content Index 
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Disclosures Reporting location Remarks/Explanation
C. Social Disclosures 
Employee Management    
Employee Hiring and Benefits 
General 
Disclosures 

Management Approach Social performance section 
The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section 

KPIs Total number of employees Our People Performance 
Metrics 

Attrition rate -- All FILRT employees are assigned 
from the Sponsor, FILRT’s talent pool.

Ratio of lowest paid employee against minimum wage --
List of employee benefits Our People

Employee Training and Development

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Our People – Training and 
Development 

The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section 

KPIs

Total training hours provided to employees (by male/
female) Our People

Performance Metrics Information on training is reported in 
FLI’s sustainability report.

Average training hours provided to employees (by male/
female) 

Labor Management and Relations

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Our People 
The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section 

KPIs

% of employees covered by Collective Bargaining 
Agreements 

Performance Metrics 
There is no CBA in FILRT.  Employee 
concerns are handled by the 
Sponsor, FLI.

Number of consultations conducted with employees 
concerning employee-related policies 

-- 

Diversity and Equal Opportunity 

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach -- 
The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section 

KPIs

% of female workers in the workforce 

Our People 
Performance Metrics

More than 50% of the talents 
assigned to FILRT are female.

% of male workers in the workforce 
Number of employees from indigenous communities and/or 
vulnerable sector 

Workplace Conditions, Labor Standards, and Human Rights Occupational Health and Safety 

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Our People - Health,  
Safety and Wellbeing 

The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section 

KPIs

Safe Man-Hours 

--

There were no significant safety 
incidents in 2021.  No documented 
COVID-19 transmission in the 
workplace

No. of work-related injuries 
No. of work-related fatalities 
No. of work-related ill-health 
No. of safety drills 

Labor Laws and Human Rights

General 
Disclosures 

Management Approach Our Suppliers Our People 
The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section 

KPIs 

Policies that explicitly disallow violations of labor laws and 
human rights (e.g. harassment, bullying) in the workplace 

Our People Performance 
Metrics 

 Filinvest’s code of business conduct 
also applies to service providers, in 
accordance with contract provisions.

No. of legal actions or employee grievances involving 
forced or child labor

Performance Metrics 

SEC Content Index 
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Disclosures Reporting location Remarks/Explanation
Supply Chain   

Supplier Accreditation and Screening 

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Our Suppliers 
The Impact and Where it Occurs About this Section 

KPIs

Supplier Accreditation Policy 

Our Suppliers

Vendor accreditation policy is being 
implemented by Supply Chain 
Management under SharePro, a 
shared services company under FDC.

Sustainability Topics Considered 
When Selecting/Screening Suppliers 

Relationship with Community    

Significant Impacts on Local Communities 
General 
Disclosures

Management Approach 

Our Communities 
KPIs 

Operations with significant impacts on local communities 
(by location, vulnerable group/indigenous people  (IPs))

The locations of the FILRT assets are 
not within lands with certificate of 
ancestral domain titles. 

Mitigating measures (if negative) or enhancement measures 
(if positive)
For operations affecting IPs, total number of Free and Prior 
Informed Consent (FPIC) consultations and Certification 
Preconditions (CPs) secured

Customer Management   

Customer Satisfaction 

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Our Customers – Serving our 
Customers

The Impact and Where it Occurs Approach to CSR
KPIs Customer Satisfaction Score(s) --
Health and Safety

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Our Customers – Serving our 
Customers

The Impact and Where it Occurs Approach to CSR

KPIs

Number of substantiated complaints on product or service 
health and safety 

Our Customers 
Performance Metrics 

FILRT’s primary customers are 
businesses who lease office spaces.  
Customer satisfaction survey data for 
2021 are not available.

Number of complaints addressed 
Marketing and Labelling

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Our Customers – 
Serving our Customers 

The Impact and Where it Occurs Approach to CSR

KPIs
Number of substantiated complaints on marketing and 
labelling 

Our Customers 
Performance Metrics  No recorded complaints on record.

Number of complaints addressed 
Customer Privacy

General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Our Customers – Protecting 
Privacy

The Impact and Where it Occurs Approach to CSR

KPIs

Number of substantiated complaints on customer privacy 
Our Customers Performance 

Metrics 
Number of complaints addressed 
Number of customers, users and account holders whose 
information is used for secondary purposes 

FILRT does not have individuals as 
customers. 

Data Security
General 
Disclosures

Management Approach Social performance

KPIs
The Impact and Where it Occurs 
No. of data breaches, including leaks, thefts and losses of 
data 

FILRT has no reported data breaches 
in 2021.

SEC Content Index 
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FILINVEST REIT CORP. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) AND A SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 4 and 17)
Receivables (Note 5)
Other current assets (Note 11)

Noncurrent assets held for distribution (Notes 6 and 16)
     Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets
Advances to contractors (Note 8)
Investment properties (Notes 6, 9 and 20)
Property and equipment (Note 10)
Intangible assets (Notes 6, 7 and 20)
Other noncurrent assets (Note 11)
     Total Noncurrent Assets
Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Note 12)
Current portion of:
     Lease liabilities (Note 20)
     Security and other deposits (Note 15)
     Loans payable (Notes 13, 25 and 26)
Dividends payable (Note 16)
     Total Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities
Bonds payable (Notes 14, 25 and 26)
Lease liabilities - net of current portion (Note 20)
Security and other deposits - net of current portion (Note 15)
Loans payable - net of current portion (Notes 13, 25 and 26)
Deferred tax liability - net (Note 19)
Other noncurrent liabilities (Notes 15 and 18)
     Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Equity
Capital stock (Note 16)
Additional paid-in capital (Note 16)
Deposit for future stock subscription (Notes 13 and 16)
Retained earnings (Note 16)
Remeasurement gain (loss) on retirement plan (Note 18)
     Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2021 2020

P2,587,195,631
754,995,633

64,054,931
3,406,246,195

−
3,406,246,195

13,293,694
9,165,931,034

81,686,898
1,054,470,180

250,528,341
10,565,910,147

P13,972,156,342  

P1,222,657,329

1,848,085
96,987,598

−
−

1,321,493,012

5,987,044,949
25,990,097

654,002,829
−
−
−

6,667,037,875
7,988,530,887

2,446,388,997
2,518,356,922

−
1,018,879,536

−
5,983,625,455 

P13,972,156,342

P870,517,532
830,144,454
1,171,332,106

2,871,994,092
6,843,701,346
9,715,695,438

18,393,179
11,629,804,872

68,394,882
3,408,827,424

388,417,886
15,513,838,243

P25,229,533,681

P1,583,711,747

92,617,060
116,414,891

744,166,667
6,611,906,765
9,148,817,130

5,974,168,846
2,097,498,105

732,659,169
1,600,000,000

269,939,889
300,385,682

10,974,651,691
20,123,468,821

1,163,426,668
102,900,666

1,889,583,333
1,950,125,348

28,845
5,106,064,860

P25,229,533,681

December 31,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REVENUES 
Rental revenue (Notes 7, 9, 17 and 20)
Others (Notes 2 and 21)

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 7, 9, 10, and 20)
Utilities 
Rental expense (Notes 17 and 20)
Manpower and service cost 
Repairs and maintenance 
Taxes and licenses
Insurance 
Service and management fees (Note 17)
Provision for expected credit loss (Note 5)
Others 

OTHER INCOME (CHARGES)
Gain on derecognition of lease liabilities
Interest income (Notes 4, 5, 17 and 22)
Interest and other financing charges 
     (Notes 13, 14 and 20)
Gain on sale of investment property (Notes 7 and 20)
Other charges – net

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX
PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) 
     INCOME TAX (Note 19)
Current
Deferred

NET INCOME
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 
Remeasurement loss on retirement plan, net of tax (Note 19)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Share (Note 23)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2021

2020 
(As restated,

see Note 2)

P2,519,294,434
 922,722,669

 3,442,017,103

427,657,046
277,795,323
271,083,960
235,494,750
183,504,663
95,353,896
15,915,467

63,754,897
7,417,014

10,433,134
1,588,410,150

189,183,041
9,986,396

(348,226,313)
−

(1,411,852)
(150,468,728)
1,703,138,225

117,651,935
(269,648,113)
(151,996,178)

1,855,134,403

− 
P1,855,134,403

P0.53

P2,833,413,910
1,048,582,442
3,881,996,352

486,065,150
297,548,444
297,968,918
243,871,278
132,656,658
118,895,084

4,019,860
35,181,867

−
9,165,807

1,625,373,066

5,842,526
3,908,966

(351,361,074)
65,038,584
(2,319,005)

(278,890,003)
1,977,733,283

231,150,026
(114,258,532)

116,891,494
1,860,841,789

(1,055,090)

P1,859,786,699

P0.80

December 31,

2019 
(As restated,

see Note 2)

P2,814,668,936
 924,548,323

 3,739,217,259

418,797,652
332,257,377
305,153,634
241,837,292
162,585,686

67,544,321
11,199,434

27,393,465
−

6,035,723
1,572,804,584

−
10,468,164

(230,520,294)
−

(2,576,278)
(222,628,408)
1,943,784,267

189,580,926
119,807,959

309,388,885
1,634,395,382

−

P1,634,395,382

P0.70
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax
Adjustments for: 
     Depreciation and amortization 
          (Notes 6, 7, 9, 10, and 20)
     Interest expense and other financing changes
          (Notes 13, 14 and 20) 
     Gain on derecognition of lease liability (Note 20)
     Interest income (Note 4, 17 and 22)
     Gain on sale of investment properties (Note 20)
     Pension expense (Note 18)
Operating income before changes in operating assets
     and liabilities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
     Decrease (increase) in:
          Receivables
          Other current assets
     Increase (decrease) in:
          Accounts payable and accrued expenses
          Other current liabilities
          Security and other deposits
          Other noncurrent liabilities
Net cash generated from operations
Interest received (Note 4)
Income tax paid
Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale and assignment of:
     Investment properties (Notes 6 and 9)
     Intangible assets (Note 7)
     ProOffice Work Services, Inc. (Note 1)
Additions to:
     Investment properties (Note 6 and 9)
     Intangible assets (Note 6 and 7)
     Property and equipment (Note 10)
Decrease (increase) in:
     Advances to contractors
     Other noncurrent assets (Note 11)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

(Forward)

2021 2020 

P1,703,138,225 

427,657,046

348,226,313
(189,183,041)
(9,986,396)

–
–

2,279,852,147

75,148,821 
313,848,363

(16,930,270)
–

 (98,083,633)
 (300,385,682)
2,253,449,746

 9,986,396 
(117,680,780)
2,145,755,362

615,458,031
966,124,237

–

(413,237,259)
(152,341,910)
(30,219,374)

5,099,485
5,493,291

996,376,501

P1,977,733,283

486,065,150

351,361,074
(5,842,526)
(3,908,966)

(65,038,584)
487,197

2,740,856,628

(54,648,565)
(200,426,188)

(191,226,805)
(129,337,085)

25,187,166
97,504,469

2,287,909,620
3,908,966

(231,583,519)
2,060,235,067

737,840,581
–

17,162,936

(1,158,021,511)
(241,043,644)

(16,760,634)

97,551,319
88,011,202

(475,259,751)

Years Ended December 31

2019 

P1,943,784,267

418,797,652

230,520,294
−

(10,468,164)
−

413,785

2,583,047,834

(248,456,384)
(210,446,398)

(144,925,151)
81,056,737

65,066,932
153,409,376

2,278,752,946
10,468,164

(197,650,866)
2,091,570,244

−
–
−

(2,163,580,071)
(172,480,426)
(39,207,659)

(156,317,788)
(32,676,043)

(2,564,261,987)

FILINVEST REIT CORP. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) AND A SUBSIDIARY



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from availments of loans payable (Note 13)
Payments of:
     Cash dividends (Note 16)
     Principal portion of lease liabilities (Note 20)
     Interest and transaction cost (Note 20)
Loans payable (Notes 13 and 25)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 
     AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
     AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
     AT END OF YEAR (Note 4)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2021 2020 

P–

 (1,095,982,270)
(14,397,140) 

 (315,074,354)
–

(1,425,453,764)

1,716,678,099

870,517,532

P2,587,195,631

P1,000,000,000

(348,339,734)
(47,613,247)

(471,907,571)
(1,355,454,545)
(1,223,315,097)

361,660,219

508,857,313

P870,517,532

Years Ended December 31

2019 

P2,100,000,000

−
(17,259,680)

(479,482,496)
(1,339,242,424)

264,015,400

(208,676,343)

717,533,656

P508,857,313

FILINVEST REIT CORP. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) AND A SUBSIDIARY



Filinvest REIT Corp.
23rd Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower One Northgate 
Cyberzone, Filinvest City, Muntinlupa

www.filinvestreit.com



 
   

Part VII - EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 
 

Item 15. Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-C 
 

(a) Exhibits 
 
The 2021 Audited Financial Statements of the Company (with the auditors’ SGV, name of certifying 
partner and address) and Statement of Management’s Responsibility are attached hereto as Annex “A”. 

 
(b) Reports on SEC Form 17-C 

 
The Report on each Form 17-C filed during the last 12-month period covered by this report is attached 
hereto as Annexes. Please see details below.  

Report Report Date Annex 
Result of Board of Directors Meeting held on January 20, 2021 January 20, 2021 Annex “A” 
Result of Special Board of Directors Meeting held on February 11, 2021 February 15, 2021 Annex “B” 
Result of Board of Directors Meeting held on March 5, 2021 March 9, 2021 Annex “C” 
Result of Special Board of Directors Meeting held on March 9, 2021 March 12, 2021 Annex “D” 
Result of Special Board of Directors Meeting held on March 19, 2021 March 22, 2021 Annex “E” 
Filing of registration statement with the SEC covering the Company's 
REIT IPO 

March 25, 2021 Annex “F” 

Disclosure re: Newly Appointed Data Protection Officer April 12, 2021 Annex “G” 
Result of Special Meeting of Stockholders held on June 25, 2021 June 28, 2021 Annex “H” 

Press Release: Filinvest REIT IPO gets SEC nod  July 7, 2021 Annex “I” 
Press Release_Filinvest REIT obtains PSE Board Approval July 9, 2021 Annex “J” 
Result of Board of Directors meeting held on July 9, 2021 July 14, 2021 Annex “K” 
Disclosure re: SEC approval of the Amendments of the FILRT's AOI & 
By-Laws  

July 15, 2021 Annex “L” 

Disclosure re: SEC approval of the FILRT's Property Dividends 
Declaration  

July 16, 2021 Annex “M” 

Press Release: Filinvest REIT ₱12.6B IPO priced at ₱7.00 per share, 
driven by strong domestic demand during bookbuild  

July 21, 2021 Annex “N” 

Press Release: Filinvest REIT IPO offer starts July 23  July 23, 2021 Annex “O” 
Press Release: Filinvest REIT braves headwinds with IPO August 12, 2021 Annex “P” 
Press Release: Filinvest REIT breaches P1-B net income mark in 
1H2021 

August 13, 2021 Annex “Q” 

Disclosure re: Stabilization Agent’s weekly report on Stabilization 
Activities Conducted from August 12, 2021, to close of the week on 
August 13, 2021 

August 16, 2021 Annex “R” 

Disclosure re: Stabilization Agent’s weekly report on Stabilization 
Activities Conducted from August 16, 2021, to close of the week on 
August 20, 2021 

August 20, 2021 Annex “S” 

Disclosure re: Stabilization Agent’s weekly report on Stabilization 
Activities Conducted from August 23, 2021, to close of the week on 
August 27, 2021 

August 27, 2021 Annex “T” 

Press Release: Filinvest REIT declares dividends  August 31, 2021 Annex “U” 
Disclosure re: Stabilization Agent’s weekly report on Stabilization 
Activities Conducted from August 30, 2021, to close of the week on 
September 3, 2021 

September 3, 2021 Annex “V” 

Disclosure re: Closing Date of the Stabilization Period September 9, 2021 Annex “W” 
Disclosure re: Stabilization Agent’s weekly report on Stabilization 
Activities Conducted from September 6, 2021, to close of the week on 
September 10, 2021 

September 10, 2021 Annex “X” 

Disclosure re: Stabilization Agent’s report on summary of Stabilization 
Activities Conducted during the stabilization period from August 12, 
2021 until September 10, 2021 

September 13, 2021 Annex “Y” 

Disclosure re: Stabilization Agent’s report on the number of shares 
bought during the stabilization period commencing on 12 August 2021 
and ending on 10 September 2021 and the redelivery of equivalent 

September 17, 2021 Annex “Z” 
 



 
   

securities to Filinvest Land, Inc. 
Result of Board of Directors Meeting held on October 8, 2021 October 8, 2021 Annex “AA” 

Disclosure re: 2021 Third Quarter Progress Report on the Use of 
Proceeds from the Initial Public 

October 15, 2021 Annex “BB” 

Disclosure re: FREIT Performance Report for the Third Quarter of 2021 November 16, 2021 Annex “CC” 

Press Release: Filinvest REIT declares dividends November 18, 2021 Annex “DD” 

Result of Board of Directors Meeting held on November 18, 2021 November 18, 2021 Annex “EE” 

Result of Annual Stockholders Meeting held on November 18, 2021 November 18, 2021 Annex “FF” 

Result of Organizational Meeting held on November 18, 2021 November 18, 2021 Annex “GG” 

Disclosure re: FILRT’s Three (3)-Year Investment Strategy 2022-2024  December 29, 2021 Annex “HH” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
   

2021 Annual Progress Report on the Disbursement of Proceeds from the Initial Public Offering ("IPO") of 
Filinvest REIT Corp ("FILRT") 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
   

 
 



 
   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
   

(c.) Conglomerate 
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Valid flies 

• EAfS204863416OTHTY122021.l'df 
• EAFS204863416ITRTY122021.pdf 
• EAFS204863416AFSTY122021.pdf 

Invalid file 
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Transaction Code: AFSoCMI8E5GICCCONMXSVX2XOM4WSXMROP24RSWNV 
Submission Date/Time: Apr 13, 2022 10:41 AM 
Company TIN: 204·863-416 

Please be reminded that you accepted the tenns and conditions for the use of this portal and expressly 
agree, warrant and certify that: 

• The submitted forms, documents and attachments are complete, truthful and correct based on 
the persona1-knowledge and the same are from authentic records; 

• The submission is without prejudice to the right of the SIR to require additional document if any, 
for completion and verification purposes; 

• The nard copies of the documents submitted through this farilily shaH be submitted when 
required by the SIR in the event of audit/investi..gation and/or for any other legal pu~pose. 

This is a system-generated e-mail. Please do not reply. 
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CERTIFICATE OF ACKNOWlEDGMENT 

EMBASSY OF THE PHILIPPINES } 
Consular Section ) 5.5. 
Singapore } 

BEFORE ME I~g!,I1;~ GAY~!!!L<:!:I!lA, _ l!!ce_C!>!1!.~! of the Republic of the Philippines 

in "nd for Singapore, duly commissioned and qualified, personally 'appeared 

LOURDES JOSEPHINE GOTIANUN YAP PASSPORT P6722593B 

known to me and to me known as the same person(s} who executed the annexed 

Instrument 

-STAT-EMENT OF MANAGEMEN1"S -RESPONStsIUTY FOR CONSOUOATED-FIHANCtA-L 
STATEMENTS 

and acknowledged before me that the same was done as a free act and voluntary deed. 

TKis instrument, consisting of .. 3. __ pages, including this page on which 

this acknowledgment is written, has been signed on the left margin 01 each and every 

page thereof by the .same person(s) and·witnesses, 

The Embassy assumes no responsibility .over the .contents of the .annexed 

document 

WITNESS MY HAND AND SEAL at the Embassy of the Phi! 'nes in 

Singapore this day 01 18 Mench 2022 

Doc. No. : 3240 
Book.No. : 1 
Series of : 2022 
·O,R. No. : GRATIS 
Fee Paid ; GRATIS 

Ice Consul 
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Filinvesi: REIT Corp. 
5th to 7TH Floor Vector One Bldg. Northgate Cyberzone, 

Filinvesi CHy. AIabang. Montinlupa 
Tel. No. (632) s..846-0278 

wwwJmnveslreilcom 

STATEMENT eF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY· 
FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The management of Fi6nvest REIT Corp. is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements including the schedules attached therein. for the years cnded ~mber 
31,2021,2020 and 2019 and as of December 31 j 2021 and 2020, in accordance with the prescribed 
fInancial reporting.framework indicated thel'eiu, .and for slich internal ,control as management-determines 
is necessary to enab1e the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether -due to fraud or error and making -accounting estimates -fuat -are -reasonable -in the 
circumstances. 

In preparing the consolidated fmancial statements. management is responsible for assessing the 
Company~s ability to oontinue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable matters related to going 
concern and llsing the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but do so. 

The Board of Director is responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the consolidated financial statements and submits the same 
to the stockholders or -members -before such statemeRts arc issued ·w -th~ -wmthttflfi. -c~ifors and oth« 
users. 

Sycip, Gorres. Velayo & Co., the independent auditor appointed by the stockholders~ has audited the 
consolidated "financial statements of PRe in accoroance with the Philippine Standarcls on Auditing and 
has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon completion of sucll audit in its report to the 
stockholders or members. 

Lourdes Josephine Gotianuu Yap 
Chairman oftha Board 

O FFICES SY Flll "'VEST 
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Flllnv!it5.t REO Corp 
5'~ 10 7111 Floor Vector One Slog Northqete Cyb-Jrz.one 

FilinvestC'!· AJaMng. okJntirnupa 
Ttli. No. (632) 8:·-1.6-..0278 

y fiijoveSlreil com 

~TATH1E>;T Ot \IA 'ALEME'ljT'8 RESPO""SlBlLln 
FOR CO'SOLIDATf.D FI'U"<CI:\L SIAl £'\IEYI" 

lhe mWl3g\!"ment of Ytlion:\t KElT Corp. is ~pollSible for the p;cpantlon and fair prc-.entati\)n of the 
;::onsolidalcd fi:nat1l..-iaJ slatements includmg the schedules attacbed therem. for lhe years e-adoo fJef.. Iher 
3t. 2021. 2020 :md 2.019 and as of De- -:nber 31, 2021 and 2020, in accordance with the:: 
financial re-pomng frlll'Tlf"wOfk indicated therein. and for such internal control as maru.tgcmel1l dc1l:numcs 
is ne.,t':t "M\> to enable the pn:.-1i3I4lion of con"oliciated finan.cllil lotatements fhat lire fret' from mai~:1~IJ 
misstatement. whether due to fraud or error WId making acGOUUhug e"irima«><;. that are re-asonable 1ft (ht 
circurrI$tanees. 

In pn 'at"og the consolidated fmandaI Ittltemcnts. 11\M1.,g.ement 'S re~:'ft .. iblc: for fu.,,,e:;.sing ttie 
Compmry's ability to continue as a gomg coocem. disdo.sJ.ng., a. .. applkable ,mttns related to gomg 
concem nnd using the going COD~eI1l ba .. is of accvunting, l1ult":'is mifUliganent d'''~l iutemh: to liquidate 
the C.C.I111iMflY or to ~('.3SC opcraholls. Of h. DO rt"afisnc alteman\,c but do so, 

The BL rd of Director is responsible for overseeing the Company's financisl repJl1mg plO~\!'SS. 

The BOiifd of Direo..tors re\'iews and approves the consolidsted fi01lncial stati!'m.:tHS and submits the "")!1le 

t-O the Sioclo..holders or members before such statements ;;u-e b'>Ucd 10 tne Je.!;ulators, ... :reditoh and Qlhet 

llSl...--rs. 

Sycip. n_lI1e~, Vda}il & Co., the iru~)cIH.k'fi1 audltcr appointed by the stockholl'Jer.;;, ~ audjt~d the 
consolidated financial statements of FRC in accordance "'ith the Philippine Standards 011 Auditing and 
h&. exprC's...e-d its opinion nn the fairness ofpre..emation "p(ln comvlC'lioo of such ,JUdit in its repon 10 the 
st~.lCkholders or tllembers. 

tuurde'! Josephine (.oriua ... Vap 
Chairman oflbe BOOfd 

/":><1'- -, ~-_---"L -- - - --
/4118 VenuK A.l\ • 
~ Chief Financial (~ Icel 

\I ... icfol BriuD Liri~ 
PresidentlC'£( I 

.. A~P 7 1 ?I1n 
SUBSCRJBED AND S'\l¥ORl'. to before me 1his ' Qa5-. or atTiants exhibits to me (hC:lr 
SSS rD<U!dP.b!>O adollows: -- "- - ----

L. Josephine 0 Yap 
~k icel Brion Lirio 

Venus A. ~ l 
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SGV 
Buildioq a better 
working world 

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co, 
6760 Ayala Avenue 
1226 Makati eFty 
Philippines 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors 

Tat (632) 8891 0307 
Fax: (632) 8819 0872 
ey.com/ph 

Filinvest REIT Corp. (fonnerly Cyberzone Properties Inc.) 
5th-7th Floors, Vector One Building 
Northgate Cyberzone, Filinvest City 
Alabang, Muntinlupa City 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated [mancial statements ofFilinvest REIT Corp. (formerly 
Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) (the Parent Company) and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as ''the 
Group"), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and 
2020, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in 
equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 
31, 2021, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its financial perfonnance and 
its cash flows for the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021 in accordance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor '8 Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated [mancial statements as a whole, and in fonning our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor '8 Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. 
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit 
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our 
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

Fair value of investment properties 

The Parent Company operates 16 mixed~use office buildings located in LUZOIl The Parent Company 
accounts for its investment properties using the cost model and discloses the fair value as required under 
PAS 40, I11Vestment Property. The carrying value and fair value of investment properties amounted to 
P9,165.9 million andP45,429.7 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2021. Management detennined 
the fair value of the investment properties based on the valuations carried out by an external valuer using 
the discounted cash flow model. 

We identified the disclosure on fair value of the Parent Company's investment properties as a key audit 
matter because it is a significant disclosure given the Parent Company's leasing business and the 
determination of the fair values of these properties involves significant management assumptions and 
estimations. These assumptions include discOlmt rates and growth rates, which are influenced by the 
prevailing market rates and comparable market transactions and subject to higher level of estimation 
uncertainty due to the current economic conditions. 

The disclosures on the fair value of investment properties are included in Note 9 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Audit Response 

With the assistance from our internal valuation specialists, we evaluated the valuation methodology 
adopted and the underlying assumptions used in the fair value determination of investment properties as 
of December 31 , 2021. These assumptions include discount rates and growth rates. 

We compared the key assumptions used such as growth rates against the historical performance per 
building, contractual terms and relevant external data. We tested the parameters used in determining 
discount rates against market data We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the 
external valuer by considering their qualifications, experience and reporting responsibilities. We also 
assessed the adequacy of the fair value disclosure of investment properties in the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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Management is responsible for Other Information. Other Information comprises the infonnation included 
in SEC Form 20 IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year 
ended December 31, 2020 but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's 
report thereon. SEC Fonn 20 IS (Definitive Infonnation Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report 
for the year ended December 31, 2021 are expected to be made available to us after the date of this 
auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover Other Information and we will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
Other Information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether such 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audits, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated fmancial 
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management detennines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting, unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated fmancial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether' due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higber than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery. intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control reLevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and., based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt 011 the Group's ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those cbarged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identity during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought 10 bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we detennine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report, unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Wanessa G. 
Salvador. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Wanessa G. Salvador 
Partner 
CPA Certificate No. 0118546 
Tax Identification No. 248-679-852 
BOAJPRC Reg. No. 0001, August 25, 2021, valid until Apti115, 2024 
SEC Partner Accreditation No. 118546-SEC (Group A) 

Valid to cover audit of2019 to 2023 financial statements of SEC covered institutions 
SEC Finn Accreditation No. OODI-SEC (Group A) 

Valid to cover audit of2021 to 2025 financial statements of SEC covered institutions 
BlR Accreditation No. 08-001998-137-2020, January 31 , 2020, valid until January 30, 2023 
PTR No. 8854361, January 3, 2022, Makati City 

March IS, 2022 

FLI00502
Text Box



FILINVEST REIT CORP. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) 
AND A SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

December 31, 
2021 2020 

ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 4 and 17) 
Receivables (Note 5) 
Other current assets (Note 11) 

Noncurrent assets held for distribution (Notes 6 and 16) 
Total Current Assets 

Noncurrent Assets 
Advances to contractors (Note 8) 
Investment properties (Notes 6, 9 and 20) 
Property and equipment (Note 10) 
Intangible assets (Notes 6, 7 and 20) 
Other noncurrent assets (Note 11) 

Total Noncurrent Assets 
Total Assets 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
Current Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Note 12) 
Current portion of: 

Lease liabilities (Note 20) 
Security and other deposits (Note 15) 
Loans payable (Notes 13,25 and 26) 

Dividends payable (Note 16) 
Total Current Liabilities 

Noncurrent Liabilities 
Bonds payable (Notes 14, 25 and 26) 
Lease liabilities - net of current portion (Note 20) 
Security and other deposits - net of current portion (Note 15) 
Loans payable - net of current portion (Notes 13,25 and 26) 
Deferred tax liability - net (Note 19) 
Other noncurrent liabilities (Notes 15 and 18) 

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 
Total Liabilities 
Equity 
Capital stock (Note 16) 
Additional paid-in capital (Note 16) 
Deposit for future stock subscription (Notes 13 and 16) 
Retained earnings (Note 16) 
Remeasurement gain (loss) on retirement plan (Note 18) 

Total Equity 
Total Liabilities and Equity 

See accompWl)'ing Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

112,587,195,631 
754,995,633 

64,054,931 
3,406,246,195 

3,406,246,195 

13.293,694 
9,165,931,034 

81,686,898 
1,054,470,180 

250,528,341 
10,565,910,147 

1'13,972,156,342 

1'1,222,657,329 

1,848,085 
96,987,598 

1,321,493,012 

5,987,044,949 
25,990,097 

654,002,829 

6,667,037,875 
7,988,530,887 

2,446,388,997 
2,518,356,922 

1,018,879,536 

5,983,625,455 
1'13,972,156,342 

1'870.517.532 
830,144,454 

1,171,332,106 
2,871,994,092 
6,843,701,346 
9,715,695,438 

18,393,179 
11,629,804,872 

68,394,882 
3,408,827,424 

388,417,886 
15,513,838,243 

1'25,229,533,681 

P1,583,711,747 

92,617,060 
116,414,891 
744,166,667 

6,611,906,765 
9,148,817,130 

5,974,168,846 
2,097,498,105 

732,659,169 
1,600,000,000 

269,939,889 
300,385,682 

10,974,651 ,691 
20,123,468,821 

1,163,426,668 
102,900,666 

1,889,583,333 
1,950,125,348 

28,845 
5,106,064,860 

P25,229,533,681 

IIIIII~ I~ IIIIIIIIIIIII~I.IIIIIIIIII~IIIIIII 
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FILINVEST REIT CORP. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) 
AND A SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Years Ended December 31 
2020 2019 

(As reS1ated, (As restated, 
2021 see Note 2} see Note 2} 

REVENUES 
Rental revenue (Notes 7, 9, 17 and 20) 1"2,519,294,434 P2,833,413,910 112,814,668,936 
Others (Notes 2 and 21} 922,72;669 1

1
048

1
582

1
442 924!548,323 

324422°172103 3,881,9961352 3,739,217,259 

COSTS AND EXPENSES 
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 7, 9, 10, and 20) 427,657,046 486,065,150 418,797,652 
Utilities 277,795,323 297,548,444 332,257,377 
Rental expense (Notes 17 and 20) 271,083,960 297,968,918 305,153,634 
Manpower and service cost 235,494,750 236,408,736 241,837,292 
Repairs and maintenance 183,504,663 132,787,546 162,585,686 
Taxes and licenses 95,353,896 118,895,084 67,544,321 
Service and management fees (Note 17) 63,754,897 42,644,409 27,393,465 
Insurance 15,915,467 4,019,860 11,199,434 
Provision for expected credit loss (Note 5) 7,417,014 
Others 1°14331134 9,034,919 6 z0352723 

1,588,410,150 1,625,373,066 l z572z804l 584 

OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) 
Gain on derecognition oflease liabilities 189,183,041 5,842,526 
Interest income (Notes 4, 5, 17 and 22) 9,986,396 3,908,966 10,468,164 
Interest and other financing charges 

(Notes 13, 14 and 20) (348,226,313) (351,361,074) (230,520,294) 
Gain on sale of investment property (Notes 7 and 20) 65,038,584 
Other char~s - net (1,411,852) (2,319,005) (2,576,278) 

(150,468,728) {278z890z003} (222,628,408) 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 1,703,138,225 1,977,733,283 1,943,784,267 

PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) 
INCOME TAX (Note 19) 

Current 117,651,935 231,150,026 189,580,926 
Deferred (269,648,113) (114,258,532) 119,807,959 

(151,996,178) 1162891 z494 309,388,885 

NET INCOME 1,855,134,403 1,860,841,789 1,634,395,382 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 
Remeasurement loss on retirement plan, net of tax 

(Note 19} (1,055,090) 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ¥1~55,134,403 Pl,859,786,699 Pl,634,395,382 

Basic/Diluted Earning'S Per Share Q;!ote 23) PO,53 1'0.80 1'0.70 

See acrompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Fll.LNVEST KElT CORP. (formerly CyberzoDe Properties, Inc.) AND A SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED Sf ATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
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FILINVEST REIT CORP. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) 
AND A SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Years Ended D~ember 31 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACfIVITmS 
Income before income tax 
Adjustments for: 

Depreciation and amortization 
(Notes 6, 7, 9, to, and 20) 
Interest expense and other ftnancing changes 

(Notes 13, 14 and 20) 
Gain on derecognition oflease liability (Note 20) 
Interest income (Note 4, 17 and 22) 
Gain on sale of investment properties (Note 9) 
Pension expense (Note 18) 

Operating income before changes in operating assets 
and liabilities 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities 
Decrease (increase) in: 

Receivables 
Other current assets 

Increase (decrease) in: 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Other current liabilities 

Interest received (Note 4) 

Proceeds from sale and assignment of: 
Investment properties (Notes 6 and 9) 
Intangible assets (Notes 6 and 1) 
ProOffice Work Services, Inc. (Note 1) 

Additions to: 
Investment properties (Notes 6 and 9) 
Intangible assets (Notes 6 and 7) 
Property and equipment (Note 10) 

Decrease (increase) in: 
Advances to contractors 
Other nonCUITent assets iliote ll} 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 
CASH FWW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Proceeds from avaihnents ofloans payable (Note 13) 
Payments of: 

Cash dividends (Note 16) 
Principal portion of lease liabilities (Note 20) 
Interest and transaction cost (Note 20) 

Loans Qayable (Notes 13 and 25) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 

AND CASH EQUN ALENTS 
CASH AND CASH EQUN ALENTS 
ATBE~GOFYEAR 

CASH AND CASH EQUN ALENTS 
AT END OF YEAR ~ote 4} 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

2021 

111,703,138,225 

427,657,046 

348,226,313 
(189,183,041) 

(9.9'6.396) 

2,279,852,147 

75,148,821 
313,848,363 

(22,599,962) 

615,458,031 
971,793,929 

(413,237,259) 
(152,341,910) 
(30,219,374) 

5,099,485 
52493~91 

1,002,046,193 

(1.095.9'2.270) 
(14,397,140) 

(315,074,354) 

(1,425,453,764) 

1,716,678,099 

870,5172532 

¥2z587z19~631 

2020 2019 

Pl,977,733,283 Pl,943,784,267 

486,065,150 418,797,652 

351,361,074 230,520,294 
(5,842,526) 
(3,908,966) (10,468,164) 

(65,038,584) 
487,197 413,785 

2,740,856,628 2,583,047,834 

(54,648,565) (248,456,384) 
(200,426,188) (210,446,398) 

(144,925,151) 
81,056,737 
65,066,932 

2,278,752,946 
10,468,164 

737,840,581 

17,162,936 

(1,158,021,511) (2,163,580,071) 
(24l,043,644) (172,480,426) 
(16,760,634) (39,207,659) 

97,551,319 (156,317,788) 
881°111202 (32:676,04.)1 

(475:259,751) (2,564,261,987) 

1,000,000,000 2,100,000,000 

(348,339,734) 
(47,613,247) (17,259,680) 

(471,907,571) (479,482,496) 
p,355,454,545} {1:339~42,424} 

(l1223,315m7) 264,015,400 

361,660,219 (208,676,343) 

508,857:313 717,5331656 

11870,517,532 11508,857,313 
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FILINVEST REIT CORP. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) 
AND A SUBSIDIARY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

I. Corporate Information 

Filinve,t REIT Corp. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) (the "Parent Company" or "FILRT") wa, 
registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on January 14, 2000. 

On December 4, 2020, the Board of Directors (BOD) approved the amendments of the Parent 
Company's articles of incorporation to change the Parent Company's primary purpose to engage into 
engage in the business of a real estate investment tnlSt, as provided under Republic Act No. 9856 (the 
Real Estate Investment Trust Act of2009), including the Revised Implementing Rules and 
Regulations of Republic Act (RA) No. 9856 (the "RElT Acf'), and other applicable laws, which 
business includes the following: (I) to own, invest in, purcbase, acquire, hold, possess, lease, 
construct, develop, alter, improve, operate, manage, administer, sell, assign, convey, encumber, in 
whole or in part. or otherwise deal in and dispose of, income--generating real estate, within or outside 
the Philippines, in accordance with applicable laws and regulations; (2) to invest in, purchase, acquire 
own, hold, sell, assign. transfer, mortgage, pledge, exchange, or otherwise dispose of (a) real estate 
and other related assets; and (b) managed funds; (3) to receive, collect, and dispose of the rent, 
interest, and such other income rising from its property and investments; (4) to guaranty the 
obligations, debt, or loans of its subsidiaries or afftliates or any entity in which the corporation has 
lawful interest; and (5) to exercise, carry on or undertake such other powers, acts, activities and 
transactions as may be deemed necessary. convenient, or incidental to or implied from the purposes 
herein mentioned. 

The Parent Company was the holding company of ProOffice Works Services, Inc. (proOffice). On 
March 18, 2019, ProOffice was incorporated to engage in the business of administration, maintenance 
and management of real estate developments and projects. ProOffice has started its commercial 
operations on August 1, 2019. On December 23,2020, the Parent Company entered into a Deed of 
Assignment to sell its interest in ProOffice to Filinvest Land, Inc. (FLI) for a total considemtion of 
Ii' 17 .16 million. Accordingly, the Parent Company lost control over ProOffice. The transaction has no 
material impact to the consolidated financial statements. 

The registered office address of the Parent Company and ProOffice (collectively referred to as the 
"Group") is at 5th - 7th Floors, Vector One Building, NOrtbgate Cybenone, Filinvest City, Alabang, 
Muntinlupa City. 

The Gronp's parent company is FLIt a subsidiary ofFilinvest Development Corporation (FDC). Both 
FLI and FDC are publicly listed entities. A.L. GotiamBl Inc. (ALG) is the Group's ultimate parent 
company. PLI, FDe and ALG were all incorporated in the Philippines. 

On June 25, 2021, the Board of Directors of the Parent Company, approved the following 
amendments to its Articles of Incorporation: (i) change of name of the Company from ' 'Cyberzone 
Properties, Inc." to "Filinvest REIT Corp.", (ii) reduction of the par value of its Shares from PI.DO per 
common share to 1'0.50 per common share, and (iii) increase of the Company's authorized capital 
stock from "2,000,000,000 to P7.l31,849,OOO divided into 14,263,698,000 Sbares with a par value of 
PO.50 per Share. The change in name of the Parent Company, the reduction in the par value of its 
shares, and the increase in its authorized capital stock were approved by the Philippine SEC on 
July 2, 2021. 
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On August 12, 2021, the Parent Company was listed in The Philippine Stock Exchange as a Real 
Estate Investment Trust (REIT) entity. 

Approval of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the BOD on 
March 15,2022. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Preparation 
The consolidated finatlciai statements of the Group have been prepared using the historical cost basis. 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (P). which is the functional 
and presentation currency of the Parent Company. and all amounts are rounded off to the nearest 
Philippine Peso unless otherwise indicated. 

The consolidated financial statements includes the balances of ProOffice until its disposal on 
December 23,2020. As a result of the disposal, the Group derecognized the assets and liabilities of 
ProOffice and the remaining balances pertain only to the Parent Company as of December 31, 2021 
and 2020. 

Statement of Compliance 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in compliance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs). PFRSs include Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, 
Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and Interpretations issued by the Philippine InteIpletations 
Committee (PIC). 

Basis of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the amounts of the Parent Company and its 
subsidiary as of Decernber 31, 2021 and 2020. 

The voting rights held by CPI in ProOffice are in proportion to its ownership interest of 60% as of 
December 31,2019 (nil as of December 31, 2021 and 2020; see Note 1). 

ProOffice is incorporated and operating in the Pbilippines. The financial statements of the subsidiary 
are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent Company using consistent accounting 
policies. 

A subsidiary is an entity which the Group controls. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, 
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and 
only jfthe Group bas: (a) power over the investee (Le., existing rights that give it the current ability to 
direct the relevant activities oftbe investee); (b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its 
invoivementwith the investee, and, (e) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its 
returns. 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, 
including: (a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee; (b) rights 
arising from other contractual arrangements; and, (e) the Group's voting rights and potential voting 
rights. 
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The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if fciCl.s and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation o f a subsidiary 
begins when the Group obtains coutrol over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control 
of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities. income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated financial statement from the date the Group gains 
control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity 
holders of the Parent Company. 

A change in ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. lfthe Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

• Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary 
• De.recognizes the carrying amount of any noncontrolling interests 
• Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received 
• Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained 

NoncontrolJing Interest 
Noncootrolling interest represents the portion of profit or loss and Det assets oat owned, directly or 
indirectly, by the Group. 

Noncontrolling interests are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from parent 
shareholder's equity. Any losses applicable to the noncontrolting interests are allocated against the 
interests of the noncontrolling interest even if this results to the noncontrolling interest having a 
deficit balance. The acquisition of an additional ownership interest in a subsidiary without a change 
of control is accounted for as an equity tranSactiOll. Any excess or deficit of consideration paid over 
the carrying amount of the noncontrolling interest is recognized in equity of the parent in transactions 
where the noncontrolling interest are acquired or sold without loss of control. 

The voting rights held by noncontrolling interests in the subsidiary are in proportion of their 
ownership interest and are not material in the consolidated financial statements. 

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 
The 8CCQUDting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statement.. are 
consistent with those of the previous financial years, except for the adoptioo of the following 
amendments in PFRS and PAS which became effective beginning January I, 2021. The Group has 
not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet 
effective. 

Unless otherwise indicated, adoption of these new standards did not have an impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The nature and impact of each new standard and 
amendment are described below: 

• Amendments to PFRS 16, COVID-19-related Rent Concessions 

The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying the PFRS 16 requirement on lease 
modifications to rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the COVIO-19 pandemic. 

FLI00502
Text Box



- 4 -

A lessee may eleci not to assess whether a rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification if 
it meets all of the following criteria: 

• The rent concession is a direct consequence of COVID-19; 
• The change in lease payments results in a revised lease consideration that is substantially the 

same as, or less than, the lease consideration immediately preceding the change; 
• Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originaUy due on or before 

June 30, 2021; and 
• There is no substantive cbange to other teImS and conditions of the lease. 

A lessee that applies this practical expedient will account for any cbange in lease payments 
resulting from the COVID-19 related rent concession in the same way it would account for a 
change that is not a lease modification, i.e., as a variable lease payment. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after April I, 2021 . 
Early adoption is permitted. The Group adopted the amendments beginning January 1,2020. 
However, the adoption of the amendment does not have a material impact since there is no 
changes to the lease payments of the Group. 

• Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments. PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, 
PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts and PFRS 16, Leases, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 

The amendments provide the fonowing temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting 
effects when an interbank offered rate (!BaR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free 
interest rate (RFR): 
• Practical expedient for changes in the basis for detennining the contractual cash flows as a 

result ofIBOR reform 
• Relief from discontinuing hedging relationships 
.. Relief from the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR instrument is designated as 

a hedge of a risk component 

The Group shall also disclose information about 

• The about the nature and extent of risks to which the entity is exposed arising from financial 
instruments subject to mOR monn, and how the entity manages those risks~ and 

.. Their progress in completing the transition to alternative benchmark rates, and how the entity 
is managing that transition 

Tbe amendments are effective for annual reporting periods begirming on or after January I , 2021 
and apply retrospectively, however, the Group is not required to restate prior periods. 

• Adoption of Philippine Interpretations Conunittee Question and Answers (pIC Q&As) 201 8-12 
on Accounting for Common Usage Service Area (CUSA) 

On February 14, 2018, the PIC issued PIC Q&A 2018-12 which provides guidance on some 
implementation issues ofPFRS 15, Revenuefrom Contracts with Customers affecting the real 
estate industry. This includes PIC Q&A No. 20 18-12-H which discussed accoWlting for CUSA 
charges wherein it was concluded that real estate developers are generally acting as principal for 
CUSA. On October 25, 2018, the SEC decided to provide relief to the real estate industry by 
deferring the application of the prOVisions of the PIC Q&A 2018-12-H for a period of three years 
or until December 31, 2020. The deferral will only be applicable for real estate transactions. 
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The Group previously availed of the reliefs provided by the SEC and bave accounted for the 
related revenue net of costs and expenses. As at January I, 2021, the Group adopted PIC Q&A 
2018-12-H retrospectively. The initial adoption has no impact on the Group's consolidated 
statement of fmancial position and consolidated statement of cash flows. The impact of initial 
adoption in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income follows: 

Statement of comprehensive income/or the year ended December 31, 2020 

Amounts prepared under 
PFRS 15 Previous PFRS Increase 

Revenues and Income 
Others P1,048,582,442 ¥274,359,236 1'774,223,206 

Cost and Expenses 
Depreciation and amortization 486,065,150 441,025,865 45,039,285 
Utilities 297,548,444 297,548,444 
Manpower and service cost 236,408,736 34,502,895 201,905,841 
Repairs and maintenance 132,787,546 132,787,546 
Taxes and licenses 118,895,084 63,894,241 55,000,843 
Service and management fees 42,644,409 7,462,542 35,181,867 
Insurance 4,019,860 4,019,860 
Olh= 9,034,919 6,295,399 2,739,520 

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31. 2019 

Others P924,548,323 P87,055,910 P837,492,413 
Cost and Expenses 

Depreciation and amortization 418,797,652 372,223,885 46,573,767 
Utilities 332,257,377 332,257,377 
Manpower and service cost 241 ,837,292 13,362,142 228,475,150 
Repairs and maintenance 162,585,686 162,585,686 
Taxes and licenses 67,544,321 28,326,728 39,217,593 
Service and management fees 27,393,465 14,070,865 13,322,600 
Insurance 11,199,434 11,199,434 
Qtb", 6,035,723 2,174,917 3,860,806 

Futurl;:; Chiillges in A~~ounting fQIi~ 
The Group will adopt the following standards and interpretations when these become effective. 
Except as otherwise stated, the Group does not expect the adoption of these standards to have a 
significant impacr on tbe consolidated fmancial statements. 

Effective beginning on or after January}, 2022 

• Amendments to PFRS 3, BU5iness Combinations, Reference 10 the Conceph/aT Framework 

The amendments are intended to replace a reference to the Framework for the Preparation and 
Presentation of Financial Statements, issued in 1989, with a reference to the Conceptual 
Framework for Pinancial Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly changing its 
requirements. The amendments added an exception to the recognition principle of PFRS 3, 
Business Combinations to avoid the issue of potential 'day 2' gains or losses arising for liabilities 
and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or Philippine-IFRIC 21 , Levies, if incurred separately. 
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At the same time, the amendments add a new paragraph to PFRS 3 to clarify that contingent 
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 
and apply prospectively. 

• Amendments to PAS 16, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use 

The amendments prohibit entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable af operating in the manner intended by management. 
Instead, an entity recognizes the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing 
those items, in profit or loss. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 00 or after January 1, 2022 
and must be applied retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for 
use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the 
amendment. 

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group. 

• Amendments to PAS 37, Onerous Contracts - Costs of Fulfilling a Contract 

The amendments specify which costs an entity needs to include when assessing whether a 
contract is onerous or loss·making. The amendments apply a "directly related cost approach". 
The costs that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or services include both incremental 
costs and an allocation of costs directly related to contract activities. General and administrative 
costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to 
the counterparty under the contract. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January I, 2022. 
The Group wiD apply these amendments to contracts for which it has not yet ful ftlled all its 
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies the 
amendments. 

• Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2018·2020 Cycle 
• 

• Amendments to PFRS I, First-time Adoption of Philippines Financial Reporting Standards, 
Subsidiary as a first-time adopter 

The amendment permits a subsidiary that elects to apply paragraph DI6(a) ofPFRS 1 to 
measure cwnulative translation differences using the amounts reported by the parent, based 
on the parent's date of transition to PFRS. This amendment is also applied to an associate or 
joint venture that elects to apply paragrapb OI 6(a) ofPFRS I. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2022 with earlier adoption pennitted. The amendments are not expected to have a 
material impact on the Group. 
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• Amendments to PFRS 9, Financiallnstruments, Fees in the '1 0 per cent ' test/or 
derecognition of financial liabilities 

The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the tenus of 
a new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the tenns of the original 
finanda1liability. These fees include only those paid or received between the borrower and 
the lender. including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other' s 
behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or 
exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first 
applies the amendment. 
The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2022 with earlier adoption pemritted The Group will apply the amendments to financial 
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annua1 reporting 
period in which the entity first applies the amendment. The amendments are not expected to 
have a material impact on the Group. 

• Amendments to PAS 41 , Agriculture, Taxation in fair vallie measurements 

The amendment removes the requirement in paragroph 22 of PAS 41 that entities exclude 
cash flows for taxation when measuring the fair value of assets within the scope of 
PAS 41. 

An entity applies the amendment prospectively to fair value measurements on or after the 
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January l, 2022 with 
earlier adoption permitted The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on [he 
Group. 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2023 

• Amendments to PAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising/rom a Single 
Transaction 

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception under PAS 12, so that it no 
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences . 

The amendments also clarifY that where payments that settle a liability are deductible for tax 
purposes, it is a matter of judgement (having considered the applicable tax law) whether 
such deductions are attributable for tax purposes to the liability recognized in the fmancial 
statements (and interest expense) or to the related asset component (and interest expense). 

An entity applies the amendments to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the 
earliest comparative period presented for annual reporting periods on or after January I, 2023. 
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group. 

• Amendments to PAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates 

The amendments introduce a new definition of accounting estimates and clarify the distinction 
between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies and the correction of 
errors. Also, the amendments clarify that the effects on an accounting estimate of a change in an 
input or a change in a measurement technique are changes in accounting estimates if they do not 
result from the correction of prior period errors. 
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An entity applies the amendments to changes in aCC()lwting policies and changes in accounting 
estimates that occur on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier adoption permitted. The amendments 
are not expected to have a material impact on the Group. 

• Amendments to PAS 1 and PFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

The amendments provide guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to 
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy 
disclosures that are more useful by: 

• 

• 

Replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their 'significant' accounting policies with a 
requirement to disclose their 'material ' accounting policies, and 
Adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about 
accounting policy disclosures 

The amendments to the Practice Statement provide non-mandatory guidance. Meanwhile, the 
amendments to PAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. 
Early application is pennitted as long as this met is disclosed. The amendments are not expected 
to have a material impact on the Group. 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2024 

• Amendments to PAS 1. Classification a/Liabilities as Current or Noncurrent 

The amendments clarify paragraphs 69 to 76 of PAS 1, Presentation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements, to specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as currcot or non-current. The 
amendments clarify: 
• What is meant by a right to defer settlement 
.. That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period 
• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right 
• That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument 

would the terms of a liability not impact its classification 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1. 2023 and must be applied retrospectively. However, in November 2021 , the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) tentatively decided to defer the effective date 
to no earlier than Jaouary I, 2024. The Group is currently assessing the impact the amendments 
will have on current practice. 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2025 

• PFRS 17. Insurance Contracts 

PFRS 17 is a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering 
recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, PFRS 17 will replace 
PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts. This new standard 00 insurance contracts applies to aU typeS of 
insurance contracts (Le., life, non~life, direct insurance and re~insurance), regardless of the type of 
entities that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with 
discretionary participation features. A few scope exceptions will apply. 

FLI00502
Text Box



- 9 -

The overall objective ofPFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that 
is more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in PFRS 4, which are 
largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, PFRS 17 provides a 
comprehensive model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. 

PFRS 11 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January I, 2025, with 
comparative figures required. Early application is permitted. This accounting standard is not 
applicable since the Group is not engaged in providing insurance contracts. 

Deferred effectivity 

• Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture 

The amendments address the conflicr between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of 
control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The 
amendments clarify that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transfer to an associate or joint 
venture involves a business as defined in PFRS 3. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or 
contribution of assets that does not constitute a business, however, is recognized only to the 
extent of unrelated investors' interests in the associate or joint venture. 

On January 13, 2016, the Financial Reporting Standards Council deferred the origina] effective 
date of January 1,2016 of the said amendments until the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) completes its broader review of the research project on equity accounting that may 
result in the simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of accounting 
for associates and joint ventures. 

• Deferral of Certain Provisions of PIC Q&A 2018-12, PFRS 15 Implementation Issues Affecting 
the Real Estate Industry (as amended by PIC Q&As 2020-02 and 2020-04) 

On February 14, 2018, the PIC issued PIC Q&A2018-12 which provides guidance on some 
PFRS 15 implementation issues affecting the real estate industry. On October 25,2018 and 
February 08, 2019, the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued SEC MC 
No. 14-2018 and SEC MC No. 3-2019. respectively, providing relief to the real estate industry 
by deferring the application of certain provisions of this PIC Q&A for a period of three years 
until December 31, 2020. 

On December 15, 2020, the Philippine SEC issued SEC MC No. 34-2020 which further extended 
the deferral of the following provisions of this PIC Q&A lUltil December 31, 2023. 
• Assessing if the transaction price includes a significant financing component as discussed in 

PIC Q&A 2018-12-D (as amended by PIC Q&A 2020-04) 
• Treatment of land in the determination of the POC discussed in PIC Q&A 2018-12-E 

The SEC Memorandum CircuJllI1I also provided the mandatmy disclosure requirements should an 
entity decide to avail of any relief Disclosures should include: 

a. The accoWlting policies applied. 
b. Discussion of the deferral of the subject implementation issues in the PIC Q&A. 
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c. Qualitative discussion of the impact on the consolidated financial statements had the 
concerned application guidelines in the PIC Q&A been adopted. 

d. Should any afthe deferral options result into a change in accounting policy (e.g., when an 
entity excludes land andlor uninstaUed materials in the poe calculation under the previous 
standard but opted to include such components under the relief provided by the circular), 
such accounting change will have to be accounted for under PAS 8, i.e., retrospectively, 
together with the corresponding required quantitative disclosures. 

In November 2020, the PIC issued the following Q&As which provide additional guidance on the 
real estate industry issues covered by the above SEC deferrals: 
• PIC Q&A ZQ2G-M, which provides additional guidance on determining whether the 

transaction price includes a significant financing component 
• PIC Q&A 2020-02, which provides additional guidance on determining which uninstalled 

materials should not be included in calculating the POC 

After the deferral period. real estate companies would have to adopt PIC Q&A No. 2018-12 and 
any subsequent amendments thereto retrospectively or as the SEC will later prescribe. The above 
specific provisions of PIC Q&A No. 2018·12 is nor applicable to the Group since it is not involve in 
the development of real estate projects for sale. 

• IFRIC Agenda Decision on Over Time Transfer of Constructed Goods (PAS 23, Borrowing Cost) 
In March 2019, IFRIe published an Agenda Decision on whether borrowing costs can be 
capitalized on real estate inventories thac are under construction and for which the related revenue 
is/will be recognized over time under paragraph 35(c) of IFRS 15 (PFRS 15). IFRIC concluded 
that borrowing costs cannot be capitalized for such real estate inventories as they do not meet the 
definition of a qualifying asset under Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 23, Borrowing 
Costs. considering that these inventories are ready for their intended sale in their current 
condition. 

On February 11, 2020, the Philippine SEC issued Memorandum Circular No. 4-2020, providing 
relief to the Real Estate Industry by deferring the mandatory implementation of the above IFRJC 
Agenda Decision until December 3], 2020. Further, 00 December 15, 2020, the Philippine SEC 
issned SEC MC No. 34-2020, which extends the relief on the applicatIon ofthe IFRIC Agenda 
Decision provided to the Real Estate Industry until December 31, 2023. Effective January 1, 
2024, the Real Estate Industry will adopt the IFRlC agenda decision and any subsequent 
amendments thereto retrospectively or as the SEC will later prescribe. A real estate company 
may opt not to avail oftbe deferral and instead comply in full with the requirements of the IFRlC 
Agenda Decision. 

The IFRIC Agenda Decision has no impact to the Group. 

• Deje"aJ olPIe Q&A 20/8-14, Accounting/or Cancellation of Real Estale Sales (as amend£d by 
PIC Q&A 2020-05) 

On June 27,2018, PIC Q&A 2018-14 was issued providing guidance on accounting for cancellation 
ofreal estate sales. Under SEC MC No. 3-2019, the adoption of PIC Q&A No. 2018-14 was 
deferred until December 31, 2020. After the dofena! period, real estate companies win adopt PIC 
Q&A No. 2018-14 and any subsequent amenchnents thereto retrospectively or as the SEC will later 
prescribe. 
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On November 11,2020, PICQ&A 2020-{)5 was issued which supOlWdes PIC Q&A 2018-14. This 
pre Q&A adds a new approach where the cancellation is accounted for as a modification of the 
contract (i.e., from non-.cancellable to being cancellable). Under this approach, revenues and related 
costs previously recognized shall be reversed in the period of cancellation and the inventory shall be 
reinstated at cost. PIC Q&A 2020-05 will have to be applied prospectively from approval date of 
the Financial Reporting Standards Council which was November 11, 2020. 

The PIC Q&A bas no impact to the Group. 

Significant Accountin& Policies 

Current VerSUS Noncurrent Classification 
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on 
currenUnoncurrent classification. 

An asset is current when: 

a. Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle; 
b. Held primarily for the purpose of trading; 
c. Expected to be realized within twelve (12) months after the financial reporting period; or 
d. cash or casb equivalent unless restricted from being excbanged or used to settle a liability for al 

least 12 months after the financial reporting period. 

All other assets are classified as noncurrent. 

A liability is current when: 

3. It is expected to be settled in nonnal operating cycle; 
b. It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 
c. It is due to be settled within 12 months after the financial reporting period; or 
d. There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 

the financial reporting period. 

The Group classifies all other liabilities as noncurrent. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as noncurrent assets and liabilities, respectively. 

Fair value Measurement 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or 
• (n the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group. 
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The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability. assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy. described as follows, based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

• Level I - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and 
• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is Wlobservable. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring 
basis, the Group detennines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re­
assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each financial reporting period. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has detennined classes of assets and liabilities on 
the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset and liability and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy as explained above. 

Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instnunent. 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery or assets within the time frame established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized on the trade date. 

ReeolWition and Measurement of Financial Instruments 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a fmancial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial Assets 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Finan<:ial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as either subsequently measured at amortized 
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI), or at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL). 

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset's contractual 
cash flow characteristics and the Group's business model for managing them. The Group initially 
measures a financial asset at its faiT value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVTPL, 
transaction costs. 
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In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or at FVTOCI, it needs to 
give rise to cash flows that are 'solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)' on the principal 
amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the 'SPPI test' and is performed at an 
instrument level. 

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial 
assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result 
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the fmancial assets, or both. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date, 
Le., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

The Group's financial assets comprise of financial assets at amortized cost. 

Subsequent measurement 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, fmancial assets are classified in four categories: 

• Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments); 
• Financial assets at FVTOCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments); 
• Financial assets designated at FVTOCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon 

derecognition ( equity instruments); or 
• Financial assets at FVTPL. 

Financial assets at amortized cost 
Financial assets are measured at amortized cost ifboth of the following conditions are met: 

• The asset is held within the Group's business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• The contractual terms of the instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Financial assets at amortized costs are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method less any impairment in value, with the interest calculated recognized as interest 
income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

The Group classified cash and cash equivalents, receivables and deposits (included under other 
noncurrent assets) as financial assets at amortized cost (see Notes 4 and 5). 

Reclassification of financial assets 
The Group can reclassify financial assets iftbe objective of its business model for managing those 
financial assets changes. The Group is required to reclassify the following fmancial assets: 

• From amortized cost to FVTPL ifthe objective of the business model changes so that the 
amortized cost criteria are no longer met; and 

• From FVTPL to amortized cost if the objective of the business model changes so that the 
amortized cost criteria start to be met and the instrument's contractual cash flows meet the 
amortized cost criteria. 
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Reclassification of financial assets designated as at FVTPL at initial recognition is not pennitted. 

A change in the objective of the Group's business model must be effected before the reclassification 
date. The reclassification date is the beginning of the next reporting period following the change in 
the business model. 

Financial liabilities 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at FVTPL, loans and 
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate. 

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings 
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

Loans and borrowings consist primarily of accounts payable and accrued expenses, loans payable, 
bonds payable, lease liabilities, security and other deposits (see Notes 12, 13, 14, 15 and 17). 

Subsequent measurement 
Loans and borrowings (financial liabilities at amortized cost) is the category most relevant to the 
Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss 
when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the effective interest amortization process. 

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 
or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest. The effective interest amortization is 
included as finance costs in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (EeLs) for all debt instruments not 
held at fair value through profit or loss. EeLs are based on the difference between the contractual 
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash 
flows will include cash flows from the lessee's deposit held or other credit enhancements that are 
integral to the contractual tenns. 

The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs for fmancial assets at amortized costs. 
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance 
based on lifetime EeLs at each fmancial reporting date. The Group has established. a provision matrix 
for trade receivables that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking 
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

For cash and cash equivalents, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. The probability of 
default and loss given defaults are publicly available and are considered to be low credit risk 
investments. It is the Group's policy to measure EeLs on such instruments on a 12-month basis. 
However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance 
will be based on the lifetime ECL. The Group uses the ratings from reputable rating agencies to 
determine whether the debt instnunent has significantly increased in credit risk and to estimate EeLs. 
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The Group considers receivables in default when contractual payments are sixty (60) days past due. 
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when 
interna1 or external infonnation indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding 
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A 
financial asset is written offwhen there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual 
cash flows. 

For other receivables and other financial assets, Eels are recognized in two stages. For credit 
exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
EeLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 
12-months (a 12-month EeL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected 
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime EeL). 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
Financial Assets 
A financial asset is derecognized when: 

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
• The Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has asswned an 

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass-through' 
arrangement; or 

• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred control of the 
asset. 

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of an asset nor transferred control of 
the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent oftbe Group's continuing involvement in the asset. 
Continuing involvement that takes the fonn of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at 
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that 
the Group could be required to repay. 

Financial Liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability expires, is discharged or 
cancelled. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability, and the difference in the respective canying amOlUlts is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. 

Offsetting Financiallnstruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset. and the net amount reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the 
recognized amounts and the Group intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realize tbe asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, 
where the related assets and liabilities are presented at gross in the consolidated statement of fmancial 
position. 
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Advances to Contractors 
Advances to contractors pertain to down·payments made by the Group which are applied against 
future billings for development and construction contracts. Advances to be applied as property and 
equipment or investment properties are presented as noncurrent assets. 

Value-odded Tax (VAT) 
Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognized net oflbe amount of VAT, if applicable. 

When VAT from sales of goods andlor services (output VAn exceeds VAT passed on from 
purchases of goods or services (input VAT), the excess is recognized as payable in the consolidated 
statement of fmancial position. When VAT passed on from purchases of goods or services (input 
VAn exceeds VAT from sales of goods andlor services (output VAT), the excess is recognized as an 
asset in the consolidated statement of fmancial position to the extent of the recoverable amount. 

The net amount orv AT recoverable and payable from the taxation authority is included as part of 
"Other current assets" and "Accounts payable and accrued expenses", respectively in tbe consolidated 
statement of financial position. 

Investment Properties 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The initial cost of 
investment properties consists of any directly attributable costs of bringing the investment properties 
to their intended location and working condition, including borrowing costs. The carrying amount 
includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred 
if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of day to day servicing of an investment 
property. Investment properties include buildings that are held to eam rentals and are not occupied by 
the Group. Investment properties also include right-of-use assets involving real properties that are 
subleased to other entities. lnvestment properties, except for land, are carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Land is carried at cost less 
accumulated impaimlent losses, if any. 

For those right-of-use assets that qualify as investment properties, i.e., those land that are subleased 
by the Group, these are classified under investment properties. Consistent with the Group's policy 
regarding the measurement of investment properties, these assets are subsequently measured at cost 
less amortization and impairment in value. 

Investment properties built on rented properties are depreciated over their estimated useful lives or 
lease term, whichever is shorter. Depreciation of investment propenies are computed using the 
straight-line method over the economic useful lives of 40-50 years for the building and 15 years for 
equipment. 

Tbe economic useful lives and the depreciation is reviewed annually to ensure that the period and 
method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefit from items of 
investment properties. 

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the 
investment property is permanently witbdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected 
from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retircroent or disposal of an investment property are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income the year of retirement or disposal. 
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Transfers are made to investment property when there is a change in use, evidenced by ending of 
owner-occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party or ending of construction or 
development. Transfers are made from investment property when there is a change in use, evidenced 
by commencement of owner-occupation or commencement of development with a view to sell. 

Transfers between investment property and owner-occupied property do not change the carrying 
amount of the property transferred and do not change the cost of that property for measurement or 
disclosure purposes. 

Investment properties also include prepaid commission representing incremental costs that are 
directly attributable to negotiating and arranging a lease. These are initially recognized at cost and are 
amortized over the related lease tenn. 

Prqperty and Equipment 
Property and equipment consist ofland improvements and furniture and fixtures. The Group's 
property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment in value, if 
any. 

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties, 
taxes and any directly ataibutable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for 
its intended use. 

Expenditures incurred after the assets have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, 
and overhaul costs are nonnally charged to operations in the period in which the costs are incurred. In 
situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in 
the future e<:onomic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property and 
equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of perfonnance, the expenditures are capitalized as 
an additional cost of property and equipment. 

:9epreciation of property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method ever the 
economic useful lives oftbese assets as follows: 

Land improvements 
Furniture and fixtures 

Years 
5 

3·5 

The economic useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed annually to ensure that the period 
and method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items 
of property and equipment. 

Property and equipment are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the 
property and equipment is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is 
expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of property and 
equipment are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year of 
retirement or disposal 

Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets pertain to build, transfer and operate (BTO) rights and ROU assets. Intangible assets 
acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at costs. The cost of intangible assets acquired 
in a business combination or contracted arrangements is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 
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Following initial recognition,. intangible assets are carried at cost, less any accumulated amortization 
and any accumulated impairment losses. 

The economic useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. 

8TO rights are amortized over the economic useful life (i.e., 25 years) and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible assets may be impaired. The amortization period 
and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite usefuJ life are reviewed at least at 
each financial year-end. Changes in the economic useful lives or the expected pattern of conswnption 
of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortization 
period or method, as apprepriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization 
expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of intangible asset are measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and the carrying amount of the asset 
and are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when the asset is 
derecognized. 

Otber Assets 
Other current and noncurrent assets are recognized in the consolidated statement of fmancial position 
when it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow to the Group and the assets have cost 
or value that can be measured reliably. These assets are regularly evaluated for any impainnent in 
value. 

Prepaid District Cooling System (DCS) connection charges 
Prepaid DCS connection cbarges are initially recognized at cost and are subsequently amortized over 
the teon ofllie supply period (i.e., 20 years) conunencing on the date when the related building is 
connected to the DCS facility. Portion related to the connection of succeeding buildings are 
amortized over the remaining years of the supply period. 

Noncurrent Assets Held for Distribution 
A noncurrent asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for distribution to owners when the entity 
is committed to distribute the asset (or disposal group) to the owners. For this to be the case. the 
assets must be available for inunediate distribution in their present condition and the distribution must 
be highly probable. 

A noncunent asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale if tbe carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. For the sale to be 
highly probable, the appropriate level of management must be committed to a plan to sell the asset (or 
disposal group), and an active program to locate a buyer and complete the plan must have been 
initiated. Further, the asset (or disposal group) must be actively marketed for sale at a price that is 
reasonable in relation to its current fair value. In adctition, the sale should be expected to qualify for 
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification, and actions required to 
complete the plan should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made 
or that the plan will be withdrawn. 

Noncurrent asset (or disposal group) classified as held for distribution is measured at the lower of its 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to distribute or cost to sell. 
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The Group presents the noncurrent assets classified as held for distribution through property dividend 
or reimbursement separately from other assets as "Noncurrent assets held for distribution" in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. The liabilities related to the disposal group classified as 
held fOT distribution are presented separately from other liabilities as "Liabilities directly related to 
noncurrent assets held for distribution" in the consolidated statement of fmancial position. 

lmpainnent of Nonfinancial Assets 
The Group assesses at each fmancial reporting date whether there is an indication that its nonfmancial 
asset (e.g., advances to contractors, investment properties, property and equipment, intangible assets, 
and other assets) may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annuaL impairment testing 
for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount An asset's 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset. unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely iodependent of those from otber assets of the Group. Where the carrying 
amount of an asse[ exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses are recognized in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to detennine the recoverable amount of ao asset, however, not to an amount higher than the 
canying amount that would have been detennined (net of any depreciation) had. no impairment loss 
been recognized for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is credited to current 
operations. 

IlmillY 
Capital stock and additional paid-in capital 
The Group records capital stock at par value and additional paid-in capital for the amount in excess of 
the total contributions received over the aggregate par value of the equity shares. Incremental costs 
incurred directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from 
proceeds, net of tax. 

Deposits for future stock subscription 
Deposit for future stock subscription (DFFS) are recorded based OD the subscription amount received 
and are presented under liabilities unless the following items were met for classification as part of 
equity: 

• There is a lack or inSUfficiency of authorized unissued shares of stock to cover the deposit; 
• The Parent Company's BOD and stockholders have approved an increase in authorized 

capital stock and amendment in the articles of incorporation to cover the shares 
corresponding to the amount of the DFFS; and 

• The application for the approval of the increase in capital stock has been filed or has been 
presented for filing with the SEC. 

Retained earnings 
Retained earnings represent accumulated earnings of the GrouP. less dividends declared and any 
adjustment arising from application of new accounting standards or changes in accounting policies 
applied retroactively. Retained earnings are restricled for any appropriation as approved by the 
Group's BOD. 
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Dividends are deducted from unappropriated retained earnings when declared and approved by the 
Group's BOD. Dividends payable are recorded as liability until paid or upon distribution of related 
property held for distribution. Dividends for the year that are declared and approved after financial 
reporting date, if any, are dealt with as an event after reporting date and disclosed accordingly. 

Earnings per Share (EPS) 
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income applicable to common stock by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding, after considering the retroactive effect for any stock 
dividends, stock splits or reverse stock splits during the period. 

Diluted BPS is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the period. after giving retroactive effect for any stock dividends, stock splits or 
reverse stock splits during the period, and adjusted for the effect of dilutive options. 

Where the effect of the assumed conversion of the preferred shares and the exercise of all outstanding 
options have anti-dilutive effect, basic and diluted EPS are stated at the same amount. 

Net Asset value (NAY> Per Share 
The NAV per sbare is calculated by dividing the adjusted NAV by the total outstanding shares of the 
Parent Company. The adjusted NAV is equal to total assets plus the fair value adjustment of 
deposited properties and investible funds held by the Parent Company less total liabilities (see 
Note 16). 

Revenue Recognition 
The Group is in the business ofleasing its investment property portfolio. The Group's non-lease 
perfonnance obligations include common area management and administration of utility services. 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of the goods or services are 
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to 
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Group assesses its revenue arrangement 
against specific criteria in order to detennine if it is acting as a principal or an agent. 

Rental revenue 
Rental revenue is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income either on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term or based on a certain percentage of the gross revenue of the 
tenants, as provided WIder the terms of the lease contract Leases nnder contingent rents are 
recognized as income in the period in which they are eamod. 

Disaggregated renmue information 
The non-lease component of the Parent Company's revenue arises from income from CUSA, air­
conditioning dues and utilities. The Parent Company's performance obligations are to ensure that 
commoll areas are available for general use of its tenants and to provide for uninterrupted air­
conditioning and utility services such as water and electricity. 

Common usage service area charges 
Common usage service area charges are recognized when the related services are rendered. The 
Group bas generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements, except for the 
provisioning ofwater, and electricity in its office leasing activities, wherein it is acting as agent 
Income from COnunOD area and air conditioning dues is computed based on a fixed rate per square 
meter of the leasable area occupied by the tenant and are presented gross of related cost and expenses. 
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Interest income 
Interest is recognized as it accrues taking into account the effective yield on the underlying asset. 

Other income 
Other income is recognized when the related services have been rendered and the right to receive 
payment is established. 

Other Comprehensive Income (QeD 
OCI are items of income and expense that are not recognized in the profit or loss for the period in 
accordance with PFRS. 

Costs and Expense Recognition 
These include the Group's costs incurred in leasing properties and expenses related to administering 
its business. These are generally recognized as incurred and measured at the amount paid or payable. 

Retirement Costs 
The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the end of the financial reporting date reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any), 
adjusted for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling. The asset ceiling is 
the present value of any economic benefits available in the fonn of refunds from the plan or 
reductions in future contributions to the plan. 

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is actuarially determined using the 
projected unit credit method (PUC). Under this method, the current service cost is the present value of 
retirement benefit payable in the future with respect to the services rendered in the current period. 

Defined benefit costs comprise the following: 
• Service cost; 
• Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset; and 
• Remeasurements of net defmed benefit liability or asset 

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on nomoutine 
settlements are recognized as expense in the profit or loss. Past service costs are recognized when 
plan amendment or curtailment occurs. 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net 
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying 
the discOlUlt rate based on government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset Net interest 
on the net defmed benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in profit or loss. 

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in the 
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized 
immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Remeasurements are 
not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 

All remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive income account "Remeasurement gain on 
retirement plan", net of tax. and are not reclassified to another equity account in subsequent periods. 
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Termination benefit 
Termination benefits are employee benefits provided in exchange for the termination of an 
employee's employment as a result of either an entity's decision to terminate an employee's 
employment before the nonnal retirement date or an employee 's decision to accept an offer of 
benefits in exchange for the tennination of employment. 

A liability and expense for a tennination benefit is recognized at the earlier of when the entity can no 
longer withdraw the offer ofthose benefits and when the entity recognizes related restructuring costs. 
Initial recognition and subsequent changes to termination benefits are measured in accordance with 
the nature of the employee benefit, as either post-employment benefits, short-term employee benefits, 
or other long-term employee benefits. 

Employee leave entitlement 
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized as a liability when they are accrued to the 
employees. The undiscounted liability for leave expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after 
the end of the annual fmancial reporting date is recognized for services rendered by employees up to 
the end of the reporting date. 

Borrowing Costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of an asset that necessarily 
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the 
cost of the respective assets (included in "Investment properties" account in the consolidated 
statement of financial position). Capitalization ceases when pre-selling of real estate inventories 
under construction commences. AU other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they 
occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the 
borrowing of funds. 

The interest capitalized is calculated using the Group's weighted average cost of borrowings after 
adjusting for borrowings associated with specific developments. Where borrowings are associated 
with specific developments, the amount capitalized is the gross interest incurred on those borrowings 
less any investment income arising on the temporary investment of those borrowings. 

The capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended if there are prolonged periods when development 
activity is intenupted. Interest is also capitalized on the purchase cost of a site of property acquired 
specifically for redevelopment but only where activities necessary to prepare the asset for 
redevelopment are in progress. 

Income Taxes 
Current tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the report date. 

Deferred lax 

Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the report date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
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Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for aU taxable temporary differences. except; (a) where 
deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in 
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and (b) in respect of taxable temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, where the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. including asset 
revaluation. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences can be used 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each financial reporting date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized Unrecognized deferred income tax assets 
are reassessed at each fmancial reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become 
probable that sufficient future taxable profit will allow the deferred income tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are applicable to the year when the 
asset is realized, or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the report date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity is also 
recognized in other comprehensive income and not in profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offSet, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority. 

Leases 
Group as lessor 
Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income on operating leases is recognized on a straight­
line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added 
to the canying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same bases as 
rental income. 

Group as le.ssee 
Except for short-term leases and lease of low-value assets, the Group applies a single recognition and 
measurement approach for all leases. The Group recognizes lease liabilities to make lease payments 
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

Righl-o!-lIse-assels 
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depredation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs 
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 
received. 

FLI00502
Text Box



- 24 -

The Group classifies its right-of-use assets within the same line item as that within which the 
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned. 

Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease 
term, the recognized right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its 
estimated useful life and the lease tenn. Useful life of right-of-use assets on land presented as part of 
investment properties and intangible assets ranges from 25 10 50 years. 

Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section impairment 
of nonfinancial assets. 

Lease liabilities 
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present 
value of lease payments to be made over the lease tenn . The lease payments include fixed payments 
(including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments 
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. 
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be 
exercised by dle Group and payments of penalties for terminating a lease. if the lease tenn reflects the 
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an 
index or a rate are recognized as expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers 
the payment occurs. 

In calculating the present value onease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at 
the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. 
After the commencement date, the amount oflease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of 
interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities 
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed 
lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the lUldedying asset. 

The Group accounts for a lease modification (i.e., a change in the scope of a lease, or the 
consideration for a lease, that was not part oftbe original tenus and conditions of the lease) as a 
separate lease (Le., separate from the original lease) when both ofthe following conditions are met: 

• The modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more 
underlying assets. 

• The consideration for the lease increases commensurate with the standalone price for the increase 
in scope and any adjustments to that stand-alone price reflect the circumstances of the particular 
contract. 

Ifboth of these conditions are met, tbe lease modification results in hvo separate leases, the 
unmodified original lease and a separate new leasc. Lessees account for the separate contract that 
contains a lease in the same manner as other new leases. 

Short-term leares 
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-tenn leases (i.e., those 
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a 
purchase option). Lease payments on short-teno leases are recognized as expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease tenn. 
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Foreign Currency-denominated Transactions and Translation 
Foreign currency-denominated transactions are recorded using the prevailing exchange rates at the 
time of the transaction. Foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities are translated 
using the prevailing exchange rates at the fmancial report date. Exchange gains or losses resulting 
from foreign currency transactions and translation are included in the profit or loss. 

Segment Reporting 
The Group's operating businesses are organized and managed according to the nature of the products 
and services provided. The Group has determined that it is operating as one operating segment as of 
December 31, 2021 aud2020 (see Note 24). 

Provisions 
A provision is recognized only when the following conditions are present: (a) the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constmctive) as a result of a past event; (b) it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and (c) a reliable 
estimate can be made on the amount of the obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is 
material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected furure cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current assessment of the time value of money and where appropriate, the risks specific 
to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provisions due to the passage of time is 
recognized as interest expense. Provisions are reviewed at each financial report date and adjusted to 
reflect the current best estimate. 

Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. These are disclosed 
unless the probability of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. A 
contingent asset is not recognized in the consolidated fmancial statements but are disclosed when an 
inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Events After the Financial Re.porting Date 
Post year-end events up to the date of the auditor's report that provide additional information about 
the Group's position at the financial reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated 
fmandal statements. Any year-end events that are not adjusting event is disclosed in the consolidated 
fmancial statements when material. 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates, and Assumptions 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in compliance with PFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the 
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Future events may occur which can cause 
the assumptions used in arriving at those estimates to change. The effects of any changes in estimates 
will be reflected in the consolidated ftnancial statements as they become reasonably determinable. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonabJe under the 
circumstances. 
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Judgments 
(0 the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 

Adoption oj a 'no tax' regime for the Parent Company 
As a REIT entity, the Parent Company can choose to operate within one of two tax regimes (i.e., a 
'full tax' regime or a 'no tax' regime). The REIT entity can effectively operate under a 'no tax' 
regime provided that it meets certain conditions (e.g., listing status, minimum required dividend 
payments). A REIT entity is required to distribute at least 90% of its annual income as dividends to 
its investors and is allowed to treat the dividend as deduction for tax purposes making it effectively an 
income ta'1(-frce entity. 

As of December 31. 2021, the Parent Company met the provisions of the REIT law and complies 
with the 90% dividend distribution requirement. The Parent Company bas determined, based on its 
current tax regime and expected dividend distribution in the succeeding periods, that it can effectively 
operate on a "no·tax°' regime. AccordingLy, the Parent Company has derecognized its deferred taxes 
as of December 31 , 2021. 

Determination of lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options· Group as a lessee 
The Group detennines the lease term as the noo-cancellable lenn of the lease, together with any 
periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any 
periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, ifit is reasonably certain not to be exercised. 

The Group has the option, WIder some of its teases to lease tbe assets for additional terms equivalent 
to its original lease term. The Group applies judgement in evaluating wbetber it is reasonably certain 
to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic 
incentive for it to ell:ercise the renewal. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease 
term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its 
ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew (e.g. , a cbange in business strategy). 

The renewal options for leases of office spaces and land for certain real estate developments were not 
included as part of the lease tenn because the Group assessed that renewal is not reasonably certain 
(see Note 20). 

Operating lease commitments - Group as lessor 
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The 
Group bas detennined, based on the evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such 
as the lease tenn not constituting a substantial portion of the economic life of the investment property, 
that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties and accounts for 
these contracts as operating lease (see Note 20). 

Build Transfer Operate (BTO) Agreement with Cebu Province - Group as operator 
On March 26, 2012, FLI entered into a BTO agreement with The Province ofCebu (Cebu Province). 
The BTO project relates to the development, construction, and operation of Business Process 
Outsourcing (BPO) Complex by the Parent Company at the land properties owned by Cebu Province 
located at Salinas, Lahug, Cebu City. 
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In August 2012, FLI assigned this agreement to the Parent Company. Based on [be agreement, the 
Parent Company has assessed that the eebu Province (Grantor) cannot control or regulate the services 
that the operator must provide using the infrastructure, to whom it must provide them and at what 
price. Due to this, the BTO agreement is assessed to be outside the scope ofIFRJC 12, Service 
Concession Arrangements. 

The Parent Company, on the other hand, has the right to operate and earn rentals from the project 
upon completion but does not have ownership over the properties. The Parem Company also has no 
substantial risks and rewards on the properties for the major part of its economic life. Accordingly, 
the related development cost and lease payments were recorded under "BTO rights" presented under 
intangible assets in the consolidated statement of fmancial position (see Nete 7). 

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease - Build Operate Transfer (B01) Agreement 
On September 16,2015, the Parent Company entered into a BOT agreement with Philippine DCS 
Development Corporation (PDDC), also a subsidiary ofFLl. The BOT agreement relates to the 
construction and operation by PDDC of the DCS facilities for 20 years, during which PDne will 
supply chilled water for the provision of cooling energy to the properties of the Parent Company 
within Nortbgate Cyberzone, Muntinlupa City. 

While the fulfillment of the tenus and conditions of the agreement is dependent on the use of an asset 
(i.e., OCS facilities), management assessed that the right to control the operations of such asset is not 
conveyed to the Parent Company considering that: (a) the Parent Company has no ability to operate 
the asset nor the right to direct PDnC to operate the asset in a manner it determines; and (b) the 
supply of chilled water will not be exclusive to the properties of the Parent Company during the term 
of the BOT agreement. Thus, the BOT agreement does not contain a lease within the scope of 
PFRS 16 (s •• Note 11 ). 

Classification of noncun-enl assets held for distribution 
As of December 31, 2020, the Parent Company has noncurrent assets held for distribution amounting 
to ¥6,843.7 million related to property dividends declared by the Parent Company (nil as of 
December 31, 2021). The Parent Company assessed that the distribution of these investment 
properties, by way of property dividends and reimbursement from FL!, is highly probable considering 
that actions to complete me distribution have been initiated and are expected to be completed within 
one year. These invesbnent properties will be derecognized in tbe consolidated financial statements 
once the SEC approves the distribution of the dividends and the Parent Company is compensated for 
the additions made from date of declaration to the date of distribution. 

On July 15, 2021, the SEC approved the property dividend declaration and the Parent Company was 
compensated for additions subsequent to date of declaration. Refer to Notes 6 and 16 for the related 
disclosures on noncurrent assets held for dismbution aDd direcdy related liabilities. 

Impairment assessment of nonfinancial assets 
The Group assesses at each financial reporting date whether there is any indication that the 
nonfinancial assets (investment properties and intangible assets) may be impaired. The Group 
considers indications of impairment such as significant changes in asset usage, significant decline in 
market value, obsolescence or physical damage of an asset, significant underperformance relative to 
expected historical or projected future operating results and significant negative industry or economic 
trends. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset, which is 
the higher of the asset's fair value less cost to seU and value in use. 
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The Group has detennined that the COVID-19 pandemic has no impact and is not considered as an 
impairment indicator in the impairment assessment of nonfinancial assets. As of December 31, 2021 
and 2020, no impairment indicators were identified for the Group's nonfinancial assets (see Notes 7, 
9 and 20). 

Use ofEstimales and Assumptjons 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
report date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next fmancial year are discussed below. 

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables 
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate EeLs fOT trade receivables. The provision rates are 
based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns. 
The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group is 
calibrating the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. 
For instance. ifforecast economic conditions (i.e., GOP, inflation) are expected to deteriorate over the 
next year which can lead to an increase in the rental rates, the historical default rates are adjusted. At 
every financial reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the 
forward-looking estimates are analyzed. 

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic 
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount ofECLs is sensitive to changes in 
circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss experience and 
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer's actual default in the 
future. 

The Group bas considered impact of COVlD-19 pandemic and revised its asswnptions in determining 
the macroeconomic variables and loss rates in the computation of expected credit loss. The Group 
also considers the SCCl.lrity deposit and advance rentals available to cover exposure to credit loss. As 
of December 31,2021, and 2020, the Group's allowance for ECL on its trade receivables amounted 
to ¥-7.7 million and PO.3 million, respectively (see Note 5). 

Rerognition of deferred tax asset 
The GToup reviews the carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets at each financial report date 
and reduces it to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient income will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. The Group believes that it will 
generate sufficient taxable profit to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. 

As of December 31, 2021, the Group made an assessment that it will effectively operate as an income 
tax-free entity and as such, has not recognized any deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2020, 
deferred tax assets amounted to ¥-269.2 million (see Note 19). 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

This account consists of: 

Cash on hand and in banks 
Cash equivalents 

2021 
1'515,722,841 
2,071,472,790 

1'2,587,195,631 

2020 
1'602,644,513 

267,873,019 
1'870,517,532 
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Cash in banks earn interest at their respective bank deposit rates. Cash equivalents are short-term, 
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, with original 
maturities of three (3) months or less from dates of placement and are subject to an insignificant risk 
and change in value and earned interest at prevailing short-tenn investment ranging from 0.25% to 
1.25% and 0.10% to 3.75% for the period ending December 31 , 2021 and 2020 respectively. 

Interest earned from cash and cash equivalents amounted to P6.3 million, P3.9 million and 
118.4 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019 respectively (see Note 22). 

There is no restriction on the Group's cash and cash equivalents as of December 31,2021 and2020. 

5. Receivables 

This account consists of: 

Trade receivables (Note 17) 
Advances to officers and employees 
Others 

Less allowance for EeL 

2021 
1'730,984,104 

31,713,801 

762,697,905 
7,702,272 

1'754,995,633 

2020 
1'799,278,543 

29,632,452 
1,518,717 

830,429,712 
285,258 

1'830,144,454 

Trade receivables represent charges to tenants for rentals and utilities which are nonnally collectible 
within 20 days from billing date. These include receivable earned but not yet billed arising from 
straight-line recognition oflease income from covered lessees. These are covered by security deposits 
by tenants equivalent to rent paid by the lessees. All overdue and unpaid rent, dues and charges are 
subject to interest at 18% per annum and penalty of24% per annum. Interest and penalties from late 
payments amounted to ¥3.6 million, nil, and 112.0 million for the period ended December 31, 2021, 
2020, and2019, respectively (see Note 22). 

In 2021, the Group has recognized provision for EeL on its trade receivables. Movement in the 
Group's allowance for EeL follow: 

At January 1 
Provisions 
At December 31 

2021 2020 
1'285,258 
7,417,014 

117,702,272 

1'285,258 

1'285,258 

Advances to officers and employees pertain to salary and loans granted by the Group which are 
collectible through salary deduction and are non-interest bearing. This also represents advances for 
project costs, marketing activities, travel and other expenses arising from the ordinary course of 
business which are liquidated upon the accomplishment of the purposes for which the advances were 
granted. 

Others include advances of real property tax on land leased by the Group subject to reimbursement. 

FLI00502
Text Box



- 30 -

6. Noncurrent Assets HeW for Distribution 

This accOlUlt consists of: 

Net book value of investment properties 
Investment properties declared as 

property dividends (Notes 9 and 16) 
Additions to construction in progress 
Right of use assets (Notes 9 and 20) 

Net book value of intangible assets 
BTO rights declared as property 

dividends (Notes 7 and 16) 
Additions to BTO rights 
Right of use assets (Notes 7 and 20) 

Derecognition of noncurrent assets held for 
distribution (Note 16) 

2021 

¥6,914,270,136 
570,628,432 

54,463,438 

1,388,063,419 
5,669,692 

27,505,758 

(8,960,600,875) 

2020 

1'6,611,906,765 
231,794,581 

1'6,843,701,346 

Noncurrent assets held for distribution represent investment properties and BTO rights declared as 
property dividends, additions to construction in progress under investment properties and intangible 
assets, net of depreciation and amortization, declared as property dividends from the date of 
declaration up to July 15, 2021 subject to reimbursement by FLI, and the related right of use assets 
for the land subleased by the Parent Company where these properties were constructed. 

The SEC issued the certificate of filing the notice of the property dividend declaration for the 
noncurrent assets held for distribution on July 15, 2021 and subsequently these assets were distributed 
to FLI and derecognized in the consolidated financial statements. 

7. Intangible Assets 

On March 26, 2012, FLI entered into a BTO agreement with Cebu Province. This was subsequently 
assigned to the Group in August 2012 (see Note 3). 

"BTO rights" relate to the development cost, construction and operation of BPO Complex at the land 
properties owned by Cebu Province. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, cost of completed portion 
pertaining to Cebu Towers 1 of the BTO project amounted to :P1.3 billion. 

"Right-of-Use assets" pertain to the related lease payments required under the BTO agreement for the 
land where the buildings were constructed. 
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The rollforward analysis of intangible assets follows: 

Cost 
Balance at beginning of period 
Additions 
Reclassification (Note 6) 
Derecognition (Note 17) 

Balance at end of period 
Accumulated Depreciation 
Balance at beginning of period 
Depreciation 
Reclassification (Note 6) 
Derecognition (Note 17) 
Balance at end of period 
Net BookValue 

Co,! 
Balance at beginning of year 
Additions 
Reclassification (Notes 9 and 10) 
Balance at end of year 
Accumulated Depreciation 
Balance at beginning of year 
Depreciation 
Reclassification (Notes 9 and 10) 
Balance at end of year 
Net Book Value 

BTO Rights 

P3,S76,270,821 
146,672,218 

(1,430,406,718) 
(966,124.237) 

1,326,412,084 

P270,873,400 
57,169,464 

(36,673,607) 

291,369,257 
111,035,042,827 

BTORights 

P2,960,031,844 
607,835,586 

8,403,391 
3,576,270,821 

178,271,697 
77,559,890 
15.041,813 

270,873,400 
P3,305,397,421 

2021 
Right-of.Use 

Assets 
(Note 20) 

11112,423,917 

(30,115,793) 
(60,231,586) 

22,076,538 

PS,993,914 
1,485,377 

(2,610,035) 
(5,220,071) 

2,649,185 
1119,427,353 

2020 
Right-of-Use 

Assets 
(Note 20) 

PI12,423,917 

112,423,917 

4,496,957 
4,496,957 

8,993,914 
PI03,430,003 

Total 

P3,688,694, 738 
146,672,218 

(1,460,522,511) 
(1,026,355,823) 

1,348,488,622 

11279,867,314 
58,654,841 

(39,283,642) 
(5,220,071) 

294,018,442 
111,054,470,180 

Total 

P3,072,455,761 
607,835,586 

8,403,391 
3,688,694,738 

182,768,654 
82,056,847 
15,041,813 

279,867,314 
P3,408,827,424 

On Febmary II, 2021, the BOD approved the transferofCebu Towers 3 and 4 toFU by way of 
assignment of right to manage and operate. FU will compensate the Parent Company at a 
consideration equivalent to the cost of the properties upon assignment. 

On February 26, 2021, the Parent Company and FLI executed deed of assignment of rights for the 
transfer of the properties. Hence, the cost of these properties, including the related right-of use assets 
and lease liabilities, were derecognized (see Note 17). 

The derecognition of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities amOlUlting 1182.5 million and 
P112.3 million, respectively, resulted to gain on derecognition oflease liabilities presented in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income amounting P30A million in 2021 (see Note 20). 

Rental income recognized arising from the BTO agreement amounted to 11207.9 million, 
11215.5 million, and11193.3 million in 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. 

Tenant dues from BTO rights amounted to P72.9 million, ¥92.0 million, P'89.3 million in 2021, 2020, 
and 2019 respectively (see Note 21). 
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Operating expenses incurred fOT maintaining and operating these assets amounted to ¥93.7 million, 
P126.4 million, and ¥93.2 million in 2021, 2020, and 2019 respectively. In 2019, the capitalized 
amortization of right-of-use assets amounted to 11'4.5 million (nil in 2021 and 2020). 

Borrowing costs capitalized on the BTO project amounted to 114.3 million, P8t.8 million, and 
PI04.4 million in 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively (see Notes 13 and 14). The capitalization rates 
used in 2021, 2020, and 2019 range from 4.0% to 5.2%. 

Contractual obligations to acquire and construct intangible assets amounted to nil and 
¥1,500.0 million as of December 31,2021 and 2020, respectively_ 

8. Advances to Contractors 

Advances to contractors represent advances for project costs and other disbursements related to 
buildings under construction. The advances shall be settled through recoupment against contractors ' 
billings. Advances to contractors amounted to 11 13.3 million and 1118.4 million as of December 31, 
2021 and 2020, respectively. 

9. Investment Properties 

The rollforward analyses ofthis account follows: 

C," 
Balance at beginning of period 
Additions 
Derecognition (Note 20) 

2021 

BuDdings and CoMtruction 
Land Improvement in-progrelll 

Right-of-1I5e 
asset 

(Note 20) Others Tubl 

P- 1'11,953,07o,zI9 
60,686,413 

P- 1'1,946,'.130,753 1'158,204,744 1'14,058,205.716 
13,716,995 74,4ll3,408 

- (1,884,771,395) (44,191,728) (1,928,963,123) 
Reclassification (Notes 6 and 16) (528,355,501) (61,159,358) (590,514,860) 
Balance at end of period 11,485,401,130 127.730,011 11.613,131,141 
Acc.umulated Depredation 

Balance at beginning of period 1'339,348~'~3~===~=~~~~=~4~'~'864'10'.l 2,428,400,844 
Depreci~tion 267,057,842 28,'.100,550 307,245,248 

ii~i~~~~~====:J~:l~~ (11,'.178,48,,";--7''''' 

C,,' 
Balance It beginning of yMr 
Additions (Note 20) 
Disposals 
Derecogn:ition (Note 20) 
RecilssifiClition (Notes 7, 10 

and 16) 
Balance at end of year 

(Forward) 

Buildings and 
Land Improvement 

2020 

Construction 
in·progress 

Right·of·use 
asset 

(Note 20) 

Pl,065,970,323 PI4,374,1l4,937 1'2,596,558,086 1'62,159,358 
12,671,445 150,907,402 1,292,911,395 2,149,262,141 

(672,801,997) 
(264,490,746) 

(405,839,771) (2,571,952,120) (3,889,469,481) 
P- P11,953,070,219 I' Pl,946,930,753 

P125,268,691 P18,224,071,395 
32,936,053 3,638,688,436 

(672,801,997) 
(264,490,746) 

- (6,867 ,261,372) 
1'158,204,744 P14,058,205.7l6 

IIIIII~ 1111111111111111111111111!llllllllllllm 
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Retlurification (No~ 7, 10 
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2020 
Right-nf:.u3e 

Buildings I\.Ild Construction 3$Se1 

Land Improvement in-progl'CllS (Note 20) 

ft- fl2,042,662,9()4 
110,24',l4S 

P3,5S1 ,96) 
39,Q33,SOS 
(l.396,9~ 

Total 

1l2J,OSl,279 112,067,298,146 
28,780,830 3&8,059,680 

(3.396,956) 

Others include prepaid commission costs directly attributable in obtaining the operating leases related 
to the Group's office buildings. 

Investment properties pertain to the Group's land and buildings that are currently leased to third 
parties. Borrowing costs capitalized to investment properties amounted to nil, PI77.5 million, and 
1'180.3 mimon for the period eoded December 3 1, 2021,2020, and 2019, respectively (see Noles 13 
and 14). The capitalization rates used range from 4.0010 to 5.60/11, 4.0010 to 5.5%, and 4.0% to 5.5% in 
2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. 

On October 7,2020, the Group sold a portion of its South Road Properties with a carrying value of 
Jl672.8 million for a consideration ofP737.8 million. 

As of December 31, 2021, the estimated fair value of the Group's investment properties amounted to 
P45,429.7 million. The fair value of the investment properties is computed based on the income 
approach using discounted cash flow method. Using income approach, aU expected cash flows from 
the use of the assets were projected and discounted using the appropriate discount rate reflective of 
the market expectations. The valuation of investment property is categorized as Level 3 in the fair 
value hierarchy since valuation is based on unobservable inputs. The significant unobservable inputs 
used in the valuation pertains to lease income growth rate and discount rate. The fair value used by 
the Group is based on a valuation penormed in 2021 by an accredited third·party appraisal who holds 
a recognized and relevant professional qualification and has recent experience in the location and 
category of the investment properties being valued 

Rental income from investment properties amounted to 112,3 11.4 million, P2,617.9 million, and 
112,621.4 million in 2021 J 2020, and 2019. respectively. Tenant dues from investment properties 
amounted to ¥796.5 million, P907.3 million and f 793.7 million in 2021, 2020, and 2019 respectively 
(see Note 21). 

Operating expenses inclUTed for maintaining and operating these investment properties amounted to 
111,067.0 million, JlI ,OI8.8 million, and Pt,268.8 million in 2021,2020, and 2019, respectively. 

Contractual obligations to acquire investment properties amounted to nil and Pl ,500.0 million as of 
December 31 , 2021 and, 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, invesunent properties are not 
used as collateral and is not subject to any existing liens and encumbrances. 
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10. Property and Equipment 

The rollforwaxd analysis of this account follows: 

2021 
Land Furniture 

Improvements ndFirtures Total 
Cost 
Balance at beginning of year 
Additions 
Balance at end afyear 
Accumulated Depredation 
Balance at beginning of year 
Depreciation 
Balance at end of year 
Net Book Value 

Cost 
Balance at beginning of year 
Additions 
Reclassification (Notes 7 and 9) 
Balance at end of year 
AccwnuJated Depreciation 
Balance at beginning of year 
Depreciation 
Reclassification (Notes 7 and 9) 
Balance at end of year 
Net Book Value 

'38,703,162 

38,703,162 

19,325,574 
350,473 

19,676,047 
P19,fl27,l1S 

Lmd 
Improvements 

P38,703,160 
201,211 

12,002 
38,916,373 

18,975,099 
350,473 

19,325,572 
PI9,590,801 

P92,133,553 11130,836,715 
30,219,374 30,219,374 

122,352,927 161,056,089 

43,116,259 62,441,833 
16,576,885 16,927,358 
59,693,144 79,369,191 
62.659t783 PSl,686,898 

2020 
Furniture 

and Fixtures Total 

P80,175,6 14 Jl118,878,774 
16,559,423 16,760,634 
(4,814,695) (4,802,693) 
91 ,920,342 130,836,715 

44,953,352 63,928,451 
15,598,150 15,948,623 

(17,435,241) (17,435,241) 
43.116.261 62,441,833 

P48,804,081 P68,394,882 

As of December 31 , 2021 and 2020, property and equipment is not used as collateral and is not 
subject to any encumbrances. 

t t. Other Assets 

Other cnrrent assets consist of: 

Creditable withholding tax 
InputVAT- net 
Prepayments 
Others 

Less noncurrent portion of input VAT 

2021 

"23,411,881 
12,596,885 

8,500,982 
19,545,183 
64,054,931 

1'64,054,931 

2020 
1'94,649,221 
986,282,331 

68,233,324 
33,658,745 

1, 182,823,621 
11,491,515 

PI,I71 ,332,106 
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Input V AT represents the taxes imposed to the Group by its suppliers and contractors for the 
acquisition of goods and seIVices required under Philippine taxation laws and regulation. This will be 
used against future output VAT liabilities or will be claimed as tax credits. Management has 
estimated that all input V AT are recoverable at its full amount. 

Creditable withholding tax are attributable to taxes withheld by third parties arising from income 
which are fully realizable and will be applied against future taxes payable. The amounts represent the 
residual after application as credit against income tax payable. 

Prepayments consist of prepaid expenses for fmandal charges, taxes and licenses, insurance and 
association dues. 

Othezs include office and maintenance supplies. 

Other noncurrent assets consist of: 

Prepaid nes connection charges (Note 17) 
Deposits 
Input VAT - noncurrent portion 

2021 
1'197,031,019 

53,497,322 

1'250,528,341 

2020 
1'336,023,216 

40,903,155 
11,491,515 

1'388,417,886 

Prepaid DCS connection charge is amortized using straight line method based on the contract period 
of connection. Amortization of connection fee amounting to 116.6 minion, II 16.2 million and 
PI 5.0 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively is presented as "Others" in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. 

The rollforward analysis of Prepaid OCS connection charge follows: 

2021 2020 
Cost 
Balance at beginning of year 1'382,860,734 1'316,250,070 
Additions (Note 17) 66,6\0,664 
DerecoROltion (Note 17} (135,183J08) 
Balance at end of year 247,677,426 382,860,734 
Accumulated Amortization 
Balance at beginning of year 46,837,518 30,672,764 
Amortization 6,595,943 16,164,754 
Derecognition (Note 17) (2,787,054) 
Balance at end of year 50,646,407 46,837,518 
Net Book Value 1'197,031,019 1'336,023,216 

In 2021, the Group derecognized prepaid DCS pertaining to property dividends distributed to FU (see 
Note \7). 

Deposits pertain to electric meter deposits and security deposits. 
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12. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 

This account consists of: 

Advances from tenants 
Accrued expenses (Note 17) 
Payable to suppliers 

- 36 -

Accrued interest payable (Notes 13 and 14) 
Due to related parties (Note 17) 
Payable to contractors (Note 9) 
Withholding taxes payable 
Retention payable - current portion (Note 15) 

lOll 
P477,748,494 

254,501,467 
140,045,076 
102,llJ,0l0 

86,10l,391 
84,857,304 
48,507,499 
28,674,088 

111,222,657,329 

2020 
1'566,558,897 

262,209,073 
121,453,381 
113,036,580 
181,541,991 
123,491,053 
38,206,363 

177,214,409 
1'1,583,711,747 

Advances from tenants are advance payments received for rentals, utilities and other fees. These are 
applied against rental obligations of the tenants when they become due. 

Accrued expenses include accruals for utilities. maintenance, service and energy charges, outside 
services and other expenses. These are nonnally settled within the year. 

Retention payable account pertains to the amounts withheld by the Group from contractors' progress 
billings which are returned upon completion of their services or expiry of the contractors' warranty 
period. 

Payable to suppliers arise from various acquisitions of materials and supplies used for construction 
and are nonnally payable within the year. 

Payable to contractors arises from progress billings received from contractors for the construction 
costs incurred by the Group. 

Accrued interest payable pertains to accrual of interest of bonds and loans outstanding as at year end. 

Withholding taxes payable consists of withholding taxes on compensation and expanded withholding 
taxes. These are nonnally settled within one (1) month. 

13. Loans Payable 

As of December 31, 2020, this account consists of (nil as of December 3 1, 2021): 

Developmental loans from local banks (Note 16) 
Less current portion of loans payable 
Noncurrent portion of loans payable 

1>2,344,166,667 
744, 166,667 

¥ I ,600,000,000 

These loans are obtained to finance the construction of buildings for rental. Developmentalloans 
from local banks will mature on various dates up to 2024. These peso-denominated loans bear 
floating interest rates equal to 91-day PDST -F rate plus a spread of 1 % per annum, prevailing market 
rate, or fixed interest rates of 4.00% to 5.22% per annum. 
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Loans availed by the Group for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 amounted to nil, 
F 1 ,000.0 million, and ·P2, I 00.0 million respectively. Principal payments made in 2020 amounted to 
P'984.6 million, nil in 2021 (see Note 27). 

Capitalized interest expense relating to loans payable amowlted to PIO.a million, P133.4 miUion. and 
P-72.6 million in 2021 , 2020, and 2019 respectively (see Noles 1 and 9). The capitalization rates used 
in 2021, 2020 and 2019 ranges from 4.0010 to 5.6%. 

Total interest expense charged to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income amoWlted to 
P-7.9 million, ¥81.6 million, and ¥ 105.5 million in 2021,2020, and 2019 respectively. 

On December 9, 2020. the Parent Company and FLI entered into an agreement for the assignment of 
the Parent Company's developroenta11oans outstanding as of November 30, 2020 amounting to 
14,233.8 million. On December 9,2020, the Parent Company notified the banks in writing of the 
assignment of loans. 

As of December 31, 2021, the Parent Company received the letters of consent from all the banks 
authorizing the assignment of the loans to FU. As of December 31, 2021, total loans payable 
assigned to FLI and derecognized in the consolidated statement of financial position amounted to 
113,863.0 million, inclusive of amounts derecognized as of December 31, 2020 amolUlting to 
P1,518.8 million. 

1n December 2020, FLI also paid total principal installment due amounting to 11370.8 million on 
behalf of the Parent Company. The principal installment paid by FLI and the portion of the 
derecognized loans were recognized as deposit for future stock subscription as of December 31 , 2020 
(see Note 16). 

The Group's loans payable is unsecured, and no assets are held as collateral for these debts. The 
agreements covering the abovementioned loans require maintaining certain financial ratios including 
debt-to-equity ratio and interest coverage ratio. 

The agreements also provide for restrictions and requirements with respect to, among others, making 
substantial change in present management and ownership structure; acquisition of any shares of 
stock; sale, lease or transfer and disposal of all or a substantial part of its assets, except in the ordinary 
course of business; and entering into any merger, consolidation or reorganization. As of 
December 31, 2021) and 2020, the Group is not in breach of these covenants and has not been cited in 
default on any of its outstanding obligation. 

14. Bonds Payable 

On July 7, 2017, the Group issued fixed rate bonds with aggregate principal amount of 
P6,OOO.0 million and teon oHive and a half(5.5) years from the issue date or in January 2023. The 
fixed rate is 5.05% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears starting October 7,2017. As of December 
31,2021 and 2020, the outstanding balance of bonds payable amounted to P5.987.0 million and 
115,974.2 million, respectively. 

The bonds are redeemable at 100% offace value on maturity date, which is January 7, 2023, unless 
the Group exercises its early redemption option. lnterest expense which was capitalized relating to 
bonds payable amOlmted to nil, Pl08.8 million, and P212.l million in2021, 2020, and 2019, 
respectively (see Notes 7 and 9). 
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Total interest expense charged to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income amounted to 
P307.2 million. 1l199.2 million, and ¥95.2 million in 2021, 2020, and 2019. respectively. 

Unamortized debt issuance cost on bonds payable amounted P'13.0 million and P2S.8 million as of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Amortization of transaction costs included under 
"'Interest and other financing charges" in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income 
amoWlted toP12.9 million, P12.8 million and fill . 7 million in 2021 , 2020, and 2019, respectively. 

The bonds require the Group to maintain a maximum debHo-equity ratio of2.33x and minimum debt 
service coverage ratio of 1.1x. As of December 31, 2021, and 2020, the Group is not in breach of 
these financial covenants and has not been cited in default on any af its eutstaoding obligation. 

15. Other Liabilities 

Sealrily and other deposits 
Security and other deposits are applied to any outstanding obligations of tho tenants at the end of the 
lease tenn or upon pre-termination. 

The current and noncurrent portion of security and other deposits follows: 

Current portion 
Noncurrent portion 

Other noncu"ent liabilities 

2021 
1196,987,598 
654,002,829 

1'750,990,427 

2020 
1'116,414,891 

732,659,169 
1'849,074,060 

As of December 31, 2020, this account consists of (nil as of December 31 , 2021): 

Retention payable - net of current portion 
Retirement liabilities (Note 18) 

16. Equity 

Paid-up Capital 

1'296,558,325 
3,827,357 

1'300,385,682 

Details of the Parent Company's capital stock as of December 31 follow: 

2011 2020 
Shares Amount Shares Amount 

Authorized number 0/ shores 
Bahm.ces at beginning: of year 4,OOO,IOt,OOO P2,OOO,000.,000 2.000,000,000 1l2,OOO,OOO,OOO 
Increase in authorized capital stock (a) 5,131,849.000 5,131,849,000 
Stock splil 51131.849ItOO 2,000,000,000 
Balances at end of~e3f 14;!63.698.oee '111311849,800 4lJfJ01OOO1OOO ~OOO,OOO.OOO 
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Issued and outstanding 
Balances at beginning of year 
Issuance of new shares 
Stock split 
Balances at end of year 
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2021 
Shares Amount 

2,326,853,336 P-l,163,426,668 
1,282,962,329 1,282,962,329 
1,282,962,329 
4,892,777,994 112,446,388,997 

The NAV per share as of December 31, 2021 isP9.07. 

2020 
Shares Amount 

1,163,426,668 PI,163,426,668 

1,163,426,668 
2,326,853,336 Pl,163,426,668 

On December 4, 2020, the BOD approved the increase in the Parent Company's authorized capital 
stock to ¥14,985.0 million divided into 1O,800.Q million common shares with a par value ofFl.OO per 
share and 4,185.0 million preferred shares with a par value oflll.OO. The Parent Company filed the 
application for the increase in authorized capital stock with the SEC on December 22, 2020. 

On December 15, 2020, FLI subscribed to 2,700.0 million common shares and 1,046.3 million 
preferred shares out of the Parent Company's proposed increase in authorized capital stock. The 
consideration for the subscription amounting to ¥3,746.3 million shall be taken from the loans 
payable assigned to FLI (see Note 13). 

As of December 31, 2020, deposit for future stock subscription amounted to 111 ,889.6 million, 
respectively, inclusive of the assigned loans payable amounting to P1,518.8 million and principal 
installments on loans paid by FLI on behalf of the Parent Company prior to assignment ofloans in 
December 2020 amounting to P370.8 million (see Note 13). 

On March 5, 2021, the BOD and the stockholders approved the reduction of the par value of the 
common shares of the Parent Company, from F1.00 per share to P'0.50, resulting in a stock split 
whereby every existing one (1) common share with par value ofP1.00 each will become two (2) 
common shares with par value of PO. 50 each. They further approved an amendment to the increase in 
authorized capital stock, from P2,000.0 million divided into 2,000.0 million common shares with a 
par value ofll1.00 per share to ¥7,131.8 million divided into 14,263,698,000 common shares with a 
par value of¥0.50 per share (see Note 23). 

On March 12, 2021, FLI subscribed to 2,565.9 million common shares out of the Parent Company's 
proposed amendment to the increase in authorized capital stock amounting to ¥3, 746.3 million 
superseding FLI's subscription to the Parent Company's shares on December 15, 2020. The Parent 
Company submitted the application for the reduction of par value and the amendment to the increase 
in authorized capital stock with the SEC on March 18,2021. 

On July 2, 2021, these amendments have been approved by the SEC and the outstanding deposit for 
future stock subscription amounting to PI ,889.6 million was applied against FLI's subscription to 
common stock. The Parent Company recorded APIC amounting to 112,518.4 million, net of stock 
issuance costs. The Parent Company incurred transaction costs incidental to the IPO that are directly 
attributable to the issuance or subscription of new shares amounting to ¥47.8 million in 2021. 

As of December 31,2021, there are 13,067 holders of security of the Parent Company. 

Retained Earnings 
Appropriation 
On December 4, 2020, the BOD approved the release of its previous appropriation from its retained 
earnings amounting to ¥6,300.0 million. This pertains to previous appropriations made to fund 
projects already completed or transferred, thus will not require any appropriations anymore. 
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Declaration of Property Dividends 
On February 11, 2021, the BOD approved the declaration of the operational office buildings FLI 
Edsa, IT School, Concentrix Building (Convergys Building) and eebu Tower 2 as property dividends. 
The aggregate carrying value of the properties amounted to Pl,690.4 million (see Note 6). 

On December 4, 2020, the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of buildings Filinvest 
Axis Towers 2, 3 and 4, and SRP Lot 2 with carrying value amountingtoP6,611.9 million (see 
Note 6). 

The distribution of these properties was made upon approval by the SEC on July 15, 2021. 

Declaration of Cash Dividends 
The following table shows the cash dividends declared by the Parent Company's BOD on the 
outstanding capital stock: 

Declaration date 
August 31, 2021 
November 18, 2021 
July 19, 2019 

Record date 
September 15,2021 
December 3, 2021 
July 31, 2019 

Dividend per 
common shares 

PO.ll2 
0.112 
0.299 

TomI 
dividends declared 

P547,991,135 
547,991,135 
348,339,734 

Payment date 
September 30, 2021 
December 20, 2021 

June 30, 2020 

After reconciling items, the Group's retained earnings available for dividend declaration as of 
December 31,2021 and 2020 amounted to P'1,018.9 million and P'l ,680.9 million, respectively. 

The following table shows how the Group computes for its dividend per share: 

a. Dividends 
b. Weighted average number of outstanding 

common shares 
Dividends per share (alb) 

Distributable Income under the IRR ofREIT Act of 2009 

2021 
1'2,786,409,060 

3,514,911,602 
1'0.79 

2020 
1'6,611,906,765 

1,163,426,668 
1'5.68 

Under the Revised Implementing Rules and Regulations ofREIT Act of2009, section 4c, the Parent 
Company shall present a computation of its distributable dividend taking into consideration 
requirements under the provisions of the Act and the Rule. Distributable income is not a measure of 
perfonnance under the PFRS. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the distributable income 
amounted to ¥l,855.1 million. 

Capital Management 
The Group's primary objective is to maintain its current sound financial condition and strong debt 
service capabilities, as well as to continuously implement a prudent fmancial management program. 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
conditions. It closely monitors its capital and cash positions and carefully manages its capital 
expenditures. Furthermore, the Group may also, from time to time, seek other sources of funding, 
which may include debt or equity issues, depending on its financing needs and market conditions. 
The Group monitors capital using a debt-to-equity ratio, which is totallong-tenn debt divided by total 
stockholders' equity. The Group includes within debt, interest-bearing loans and external borrowings 
whether in the form of long-term notes, bonds, and lease liabilities. 
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The follovring table shows how the Group computes for its debt-ta-equity ratio: 

Bonds payable (Note 14) 
Lease liabilities (Note 20) 
Loans payable (Note 13) 

Equity 
Debt-to-equity ratio 

2021 
1'5,987,044,949 

27,838,182 

6,014,883,131 
5,982,498,127 

1.01:1 

2020 
P5,974,168,846 

2,190,115,165 
2,344,166,667 

10,508,450,678 
5,106,064,860 

2.06:1 

As a REIT entity, the Parent Company is subject to externally imposed capital requlrements from its 
debt covenants and based on the requirements of the Aggregate Leverage Limit under the REIT 
Implementing Rules and Regulations. Thus, the Parent Company has made adjusunents to its policies 
and processes for managing capital for the year ended December 31, 2021. Per Section 8 of the REIT 
lmplemenring Rules and Regulations issued by the SEC, the total borrowings and deferred payments 
of a RElT should not exceed thirty-five percent (35%) of its Deposited Property; provided, however, 
that the total borrowings and deferred payments of a RElT that has a publicly disclosed investment 
grade credit rating by a duly accredited or internationally recognized rating agency may exceed thirty­
five percent (35%) but not more than seventy percent (70%) of its Deposited Property. Provided, 
further, that in no case shall a Fund Manager, borrow for the REIT from any of the funds under its 
management 

As of December 31, 2021, the fair value of the deposited properties amounted to P52,379.S million, 
resulting to a debt ratio of 11.4%. The Parent Company is compliant to this Aggregate Leverage 
Limit 

17. Related Party Transactions 

Parties are considered to be related if one party bas the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the 
other party in making financial and operating decisions or the parties are subject to common control 
or common significant influence (referred herein as affiliates). Related parties may be individuals or 
corporate entities. 

All material Related Parly Transactions ("RPT1 with a transaction value that reaches len percent 
(10010) of the Group's total assets shall be subject to the review by the RPT Committee. 

Transactions that were entered into with an unrelated party that subsequently becomes a related party 
shall be excluded from the limits and approval of the Policy on Related Party Transactions (''Policy''). 
However, any renewal, change in the tenns and conditions or increase in exposure level, related to 
these transactions after a non-related party becomes a related party, shall subject it to the provisions 
of the Policy. In the event wherein there are changes in the RPT classification from non-material to 
material, the material RPT shall be subject to the provisions of the Policy. 

Outstanding balances as at December 31. 2021 and 2020 are unsecured, interest free and reqnire 
settlement in cash, unless otherwise stated. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Group has not 
made any provision for impairment loss relating to amounts owed by related parties. This assessment 
is undertaken each financial year by examining the financial position of the related party and the 
market in which the related party operates. 
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A swnmary of the Group 's related party tr.ms.acti.ons are shown in the table below: 

lI2l 
Amo~" Ch.il5laDdin, 
Volume .. - T,= Conditions N, • 

Bank under common control 
Cash and cash cquivaknl3 II Z,2U,841,487 Pl,ll9,841,487 0.1010% to 3.75% No impairment 17 (a) 
Interest inCOI'D<ll 4,061,940 

II 2,213.904,417 P2,1l9MI,487 

Tilde roccivablc:s (Note S) 
Parent Company NoninteTest·beariDs:; 

Rental revenue P 25,827 ,386 P4,140,31fi due and demandroble Unsecured 17 (b) 
Affiliate 

Noololerest-beu:ing; 
collectible every 20th 

Rental revenue 96,513,930 19,.174,766 day uribe month Unsecured 17 (b) 
Service fee income (Note 21) 31,381,131 Nonintere8l-bearing Um==! 17 (b) 
ComtJUssioo income (Note 21) Nonintere3l-bcaring U~"""" 17 (d) 

P 153,722,448 P13.51~.OIl 

Qlhm: I::!I!DCIllTeIl14H~ 
Alfiltare 

DCS cottn«tioo ~e 
(NOIe II ) (14&,925,017) 1'203,616,,'2 No impainucot 17 (1) 

Conoeclion fees (Note 11) ('.5'8,111) (6,5!S,Nl) 
(P1.3a,m..Jrn p·"ellel' 

6~mu!l1112!D!z12 !!l!IIICUUS!iI 
~(N<Xe 12) 

PlUM' Ccmpol'ly 
Noninltl'cst-buring; 

Rental. expeo&e (1141.183,116) (P41J,8J,886) payable ou demand """'.- 17 (e) 
AjJliliole 

Service IltId energy fee5 (12,276,703) (34,050,961) Noointerest-bearing Unsecured 17 (f) 

AjJillale 

Service fee (9,925,905) (4,014,131) Unsecured 17 (d) 
Management fec, 

i&as ijabiljtjea 
Parent Compwry 

Nonin~5t-b«rini; 
Lcm !.iabiJities (Note 20) (!2,162,276,9!3) pagble Unsecured 17 (c) 

Q!,ba t:!gll~III;:g1 &.iI1IiliiiQ 
Parenl C()mpafl), Noninteresl-bearina; 

Scw.rity deposit P54'.2" (p7,&27,3S') payable Um==d l7 (b) 
Affiliate No!l.inleJUl-bcaring; 

Scewity deposita &,731.'-" (lO,lO6.l8l) payable Uuxcurai 17(b) 

P7,lIl,935 (!lW3,741) 
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2020 
Amount! OutstauWna 
Vo_ balance T_ Conditions N~ 

BIIIlk undc:£ common control 
Cash and cash equivilents (ln8,&W,5I S fl738,640.5IS 0.1010% to 3.75% No impairment 17 (a) 
Interest income 1,908,%6 

11742~,481 P138,64(J,SIS 

Trade n:cejvablcs (Note S) 
Pannt CompolfY Nonintetest-bearing; 

Rental revenue P24,965,196 ' 306,370 due and demandable Unseeured 17 (b) 

:iffiltate 
Noninterest-bearing; 
collectible every 20th 

Rental revenue 88,007,272 146,729 day of the month Unsecured 17 (b) 
Scrvi~ fee income (Nole 21) 8,990,356 Nonintcrest-bearing Unsecured 17 (d) 
Commission income (Note 21) 23,166,200 Nonintecest-bcaring Unsecured 17 (d) 

P145,l29,024 P453.099 

DCS conna:bOO charge 
(Note 11) PI 5,266,7S2 Pl52,187,969 No impairment 17 (I) 

Connection feCI! (N«e 12) (l6,164,7n) 
1115,266,782 P336,023,216 

&l;lllmts llilyabl~ arul i!£cruod 
~(Note12) 

Parent Company Noninterest-bearin,. 
Rental expen~e (p3M,l90,8S0) I'- payable on demand Unsecured 17 (el 

Ajfilklre 
Intcrelit-bearinQ, at 6.0%, 

Advances (350,000,000) payMle on demand Unscooted 
Accrued iotaat (9,%6,667) Noninterest-bcarins """"'"" 11 (e) 

Service aDd energy fees Nonintcn:sl-beariDg; 
(Nolc 20) (290,551 ,98 1) (46,327,665) payable 01\ demavl Unse.:uted 11 (I) 

Rc:otal expense (4,467,-493) Noointaelt-bcaring Unsecured 17 (t) 
Nooinlel:est-bcaring; 

AjJillat~ payable OIl demand UOI~urtd 

Service fee (35,361,288) (13_950,037) 17 (d) 
Management f~ and Nonintcrest-bearing; 

manpower co,t payable on demand Unsecured 

(!994,538,279) ,1'60.277,702} 

Lea!!C liabilitiQ 
ParenJ Company 

N~I-bearing; 

Lease liabilities mOle 20) (Pb149,263,14n (!2, I9(), 115,16V ganble Unsecured 17fc) 

Olb« Nor;current Liabilities 
Parent Company Nonin~l-bc:aring; 

Security deposit (¥T,278,060) (,7,278,060) payable Unsecw:ed 17 (b) 
Affiliate 

Noointerest-bearing; 

Significant related party transactions are as follows. 

a) The Group maintains savings accOlUlts and shorHenn deposits with East West Banking 
Corporation (EW). an affiliated bank_ Cash and cash equivalents earn interest at the prevailing 
short-term investment rates. 
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b) Lease agreements with relaJed parties - Group as lessor 

The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with FL!, for the office 
space in one of the Parent Company's buildings. Lease period is from December 6, 2021 to 
December 5, 2031. 

The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Filinvest Alabang, 
Inc. (FAI), an entity under common control, for the office spaces in the Parent Company's 
buildings. Lease period is from September 2, 2019 to September 1, 2024 for Axis Tower 1 and 
April!, 2021 to March 31, 2031 for Vector One office. 

The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Pro-Excel Property 
Managers, Inc. (PEPMI), an affiliate, for the office space in one of the Parent Company's 
buildings. Lease period is from July 15, 2020 to July 14, 2025. The lease was pre-tenninated as a 
result of the property dividend distribution effective July 14, 2021. 

The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Dreambuilders Pro, 
Inc. (DPI), a fellow subsidiary under FLI, for the office space in one of the Parent Company's 
buildings. Lease period is from August 10, 2017 to October 9, 2022. The lease was 
pre~terminated as a result of the property dividend distribution effective July 14, 2021. 

The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Chroma Hospitality, 
Inc., a fellow subsidiary under FLI, for the office space in one of the Parent Company's 
buildings. Lease period is from June 2, 2017 to June 1, 2027. 

The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a lease agreement with Festival Supennall, Inc. 
(FSI), a fellow subsidiary under FLI, for the office space in one of the Parent Company's 
buildings. Lease period is from June 2,2017 to June 1,2027. 

The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Corporate 
Technologies Inc (CTI), for the office space in one of the Parent Company's buildings. Leasing 
period is from November IS, 2018 to November 14, 2023. 

c) Lease agreements with related parties - Group as lessee 

The Parent Company, as a lessee, entered into a land lease agreement with FLI on the location of 
the buildings currently leased to third parties and on those still under construction. Rental 
expense is based on certain percentages of the Parent Company' s gross rental income. 

In 2020, the Parent Company's lease agreement was amended as follows (see Note 20): 
• the Parent Company shall pay either a minimum guaranteed rent or a percentage share from 

Gross Lease, whichever is higher, effective July 1, 2020; and, 
• the lease tenns were extended for an additional tenn of25 years. 

In 2021, the Parent Company's lease agreement was amended as follows (see Note 20): 
• rental rates shall be solely variable (10% or 15% based on Gross Lease Income); and, 
• in case of redevelopment, FLI and the Parent Company shall mutually agree on the minimum 

monthly rent during construction period. 
• lease period shall be in full force and effect for a period of 50 years which shall commence on 

February II, 2021 and shall expire on February 10, 2071. 
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In addition, the Parent Company, as a lessee, entered into a land lease agreement with FA! on the 
location of the parking currently leased out to third parties. Rental is based on a certain 
percentage of income earned from the parking space. 

d) Service agreements with related parties 

• The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with F AI whereby the Parent 
Company shall pay service fees for general management services rendered by the latter for 
the operations of the Parent Company. F AI is also the provider afwater services within the 
Filinvest City where majority of the buildings of the Parent Company are located. 

• The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with Filinvest Cyherparks, Inc. (FeI), 
and Filinvest Asia Corp. (F AC), entities under common control, whereby the Parent 
Company shall lease out a portion of its office space and perfonn accounting and 
administrative services to the latter for a fee. 

• The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with FDC Retail Electricity Sales, 
Corporation (FDC RES), an entity under common control, whereby the Parent Company shall 
engage and pay the services rendered by the latter to provide the electricity requirements of 
its facilities. 

• The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with its affiliate, Parking Pro, Inc., to 
operate and maintain the Parent Company's parking facilities. 

• The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with ProOffice, an affiliate, whereby 
the Parent Company shall engage and pay the services rendered by the latter to operate 
maintain, manage, and market each Property, subject to the overall management and 
directions of the Fund Manager. 

• The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with FREIT FlIDd Manager, Inc. 
(FFMI), an affiliate, whereby the Parent Company shall engage and pay the services rendered 
by the latter to execute and implement the investment strategies for the Company. 

• The Parent Company entered into a facilities management agreement with Professional 
Operations and Maintenance Experts Incorporated (pROMEI), whereby the Parent Company 
shall engage and pay the services rendered by the latter to operate and maintain its equipment 
and premises. 

• The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with CTI, whereby the Company shall 
engage and pay for varied infonnation and technology services. Services shall include 
application development, apps support and system maintenance, system application, software 
licensing and administration, internet bandwidth allocation, network, database and server 
management plus desktop and telecom support 

e) On February 27, 2019, the Parent Company availed advances from FCI amounting 
11300.0 million. The Parent Company availed additional advances amounting to P50.0 million on 
April I, 2020. These advances were all paid in 2020. Related interest amounting 116.0 million 
was incurred by the Parent Company. 
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f) BOT Agreement 
In accordance with the tenns of Build Operate and Transfer (BOT) agreement between the Parent 
Company and Philippine DeS Development Corporation (PODe), the Parent Company paid 
prepaid Des connection charges to PDDC amounting to 11248.9 million, to be consumed by 
existing and future buildings within Northgate Cyberzone in Muntinlupa City over the service 
period of 20 years. 

Amortized portion of DeS connection charge pertaining to existing buildings amounted to 
1112.6 million and P15.0 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. These amounts were recognized 
as part of utilities expense in consolidated statement of comprehensive income (see Note 2). 
In 2021, the Group derecognized prepaid Des amounting 11132.4 million pertaining to property 
dividends distributed and was charged to FLI. Connection and service charges incurred for these 
buildings as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, aggregated to 11197.0 million and 11'336.0 million, 
respectively (see Note 11). 

g) Deed of Assignment of BTO rights to FLI 
On February 26, 2021, the Parent Company entered into an agreement with FLI assigning its right 
to manage and operate the Towers 3 and 4 ofFilinvest Cebu Cyberzone Towers under the BTO 
Agreement and Agreement for Transfer and Conveyance. The consideration amountiug to 
11966.1 million was settled in November 2021. 

Key Management Personnel 
The key management functions of the Group are handled by FCl starting March 2021. For the years 
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, compensation of other key management personnel directly paid 
by the Group pertains to short-tenn employee benefit amounting 111.5 million and P'9. 7 million, 
respectively. 

18. Retirement Cost 

The Group has a noncontributory, funded defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all of its 
officers and regular employees. Under the Plan, all covered officers and employees are entitled to 
cash benefits after satisfYing certain age and service requirements. The retirement plan provides 
retirement benefits (equivalent to 70% to 125% of the final monthly salary for every year of service) 
after satisfYing certain age and service requirements. The Group accrues retirement costs (included in 
"Retirement liability" in the consolidated statements of financial position) based on an actuariaUy 
determined amount using the PUC method 

Under the existing regulatory framework, Republic Act No. 7641 requires a provision for retirement 
pay to qualified private sector employees in the absence of any retirement plan in the entity, provided 
however that the employee's retirement benefits under any collective bargaining and other 
agreements shall not be less than those provided under the law. The law does not require minimum 
funding of the plan. The Group updates the actuarial valuation by hiring the services of a third party 
professionally qualified actuary. 

As of December 31, 2021, the Group has no remaining employees and the administrative functions 
were transferred to FCl (see Note 17). The retirement obligation outstanding as of December 31, 
2020 has been reclassified to 'Due to related parties' under accounts payable and accrued expenses in 
the consolidated statements of financial position. 
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The following tables summarize the components of "Pension expense" recognized in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income and "Retirement liability" recognized as part of other 
noncurrent liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial position for the existing retirement 
plan as of December 31, 2020. 

The funded status and amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position for the 
pension plan follow: 

Present value of defined benefit obligation 
Fair value of plan assets 
Net pension liabilities 

1'5,141,352 
(1,313 ,995) 

1'3,827,357 

In 2020, and 2019, the recognized pension expense in profit or loss amounted to ¥O.49 million and 
¥0.41 million, respectively, and the remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive income 
amounted to 'f1.3 million and nil, respectively. 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation follow: 

Balance at beginning of period 
Current service cost 
Interest expense 
Amount to be recognized in OCI 
Transfers 
Balance at end of period 

Changes in the fair value of plan assets follow: 

Balance at beginning of period 
Contribution 
Interest income 
Remeasurement losses on plan assets 
Transfers 
Balance at end of period 

2021 
1'5,141,352 

(5,141,352) 
P-

2021 
1'1,313,995 

(1,313,995) 
p-

2020 
1'1,832,889 

457,912 
141,394 

2,709,157 

1'5,141,352 

2020 
P-

1,419,104 
112,109 

(217,218) 
(217,218) 

1'1,313,995 

As of December 31,2020, the plan asset amounting to lil.3 million pertains to cash. The Group 
reviews the level of funding required for the retirement plan. The Group's objective is to match 
maturities of the plan assets to the retirement benefit obligation as they fall due. The Group monitors 
how the duration and expected yield of the invesbnents are matching the expected cash outflows 
arising from the benefit obligations. 

Maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments as of December 31, 2020 follows: 

Year 1 
Year 2 
Year 3 
Year 4 
Year 5 
Year 6 to 50 

1'4,429 
5,408 
6,639 
8,258 

10,241 
102,562,979 

IIIIII II IIIIIIIIIII~IIIIIII m UIII nlill 
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The principal asswnptions used in delennining pension benefits as of December 31, 2020 includes 
discount rate and salary increase rate of 4.1% and 8.0%. respeclively. 

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each 
significant assumption on the defined beneflt obligation (per 100 basis points) assuming aU other 
assumptions were held constant: 

Discount rates 

Salary rates 

Increase (Decrease) 
(18%) 

24% 
22% 

(17%) 

Impact on DBO 
Increase (Decrease) 

0'4,193,468) 
6,349,599 
6,296,529 

(4,253,434) 

Management believes that pension obligation will not be sensitive to the salary rate increases because 
it is expected to be at the same level oftbe remaining life of the obligation. 

19. Income Tax 

On June 6, 2000, the Group was registered with the Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA) 
pursuant to the provisions of Republic Act 7916 as an Economic Zone (ECOWNE) Facilities 
Enterprise. As a registered enterprise, the Group is entitled to certain tax benefits and non-tax 
incentives such as exemption from payment of national and local taxes and in lieu thereof a special 
tax rate of five percent (5%) of gross income. The Group is also entitled to zero percent (0%) value 
added tax for sales made to ECOZONE enterprises. 

The breakdown of provision for income tax shown in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income follows: 

2021 2020 2019 
At 5% statutory income tax rate 1l35,471,189 1'70,860,967 1'55,369,000 
Net result from non-PEZA 

activities: 
Current 82,180~646 160,289,059 134,211,926 
Deferred (269,648,113) (114,258,532) 119,807,959 

!!ISI,226,178l 1'116,891,494 1'309,388,885 

The current provision for inoome tax represents RCIT in 2021 J 2020 and 2019. Prior to the Parent 
Company's listing date on August 12, 2021 , the Parent Company recognized provision for income tax 
amowlting to fl117.7 million. The Parent Company started to avail of its tax incentive as a RElT after 
its listing. 
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As of December 31 , 2021, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on the Group's 
effective tax rate of 0% under the REIT law. As of December 31, 2020, the components of the 
Group's net deferred tax assets (liability) follows: 

Presmted in profit or loss 
Deferred. tax assets 

Lease liabilities 
Advance rentals 
Provision for future major repairs 
Accrual of pension obligation 
Provision for doubtful accounts 
Umealized foreign currency exchange loss 

Deferred tax liabilities 
Capitalized borrowing costs 
Adjustment related to straight-line recognition 

of rental revenue 
Right-of-use assets 

Presented in Oel 
Deferred tax asset on net actuariaJ gains on pension 

liability 

1'200,002,363 
66,779,445 

1,812,946 
514,052 

85,577 
13,067 

269,207,450 

(258,925,373) 

(119,797,641) 
(160,802,325) 
(539,525,339) 
(270,317,889) 

378,000 
(1'269,939,889) 

The reconciliation of provlsion for income tax at the statutory tax rate to provision for income tax 
shown in the consolidated s tatements of comprehensive income follows: 

Tax at statutory rate 
Adjustments for: 

Income tax at 5% preferentiw 
rat. 

Nontaxable income 
Additional deductible expense 

from dividends 
Adjustment to current tax in 

2020 recognized in 2021 
Movements in deferred taxes 
Interest income subjected to 

final tax 

2011 
1'151,788,989 

(141~88S,155) 
(13,017,816) 

(273,995,568) 

(13,483,850) 
140,170,421 

(I,573,199) 
(1'151,996,178) 

2020 
1'593,319,985 

(283,413,371) 
(1 ,752,758) 

(185,604,025) 

(5,658,337) 
¥116.891,494 

2019 
P583,135,280 

(267,005,647) 

(6,740,748) 
P309,388,885 

On March 26, 2021 ! President Rodrigo Duterte signed into law the CREATE Act which eyes to 
attract more investments and maintain fiscal prudence and stability in the Philippines. Republic Act 
(RA) 11534 or the CREATE Act introduces refonn to the corporate income tax and incentives 
systems which took effect 15 days after its complete publication in the Official Gazette or in a 
newspaper of general circulation, on Aprilll , 2021 . 

IEB~llmllmllllll 
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As a result of the CREATE law, the regular corporate income tax (ReIT) rate decreased from 30% to 
25% effective July 1, 2020. As a result of the reduction in RCIT rate, the provision for current tax for 
the year ended December 31, 2020 decreased by P13.5 million and the creditable withholding tax as 
of December 31, 2020 increased by ¥ 13.5 million. For financial reporting purposes, these changes 
are recognized in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the period ended December 31, 
2021 in accordance with PIC Q&A 2020-07, Accounting for the Proposed Changes in Income Tax 
Rates under the CREATE Bill dated January 27, 2021. 

Effective August 12, 2021, as a REIT entity, the Parent Company is entitled to the following: (a) not 
subject to 2% minimum corporate income tax (MCIT), (b) exemption from value-added tax (VAT) 
and documentary stamp tax (DST) on the transfer of property in exchange of its shares, 
(c) deductibility of dividend distribution from its taxable income, and (d) fifty percent (50%) of the 
standard DST rate of the transfer of real property into the Company, including the sale or transfer of 
any and all security interest there to, provided they have complied with the requirements under RA 
No. 9856 and Implementing Rwes and Regulations (IR.R) ofRA No. 9856. 

20. Leases 

Group as lessee 
The Parent Company has lease contracts for land as of January 1, 2019. The Parent Company's 
obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor's title to the leased assets. The Parent Company 
has entered into land lease arrangements with lease tenus of between 25 and 40 years. There are 
several leases that include extension option to lease the assets for additional 25 years based on mutual 
agreement of the parties. The remaining lease tenn of the ROD assets range from 16 to 39 years. 

The Parent Company's lease contract with Cebu Government pertaining to the BTO rights are 
presented under Intangible assets while the lease contracts with a third party and FLI are presented 
under Investment properties. 

On July 1, 2020, the Parent Company and FLI amended their existing lease contract. The pertinent 
amendment provisions include the extension of the tenn of the lease to another 25 years and to set a 
minimum fixed rental rate. This resulted to an addition to ROU assets and lease liabilities amounting 
112,149.3 million at contract amendment date (see Note 9). 

On March I, 2021, the Parent Company and FLI amended their existing lease contract. The pertinent 
amended provisions include removal of the requirement to pay minimum lease and that rental rates 
shall be solely variable (i.e., 10% or 15% of gross lease income depending on the floor to area ratio). 
In case of redevelopment, FLI and the Parent Company shall mutually agree on the minimum 
monthly rent during construction period (see Note 17). 

On March 31, 2021, the Parent Company entered into an agreement with FLI assigning its right to 
manage and operate the Towers 3 and 4 ofFilinvest Cebu Cyberzone Towers under the BTO 
Agreement and Agreement for Transfer and Conveyance. 

The above transactions resulted to derecognition of right of use assets and lease liabilities amOlUlting 
to 111,979.0 million and 112,168.2 million, respectively, and recognition of gain on derecognition of 
lease liabilities amounting P189.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. 
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As of December 31, 2020, the Group derecognized a portion of lease liability and right of use asset 
with a carrying value ofP'267.5 million and 11261.7 million, respectively, attributable to property 
dividends declared (see Note 9). 

The rollforward analysis of right-of-use assets on land follows: 

2021 
Investment Intangible 
Properties Assets 

(Note 92 (Note 22 Total 
Cost 
At January 1 111,946,930.753 11112,423,917 Jl2,059,354,670 
DerecoJ.!,tlition {1!94~930!753} {90~47~79} (2!037,2781132) 
As at December 31 22107~538 22107!!:z538 
Accumulated Depreciation 
At January 1 39,188,512 8,993,914 48,182,426 
Depreciation 

2020 
Investment Intangible 
Properties "',," (Note 9) {Noten Torn! 

""<I At January 1 1162,159,358 11112,423,917 11'174,583,275 
Additions 2,149,262,141 2,149,262,141 
Derecognitioll {2641490!74~ (2641490!74§) 
As at December 31 1,946,930,753 112,423,917 2,059,354,670 

Accumulated Depreciation 
At January 1 3,551,963 4,496,957 8,048,920 
Depreciation 4,496,957 43,530,462 

, , , 
Net Book Value 111,907,742,241 11103,430,003 P'l

j
Ol1,172,244 

The following are the amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income: 

2021 2020 2019 
Depreciation expense ofright~of-use 

",,"" PI2,772,233 P43,530,462 ¥8,048,920 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 20,275,856 72,540,219 23,186,843 
Rental expense (variable land lease 

:Qayments} 271z083z960 297,968,918 305,153,634 
PJ04z132z049 P414:039,599 P336,389,397 

Interest expense which was capitalized during the year relating to lease liability amounted to 
PI. 1 million and P14.6 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. The capitalization rates used range 
from 4.7% to 5.19% in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

111~mllllllll~UJIUIIIIIIIIIII 
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The rollforward analysis of lease liabilities follows: 

At January 1 
Additions 
Interest expense 
Payments 
Derecognition 
At December 31 
Less current portion 
Lease liabilities - net of current portion 

2021 
P2,190,115,165 

20,275,856 
(14,397,140) 

(2,168,155,699) 
27,838,182 

1,848,085 
1'25,990,097 

2020 
1'283,428,528 
2,149,262,141 

72,540,219 
(47,613,247) 

(267,502,476) 
2,190,115,165 

92,617,060 
1'2,097 ,498,105 

The Group also has certain lease of land with variable rental payments and lease of office space 
considered as "low-value assets". The Group applies the lease of 'low-value assets' recognition 
exemptions for these leases. 

Total cash outflow related to principal payments of lease liabilities for the years ended December 31, 
2021,2020 and 2019 amounted to 1"15.6 million, 147.6 million, and¥17.3 million, respectively. 

Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted lease payments: 

Maturity 
1 year 
more than 1 years to 2 years 
more than 2 years to 3 years 
more than 3 years to 4 years 
more than 5 years 

Group as lessor 

2021 
1'1,894,287 

1,989,001 
2,088,451 
2,192,874 

63,198,521 

2020 
1'92,617,061 

97,457,093 
102,553,769 
107,920,946 

5,332,476,996 

As lessor, future minimum rental receivables under renewable operating leases follows: 

Within one year 
After one year but not more than five years 
After five years 

2021 
P2,373,747,721 

5,940,841,604 
1,261,526,105 

P9,576,115,430 

2020 
1'2,831,168,803 

8,429,851,003 
5,568,619,525 

1'16,829,639,331 

The Group entered into lease agreements with third parties and related parties covering real estate 
properties. These leases generally provide for either (a) fixed monthly rent (b) minimum rent or a 
certain percentage of gross revenue, whichever is higher. Most lease terms on commercial malls are 
renewable within one year, except for anchor tenants with lease ranging from 5 to 15 years (see 
Note 17), 

Rental income recognized based on a percentage of the gross revenue of mall tenants included in 
"Rental revenue" account in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income amounted to 
PIO.9 million, 1115.0 million and 1128.5 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
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21. Other Income 

This account consists of: 

Tenant dues (Notes 7 and 9) 
Service fee income (Note 17) 
Commission income (Note 17) 
Miscellaneous 

- 53 -

2021 
11869,351,782 

31,381,132 

21,989,755 
1'922,722,669 

2020 
(As restated, 

see Note 2) 
1'999,318,508 

8,990,356 
23,166,200 
17,107,378 

1'1,048,582,442 

Miscellaneous income pertains to penalties and charges from tenants. 

22. Interest Income 

This account consists of: 

Interest income on: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
(Notes 4 and 17) 
Others (Note 5) 

2021 

1'6,347,170 
3,639,226 

1'9,986,396 

2020 

1'3,908,966 

1'3,908,966 

2019 
(As restated, 

see Note 2) 
1'892,342,386 

8,742,636 
6,440,293 

17,023,008 
1'924,548,323 

2019 

1'8,435,362 
2,032,802 

1'10,468,164 

Others consist mainly of interest and penalties on late rental payment of tenants. 

23. Earnings Per Share 

The Parent Company's earnings per share for the years ended December 31 are computed as follows: 

a. Net income 
b. Weighted average number of 

outstanding common shares 
BasiclDiluted EPS (alb) 

2021 
1'1,855,134,403 

3,514,911,602 
1'0.53 

2020 
1'1,860,841,789 

2,326,853,336 
PO.80 

2019 
1'1,634,395,382 

2,326,853,336 
1'0.70 

The Group assessed that there were no potential dilutive common shares in 2021, 2020 and 2019. 

The weighted average outstanding common shares consider the effect of the stock split approved by 
the Parent Company's BOD and stockholder on March 5, 2021 (see Note 16). The EPS for the years 
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was also adjusted to consider this stock split. 
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24. Segment Reporting 

The Group has determined that it is operating as one operating segment. Based on management's 
assessment, no part or component of the business of the Group meets the qualifications of an 
operating segment as defined by PFRS 8, Operating Segments. 

The Group's leasing operations is its only income generating activity and such is the measure used by 
the chief operating decision maker (CODM) in allocating resources. The Group does not report its 
resuhs based on geographical segments. The Group has no significant customer which contributes 
10% of more to the revenues of the Group. 

25. Fair Value Measurement 

The following table sets forth the fair value hierarcby of the Group's financial assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value and those for which fair values are required to be disclosed: 

Liabilities for whicb fair values are disclosed 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 

Bonds payable 
Security and other deposits 
Lease liabitities 

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 

Loans payable 
Bonds payable 
Secmity and other deposits 
Lease liabilities 

2021 

Carrying value 

PS,987,044,949 
750,990,427 

27,83!1,182 
'6,765,873,5Sl1 

2020 

Carrying value 

1'2,344,166,667 
5,974,168,846 

849,074,060 
2,190,11 5,165 

Fair Value 
Significant 

unobservable 
inputs {Level 3) 

'5,699,255,351 
716.647,728 
25,6~2,831 

P6,451,5~5,910 

Fair Value 
Significant 

Wlobscrvable 
inputs (Level 3) 

1'2,243,880,721 
5,686,998,186 

82 1,552,066 
2,083,161,648 

Pl1,357,524,738 '10,835,592,621 

Due to the short-tenn nature of the transactions, the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables and current portion of acCOlUlts payable and accrued expenses approximate the fair market 
values. 

The fair value of noncurrent deposits is estimated using the discounted cash flow methodology based 
on the discounted value of future cash flows usiug the applicable risk-free rates for similar types of 
asset. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the difference between the fair value and carrying value of 
deposits is not significant. 

IIIUIIIIIMIIIIII 
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The methods and assumptions used by the Group in estimating the fair value of the financial 
instruments are: 

• Security and other deposits. The discount rates used ranges from 2.4% to 4.3% as of December 
31, 2021 and 2020. Fair value is computed based on the expected future cash outflows. 

• Loans payable, lease liabilities and bonds payable. Liabilities with fixed interest and not 
subjected to quarterly repricing is based on the discounted value of future cash flows using the 
applicable interest rates for similar types ofloans as of reporting date. The discount rates used 
range from 5.05% to 8.35% and 4.01% to 5.58% as of December 31,2021 and December 31, 
2020 respectively. 

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, there were no transfers between 
Levelland Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value 
measurements. 

26. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

The Group's financial instruments comprise of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, long-term 
debt, accounts payable and accrued expenses, lease liabilities and security and other deposits. The 
main purpose of the long-term debt is to finance the Group's operations while all other financial 
instruments resulted from the conduct ofbusiness. 

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Group's risk management policies are summarized below: 

a. Interest rate risk 
The Group's exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group's 
loans payable. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, 
with all other variables held constant, of the Group's income before income tax. 

December 31,2021 

December 31, 2020 

Increase 
(decrease) 

in basis points 
+100 
-100 
+100 
-100 

Effect on income 
before income 
tax/capimlized 

borrowing costs 

(1'23.4 million) 
23.4 million 

There is no impact on the Group's equity other than those already affecting the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income. 

b. Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument 
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its 

FLI00502
Text Box



- 56 -

operating activities, primarily foe its trade receivables, and from its financing activities, including 
deposits with banks and financial institutions, and other financial instruments. 

Credit risk arising from rental income from leasing properties is primarily managed waugh a 
tenant selection process. Prospective tenants are evaluated on the basis of payment track record 
and other credit information. In accordance with the provisions of the lease contracts, the lessees 
are required to deposit with the Group security deposits and advance rentals which helps reduce 
the Group's credit risk exposure in case of defaults by the tenants. For existing tenants, the 
Group has put in place a monitoring and follow-up system. Receivables are aged and analyzed 
on a continuous basis to minimize credit risk associated with these receivables. 

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group which comprise 
cash and cash equivalents, the Group's exposure to credit risk relates to default of the 
counterparty with a maximum exposure equal to the canying amount of the instnunents. 

An impainnent analysis is perfolTIled at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure 
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based groupings of various customer segments 
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by market segment and collateral type). The calculation reflects 
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable 
infonnation that is available at the reporting date about past events, cunent conditions and 
forecasts of future economic conditions. 

The credit risk exposure on the Group's lease receivables using a provision matrix results to 
P7.7 million expected credit loss for the year ended December 31,2021. The expected credit loss 
rate bas been set at 7.2% to 62.37% based on the historical collection pattern of the tenants. The 
loss given default rate is set at 9.1 % to 79.96% in the calculation ofimpainnent on the 
receivables net of security deposit and advance rent as these can be used to offset unpaid 
receivables. 

In most cases, recoveries are higher than the amount of receivable at defaull As of December 31, 
2021 and December 31,2020, most of the Group's trade receivables are covered by security 
deposits and advances rentals. As of December 31, 2021, and 2020, the Group's allowance for 
EeL on its trade receivables amounted to 117.7 million and ·PO.3 million, respectively (see 
Note 5). 

With respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, the Group's exposure to credit 
risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 
amount of these instruments. 

The table below sbows the Group's credit quality as of December 31,2021 and 2020: 

Cash andtll8h 
equlva]to(s" 

ReceiVllbles 
OeposUs 

2021 
Neither Past D.e aor Impaired 

Staadud 
High Grade Grade 

¥2,586,852,631 

638,129,010 
53,497,322 

113,278,478,963 

l'-

l'-
t£Yc.ludu CQsh Oil hand OllWll/lting to P343.000. 

Past Due but 
not Impaired 

l'-
116,866.,623 

PII6.866.623 

Past Due 
.. ad "npaired Total 

Il- P2,586,852,631 
7,702;1.72 762,697,905 

53,497,322 
117,702,272 113,403,047,858 
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Receivables 
Deposits 
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2020 
Neither Past Due nor Impaired 

Standard 
High Grade Grade 

P870,424,532 
685,656,893 
40,903,155 

Pl,596,984,580 
·Ercludes cash on hand amoun.ting to fl93,OOO. 

Past Due but 
not Impaired 

"-
144,487,561 

P144,487,561 

Past Due 
and hnpaired 

"-
285,258 

P285,258 

Tom! 

11870,424,532 
830,429,712 
40,903,155 

PI,741,757,399 

The Group's bigbMgrade receivables and deposits pertain to receivables and deposits from related 
parties and third parties which, based on experience, are highly collectible or collectible on 
demand, and of which exposure to expected credit loss is not significant. 

The analysis of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired follow: 

Past Due but not Impaired 

December 31, 2021 
December 31, 2020 

< 30 days 

1l20,567,738 
55,829,258 

30-60 days 61-90 days 91-120 days 

115,475,049 P6,841,129 P25,326.229 
1l,488,079 12,931,946 6,343,156 

>120 days Total 

1158,656,478 PI16,866,623 
57,895,122 144,487,561 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with the financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial 
asset. The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and 
flexibility through the use of bank loans. The Group's practice is that float will be kept at a 
miUlmum. 

The tables below summarize the maturity proftle of the Group's financial assets held to manage 
liquidity: 

2021 
Within >1-3 >3-5 0", 

Ondemaud 1 :rear :tears Years 5 :tears Total 
Casb and c~lIb equivalenu 1151S,n2,841 1I'2,071,4n,790 I'- I'- 11'- 112,587,195,631 
Receivables n7,583,529 35,114,376 762,697,1){l5 
Del!osits 531947,321 531947t121 

111,243,306,370112,106,587,166 I'- I'- 11531947,321 113,403,840,857 

2020 
Within >1 3 >3-5 Over 

On demand 1 :tea! :tears Years 5 :tears ToW 
Cash and cash equivalents P602,644,513 11267,873,019 I'- I'- I'- P870,517,532 
Receivables 795,250,212 35,179,500 830,429,712 

Maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities is shown below (in thousands): 

2021 
Uptoa >1 3 >3 , Over 

On demand lear total Iean VeRn 5 Ican T,W 
Bonds payable 0- 0- 116,000,000 I'- 0- P6,OOO,OOO 
Lease liabilities 1,894 1,989 4,281 63,199 71,363 
Interest on bonds" 307,184 5,050 312,234 
Accounts payable and accmed 

expenses 1,117,636 1,117,636 
Securi!:t: and other deposits 981519 250!766 3121°75 661~60 

1'1.1171636 1'407,597 116,257,805 1'316,356 1163,199 118!162,593 
·fncludez folUr~ iniowl payable. 
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2020 
Uptoa >1 3 >3 j Over 

On demand year total xcars y,= 5" ::iears Tmal 

Loans payable i'- 1'744,167 P400,OOO P1,200,000 i'- 1'2,344,167 
Bonds payable 6,000,000 6,000,000 
Lease liabilities 92,617 232,749 401,374 \,463,375 2,190,115 
Interest on loans* 15,921 Il2,204 185,397 56,876 370,398 
Accounts payable and accrued 

expenses 1,583,712 1,583,712 
Sccuri!r and other deposits 116,415 259,242 473,417 849,074 

1'1,599,633 1'1,065,403 1:11,077,388 1'8,131,667 Pl,463,375 P13,337,466 

"J"clIldu fo"'re itrlert.'1 payable. 

27. Notes to Statements of Cash Flows 

Investing Activities 
The Group's noncash investing activities are as follows: 
• The Group recognized right-of-use assets presented under investment properties and lease 

liabilities amounting to f'2,149.3 million in 2020 (nil in 2021; see Notes 8 and 20). 
• Outstanding liabilities pertaining to investment properties purchased on account are recorded in 

the consolidated statements of financial position under "Accounts payable and accrued expenses" 
account, amounting to nil, P2.6 million andP91.5 million as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 
2019, respectively (see Note 11). 

• Outstanding liabilities pertaining to intangible assets acquired on account are recorded in the 
consolidated statements of financial position under "Accounts payable and accrued expenses" 
account amounting to P83.5 million as of December 31, 2020 (nil in 2021 and 2019). 

• Outstanding liabilities pertaining to unpaid additions to noncurrent asset held for distribution are 
recorded in the consolidated statements of financial position under "Accounts payable and 
accrued expenses" account, amounting to P22.2 million as of December 31, 2020 (nil as of 
December 31, 2021; see Note 6). 

• The Group derecognized right of use of assets under "Investment properties" as a result of the 
amendment oflease contract with FLI. The net book value of this right of use assets amounted to 
P'1 ,842.0 million as of December 31, 2021 (nil as of December 31, 2020; see Notes 9 and 20). 

• The Group derecognized Prepaid DCS connection charge under "Other noncurrent assets" as a 
result of the derecognition of related assets of property dividends amounting to P'132.4 million as 
of December 31, 2021 (nil as of December 31,2020; see Note 11). lbis was offset against "Due 
to related parties" under accounts payable and accrued expenses. 

Financing Activities 
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 
2020 follows (in thousands): 

Loans payable 
Bonds payable 
Lease liabilities 
Accrued interest 
Dividends payable 
Deposit for future stock 

subscription 

January 1, 
2021 

112,344,167 
5,974,169 
2,190,115 

113,037 
6,611,907 

1,889,583 
P19,122,978 

Availment/ 
Addition 

P-

2,786,409 

112,786,409 

Payments 
I'-

(15,564) 
(315,074) 

(1,095,982) 

(Pl,426,620) 

Noncash 
Movement 

(112,344,167) 
12,876 

(2,146,713) 
304,258 

(8,302,334) 

(1,889,583) 

(p14,365,663) 

December 31, 
2021 

P-
5,987,045 

27,838 
102,221 

P6,117,104 
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Loans payable 
Bonds payable 
Lease liabilities 
Accrued interest 
Dividends payable 
Deposit for future stock 

subscription 

January 1, 
2020 

14,218,371 
5,961,553 

283,428 
109,323 
348,340 

1110,921,015 

- 59 -

Availmentl 
Addition 

PI,OOO,ooO 

Pl,OOO,OOO 

Payments 

(pl,355,455) 

(47,613) 
(471.908) 
(348,340) 

(!2,223,316) 

Noncash December 31 , 
Movement 2020 
(1,518,749) P2,344,167 

12,616 5,974,169 
1,954,300 2,190,115 

475,622 113,037 
6,611,907 6,611,907 

1,889,583 1,889,583 
P9,425,279 P19,12b978 

Noncash movement includes amortization of debt issuance costs and interest expense for loans 
payable, bonds payable, and lease liabilities. 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the noncash movement also include derecognition of lease 
liabilities, distribution of property dividends payable, and assignment ofloans payable to FLI 
amounting P2,167.8 million and ¥8,302.3 million and 1"2,344.2 million, respectively (see Notes 13, 
16 and 20). 

28. Other Matters 

COVID-19 Pandemic 
The Group continues to abide by and comply with all rules and regulations issued by the government 
in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic. In line with applicable rules and regulations, the said risks 
are mitigated by business continuity strategies set in place by the Group. Measures currently 
undertaken by the Group to mitigate the risks of COVID-19 pandemic on its operations include work­
from-home arrangements depending on the quarantine protocols in place, proper and frequent 
sanitation of office premises, cancellation oflarge group meetings in person, an internal ban on 
foreign business travel, and the practice of social distancing through remote communication, among 
others. 

The general global slowdown and the imposition of community quarantine measures due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic had short- to medium-tenn effects on new Office Leasing activities. Prior to the 
pandemic, inquiries from potential tenants were about leasing entire floors of buildings but the 
demand was reduced to much smaller size cuts in 2020. Physical site inspections as required by all 
prospective tenants were halted due to the community quarantine restrictions. Contract signing and 
handover dates of new incoming tenants were adjusted to 2021. Construction rent free periods were 
given to accommodate fit out delays and social distancing guidelines on construction resulting from 
six to eight months delay in construction deliveries and construction manpower reduction by 50%. 
Non-renewal and pre-termination of contracts were also experienced in 2021 but this was 
counterweighed by the renewal of all lease expiries during the year at current market rates. 

Typhoon Odette 
Typhoon Odette did not hamper the operations ofFilinvest Cyberzone Cebu Tower 1 when it made 
landfall on December 16, 2021. The building remained operational on a 2417 basis despite the power 
intenuption in the area, utilizing backup generators until power was fully restored on January 6, 2022. 
Damage to property was not material and eligible to receive insurance claims. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
ON SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES 
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The Stockholders and the Board of Directors 
Filinvest REIT Corp. (formerly Cyberzone Properties Inc.) 
5th-7th Floors, Vector One Building 
Northgate Cybcrzonc, Filinvest City 
Alabang, Muntinlupa City 

We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing. consolidated fmancial statements 
of Filinvest REIT Corp. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) (the Parent Company) as at December 31 , 
2021 and 2020, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, included in this 
Form 17-A, and have issued our report thereon dated March 15, 2022. Our audits were made for the 
purpose of fonning an opinion on the basic consolidated finarn;ial statements taken as a whole. The 
schedules listed in the Index to the Supplementary Schedules are the r~ponsibility of the Parent 
Company·s management. These schedules are presented for purposes of complying with the Revised 
Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, and are not part of the basic consolidated financial statements. 
These schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
consolidated fmancial statements and, in our opinion, fairly state, in all material respects, the financial 
infonnation required to be set forth therein in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken 
as a whole. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Wanessa G. Salvador 
Partner 
CPA Certificate No. 011 8546 
Tax Identification No. 248~679-852 
BOAJPRC Reg. No. 0001, August 25, 2021, valid wltil April 15, 2024 
SEC Partner Accreditation No. 118546-SEC (Group A) 

Valid to cover audit of2019 to 2023 financial statements of SEC covered institutions 
SEC Finn Accreditation No. OOOI-SEC (Group A) 

Valid to cover audit of2021 to 2025 financial statements of SEC covered institutions 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-00\998-137-2020, January 31 , 2020, valid until January 30, 2023 
PTR No. 8854361 , January 3,2022, Makati City 

March 15, 2022 
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FlLINVEST REIT CORP. AND A SUBSIDIARY 
INDEX TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES 

Annex I: Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available fOT Dividend Declaration 

Annex II: Map Showing the Relationships Between and Among the Company and its Ultimate 
Parent Company, Middle Parent, Subsidiaries or Co-subsidiaries, Associates, Wherever 
Located or Registered 

Annex III: Supplementary Schedules Required by Revised SRC Rule 68 (Annex 68-J) 
• Schedule A. Financial Assets 
• Schedule B. Amounts-.,Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related 

Parties, and Principal Stockholders (Other than Related Parties) 
• Schedule C. Amounts Receivable from Related Parties which are Eliminated During 

the Consolidation of Financial Statements 

• Schedule D. Long-tenn Debt 
• Schedule E. Indebtedness to Related Parties 
• Schedule F. Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers 
• Schedule G. Capital Stock 
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FILlNVEST REIT CORP. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) 
AND A SUBSIDIARY 
UNAPPROPIATED RETAINED EARNINGS AVAILABLE FOR 
DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION 
December 31,2021 

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, January 1,2021 
Less: Deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2020 
Retained earnings as adjusted to amount available for dividend 

declaration, beginning 
Net income actually earned/realized during the period: 

Net income during the period closed to retained earnings 
Effect of adoption ofPFRS 16 
Less: Non actuaVunrealized income net of tax 

Equity in net income of associale/joint venture 
Unrealized foreign exchange gain-net (except those 

attributable to Cash and Cash equivalents) 
Fair value adjustment (M2M gains) 
Fair value adjustment of investment property resulting to 

gam 
Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP-gam 
Other unrealized gains or adjustments to the retained 

earnings as a result of certain transactions accounted for 
under the PFRS 

Deferred tax asset tbat reduced the amount of income tax 
expense 

Add: Non-actual losses 
Depreciation on revaluation increment (after tax) 
Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP-Ioss 
Loss on fair value adjustment of investment property (after 

tax) 
Net income actuaUy earned during the period 
Add (less): 

Movement in deferred tax assets 
Dividend declarations during the period 
Transfer ofremeasurement gain on retirement plan 
Appropriations of retained earnings during the period 

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, as adjusted 
December 31,2021 

1,855,134,403 

Pl.950,125,348 
(269,207,450) 

P 1,680,917 ,898 

1'3,536,052,301 

269,207,450 
(2,786,409,060) 

28,845 

PI,018,879,536 
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Group Structure 
Below is a map showing the rclatiooship between the Group and its parent company, ultimate parent company and affiliates as ofDeccmbcr 31 , 2021. 

--

,j~ 1 

1~£1 
1~1 
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FILINVEST REIT CORP. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) 
AND A SUBSIDIARY 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION AND DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY 
REVISED SRC RULE 68 (ANNEX 68-J) 
DECEMBER 31, 2021 

Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued the amended Securities Regulation Code 
Rule SRC Rule 68 and 68.1 which consolidates the two separate rules and labeled in the amendment as 
"Part I" and "Part Ir', respectively. It also prescribes the additional infonnation and schedule 
requirements for issuers of securities to the public. 

Below are the additional infonnation and schedules required by SRC Rule 68 and 68.1 as amended that 
are relevant to Filinvest REIT Corp. and its subsidiary (collectively, "the Group"). This infonnation is 
presented for purposes of filing with the SEC and is not required part of the basic fmandal statements. 

Schedule A. Financial Assets 

The entity's Financial Assets comprises of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and deposit. As stated 
in the regulation, before mentioned amolUlt should be provided if the aggregate cost or the market value 
ofFVTPL as of the end of the reporting period is 5% or more of the total current asset. As of 
December 31, 2021 the entity recorded the fmancial assets as financial assets at amortized cost, therefore 
it is deemed assumed that this schedule is not applicable to the Group. 

Schedule B. Amounts Receivable from Directors. Officers. Employees. Related Parties and Principal 
Stockholders ({)ther than Related parties) 

As of December 31, 2021, the amount of receivable from officers and employees excluding those 
advances arising from the nonnal course of business does not meet the minimum required balance as 
stated in the Revised SRC Rule to be presented in the report. This schedule is not applicable to the 
Group. 

Schedule C. Amounts Receivable from Related Parties. which are eliminated during the consolidation of 
fmancial statements 

On December 23, 2020, Cyberzone Properties Inc. sold its share in ProOffice Works to Filinvest Land, 
which resulted for Cyberzone Properties Inc. to lose its control over ProOffice. Therefore, this schedule is 
not applicable to the entity as of December 31, 2021. 
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Schedule D. Long tean debt 
Below is the schedule oflong-term debt of the Group (amounts in thousands). Each loan balance is 
presented net of unamortized deferred costs. 

AmOWlt 

Title of Issue and type of obligation 
(i) 

Amount 
authorized by 

indenture 

shown under 
caption 

"Current 
portion of 
long-tenn 
debt" in 
relatecl 

Amount 
shown under 

caption 
"Long-Tern) 

Debt" in 
related 

balance sheet 
(iii) 

Bonds 

Fixed rate bonds with principal amount of 116.00 billion and 
term of 5.5 years from the issue date was ism.:d by the Group 
on July 7, 2017 to mature on January 2023 with fixed interest 
mte is 5.05% per annum. 

balance sheet 
(ii) 

1'5,987,045 P- 1'5,987,045 

The agreement covering the abovementioned bonds require maintaining certain fmancial ratios of 
maximum debt-to-equity ratio of2.33x and minimum debt service coverage ratio of I.lx. The 
agreements also provide for restrictions and requirements with respect to, among others, making 
distribution on its share capital; purchase, redemption or acquisition of any share of stock; sale or trnnsfcr 
and disposal of all or a substantial part of its capital assets; restrictions on use of funds; and entering into 
any partnership, merger, consolidation or reorganization. 

Schedule E.lndehteduess to Related Parties 

This is not applicable since the Group has no outstanding indebtedness to its related parties as of 
December 31, 2021. 

Schedule F. Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers 

This is not applicable to the Group since it does not have a guarantee of securities of other issuers as of 
December 31, 2021. 

Schedule G. Capital Stock 

Title of issue 
Common Shares 

Number of 
sbares 

authorized 
14,263,698,000 

Number of 
shares issued 

and outstanding 
as shown under 
related balance 

sheet caption 
4,892,m,994 

Number of 
shares reserved 

for options, 
w",""", 

conversion and 
other rights 

Number of 
shares held by 
related parties 
3,095,498.]45 

Directors, 
Officers and 

Employees 
7 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON 
COMPONENTS OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS 

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors 
Filinvest REIT Corp. (formerly Cyberzone Properties Inc.) 
5th-7th Floors, Vector One Building 
Nortbgate Cyberzone. Filinvest City 
Alabang, Muntinlupa City 

We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing. the consolidated financial 
statements ofFilinvest RElT Corp. (fonnerly Cyberzone Properties Inc.) (the Parent Company) as at 
December 31 , 2021 and 2020, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and 
have issued our report thereon dated March 15, 2022. Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an 
opinion on the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The SuppJementaJy Schedule on 
Financial Soundness Indicators, including their definitions. formulas. calculation, and their 
appropriateness or usefulness to the intended users, are the responsibility of the Parent Company's 
management. These financial soundness indicators are not measures of opemting performance defined by 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs), and may not be comparable to similarly titled 
measures presented by other companies. This schedule is presented for the purpose of complying with 
the Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 68 issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission and 
is not a required part of the basic consolidated fmancial statements prepared in accordance with PFRSs. 
The components of these financial soundness indicators have been traced to the Group's consolidated 
fmandaI statements as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2021, and no material exceptions were noted. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Wanessa G. Salvador 
Partn ... 
CPA Certificate No. 0118546 
Tax Identification No. 248-679w852 
BOAIPRC Reg. No. 0001 , August 25, 2021, valid lUltil April 15, 2024 
SEC Partner Accreditation No. 118546-SEC (Group A) 

Valid to cover audit of2019 to 2023 financial statements of SEC covered institutions 
SEC Finn Accreditation No. OOOI-SEC (Group A) 

Valid to cover audit 0[2021 to 2025 financial statements of SEC covered institutiOn<:! 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-137-2020, January 31, 2020, valid until January 30, 2023 
PTR No. 8854361, January 3, 2022, Makati City 

March 15,2022 
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FILINVEST REIT CORP. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) 
AND A SUBSIDIARY 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE ON FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS 

Below are the financial ratios that are relevant to the Group: 

Financial Ratios 2021 2020 2019 

Current mtio Current assets 
Current liabilities 2.58 1.06 0.59 

Acid test ratio Current assets ~ Inventories 2.58 1.06 0.59 

Current liabilities 

Solvency ratio Net income + De(!reciation 0.29 0.11 0.16 

Total liabilities 

Debt to equity ratio Loans palable -I: BO.-ods ;ayable+ 
ease habtlitle 1.01 2.06 1.31 

Total Equity 

Asset to equity ratio Total asset 2.34 4.94 2.79 

Total Equity 

Interest coverage ratio Income before income tax (lBIT) + 
interest and other financing charges 6.01 6.63 9.43 

Interest and other fmancing charges 

Return on equity Net income 0.31 0.36 0.21 

Total Equity 

Return on assets Net income 0.13 0.Q7 0.Q7 

Total assets 

Net profit margin Net income 0.54 0.60 0.56 

Revenues and income 

Debt ratio Total liabilities 0.57 0.80 0.64 

Total assets 

Income before income tax, interest 
and other financing charges, 
depreciation and amortization 
(IBITDA) to total interest paid mITDA 7.84 5.97 5.41 

Total interest paid 

Debt to Assets Ratio Bonds Payable + Loans Payable 0.43 0.33 0.46 

T ota! Assets 

Debt Service Coverage Ratio Net Ooerating Income 7.24 1.50 1.42 

Total loans and interest payments 
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COVER SHEET 
for 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEC Registration NUmber'~~~_r--'----r---; 

IAI21 0 I 0 I 0 I-I 0 101615121 
COMPANY NAME 

IFIIILIIINlvlElslTllRIElllTllelolRlplllllllllll1 
I ( I flo I r I ml e I r I + I I ely I b I e I r I z I 0 I n I e I I p I rio I pie I <It I i I e I s I 
Illolel·I)1 IAINIDI IslulBISIIIDIIjAIRlyl I I I I I I I I I I 
PRINCIPAL OFFICE (No.1 street! Barangey ICity frown/province) 

5 
I 

I 

u 

t h 1-17 t h IF I I 0 0 r s vi e I e t 0 r lolole B u i I 
d i 101 g Nlo rlt h g a tie lely b e r zlolole F i I 
i 01+ s t Ie i I t y AI I albia 0 g IMlulo t i 0 I I 
p al Ie i t yl I I I I I I I I 

Form Type Department requiring the report Secon<lary License Type, If Applicable 

IsjElel I 1N[tIAII 
COMPANY INFORMATION 

Company's Email Address Company's Telephone Number Mobile Number 

N/A I I 8846-0278 I I N/A 

No. of Stockholders Annual Meeting (Month I Day) Fiscal Year (Month I Day) 

13,067 I I May 30 I I 12/31 

CONTACT PERSON INFORMATION 

The designated rontact person MUST be an Officer of the Corporation 

Name of Contact Person 

Ms. Venus A. Mejia 

Email Address 

venus.mejia@fIlinvestgro 
up.com 

CONTACT PERSON's ADDRESS 

Telephone Numberls Mobile Number 

'---_88_4_6_-0_2_78----'1 LI __ N_/A_----' 

5th-7th Floors Vector One Building, Northgate Cyherzone, Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa City 

NOTE f: In case of death, resigna/ron or cessation of offlCfl of the officer ci9SJgnatfid as GOIltact person, such incklent shall be reported to the Coml1llSSlOO within 
thirly (30) calendar days from /he occurrence thereof with informalion and campl9le contact details of the new contad person designated 

2: All Boxes must be prop8Fly and completely fil/ed-up. Failure to de so shaH cause the d9lay in updating the corporation's records with the Commission 
a/Jdfor non-r9G8ipt of Notice of Deficiencies. Further, non-receipt of Notice of DfliK:if1t1Gi8s shall not excuse the GOIpOfBoon from liability for its deficiancies. 
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CERTIFICATE OF ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

EMBASSY OF THE PHILIPPINES ) 
Consular Section ) S.S. 
Singapore ) 

BEFORE ME J!ENEE GAYLE M~CJfY~Ll!!C!."-O~!;l!! 01 the Republic 01 the Philippines 

in and lor Singapore, duly rommissionedand qualified, peFSOrlallyappeared 

LOURDES JOSEPHINE GOTlANUN YAP PASSPORT P6n2593B 

known to me and to me known as the same person(s) who executed the annexed 

instrument 

STAT'EMENT OF 'MANAGEMENT'S -RESPONStBIUrY-FOR CONSOLiDATED-FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

and acknowledged before me that the same was done as a free act and voluntary deed. 

niis instrument, consisting 01 3 pages, including this page on which 

this acknowledgment is written. has been signed on the left margin of each and every 

page thereolby1he .same person(s) andwnnesses. 

Tile Embassy assumes no Iesponsibilityover the contents of the annexed 

document. 

WITNESS MY HAND AND SEAL at the Embassy of the Philippines in 

Singapore this day of 

Doc. No. : 3240 
Book-No. : j 
Series of : 2022 
-OR-No. : GRATJS 
Fee Paid : GRATIS 

18 March 2022 

RE E GAYLE M. CHUA 
"",Consul 
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,NVEST 
.:I ·F 

Rlinvest REO' Cofp, 
5" '0 rm ROOf Vector One Bldg. Northgale Cyberzone. 

FilinYest City. Alabang, 'h1ootinJupa 
Tel No. (632) 11-84&<)278 

WYNI ,ftlinvestreit.com 

STATEMENTQFMANA~EMENT'SREm>ONSIBILI1'Y' 
FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The management of Filinvest RErr Corp. is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements including the schedules attached therein, for tl,e years cnded December 
31, 2021 , 2020 and 2019 lind as of December 3], 2021 and 2020, in accordance with the prescribed 
finam<ial reporting framework incliaated thel'ein, and for such .intcmal .contml as ulIutl'lge&nent -determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financia1 statements that are free from material 
.misstatement, -whether -due to fraud or -error and makiug 1tCoounti-ng estima~ that ere 1'e8SOnabie -in ihe 
circumstances. 

In prepruing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company"s ab1fity to continue as a going concern, disclosing. 88 applieable matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to Jiquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic: alternative but do so. 

The Board of Director is responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the consolidated financial statements and submits the same 
to the stockholders or members ·before such statements are -issaed -to -th~ J~gulJlQJli, ~tors -and other 
users. 

Sycip. Gorres. Velayo & Co., the independent auditor appointed by the stockholders. has aud ited the 
consolidated financial statements of FRC In accordance with the Philippine Sbrndards on Auditing and 
has expressed its opinion on the fairnoss of presentation upon completion of such audit in its report to the 
stockholders or members. 

Lourdes Josephine Godanun Yap 
Chainnan of tho Board 

O FFICES BYFltl NVEST 
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FILINVES I 
·F 

FrltO"';rSl REIT Corp 
5~ 10 7th F1O<Jf VectOf One Bldg liorthgate o,.berzooe 

Fitiovest 0'" Alabang "untinJupa 
Tal. No. {632} s.a ['·0278 

1W.0000estfeil rom 

STAT[ME~TOf ~IA~"'G£MENT'~ RESPO"iSIBILITY 
FOR PAR£'iTCOMPANl' fl'ANCL~L STATEME"fS 

Ibc manltg~t:J1t of FiJinvest REIT ('orp. js resptlnsible for the preparation aM fiUr pre ~nmtion of thi: 
parent t'illatlCW st."lt.e-ments including the schedutes attached. tlterein. for the y~31 s emje-d :.emher J t, 
2021,2020 and 20.19 and as of Uecenwer 3-1. 2021 and 2020. in ~'O.rdance with the ~s.kd fill; I\.--tal 
reporting n-.I'!et'tork" indi.cated ,herem., and for 5uch intenal control as marm~ement deterunne~ IS 
necessar. to emdlle the preparation of fiolnCiaS statements that are fr-ee fron malw.u nli~.-"ta!emt:nt, 
whether due to fi"aud or error and making accoummg estimates tn"il art: re~ o;onablc III lhe ClfClUustances. 

Tn preparing the financial slalemem:s. mlillagem~nt is responsible for asS{ ;gog the Carr ~m\"s U:Jilit) to 
continue do .. a gomg concern. disclosing. a~ ,lpplicable matters relared to ~Ottlg concern Ifid Uiio\lg the 
gomg conocrn basis of accounting. lU11ess ma1la)..!,t'mcot elfftL"1" uuends to liquidate the ('all \} or to <..c;'!<,c 
oper ~u(ln:.. or has no realblic Jitemative but do so. 

The BO.lrd of Director is responsible for overseeing Ihe Company's financial reporting pro("e.5S. 

~e Board of Directors reviews and approves the parent financial statements md nbmih the Sfi'nle to the 
stockholders or mel ~hP.r:S before such statements. are lssued to the l1"" ~ulators, cn.-di1ors and owc- USt-r'S. 

&yctp. GOJT~ Vel m &: ('0., the independent auditor appoiotetl ~' tbe stockholm b.~ audlred Ihe 
financial statements of fRC III &;:;:;:ardancc ..... lfh the PIuHppint Stalld.uJs on AudftU Ilnd ha txr(C'-.~d 
its opiniou un the jhlrucs~ of pr<.~tatiou Upotl completion of such 8tKht to it!. refXlll lo the $I ~kn()ldets 
ormembel'!:i. 

Lourdf"i Josepbioe Gorwnun-Vap 
Chainnt ofthe Boord 

\1i:ui(c,," Brion Lino 
PresidentlCEO 

SUBSCRJIlFD AND SWOR1>; to before me 01*_ }'P <1M. "fo'l 
SSS ID ld Passport as follows., 

__ affiants C"<hibits to me their 

L. Jo.<:.ephinc: G. Yap 
Marice! Unon Lirio 
A.nl Venus A. Mt.jia 

~No. 

-age No. 
>k NQ. 

St '" of202L 

SSS ID No. 
03-46<>17474 
04-07020162 

E079(>043 

r 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors 

Tet (632) 8891 0307 
Fax: (632) 8819 0372 
ey.com/ptl 

Filinvest REIT Corp. (formerly Cyberzone Properties Inc.) 
5th~7th Floors, Vector One Building 
Northgate Cyberzone, Filinvest City 
Alabang, Muntinlupa City 

Report 00 the Audit of the Parent Company Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying parent company financial statements ofFilinvest REIT Corp. 
(formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) (the Company) which comprise the parent company statements of 
financial position as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the parent company statements of 
comprehensive income, parent company statements of changes in equity and parent company statements 
of cash flows for the years ended, and notes to the parent company fmandaI statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying parent company financial statements present fairly . in all material 
respects, the fmanciai position of the Company as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years ended in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Parent Company Financial Statements: section of our report. We are independent of the Company 
in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the parent company fmancial 
statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Parent Company 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation oCthe parent company financial 
statements in accordance with PFRSs. and for such internal control as management detennines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of parent company financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

IIIIIIII.IIMIII. 
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In preparing the parent company financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of acCOWlting, unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's fmaI;lcial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsihilities for the Audit of the Parent Company Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the parent company financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exisw. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these parent company financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the parent company financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. 
Ifwe conclude that a material uncertainty exisw, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 
report to the related disclosures in the parent company financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modifY our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the parent company financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the parent company financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

1IIIIIIIDUlllllllllllllllllllllmlll!11 
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in intemaJ 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

Report on the Supplementary Infonnation Required Under Revenue Regulations 15-2010 

The supplementary information required under Revenue Regulation 15-2010 for purposes of filing with 
the Bureau of Internal Revenue is presented by the management of the Filinvest REIT Corp. 
(fonnerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) in a separate schedule. Revenue Regulations 15-2010 requires the 
information to be presented in the notes to parent company fmancial statements. Such information is not 
a required part of the basic financial statements. The information is also not required by Revised 
Securities Regulation Code Rule 68. Our opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected by the 
presentation of the information in a separate schedule. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is 
WanessaG. Salvador. 

SYCIP GORRES VELA YO & CO. 

Wanessa G. Salvador 
Partner 
CPA Certificate No. 0118546 
Tax Identification No. 248-679-852 
BOAlPRC Reg. No. 0001, August 25, 2021, valid until April 15, 2024 
SEC Partner Accreditation No. 118546-SEC (Group A) 

Valid to cover audit of2019 to 2023 financial statements of SEC covered institutions 
SEC Finn Accreditation No. OOOI-SEC (Group A) 

Valid to cover audit of2021 to 2025 financial statements of SEC covered institutions 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-137-2020, January 31, 2020, valid until January 30, 2023 
PTR No. 8854361, January 3, 2022, Makati City 

March 15, 2022 

A member firm of EmsI I< Y"""lI Global Umltod 
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FILINVEST KElT CORP. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) 
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

December 31 
2021 2020 

ASSETS 

Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 4 and 17) 
Receivables (Note 5) 
Other current assets (Note 11) 

Noncurrent assets held for distribution (Notes 6 and 16) 
Total Current Assets 

Noncurrent Assets 
Advances to contractors (Note 8) 
Investment properties (NoleS 6, 9 and 20) 
Property and equipment (Note 10) 
Intangible assets (Notes 6. , and 20) 
Other noncurrent assets (Note II) 

Total Noncurrent Assets 

Total Assets 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

Curreat Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (NOIe 12) 
Cum:nt portion of 

Lease liabilities (Note 20) 
Security and other deposits (Note 15) 
Loans payable (Notes 13, 25 and 26) 

Dividends payable (Note 16) 
Total Current Liabilities 

Noncurrent Liabilities 
Bonds payable (Notes 14, 25 and 26) 
Lease liabilities· net of current portion (Note 20) 
Security and other deposits· net of current portion (Note 15) 
Loans payable - net of cunent portion (Notes 13, 25 and 26) 
Deferred tax liability - net (Note 19) 
Other noncurrent liabilities (Notes 15 and 18) 

Equity 

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 
Total Liabilities 

Capital stock (Note 16) 
Additional paid·in capital (Note 16) 
Deposit for future stock subscription (Notes 13 and 16) 
Retained earnings (Note 16) 
Remeasumnent gain Ooss) 00 retirement plan (Note 18) 

Total Equity 

Total Liabilities and Equity 

See accompanying Notes /0 Parenl Company Financial Stammenls. 

P2,587,195,631 
754,995,633 

64,054,931 
3,406,246,195 

3,406,246,195 

13,293,694 
9.16~31,034 

81,686,898 
1,054,470,180 

250,528,341 
10,565,910,147 

1113,972Z156,342 

Pl ,222,657,329 

1,848,085 
96,987,598 

1,321,493,012 

5,987,044,949 
25,990,097 

654,002,829 

6,667,037,875 
7,988,530,887 

2,446,388,997 
2,518,356,922 

1,018,879,536 

5,983,625,455 

1113,9721156,342 

P870,517,532 
830,144,454 

1,171.332,106 
2.871,994,092 
6,843,701,346 
9,715,695,438 

18,393,179 
11 ,629,804,872 

68,394,882 
3,408,827,424 

388,417,886 
15,513,838,243 

¥25,229,533,681 

P-1 ,583,711,747 

92,617,060 
116,414,891 
744,166,667 

6,611,906,765 
9,148,817,130 

5,974,168,846 
2,097,498,105 

732,659,169 
1,600,000,000 

269,939,889 
300,385,682 

10,974,651,691 
20,123,468,821 

1,163,426,668 
102,900,666 

1.889,583,333 
1,950,125,348 

28,845 
5,106,064,860 

¥25,229,533,681 
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FILINVEST REIT CORP. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) 
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

REVENUES 
Rental revenue (Notes 7, 9, 17 and 20) 

COSTS AND EXPENSES 
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 7, 9, 10, and 20) 
Utilities 
Rental expense (Notes 17 and 20) 
Manpower and senrice cost 
Repairs and maintenance 
Taxes and licenses 
Service and management fees (Note 17) 
Insurance 
Provision for expected credit loss (Note 5) 
Others 

OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) 
Gain on derecognition of lease liabilities 
Interest income (Notes 4, 5, 17 and 22) 
Interest and other fInancing charges 

(Notes 13, 14 and 20) 
Gain on sale of investment property (Notes 7 and 20) 
Other charges - net 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 

PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) 
INCOME TAX (Note 19) 

Current 
Deferred 

NET INCOME 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 
Remeasurement loss on retirement plan. net of tax (Note 19) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Share (Note 23) 

See acrompanying Notes to Parent Company Financial SlalemcrtJs. 

Years Ended December 31 
2020 

(As restated, 
2021 see Note 2) 

427,657,046 
277,795,323 
271,083,960 
235,494,750 
183,504,663 

95,353,896 
63,754,897 
15,915,467 

7,417,014 
10,433,134 

1,588,410,150 

189,183,041 
9,986,396 

(348,226,313) 

(1,411,852) 
(150,468,728) 

1,703,138,225 

117,651,935 
(269,648,113) 
(151,996,178) 

1,855,134,403 

486,065,150 
297,548,444 
297,968,918 
236,408,736 
132,787,546 
118,895,084 
42,644,409 

4,019,860 

9,034,919 
1,625,373,066 

5,842,526 
3,908,966 

(351,361,074) 
65,038,584 
(2,319,005) 

(278,890,003) 

1,977,733,283 

231,150,026 
(114,258,532) 
116,891,494 

1,860,841,789 

(1,055,090) 

Pl,855,134,403 PI ,859,786,699 

PO,53 1'0.80 
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Balances at January I , 2020 
Compreheru;iy~ income 

Net inc<me 

1,2&2,%2,329 

P-I,163,426,66S P-I02,900,666 

1,156,666,667 

(3,746,2so.000) 

1,855,134,4O.l 

For the Y~ar Ended December 31, 2020 
I'--- 1'6,300,000,000 P-401,190,324 

(6,300,000,000) 

I,SSS,134,403 

(1,690,426,ntl) 
(1,095,982,276) 
1,856,666,667 

P-I,083,935 P-7,968,601,593 
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FILINVEST REIT CORP. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) 
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Income before income tax 
Adjustments for: 

Depreciation and amortization (Notes 6, 7, 9, 10, and 20) 
Interest expense and other financing changes (Notes 13, 14 and 20) 
Gain on derecognition oflease liability (Note 20) 
Interest income (Note 4, 17 and 22) 
Gain on sale of investment properties (Note 9) 
Pension expense (Note 18) 

Operating income before changes in operating assets and liabilities 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 

Decrease (increase) in: 
Receivables 
Other current assets 

Increase (decrease) in: 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Other current liabilities 
Security and other deposits 
Other noncurrent liabilities 

Net cash generated from operations 
Interest received (Note 4) 
Income tax paid 
Net cash provided by operating activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Proceeds from sale and assignment of: 

Investment properties (Notes 6 and 9) 
Intangible assets (Notes 6 and 7) 
ProOffice Work Services, Inc. (Note 1) 

Additions to: 
Investment properties (Notes 6 and 9) 
Intangible assets (Notes 6 and 7) 
Property and equipment (Note 10) 

Decrease in: 
Advances to contractors 
Other noncurrent assets (Note 11) 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 

(FolWard) 

Years Ended December 31 
2021 2020 

111,703,138,225 

427,657,046 
348,226,313 

(189,183,041) 
(9,986,396) 

2,279,852,147 

75,148,821 
313,848,363 

(22,599,962) 

(98,083,633) 
(300,385,682) 

2,247,780,054 
9,986,396 

(117,680,780) 
2,140,085,670 

615,458,031 
971,793,929 

(413,237,259) 
(152,341,910) 

(30,219,374) 

5,099,485 
5,493,291 

1,002,046,193 

1'1,977,733,283 

486,065,150 
351,361,074 

(5,842,526) 
(3,908,966) 

(65,038,584) 
487,197 

2,740,856,628 

(54,648,565) 
(200,426,188) 

(191,226,805) 
(129,337,085) 

25,187,166 
97,504,469 

2,287,909,620 
3,908,966 

(231,583,519) 
2,060,235,067 

737,840,581 

17,162,936 

(1,158,021,511) 
(241,043,644) 

(16,760,634) 

97,551,319 
88,011,202 

(475,259,751) 
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CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Proceeds from availments of loans payable (Note 13) 
Payments of: 

Cash dividends (Note 16) 
Principal portion of lease liabilities (Note 20) 
Interest and transaction cost (Note 20) 
Loans payable (Notes 13 and 25) 

Net cash used in financing activities 

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF 
YEAR 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 
(Nole4) 

Sff tlCo:tJmpo1J)ling Nola to Panni Compaff)' Fl/IQ/lCial Stalemml.s. 

Years Ended December 31 
2021 2020 

I'-- Fl,OOO,OOO,OOO 

(1,095,982,270) (348,339,734) 
(14,397,140) (47,613,247) 

(315,074,354) (471,907,571) 
(1,355,454,545) 

(1,425,453,764) (1,223,315,097) 

1,716,678,099 361,660,219 

870,517,532 508,857,313 

Pl.587,195,631 1'870,5 17,532 
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FILINVEST REIT CORP. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) 
NOTES TO PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. Corporate Information 

Filinvest REIT Corp. (formerly Cyberzone Properties, Inc.) (the "Company" or "FILRT") was 
registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on January 14, 2000. 

On December 4, 2020, the Board of Directors (BOD) approved the amendments of the Parent 
Company's articles of incorporation to change the Parent Company's primary purpose to engage into 
engage in the business of a real estate investment trust, as provided under Republic Act No. 9856 
(the Real Estate Investment Trust Act of 2009), including the Revised Implementing Rules and 
Regulations of Republic Act (RA) No. 9856 (the "RBIT Act"), and other applicable laws, which 
business includes the following: (1) to own, invest in, purchase, acquire, hold, possess, lease, 
construct, develop, alter, improve, operate, manage, administer, sell, assign, convey, encumber, in 
whole or in part, or otherwise deal in and dispose of, income-generating real estate, within or outside 
the Philippines, in accordance with applicable laws and regulations; (2) to invest in, purchase, acquire 
own, hold, sell, assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge, exchange, or otherwise dispose of (a) real estate 
and other related assets; and (b) managed funds; (3) to receive, collect, and dispose of the rent, 
interest, and such other income rising from its property and investments; (4) to guaranty the 
obligations, debt, or loans of its subsidiaries or affiliates or any entity in which the corporation has 
lawful interest; and (5) to exercise, carry on or undertake such other powers, acts, activities and 
transactions as may be deemed necessary, convenient, or incidental to or implied from the purposes 
herein mentioned. 

The Parent Company was the holding company of Pro Office Works Services, Inc. (ProOffice). On 
March 18, 2019, ProOffice was incorporated to engage in the business of administration, maintenance 
and management of real estate developments and projects. ProOffice has started its commercial 
operations on August I, 2019. On December 23,2020, the Parent Company entered into a Deed of 
Assignment to sell its interest in ProOffice to Filinvest Land, Inc. (FLI) for a total consideration of 
PI7 .16 million. Accordingly, the Parent Company lost control over ProOffice. The transaction has no 
material impact to the parent company financial statements. 

The registered office address of the Parent Company is at 5th - 7th Floors, Vector One Building, 
Northgate Cyberzone, Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa City. 

The Company's parent company is FL!, a subsidiary ofFilinvest Development Corporation (PDC). 
Both FL! and FDC are publicly listed entities. A.L. Gotianun Inc. (ALG) is the Company's ultimate 
parent company. FLI, FDC and ALG were all incorporated in the Philippines. 

On June 25, 2021, the Board of Directors of the Parent Company, approved the following 
amendments to its Articles of Incorporation: (i) change of name of the Company from "Cyberzone 
Properties, Inc." to ''Filinvest REIT Corp.", (ii) reduction of the par value of its Shares from 
Pl.OO per common share to ¥0.50 per common share, and (iii) increase of the Company's authorized 
capital stock from ¥2,000,OOO,000 to ¥7,131,849,000 divided into 14,263,698,000 Shares with a par 
value of¥0.50 per Share. The change in name of the Parent Company, the reduction in the par value 
of its shares, and the increase in its authorized capital stock were approved by the Philippine SEC on 
July 2, 2021. 

IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII~ III 1m IIIIII nlill 
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On August 12, 2021, the Parent Company was listed in The Philippine Stock Exchange as a Real 
Estate Investment Trust (REIT) entity. 

Approval of the Parent company financial statements 
The parent company financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the BOD on 
March 15, 2022. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Preparation 
The parent company financial statements of the Company have been prepared using the historical cost 
basis. The parent company financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (P), which is the 
functional and presentation currency of the Parent Company, and all amounts are rounded off to the 
nearest Philippine Peso unless otherwise indicated. 

The parent company financial statements includes the balances of Pro Office until its disposal on 
December 23, 2020. As a result of the disposal, the Company derecognized the assets and liabilities 
of ProOffice and the remaining balances pertain only to the Parent Company as of 
December 31,2021 and 2020. 

Statement of Compliance 
The parent company financial statements of the Company are prepared in compliance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs). PFRSs include Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, 
Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and Interpretations issued by the Philippine Interpretations 
Committee (PIC). 

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the parent company financial statements are 
consistent with those of the previous financial years, except for the adoption of the following 
amendments in PFRS and PAS which became effective beginning January I, 2021. The Company 
has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet 
effective. 

Unless otherwise indicated, adoption of these new standards did not have an impact on the parent 
company financial statements of the Company. The nature and impact of each new standard and 
amendment are described below: 

• Amendments to PFRS 16, COVID-19-related Rent Concessions 

The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying the PFRS 16 requirement on lease 
modifications to rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

A lessee may elect not to assess whether a rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification if 
it meets all of the following criteria: 

• The rent concession is a direct consequence ofCOVID-19; 
• The change in lease payments results in a revised lease consideration that is substantially the 

same as, or less than, the lease consideration inunediateiy preceding the change; 
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Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 
June 30, 2021; and 
There is no substantive change to other tenns and conditions of the lease. 

A lessee that applies this practical expedient will accmmt for any change in lease payments 
resulting from the COVID-19 related rent concession in the same way it would account for a 
change that is not a lease modification, i.e., as a variable lease payment. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after April 1, 2021. 
Early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted the amendments beginning January 1, 2020. 
However, the adoption of the amendment does not have a material impact since there is no 
changes to the lease payments of the Company. 

• Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, 
PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts and PFRS 16, Leases, Interest Rate Benchmark Refonn - Phase 2 

The amendments provide the following temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting 
effects when an interbank offered rate (maR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free 
interest rate (RFR): 
• Practical expedient for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows as a 

result of maR reform 
• Relief from discontinuing hedging relationships 
• Relief from the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR instrument is designated as 

a hedge of a risk component 

The Company shall also disclose information about: 

• The about the nature and extent of risks to which the entity is exposed arising from financial 
instruments subject to mOR refonn, and how the entity manages those risks; and 

• Their progress in completing the transition to alternative benchmark rates, and how the entity 
is managing that transition 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021 
and apply retrospectively, however, the Company is not required to restate prior periods. 

• Adoption of Philippine Interpretations Committee Question and Answers (pIC Q&As) 2018-12 
on Accounting for Common Usage Service Area (CUSA) 

On February 14, 2018, the PIC issued PIC Q&A2018-12 which provides guidance on some 
implementation issues of PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers affecting the real 
estate industry. This includes PIC Q&A No. 20 18-12-H which discussed accounting for CUSA 
charges wherein it was concluded that real estate developers are generally acting as principal for 
CUSA. On October 25,2018, the SEC decided to provide relief to the real estate industry by 
deferring the application of the provisions of the PIC Q&A 2018-12-H for a period of three years 
or until December 31, 2020. The deferral will only be applicable for real estate transactions. 

The Company previously availed of the reliefs provided by the SEC and have accounted for the 
related revenue net of costs and expenses. AB at January 1, 2021, the Company adopted PIC 
Q&A 2018-12-H retrospectively. The initial adoption has no impact on the Company's parent 
company statement of financial position and parent company statement of cash flows. 

IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIIIIII~IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII~ 
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The impact of initial adoption in the parent company stalement of comprehensive income 
follows: 

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31. 2020 
Amounts prepared under 

Revcaues and Income 
Others 

Cost and Expenses 
Depreciation and amortization 
Utilities 
Manpower and service cost 
Repairs and maintenance 
Taxes and licenses 
Service and management fees 
insurance 
Otlters 

Future Cball!:es in Accounting Policy 

PFRS IS Previous PFRS 

Pl ,048,582,442 

486,065,150 
297,548,444 
236,408,736 
132,787,546 
118,895,084 
42,644,409 

4 ,019,860 
9,034,919 

1'274,359,236 

441 ,025,865 

34,502,895 

63,894,241 
7,462,542 

6,295,399 

Increase 

P774,223,206 

45,039,285 
297,548,444 
201 ,905,841 
132,787,546 
55,000,843 
35,181,867 

4,019,860 
2,739,520 

The Company will adopt the fonowing standards and interpretations when these become effective. 
Except as otherwise stated, the Company does not expect the adoption of these standards to have a 
significant impact on the parent company financial statements. 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2022 
• Amendments to PFRS 3, Business Combinations, Reference to the Conceptual Framework 

The amendments are intended to replace a reference to the Framework for the Preparation and 
Presentation of Financial Statements, issued in 1989, with a reference to the Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in March 201 8 without Significantly changing its 
requirements. The amendments added an exception to the recognition principle of PFRS 3, 
Business Combinations to avoid the issue of potential 'day 2' gains or losses arising for liabilities 
and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or Philippine-IFRIC 21 , Levies, if incurred separately. 

At the same time, the amendments add a new paragraph to PFRS 3 to clarify that contingent 
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. 

The amendments are effective fur annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 
and apply prospectively. 

• Amendments to PAS 16, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use 

The amendments prohibit entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment. any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 
Instead, an entity recognizes the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing 
those items, in profit or loss. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 
and must be applied retrospectively to items of property. plant and equipment made available for 
use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the 
amendment. 
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The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company. 

• Amendments to PAS 37, Onerous Contracts - Costs of Fulfilling a Contract 

The amendments specify which costs an entity needs to include when assessing whether a 
contract is onerous Of loss-making. The amendments apply a "directly related cost approach". 
The costs that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or services include both incremental 
costs and an allocation of costs directly related to contract activities. General and administrative 
costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to 
the cOlUlterparty under the contract. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. 
The Company will apply these amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its 
obligations at the beginning oftbe annual reporting period in which it fITSt applies the 
amendments. 

• Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 

• Amendments to PFRS I, First-time Adoption of Philippines Financial Reporting Standards, 
Subsidiary as a first-time adopter 

The amendment permits a subsidiary that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) ofPFRS 1 to 
measure cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported by the parent, based 
on the parent's date of transition to PFRS. This amendment is also applied to an associate or 
joint venture that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) ofPFRS 1. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2022 with earlier adoption permitted. The amendments are not expected to have a 
material impact on the Company. 

• Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, Fees in the '10 percent' test/or 
derecognition 0/ financial liabilities 

The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of 
a new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the tenus of the original 
fmancialliability. These fees include only those paid or received between the borrower and 
the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other's 
behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or 
exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first 
applies the amendment. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2022 with earlier adoption permitted. The Company will apply the amendments to 
financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual 
reporting period in which the entity fITSt applies the amendment. The amendments are not 
expected to have a material impact on the Company. 

• Amendments to PAS 41, Agriculture, Taxation in/air value measurements 

The amendment removes the requirement in paragraph 22 of PAS 41 that entities exclude 
cash flows for taxation when measuring the fair value of assets within the scope of 
PAS 41. 
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An entity applies the amendment prospectively to fair value measurements on or after the 
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2022 with 
earlier adoption permitted The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the 
Company. 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2023 

• Amendments to PAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arisingfrom a Single 
Transaction 

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception under PAS 12, so that it no 
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. 

The amendments also clarify that where payments that settle a liability are deductible for tax 
purposes, it is a matter of judgement (having considered the applicable tax law) whether such 
deductions are attributable for tax purposes to the liability recognized in the fmancial statements 
(and interest expense) or to the related asset component (and interest expense). 

An entity applies the amendments to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the 
earliest comparative period presented for annual reporting periods on or after January 1, 2023. 
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company. 

• Amendments to PAS 8, Definition oj Accounting Estimates 

The amendments introduce a new definition of accounting estimates and clarify" the distinction 
between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies and the correction of 
errors. Also, the amendments clarify that the effects on an accounting estimate of a change in an 
input or a change in a measurement teclmique are changes in accounting estimates if they do not 
result from the correction of prior period errors. 

An entity applies the amendments to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting 
estimates that occur on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier adoption pennitted. The amendments 
are not expected to have a material impact on the Company. 

• Amendments to PAS 1 and PFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

The amendments provide guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to 
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy 
disclosures that are more useful by: 

• Replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their 'significant' accounting policies with a 
requirement to disclose their 'material ' accounting policies, and 

• Adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about 
accounting policy disclosures 

• 
The amendments to the Practice Statement provide non-mandatory guidance. Meanwhile, the 
amendments to PAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. 
Early application is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed. The amendments are not expected 
to have a material impact on the Company. 
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Effective beginning on or after January }, 2024 

• Amendments to PAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Noncurrent 

The amendments clarify paragraphs 69 to 76 of PAS I, Presentation of Parent company financial 
statements, to specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or DOll-current. The 
amendments clarify: 
• What is meant by a right to defer settlement 
• That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period 
• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right 
• That enly if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument 

would the tems of a liability not impact its classification 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January I , 2023 and must be applied retrospectively. However. in November 2021 , the 
[ntematiooal Accounting Standards Board (lASS) tentatively decided to defer the effective date 
to no earlier than January t, 2024. The Company is currently assessing the impact the 
amenchnents will have on current practice. 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2025 

• PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts 
PFRS 17 is a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering 
recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, PFRS 17 will replace 
PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts. This new standard on insurance contracts applies to all types of 
insurance contracts (ie., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-ir;lsuraoce), regardless of the type of 
entities that issue them, as well as to certaio guarantees and financial instruments with 
discretional)' participation features. A few scope exceptions will apply. 

The overall objective ofPFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that 
is more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in PFRS 4, which are 
largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, PFRS 17 provides a 
comprehensive model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accoWlting aspects. 

PFRS 11 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January I, 2025, with 
comparative figures required. Early application is permitted. This accounting standard is not 
applicable since the Company is not engaged in providing insurance contracts. 

De/erred effectivity 

• Amendments to PFRS la, Parent company financial statements, and PAS 28, Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture 

The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of 
control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The 
amendments clarity that a full gain or loss is r¢<XIgnized when a transfer to an associate or joint 
venture involves a business as defined in PFRS 3. AJJy gain or loss resulting from the sale or 
contribution of assets that does oot constitute a bUSiness, however, is recognized only to the 
extent of unrelated investors' interests in the associate or joint venture. 

FLI00502
Text Box



- 8 -

On January 13, 20) 6, the Financial Reporting Standards Council deferred the original effective 
date of January 1, 2016 of the said amenchnents until the International Accounting Standards 
Board (lASS) completes its broader review of the research project on equity accounting that may 
result in (he simpHfication of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of accounting 
for associates and joint ventures. 

• Deferral o/Certain Provisions of PIC Q&A 2018·12, PFRS /5 Implementation Issues Affecting 
the Real &tate Industry (as amended by PIC Q&As 2020-02 alld 2020-04) 

On February 14,2018, the PIC issued PIC Q&A 2018-12 which provides guidance on some 
PFRS 15 implementation issues affecting the real estate industry. On October 25, 2018 and 
February 08, 2019, the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued SEC Me 
No. 14-2018 and SEC Me No. 3-2019, respectively, providing relief to the real estate industry by 
deferring the application of certain provisions oftrus PIC Q&A for a period of three years until 
December 31 , 2020. 

On December 15, 2020, the Philippine SEC issued SEC MC No. 34-2020 whicb further extended 
the deferral of the following provisions of this PIC Q&A until December 31, 2023. 
• Assessing tftbe transaction price includes a significant financing component as discussed in 

PIC Q&A 2018-12-0 (as amended by PIC Q&A 2020-04) 
• Treatment of land in the detennination of the POC discussed in PIC Q&A 20IS-12-E 

Tbe SEC Memorandwn Circulars also provided the mandatory disclosure requirements should an 
entity decide to avail of any relief. Disclosures should include: 

a. The accounting policies applied. 
b. Discussion of the deferral of the subject implementation issues in the PIC Q&A. 
c. Qualitative discussion of the impact on the parent company financial statements had the 

concerned application guidelines in the PIC Q&A been adopted. 
d. Should any of the deferral options result into a change in accounting policy (e.g., when an 

entity excludes land andlor uninstalled materials in the POC calculation under the previous 
standard but opted to include such components under the relief provided by the circular), 
such accounting change will have to be accounted for under PAS 8, i.e., retrospectively, 
together with the corresponding required quantitative disclosures. 

In November 2020, the PIC issued the following Q&As which provide additional guidance on the 
real estate industry issues covered by the above SEC deferrals: 
• PIC Q&A 2020-04, which provides additional guidance on determining whether the 

transaction price includes a significant financing component 
• PIC Q&A 2020-02, which provides additional guidance on determining which uninstalled 

materials should not be included in calculating the POC 

After Ibe deferral period, teal estate companies would bave to adopt PIC Q&A No. 2018-12 and 
any subsequent amendments thereto retrospectively or as the SEC will later prescribe. The above 
specific provisions of PIC Q&A No. 2018-12 is not applicable to the Company since it is not 
involve in the development of real estate projects for sale. 

• IFRIC Agenda Decision on Over Time Transfer o/Constructed Goods (PAS 23, Borrowing Cost) 
In March 2019, IFRIC published an Agenda Decision on whether borrowing costs can be 
capitalized on real estate inventories that are under construction and for which the related revenue 
is/will be recognized over time under paragraph 35(c) ofIFRS 15 (PFRS 15). IFRIC concluded 
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that borrowing costs cannot be capitalized for such real estate inventories as they do not meet the 
definition of a qualifying asset under Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 23, Borrowing 
Costs, considering that these inventories are ready for their intended sale in their current 
condition. 

On February 11 , 2020, the Philippine SEC issued Memorandum Cin:ular No.4-2020, providing 
relief to the Real Estate Industry by deferring the mandatory implementation oflhe above IFRIC 
Agenda Decision until December 31, 2020. Further, on December 15, 2020, the Philippine SEC 
issued SEC Me No. 34-2020, which extends the relief on the application oftbe IFRIC Agenda 
Decision provided to the Real Estate Industry until December 31 , 2023. Effective 
January 1,2024, the Real Estate Industry will adept the IFRIC agenda decision and any 
subsequent amendments thereto retrospectively or as the SEC will later prescribe. A real estate 
company may opt not to avail of the deferral and instead comply in full with the requirements of 
the IFRIC Agenda Decision. 

The IFRIC Agenda Decision has no impact to the Company. 

• Deje"ai o/PIC Q&A 2018-14, Accounting/or Cancellation o/Real Estate Sales (as amended by 
PIC Q&A 2020-05) 

On June 27,2018, PIC Q&A 2018-14 was issued providing guidance on accounting for cancellation 
of real estate sales. Under SEC MC No. 3-2019, the adoption of PIC Q&A No. 2018-14 was 
deferred until December 31,2020. After the deferral period, real estate companies will adopt PIC 
Q&A No. 2018-14 and any subsequent amendments thereto retrospectively or as the SEC wiUlater 
presaibe. 

On November II, 2020, PIC Q&A 2020-05 was issued which supersedes PIC Q&A 2018-14. This 
PIC Q&A adds a new approach where the cancellation is accOlDlted for as a modification of the 
contract (i.e., from non-cancellable to being cancellable). Under this approach, revenues and related 
costs previously recognized shall be reversed in the period of cancellation and the inventory shall be 
reinstated at cost. PIC Q&A 2020-05 will have to be applied. prospectively from approval date of 
the Financial Reporting Standards Council which was November 11, 2020. 

The PIC Q&A has no impact to the Company. 

Significant Accounting Policies 

Current versus Noncurrent Classification 
The Company presents assets and liabilities in the parent company statement of financial position 
based on current/noncurrent classification. 

An asset is current when: 

a. Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle; 
b. Held primarily for the purpose of trading; 
c. Expected to be realized within twelve (12) months after the financial reporting period; or 
d. or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 

12 months after the fmancial reporting period. 
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All other assets are classified as noncurrent. 

A liability is current when: 

a. It is expected to be settled in DonnaJ operating cycLe; 
b. ]t is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 
c. It is due to be settled within 12 months after the financial reporting period; or 
d. There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 

the financial reporting period. 

The Company classifies all other liabilities as noncurrent. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as noncurrent assets and liabilities, respectively. 

fair Value Measurement 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or 
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Company. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that marlcet participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest. 

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the parent company financial 
statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described. as follows, based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

• Level I - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observablej and 
• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the parent company financial statements on a recurring 
basis, the Company detennines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re­
assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each financial reporting period. 

For the purpose offair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks oftbe asset and liability and the level of the fair 
value hierarchy as explained above. 
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Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the parent company statement of [mancial position 
when, and only when, the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Purchases or sales of fmandaI assets that require delivery or assets within the time frame established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized on the trade date. 

Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a fmancial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial Assets 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as either subsequently measured at amortized 
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI), or at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL). 

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset's contractual 
cash flow characteristics and the Company's business model for managing them. The Company 
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVTPL, 
transaction costs. 

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or at FVTOCI, it needs to 
give rise to cash flows that are 'solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)' on the principal 
amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the 'SPPI test' and is perfonned at an 
instrument level. 

The Company's business model for managing fmancial assets refers to how it manages its financial 
assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result 
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the fmancial assets, or both. 

Purchases or sales of fmancial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date, 
i.e., the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

The Company's fmancial assets comprise offmancial assets at amortized cost. 

Subsequentmeasuretnent 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories: 

• Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instnunents); 
• Financial assets at FVTOCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses ( debt instruments); 
• Financial assets designated at FVTOCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon 

derecognition (equity instnunents); or 
• Financial assets at FVTPL. 

Financial assets at amortized cost 
Financial assets are measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

• The asset is held within the Company's business model whose objective is to hold assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows; and 
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• The contractual terms of the instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Financial assets at amortized costs are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method less any impairment in value, with the interest calculated recognized as interest 
income in the parent company statement of comprehensive income. 

The Company classified cash and cash equivalents, receivables and deposits (included under other 
noncurrent assets) as [maneial assets at amortized cost (see Notes 4 and 5). 

Reclassification of financial assets 
The Company can reclassify financial assets if the objective of its business model for managing those 
financial assets changes. The Company is required to reclassify the following fmancial assets: 

• From amortized cost to FVTPL if the objective of the business model changes so that the 
amortized cost criteria are no longer met; and 

• From FVTPL to amortized cost if the objective of the business model changes so that the 
amortized cost criteria start to be met and the instrument's contractual cash flows meet the 
amortized cost criteria. 

Reclassification of financial assets designated as at FVTPL at initial recognition is not permitted. 

A change in the objective of the Company's business model must be effected before the 
reclassification date. The reclassification date is the beginning of the next reporting period following 
the change in the business model. 

Financial liabilities 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at FVfPL, loans and 
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate. 

All fmancialliabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case ofloans and borrowings 
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

Loans and borrowings consist primarily of accounts payable and accrued expenses, loans payable, 
bonds payable, lease liabilities, security and other deposits (see Notes 12, 13, 14, 15 and 17). 

Subsequent measurement 
Loans and borrowings (financial liabilities at amortized cost) is the category most relevant to the 
Company. After initial recognition, interestRbearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss 
when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the effective interest amortization process. 

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premiwn on acquisition and fees 
or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest. The effective interest amortization is 
included as finance costs in the parent company statement of comprehensive income. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Company recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not 
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual 
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cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to 
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash 
flows will include cash flows from the lessee's deposit held or other credit enhancements that are 
integral to the contractual terms. 

The Company applies a simplified approach in calculating EeLs for financial assets at amortized 
costs. Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss 
allowance based on lifetime EeLs at each financial reporting date. The Company has established a 
provision matrix for trade receivables that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

For cash and cash equivalents, the Company applies the low credit risk simplification. The 
probability of default and loss given defaults are publicly available and are considered to be low 
credit risk investments. It is the Company's policy to measure ECLs on such instruments on a 
12-month basis. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, 
the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL. The Company uses the ratings from reputable rating 
agencies to determine whether the debt instnunent has significantly increased in credit risk and to 
estimate ECLs. 

The Company considers receivables in default when contractual payments are sixty (60) days past 
due. However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when 
internal or external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding 
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. 
A financial asset is written offwhen there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual 
cash flows. 

For other receivables and other financial assets, ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit 
exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 
12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected 
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
Financial Assets 
A financial asset is derecognized when: 
• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
• The Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an 

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass-through' 
arrangement; or 

• The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred control of the asset 

Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of an asset nor transferred control of 
the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Company's continuing involvement in the asset. 
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at 
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that 
the Company could be required to repay. 
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Financial Liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability expires, is discharged or 
cancelled. Where an existing fmancialliability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the parent 
company statement of comprehensive income. 

Offsetting Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset, and the net amount reported in the parent 
company statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the 
recognized amounts and the Company intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, 
where the related assets and liabilities are presented at gross in the parent company statement of 
financial position. 

Advances to Contractors 
Advances to contractors pertain to down-payments made by the Company which are applied against 
future billings for development and construction contracts. Advances to be applied as property and 
equipment or investment properties are presented as noncurrent assets. 

Value-added Tax (VAT) 
Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognized net of the amount of V AT, if applicable. 
When VAT from sales of goods andlor services (output VAT) exceeds VAT passed on from 
purchases of goods or services (input VAT), the excess is recognized as payable in the parent 
company statement of financial position. When VAT passed on from purchases of goods or services 
(input VAT) exceeds VAT from sales of goods and/or services (output VAT), the excess is 
recognized as an asset in the parent company statement of financial position to the extent of the 
recoverable amount 

The net am01lllt of VAT recoverable and payable from the taxation authority is included as part of 
"Other current assets" and "Accounts payable and accrued expenses", respectively in the parent 
company statement of fmancial position. 

Investment Properties 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The initial cost of 
investment properties consists of any directly attributable costs of bringing the investment properties 
to their intended location and working condition, including borrowing costs. The carrying amount 
includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred 
if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of day to day servicing of an investment 
property. Investment properties include buildings that are held to earn rentals and are not occupied by 
the Company. Investment properties also include right-of-use assets involving real properties that are 
subleased to other entities. Investment properties, except for land, are carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impainnent losses, if any. Land is carried at cost less 
accumulated impainnent losses, if any. 

For those right-of-use assets that qualify as investment properties, i.e., those land that are subleased 
by the Company, these are classified 1lllder investment properties. Consistent with the Company's 
policy regarding the measurement of investment properties, these assets are subsequently measured at 
cost less amortization and impainnent in value. 
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Investtnent properties built on rented properties are depreciated over their estimated useful lives Of 

lease tenn, whichever is shorter. Depreciation of investment properties are computed using the 
straight-line method over the economic useful lives of 40-50 years for the building and 15 years for 
equipment. 

The economic useful lives and the depreciation is reviewed annually to ensure that the period and 
method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefit from items of 
investment properties. 

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the 
investment property is pennanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected 
from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are 
recognized in the parent company statement of comprehensive income the year of retirement or 
disposaL 

Transfers are made to investment property when there is a change in use, evidenced by ending of 
owner-occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party or ending of construction or 
development. Transfers are made from investment property when there is a change in use, evidenced 
by commencement of owner-occupation or commencement of development with a view to sell. 

Transfers between investment property and owner-occupied property do not change the carrying 
amount of the property transferred and do not change the cost of that property for measurement or 
disclosure purposes. 

Investment properties also include prepaid commission representing incremental costs that are 
directly attributable to negotiating and arranging a lease. These are initially recognized at cost and are 
amortized over the related lease term. 

Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment consist of land improvements and furniture and fixtures. The Company's 
property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment in value, if 
any. 

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties, 
taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for 
its intended use. 

Expenditures incurred after the assets have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, 
and overhaul costs are normally charged to operations in the period in which the costs are incurred. In 
situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in 
the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property and 
equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as 
an additional cost of property and equipment. 

Depreciation of property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method over the 
economic useful lives of these assets as follows: 

Land improvements 
Furniture and fixtures 

Years 
5 

3-5 
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The economic useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed annually to ensure that the period 
and method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items 
of property and equipment. 

Property and equipment are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the 
property and equipment is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is 
expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of property and 
equipment are recognized in the parent company statement of comprehensive income in the year of 
retirement or disposal. 

Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets pertain to build, transfer and operate (BTO) rights and ROD assets. Intangible assets 
acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at costs. The cost of intangible assets acquired 
in a business combination or contracted arrangements is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost, less any accumulated amortization 
and any accumulated impairment losses. 

The economic useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. 

BTO rights are amortized over the economic useful life (i.e., 25 years) and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible assets may be impaired. The amortization period 
and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at 
each financial year-end. Changes in the economic useful lives or the expected pattern of consumption 
of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortization 
period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization 
expense on intangible assets with fmite lives is recognized in the parent company statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of intangible asset are measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and the carrying amount of the asset 
and are recognized in the parent company statement of comprehensive income when the asset is 
derecognized. 

Other Assets 
Other current and noncurrent assets are recognized in the parent company statement of fmancial 
position when it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow to the Company and the assets 
have cost or value that can be measured reliably. These assets are regularly evaluated for any 
impairment in value. 

Prepaid District Cooling System (DCS) connection charges 
Prepaid DeS connection charges are initially recognized at cost and are subsequently amortized over 
the term of the supply period (i.e., 20 years) commencing on the date when the related building is 
connected to the DCS facility. Portion related to the connection of succeeding buildings are 
amortized over the remaining yeats of the supply period. 

NonclUTent Assets Held for Distribution 
A noncurrent asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for distribution to owners when the entity 
is committed to distribute the asset (or disposal group) to the owners. For this to be the case, the 
assets must be available for immediate distribution in their present condition and the distribution must 
be highly probable. 
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A noncurrent asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale if the carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. For the sale to be 
highly probable, the appropriate level of management must be committed to a plan to sell the asset 
(or disposal group), and an active program to locate a buyer and complete the plan must have been 
initiated. Further, the asset (or disposal group) must be actively marketed for sale at a price that is 
reasonable in relation to its current fair value. In addition, the sale should be expected to qualifY for 
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification, and actions required to 
complete the plan should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made 
or that the plan will be withdrawn. 

Noncurrent asset (or tlispesal group) classified as held fer distriautien is measured at the lower of its 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to distribute or cost to sell. 

The Company presents the noncurrent assets classified as held for distribution through property 
dividend or reimbursement separately from other assets as "Noncurrent assets held for distribution" in 
the parent company statement of fmancial position. The liabilities related to the disposal group 
classified as held for distribution are presented separately from other liabilities as "Liabilities directly 
related to noncurrent assets held for distribution" in the parent company statement of financial 
position. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The Company assesses at each fmancial reporting date whether there is an indication that its 
nonfinancial asset (e.g., advances to contractors, investment properties, property and equipment, 
intangible assets, and other assets) may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when armual 
impainnent testing for an asset is required, the Company makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable 
amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value 
less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets of the Company. 
Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
clUTent market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impainnent 
losses are recognized in the parent company statement of comprehensive income. 

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount of an asset, however, not to an amount higher than the 
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment loss 
been recognized for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impainnent loss is credited to current 
operations. 

fuuilly 
Capital stock and additional paid-in capital 
The Company records capital stock at par value and additional paid-in capital for the amount in 
excess of the total contributions received over the aggregate par value of the equity shares. 
Incremental costs incurred directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in equity as a 
deduction from proceeds, net of tax. 

Deposits for future stock subscription 
Deposit for future stock subscription (DFFS) are recorded based on the subscription amount received 
and are presented under liabilities unless the following items were met for classification as part of 
equity: 
• There is a lack or insufficiency of authorized unissued shares of stock to cover the deposit; 
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• The Parent Company' s BOD and stockholders have approved an increase in authorized capital 
stock and amendment in the articles of incorporation to cover the shares corresponding to the 
amount of the DFFS; and 

• The application for the approval of the increase in capital stock has been filed Of has been 
presented for filing with the SEC. 

Retained earnings 
Retained earnings represent accumulated earnings of the Company, less dividends declared and any 
adjustment arising from application of new accOlUlting standards or changes in accounting policies 
applied retroactively. Retained earnings are restricted for any appropriation as approved by the 
Company's BOD. 

Dividends are deducted from unappropriated retained earnings when declared and approved by the 
Company's BOD. Dividends payable are recorded as liability until paid or upon distribution of 
related property held for distribution. Dividends for the year that are declared and approved after 
[mancial reporting date, if any, are dealt with as an event after reporting date and disclosed 
accordingly. 

Earnings per Share (EPS) 
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income applicable to common stock by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding, after considering the retroactive effect for any stock 
dividends, stock splits or reverse stock splits during the period. 

Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the period, after giving retroactive effect for any stock dividends, stock splits or 
reverse stock splits during the period, and adjusted for the effect of dilutive options. 
Where the effect of the assumed conversion of the preferred shares and the exercise of all outstanding 
options have anti-dilutive effect, basic and diluted EPS are stated at the same amount. 

Net Asset Value (NAY) Per Share 
The NA V per share is calculated by dividing the adjusted NA V by the total outstanding shares of the 
Parent Company. The adjusted NAV is equal to total assets plus the fair value adjustment of 
deposited properties and investible funds held by the Parent Company less total liabilities 
(see Note 16). 

Revenue Recognition 
The Company is in the business ofleasing its investment property portfolio. The Company's oon­
lease perfonnance obligations include common area management and administration of utility 
services. 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of the goods or services are 
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects 
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Company assesses its revenue 
arrangement against specific criteria in order to detennine if it is acting as a principal or an agent. 

Rental revenue 
Rental revenue is recognized in the parent company statement of comprehensive income either on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term or based on a certain percentage of the gross revenue of the 
tenants, as provided under the terms of the lease contract. Leases under contingent rents are 
recognized as income in the period in which they are earned. 
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Disaggregated revenue iriformation 
The non-lease component of the Parent Company's revenue arises from income from CUSA, 
air-conditioning dues and utilities. The Parent Company's performance obligations are to ensure that 
common areas are available for general use of its tenants and to provide for unintenupted air­
conditioning and utility services such as water and electricity. 

Common usage service area charges 
Common usage service area charges are recognized when the related services are rendered. The 
Company has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements, except for the 
provisioning of water, and electricity in its office leasing activities, wherein it is acting as agent. 
Income from common area and air conditioning dues is computed based on a fixed rate per square 
meter of the leasable area occupied by the tenant and are presented gross of related cost and expenses. 

Interest income 
Interest is recognized as it accrues taking into account the effective yield on the underlying asset. 

Other income 
Other income is recognized when the related services have been rendered and the right to receive 
payment is established. 

Other Comprehensive Income (OCD 
DCI are items of income and expense that are not recognized in the profit or loss for the period in 
accordance with PFRS. 

Costs and Expense Recognition 
These include the Company's costs incurred in leasing properties and expenses related to 
administering its business. These are generally recognized as incurred and measured at the amount 
paid or payable. 

Retirement Costs 
The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the end of the fmancial reporting date reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any), 
adjusted for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling. The asset ceiling is 
the present value of any economic benefits available in the fonn of refimds from the plan or 
reductions in future contributions to the plan. 

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is actuarially determined using the 
projected unit credit method (PUC). Under this method, the current service cost is the present value of 
retirement benefit payable in the future with respect to the services rendered in the current period. 

Defined benefit costs comprise the following: 
• Service cost; 
• Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset; and 
• Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset 

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on nonroutine 
settlements are recognized as expense in the profit or loss. Past service costs are recognized when 
plan amendment or curtailment occurs. 
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Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net 
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is detennined by applying 
the discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Net interest 
on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in profit or loss. 

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return 00 plan assets and any change in the 
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized 
immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Remeasurements are 
not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 

All remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive income account "Remeasurement gain en 
retirement plan", net of tax and are not reclassified to another equity account in subsequent periods. 

Termination benefit 
Termination benefiG are employee benefits provided in exchange for the termination of an 
employee' s employment as a result of either an entity's decision to terminate an employee's 
employment before the normal retirement date or an employee's decision to accept an offer of 
benefits in exchange for the tennination of employment 

A liability and expense for a termination benefit is recognized at the earlier ofwben the entity can no 
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the entity recognizes related restructuring costs. 

Initial recognition and subsequent changes to tennination benefits are measured in accordance with 
the nature of the employee benefrt, as either post·employment benefits, short-tenn employee benefits, 
or other long-term employee benefits. 

Employee leave entitlement 
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized as a liability when they are accrued to the 
employees. The undiscounted liability for leave expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after 
the end of the annual fmancial reporting date is recognized for services rendered by employees up to 
the end of the reporting date. 

BOrrowing Costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of an asset that necessarily 
takes a substantial period of time to get ready fOT its intended use OT sale are capitalized as part of the 
cost of the respective assets (included in "Investment properties" accolmt in the parent company 
statement offinancial position). Capitalization ceases when p~sening of real estate inventories 
under construction commences. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they 
occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the 
borrowing of funds. 

The interest capitalized is calculated using the Company's weighted average cost of borrowings after 
adjusting for borrowings associated with specific developments. Where borrowings are associated 
with specific developments, the amount capitalized is the gross interest incurred on those borrowings 
less any investment income arising on the temporary investment of those borrowings. 

The capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended if there are prolonged periods when development 
activity is interrupted. Interest is also capitalized on the purchase cost of a site of property acquired 
specifically for redevelopment but only where activities necessary to prepare the asset for 
redevelopment are in progress. 
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Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the report date. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the report date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amOlUlts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except; (a) where 
deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in 
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and (b) in respect of taxable temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, where the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset 
revaluation. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences can be used. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each financial reporting date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred income tax assets 
are reassessed at each financial reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become 
probable that sufficient future taxable profit will allow the deferred income tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are applicable to the year when the 
asset is realized, or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the report date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity is also 
recognjzed in other comprehensive income and not in profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority. 

l&l!ill. 
Company as lessor 
Leases where the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income on operating leases is recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the lease tenn. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same bases 
as rental income. 

Company as lessee 
Except for short-term leases and lease of low-value assets, the Company applies a single recognition 
and measurement approach for all leases. The Company recognizes lease liabilities to make lease 
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 
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Right-of-use·assets 
The Company recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 
undedyrng asset is available for use). Rigbt-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impainnent losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs 
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 
received. 

The Company classifies its right-of-use assets within the same line item as that within which the 
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned. 

Unless the Company is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the 
lease tenn, the recognized right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter 
of its estimated useful life and the lease term. Usefilllife of right-of-use assets on land presented as 
part of investment properties and iutangible assets ranges from 25 to 50 years. 

Right-of-use assets are subject to impajrmenL Refer to the accounting policies in section impaiIment 
of nonfinancial assets. 

Lease liabilities 
At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognizes lease liabilities measured at the 
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed 
payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease 
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value 
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably 
certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for tenninating a lease, if the lease 
term reflects the Company exercising the option to tenninate. The variable lease payments that do 
not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expense in the period on which the event or 
condition that triggers the payment occurs. 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses the incremental borrowing rate 
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. 
After the commencement date, the amount oflease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of 
interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities 
is remeasured if there is a modification. a change in the lease teon, a change in the in-substance fixed 
lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset. 

The Company accounts for a lease modification (i.e., a change in the scope of a lease, or the 
consideration for a lease, that was not part of the original terms and conditions oflhe lease) as a 
separate lease (i.e., separate from the original lease) when both ofche following conditions are met: 

• The modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more 
underlying assets. 

• The consideration for the lease increases commensurate with the standalone price for the increase 
in scope and any adjustments to that stand-alone price reflect the circumstances of the particular 
contract. 

Ifboth of these conditions are met, the lease modification results in two separate leases, the 
unmodified original lease and a separate new lease. Lessees account for the separate contract that 
contains a lease in the same manner as other new leases. 
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Short-term leases 
The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those 
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a 
purchase option). Lease payments on short-tenn leases are recognized as expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 

Foreign Currency-denominated Transactions and Translation 
Foreign currency-denominated transactions are recorded using the prevailing exchange rates at the 
time of the transaction. Foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities are translated 
using the prevailing exchange rates at the fmancial report date. Exchange gains or losses resulting 
from foreign currency transactiens and translatien are included in the profit or loss. 

Segment Reporting 
The Company's operating businesses are organized and managed according to the nature of the 
products and services provided The Company has detennined that it is operating as one operating 
segment as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 (see Note 24). 

Provisions 
A provision is recognized only when the following conditions are present: (a) the Company has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; (b) it is probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and (c) a reliable 
estimate can be made on the amount of the obligation. If the effect ofthe time value of money is 
material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current assessment of the time value of money and where appropriate, the risks specific 
to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provisions due to the passage of time is 
recognized as interest expense. Provisions are reviewed at each financial report date and adjusted to 
reflect the current best estimate. 

Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the parent company financial statements. These are 
disclosed unless the probability of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. 
A contingent asset is not recognized in the parent company financial statements but are disclosed 
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Events After the Financial Reporting Date 
Post year-end events up to the date of the auditor's report that provide additional infonnation about 
the Company's position at the financial reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the parent 
company financial statements. Any year-end events that are not adjusting event is disclosed in the 
parent company financial statements when materiaL 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates, and Assumptions 

The preparation of the parent company financial statements in compliance with PFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the 
parent company financial statements and accompanying notes. Future events may occur which can 
cause the assumptions used in arriving at those estimates to change. The effects of any changes in 
estimates will be reflected in the parent company financial statements as they become reasonably 
determinable. 
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Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed 10 be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

Judgments 
In the process of applying the Company's accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the parent company financial statements. 

Adoption of a 'no tax' regime for the Parent Company 
As a REIT entity, the Parent Company can cheese to operate within one eftwa tax regimes (i.e., a 
'full tax ' regime or a 'no tax' regime). The REIT entity can effectively operate under a ' 00 tax' 
regime provided that it meets certain conditions (e.g., listing status., minimum required dividend 
payments). A REIT entity is required to distribute at least 90% of its annual income as dividends to 
its investors and is allowed to treat the dividend as deduction for tax purposes making it effectively an 
income tax-free entity. 

As of December 3 t , 2021, the Parent Company met the provisions of the REIT law and complies 
with the 90% dividend distribution requirement. The Parent Company has detennined, based on its 
current tax. regime and expected dividend disnibution in the succeeding periods, that it can effectively 
operate on a " no-tax" reg ime. Accordingly, the Parent Company has derecognized its deferred taxes 
as of December 3 1, 2021 . 

Determination of lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options - Company aY a lessee 
The Company detennines the lease tenn as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any 
periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any 
periods covered by an option to tenninate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. 

The Company has the option, lU1der some of its leases to lease the assets for additional terms 
equivalent to its original lease tenn. The Company applies judgement in evaluating whether it is 
reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create 
an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the commencement date, the Company 
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its 
control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew (e.g., a change in 
business strategy). 

The renewal options for leases of office spaces and land for certain real estate developments were not 
included as part of the lease term because the Company assessed that renewal is not reasonably 
certain (see Note 20). 

Operating lease commitments - Companyar lessor 
The Company has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The 
Company has determined, based on the evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, 
such as the lease term not constituting a substantial portion of the economic life of the investment 
property, that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties and 
accounts for these contracts as operating lease (see Note 20). 

Build Transfer Operate (ETa) Agreement with Cebu Province - Company as operator 
On March 26, 2012, FLI entered into aBTO agreement with TIle Province ofCebu(Cebu Province). 
The BTO project relates to the development, construction, and operation of Business Process 
Outsourcing (BPO) Complex by the Parent Company at the Jand properties owned by Cebu Province 
located at Salinas, Lahug, Cebu City. 

FLI00502
Text Box



- 25 -

In August 2012, FLI assigned this agreement to the Parent Company. Based on the agreement, the 
Parent Company has assessed that the Cebu Province (Grantor) cannot control or regulate the services 
that the operator must provide using the infrastructure, to whom it must provide them and at what 
price. Due to this, the BTO agreement is assessed to be outside the scope ofIFRIC 12, Service 
Concession Arrangements. 

The Parent Company, on the other hand, has the right to operate and earn rentals from the project 
upon completion but does not have ownership over the properties. The Parent Company also has no 
substantial risks and rewards on the properties for the major part of its economic life. Accordingly, 
the related development cost and lease payments were recorded under "BTO rights" presented under 
intangible assets in the parent company statement of financial position (see Note 7). 

Determining whether an an-angement contains a lease - Build Operate Transfer (BOT) Agreement 
On September 16, 2015, the Parent Company entered into a BOT agreement with Philippine DCS 
Development Corporation (pDDC), also a subsidiary ofFLI. The BOT agreement relates to the 
construction and operation by PDDC of the DCS facilities for 20 years, during which PDDC will 
supply chilled water for the provision of cooling energy to the properties of the Parent Company 
within Northgate Cyberzone, Muntinlupa City. 

While the fulfillment of the terms and conditions of the agreement is dependent on the use of an asset 
(i.e., DCS facilities), management assessed that the right to control the operations of such asset is not 
conveyed to the Parent Company considering that: (a) the Parent Company has no ability to operate 
the asset nor the right to direct PDDC to operate the asset in a manner it determines; and (b) the 
supply of chilled water will not be exclusive to the properties of the Parent Company during the term 
of the BOT agreement. Thus, the BOT agreement does not contain a lease within the scope of 
PFRS 16 (see Note ll). 

Classification of noncurrent assets held for distribution 
As of December 31, 2020, the Parent Company has noncurrent assets held for distribution amonnting 
to fl6,843. 7 million related to property dividends declared by the Parent Company (nil as of 
December 31, 2021). The Parent Company assessed that the distribution of these investment 
properties, by way of property dividends and reimbursement from FLI, is highly probable considering 
that actions to complete the distribution have been initiated and are expected to be completed within 
one year. These investment properties will be derecognized in the parent company financial 
statements once the SEC approves the distribution of the dividends and the Parent Company is 
compensated for the additions made from date of declaration to the date of distribution. 

On July 15, 2021, the SEC approved the property dividend declaration and the Parent Company was 
compensated for additions subsequent to date of declaration. Refer to Notes 6 and 16 for the related 
disclosures on noncurrent assets held for distribution and directly related liabilities. 

Impairment assessment of nonfinancial assets 
The Company assesses at each fmancial reporting date whether there is any indication that the 
nonfinancial assets (investment properties and intangible assets) may be impaired. The Company 
considers indications of impainnent such as significant changes in asset usage, significant decline in 
market value, obsolescence or physical damage of an asset, significant underperfonnance relative to 
expected historical or projected future operating results and significant negative industry or economic 
trends. If such indication exists, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset, which is 
the higher of the asset's fair value less cost to sell and value in use. 
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The Company has determined that the COVID-19 pandemic has no impact and is not considered as 
an impainnent indicator in the impainnent assessment of nonfmancial assets. AB of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, no impairment indicators were identified for the Company's 
nonfinancial assets (see Notes 7, 9 and 20). 

Use of Estimates and Assumptions 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
report date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables 
The Company uses a provision matrix to calculate EeLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are 
based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns. 
The provision matrix is initially based on the Company's historical observed default rates. The 
Company is calibrating the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking 
infonnation. For instance, ifforecast economic conditions (i.e., GDP, inflation) are expected to 
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increase in the rental rates, the historical default 
rates are adjusted. At every fmancial reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated 
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analyzed. 

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic 
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in 
circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Company's historical credit loss experience 
and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer's actual default in the 
future. 

Company has considered impact of COVID-19 pandemic and revised its assumptions in detennining 
the macroeconomic variables and loss rates in the computation of expected credit loss. The Company 
also considers the security deposit and advance rentals available to cover exposure to credit loss. As 
of December 31,2021, and 2020, the Company's allowance for ECL on its trade receivables 
amounted to ¥7. 7 million and ¥0.3 million, respectively (see Note 5). 

Recognition of deferred tax asset 
The Company reviews the carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets at each financial report 
date and reduces it to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient income will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. The Company believes that it will 
generate sufficient taxable profit to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. 

As of December 31,2021, the Company made an assessment that it will effectively operate as an 
income tax-free entity and as such, has not recognized any deferred tax assets. As of 
December 31, 2020, deferred tax assets amounted to ¥269.2 million (see Note 19). 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

This account consists of: 

Cash on hand and in banks 
Cash equivalents 

2021 
¥515,722,841 
2,071,472,790 

1'2,587,195,631 

2020 
1'602,644,513 

267,873,019 
1'870,517 ,532 
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Cash in banks earn interest at their respective bank deposit rates. Cash equivalents are short~term. 
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, with original 
matwities of three (3) months or less from dates of placement and are subject to an insignificant risk 
and change in value and earned interest at prevailing short-tenn investment ranging from 0.25% to 
1.25% and 0.10% to 3.75% for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 respectively. 

Interest earned from cash and cash equivalents amounted to %.3 minion and '3.9 in 2021 and 2020, 
respectively (see Note 22). 

There is no restriction on the Company's cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2021 
and 2020. 

5. Receivables 

This account consists of: 

Trade receivables (Note 17) 
Advances to officers and employees 
Others 

Less allowance for EeL 

2021 
11730,984,104 

31,713,801 

762,697,90S 
7,702).72 

2020 
1'799,278,543 

29,632,452 
1,518,717 

830,429,712 
285,258 

1'830,144,454 

Trade receivables represent charges to tenants for rentals and utilities which are normally collectible 
within 20 days from billing date. These include receivable earned but not yet billed arising from 
straight-line recognition of lease income from covered lessees. These are covered by security deposits 
by tenants equivalent to rent paid by the lessees. AU overdue and unpaid rent, dues and charges are 
subject to interest at 18% per annum and penalty of24% per annum. Interest and penalties from late 
payments amounted to P3.6 million and nil for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively (see Note 22). 

In 2021, the Company has recognized provision for EeL on its trnde receivables. Movement in the 
Company's allowance for EeL follow: 

At January 1 
Provisions 
At December 31 

2021 2020 
P285,258 
7,417,014 

P7,702,272 

P285,258 

P28V58 

Advances to officers and employees pertain to salary and loans granted by the Company which are 
collectible through salary deduction and are non-interest bearing. This also represents advances for 
project costs, marketing activities, travel and other expenses arising from the ordinary course of 
business which are liquidated upon the accomplishment of the purposes for which the advances were 
granted. 

Others include advances of real property tax on land leased by the Company subject to 
reimbursement. 
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6. Noncurrent Assets Held for Distribution 

This account consists of: 

Net book value of investment properties 
Investment properties declared as 

property dividends (Notes 9 and 16) 
Additions to construction in progress 
Right of use assets (Notes 9 and 20) 

Net book value of intangible assets 
BTO rights declared as property 

dividends (Notes 7 and 16) 
Additions to BTO rights 
Right afuse assets (Notes 7 and 20) 

Derecognition of noncurrent assets held for 
distribution (Note 16) 

2021 

116,914,270,136 
570,628,432 

54,463,438 

1,388,063,419 
5,669,692 

27,505,758 

(8,960,600,875) 

2020 

P6,611,906,765 
231,794,581 

1'6,843,701,346 

Noncurrent assets held for distribution represent investment properties and BTO rights declared as 
property dividends, additions to construction in progress under investment properties and intangible 
assets, net of depreciation and amortization, declared as property dividends from the date of 
declaration up to July 15, 2021 subject to reimbursement by FLI, and the related right of use assets 
for the land subleased by the Parent Company where these properties were constructed. 

The SEC issued the certificate of filing the notice of the property dividend declaration for the 
nonClUTent assets held for distribution on July 15, 2021 and subsequently these assets were distributed 
to FLI and derecognized in the parent company fmancial statements. 

7. Intangible Assets 

On March 26, 2012, FLI entered into a BTO agreement with Cebu Province. This was subsequently 
assigned to the Company in August 2012 (see Note 3). 

"BTO rights" relate to the development cost, construction and opemtion of BPO Complex at the land 
properties owned by Cebu Province. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, cost of completed portion 
pertaining to Cebu Towers 1 of the BTO project amounted to Pl.3 billion. 

"Right-of-Use assets" pertain to the related lease payments required under the BTO agreement for the 
land where the buildings were constructed. 
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The rollforward analysis of intangible assets follows: 

2021 
Right-of-Use "" .. , 

»TO Ridlts (Note 201 Total 
Cort 
Balance at beginning of year 03,576,27.,821 11112,423,917 "3,688,694,738 
Additions 146,67l,l18 146,672,218 
Reclassification (Note 6) (1,430,406,718) (30,113,793) (1,460,522,511) 
Dereco,:olition (Note 17} '9661124~!) !60~31,58fl !1102~551823l 
Balance at end of~ar lcl;261412I084 21107~538 1134~488!622 
Accumulated Depredation 
Balance at beginning of year 270,873,400 8,993,914 279,867,314 
Depreciation 57,169,464 1,485,377 58,654,841 
Reclassification (Note 6) (36,673,607) (2,61~'35) (39,283,642) 
Derecognjtion iliote 17} (SJ2~.711 !5J;201011} 
Balance alend afyear 191,369.157 2,649.185 294,018.442 
Net Book Valae '1;035,04;827 .19,427,353 '1,054,470,180 

2020 
Right-of-Use 

Assets 
81'0 Ris!!ts (Note 20) To,," 

Co~ 
Balance at beginning of year '2,960,031 ,844 Pl12,423,917 P3,072,45S,761 
Additions 607,835,586 607,835,586 
Reclassification iliotes 9 and 10) 81403~91 8,403J91 
Balance at end of year 3.576.270,821 112,423,917 3,688,694,738 
Accumulated Depreciation 
lJalance at beginning of year 178,271,697 4,496,957 182,768,654 

4,496,957 

On February 11, 2021, the BOD approved the transferofCebu Towers 3 and 4 to FLI by way of 
assignment of right to manage and operate. FLI will compensate the Parent Company at a 
consideration equivalent to the cost of the properties upon assignment. 

On February 26, 2021 , the Parent Company and FLl executed deed of assignment of rights for the 
transfer of the properties. Hence, the cost of these properties, including the related right-ofuse assets 
and lease liabilities, were derecognized (see Note 17). 

The derecognition of the right-oC-use assets and lease liabilities amOlUlting P82.S million and 
Pl12.3 million. respectively, resulted to gain on derecognition oflease liabilities presented in the 
parent company statement of comprehensive income amounting 1130.4 million in 2021 (see Note 20). 

Rental income recognized arising from the BTO agreement amounted to P207.9 million and 
Jl215.S million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

Tenant dues from BTO rights ammmted to 1172.9 million and P92.0 million in 2021 and 2020, 
respectively (see Note 21). 

Operating expenses incurred for maintaining and operating these assets amounted to 11:93.7 million 
and P126.4 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
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Borrowing costs capitalized on the BTO project amounted to fl4 .3 million and P SI.& million in 2021 
and 2020, respectively (see Notes 13 and 14). The capitalization rates used in 2021 and 2020 range 
from 4.0010 to 5.2%. 

Contractual obligations to acquire and construct intangible assets amounted to nil and 
¥ 1,500.0 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

8. Advances 10 Contractors 

9. 

Advances to contractors represent advances for project costs and other disbursements related to 
buildings under construction. The advances shall be settled through recoupment against contractors ' 
billings. Advances to contractors amounted to ¥13.3 million and ft1 8.4 million as of 
December 31 , 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

Investment Properties 

The roll forward analyses of this account fonows: 

"" ....... -
BtWti"".nd CH<KrW:t'-a .-

Lood 1!!!I!!:~lmt.! __ 1!!!It'UI lliOCc 20l """" Taul 
C ... 
Balance allxplI'" ofyc:a. p- Pl1,Kl,l'1,2 19 P- PI.~.JJ&.75) 1'151,104,7+1 1114,05UI 5,7U 
Additions 60,686,413 13,716,995 74,403,411 
Om:eognltloo (Note 20) (I ,aU;nt,3!il5) (44,1'1,728) (1,928,%3,123) 
Reelassifieationlliotes 6 and 161 (528,35.!1~021 (61,I59,J5S1 {590,514,S601 
B~ealmd or year llt485,401,13O 127,730,011 l1,6lJ ,131,14' 
Accumalatt(! Dep~edatioa 
B.1.aneo a' btginnlng of yeat 2,339,348,113 39,188,5 11 49,864,109 2,428,400,.844 
~adoo 167.057,841 II,Ul6,856 18,900,550 307,1:45,148 
Df:IreeognitiOll (Note 20) (42,779,448) (11,978,486) (54,7S7,934) 
Rt!ellSll fieatiOll llio1ts 6 and Iii} (llS,992,13l} (7,69S,91O) (233,688,OSl} 
Balance at end of e 2J80!4lJ~34 6~786,173 2,447:100,107 
Nm BOllk Value • 9,l04,~7,l96 >- ... 1160,943,838 l'9, t65,931,034 

2020 
Ri, ht-of-use 

Buildingl aDd. CowtlJUCtiOl'l "'" """ """""~ irt-~ (Note 20l ""'"' ToW 
eo. 
& llnu at btgittniDg of yeat P I,OO,9'10,321 PI 4,374,11 4,937 P2.s96,5SS,086 PQ,159,l58 )0125,268,691 PI8,22.4,07 1,39S 
Addirioos (Note 20) 12,671,445 150,907,402 1,.292,9 11 ,395 2, 10 .262.1 4 1 32,936,05} 3,618,688,436 
DiJpoA.\s (672,801,997) (672,801,997) 
J>m:,,;op.itioa (Note 20) (264,m ,746) (264,490.746) 
lta:builiutioo (Notes 7, 10 

and I ii} j405,1139,77ll ~71,9S2, 1 20l Q ,889,469,48 Il (6.,867~6I J72l 

Bal .... eell end ofe 11 .9SJ.010,2 19 1,946.930.1S) 158,204,744 14.058,205,7 16 
Attwnu!&ted Dept«iation 
B&I&lICe al beainninl of year 2,042.662,904 3,551,963 2 1,00,279 2.061,298,146 
Depredation 320,245,345 39,033,505 28,78(1.830 388,059,680 
DeMcoa:nition (N~ 20) (3,396,956) (3,396,956) 
Reclauifieatloll (Notel 7. 10 ;mel 
16) (2M60,026) (23,560,026) 

Balanee 1.1 end of :tS:1r 2,339,348~23 39,188,512 49,864,109 ?:,428,400,844 
Net Book Value , P9,613,721,996 P- P 't~7!742,241 fl1 08d 40,635 P IJ ,629,804,S72 

Others include prepaid commission costs directly attributable in obtainlng the operating leases related 
to the Company's office buildings. 
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Investment properties penain to the Company's land and buildings that are currently leased to third 
parties. Borrowing costs capitalized to investment propenies amounted to nil and of' 177.5 million., for 
the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively (see Notes 13 and 14). The capitalization 
rates used range from 4.0% to 5.6% and 4.0% to 5.5% in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

On October 7, 2020, the Company sold a portion of its South Road Properties with a carrying value of 
P672.8 million for a consideration of¥737.8 million. 

As of December 31, 2021, the estimated fair value of the Company's investment properties amounted 
to 1245,429.7 million. The fair value of the invesbnent properties is computed based on the income 
approach using discounted cash flow method. Using income approach, all expected cash flows from 
the use of the assets were projected and discounted using the appropriate discount rate reflective of 
the market expectations. The valuation of investment property is categorized as Level 3 in the fair 
value hierarchy since valuation is based on unobservable inputs. The significant unobservable inputs 
used in the valuation pertains to lease income growth rate and discount rate. The fair value used by 
the Company is based on a valuation performed in 2021 by an accredited third-party appraisal who 
holds a recognized and relevant professional qualification and has recent experience in the location 
and category of the investment properties being valued. 

Rental income from investment properties amouuted to P2,31 1.4 million and P2,617.9 million in 
2021 and 2020 respectively. Tenant dues from investment properties amounted to ¥796.5 million and 
P907.3 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively (see Note 21). 

Operating expenses incurred for maintaining and operating these investment properties amounted to 
PI ,067.0 million and 1"1,018.8 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

Contractual obligations to acquire investment properties amounted to nil and fa 1 ,500.0 million as of 
December 31 , 2021 and, 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2021 , investment properties are not 
used as collateral and is not subject to any existing liens and encumbrances. 

10. Property and Equipment 

The rollforward analysis of this account follows: 

zou 
Laod Furniture 

Im2rovements a.od Fixtures Total 
Cost 
Balance at beginnlng of year PJ8,703,16Z 1'92,133,553 Pl30,836,71S 
Additions 3O~19~74 3O,219~74 

Balance at end of ~ear 38,703,162 112252,927 16120561089 
AI:(.omulatcd Depredation 
Balance at beginning of year 19,325,574 43,116,259 62,441,833 
De~reciation 350,473 16,S76,!!8S 16,927~58 
Balance at end ofxear 19,676,047 591693z144 7923692191 
Net Book Value P191027~1l5 6216591783 'P81;686Z898 

FLI00502
Text Box



- 32 -

2020 
Land Furniture 

Improvements and Fixtures Total 
Cost 
Balance at beginning of year 
Additions 
Reclassification (Notes 7 and 9) 
Balance at end of year 
Accumulated Depreciation 
Balance at beginning of year 
Depreciation 
Reclassification (Notes 7 and 9) 
Balance at end of year 
Net Book Value 

~38,703,160 

201,211 
12,002 

38,916,373 

18,975,099 
350,473 

19,325,572 
PI9,590,801 

P80,175,614 PI18,878,774 
16,559,423 16,760,634 
(4,814,695) (4,802,693) 
91,920,342 130,836,715 

44,953,352 63,928,451 
15,598,150 15,948,623 

(17,435,241) (17,435,241) 
43,116,261 62,441,833 

P48,804,081 P68,394,882 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, property and equipment is not used as collateral and is not 
subject to any encumbrances. 

11. Other Assets 

Other current assets consist of: 

Creditable withholding tax 
Input VAT - net 
Prepayments 
Others 

Less noncurrent portion of input VAT 

2021 
1'23,411,881 

12,596,885 
8,500,982 

19,545,183 
64,054,931 

1'64,054,931 

2020 

1'94,649,221 
986,282,331 

68,233,324 
33,658,745 

1,182,823,621 
1l,491,515 

Pl ,171,332,106 

Input V AT represents the taxes imposed to the Company by its suppliers and contractors for the 
acquisition of goods and services required lUlder Philippine taxation laws and regulation. This will be 
used against future output VAT liabilities or will be claimed as tax credits. Management has 
estimated that all input VAT are recoverable at its full amount. 

Creditable withholding tax are attributable to taxes withheld by third parties arising from income 
which are fully realizable and will be applied against future taxes payable. The amounts represent the 
residual after application as credit against income tax payable. 

Prepayments consist of prepaid expenses for financial charges, taxes and licenses, insurance and 
association dues. 

Others include office and maintenance supplies. 

Other noncurrent assets consist of: 

Prepaid DeS connection charges (Note 17) 
Deposits 
Input VAT - noncurrent portion 

2021 
1'197,031,019 

53,497,322 

1'250,528,341 

2020 

1'336,023,216 
40,903,155 
1l,491,515 

1'388,417,886 
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Prepaid Des connection charge is amortized using straight line method based on the contract period 
of connection. Amortization of connection fee amounting to "6.6 million and 1'16.2 miUloD in 2021 
and 2020, respectively is presented as "Others" in the parent company statement of comprehensive 
tncome. 

The roUforward analysis of Prepaid DCS connection charge follows: 

2021 2020 
Cost 
Balance at beginning afyear 1'382,860,734 1'316,250,070 
Additions (Note 17) 66,610,664 
Dcrecognition (Note 17l (135,183~08) 
Balance at end of:x:ear 247,677,426 382,860,734 
Accumulated Amortization 
Balance at beginning of year 46,837,518 30,672,764 
Amortization 6,595,943 16,164,754 
Dcrecognition (Note 17) (2,787.054) 
Balance at end of year 50,646,407 46,837,518 
Net Book Value 1'197,031,019 1'336,023,216 

In 2021, Ibe Company dererognized prepaid DeS pertaining to property dividends distributed to FLI 
(see Note 17). 

Deposits pertain to electric meter deposits and security depOSits. 

12. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 

This account consists of: 

Advances from tenants 
Accrued expenses (Note 17) 
Payable to suppliers 
Accrued interest payable (Notes 13 and 14) 
Due to related parties (Note 17) 
Payable to contractors (Note 9) 
Withholding taxes payable 
Retention payable - current portion (Note 15) 

2021 
1'477,748,494 

254,501,467 
140,045,076 
102,221,010 
86,102,391 
84,857,304 
48,507,499 
28,674,088 

1'1,222,657,329 

2020 
1'566,558,897 

262,209,073 
121,453,381 
113,036,580 
181,541,991 
123,491,053 
38,206,363 

177,214,409 
1'1,583,711,747 

Advances from tenants are advance payments received for rentals, utilities and other fees. These are 
applied against rental obligations of the tenants when they become due. 

Accrued expenses include accruals for utilities, maintenance, service and energy charges, outside 
services and other expenses. These are nonnally settled within the year. 

Retention payable account pertains to the amounts withheld by the Company from contractors' 
progress billings which are returned upon completion of their services or expiry of the contractors' 
warranty period. 
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Payable to suppliers arise from various acquisitions of materials and supplies used for construction 
and are Donnally payable within the year. 

Payable to contractors arises from progress billings received from contractors for the construction 
costs incurred by the Company. 

Accrued interest payable pertains to accrual of interest of bonds and loans outstanding as at year end. 

Withholding taxes payable consists of withholding taxes on compensation and expanded withholding 
taxes. These are normally settled within one (1) month. 

13. Loans Payable 

As of December 31, 2020, this aceOlUlt consists oC(nit as of Deccmber 31, 2021): 

Developmental loans from local banks (Note 16) 
Less current portion ofloans payable 
Noncurrent portion of loans payable 

1'2,344,166,667 
744,166,667 

1'1 ,600,000,000 

These loans ace obtained to finance the construction of buildings for rental. Developmentalloans 
from local banks will mature on various dates up to 2024. These pes<Hienominated loans bear 
floating interest rates equal to 91-day POST -F rate plus a spre-cl.d of I % per annum, prevailing market 
rate, or fixed interest rates of 4.00010 to 5.22% per annum. 

Loans availed by the Company for the years ended December 31 , 2021 and 2020 amounted to nil and 
PI ,OOO.O million, respectively. Principal payments made in 2020 amounted to P984.6 million, nil in 
2021 (see Note 27). 

Capitalized interest expense relating to loans payable amounted to PI0.0 million and P133.4 million 
in 2021 and 2020, respectively (see Notes 7 and 9). The capitalization rates used in 2021 and 2020 
ranges from 4.0% to 5.6%. 

Total interest expense charged to the parent company statements of comprehensive income amounted 
to ft7.9 million and P81.6 million in 2021 and 2020 respectively. 

On De<:ember 9, 2020, the Parent Company and FLI entered into an agreement for the assignment of 
the Parent Company's developmental loans outstanding as of November 30, 2020 amounting to 
M ,233.8 million. On December 9, 2020, the Parent Company notified the banks in writing of the 
assignment of1oans. 

As of December 31, 2021, the Parent Company received the letters of consent from all the banks 
authorizing the assignment of the loans to FLI. As of December 31 , 2021, total loans payable 
assigned to FLI and derecognized in the parent company statement of fmancial position amounted to 
P3,863.0 million, inclusive of amounts derecognized as of December 31,2020 amounting to 
Pl ,518.8 million. 

In December 2020, FLI also paid total principal installment due amounting to 11370.8 million on 
behalf of the Parent Company. The principal installment paid by FLI and the portion of the 
derecognized loans were recognized as deposit for future stock subscription as of December 31, 2020 
(see Note 16). 
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The Company' s loans payable is unsecured, and no assets are held as collateral for these debts. The 
agreements covering the abovementioned loans require maintaining certain financial ratios including 
debt-to-equity ratio and interest coverage ratio. 

The agreements also provide for restrictions and requirements with respect to, among others, making 
substantial change in present management and ownership structure; acquisition of any shares of 
stock; sale, lease or transfer and disposal of all or a substantial part of its assets, except in the ordinary 
course of business; and entering into any merger, consolidation or reorganization. As of 
December 31, 2021, and 2020, the Company is not in breach of these covenants and has not been 
cited in default on any of its outstanding obligation. 

14. Bonds Payable 

On July 7, 2017, the Company issued fixed rate bonds with aggregate principal amount of 
P6,OOO.0 million and tenn offive and a half (5.5) years from the issue date or in January 2023. The 
fixed rate is 5.05% per anmnn, payable quarterly in arrears starting October 7, 2017. As of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the outstanding balance of bonds payable amounted to 
P5,987.0 million and ¥5,974.2 million, respectively. 

'The bonds are redeemable at 100% of face value on maturity date, which is January 7, 2023, unless 
the Company exercises its early redemption option. Interest expense which was capitalized relating 
to bonds payable amounted to nil and PI08.8 million in 2021 and 2020, ·respectively 
(see Notes 7 and 9). 

Total interest expense charged to the parent company statements of comprehensive income amounted 
to 11307.2 million and P'199.2 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

Unamortized debt issuance cost on bonds payable amounted ¥13.0 million and P25.8 million as of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Amortization of transaction costs included lll1der 
"Interest and other financing charges" in the parent company statements of comprehensive income 
amounted to P'12.9 million and 11'12.8 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

'The bonds require the Company to maintain a maximum debt-to-equity ratio of2.33x and minimum 
debt service coverage ratio of I.Ix. As of December 31, 2021, and 2020, the Company is not in 
breach of these financial covenants and has not been cited in default on any of its outstanding 
obligation. 

15. Other Liabilities 

Security and other deposits 
Security and other deposits are applied to any outstanding obligations of the tenants at the end of the 
lease tenn or upon pre-tennination. 

The current and noncurrent portion of security and other deposits follows: 

Current portion 
Noncurrent portion 

2021 
1'96,987,598 
654,002,829 

1'750,990,427 

2020 
1'116,414,891 

732,659,169 
1'849,074,060 
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Other noncurrent liabilities 
As of December 31, 2020, this account consists of (nil as of December 31 , 2021): 

Retention payable - net of current portion 
Retirement liabilities (Note 18) 

16. Equity 

Paid-up Capital 

1'296,558,325 
3,827,357 

1'300,385,682 

Details of the Parent Company's capital stock as of December 31 follow: 

Authorized number afshares 
Balances at beginning of year 
Increase in authorized capital stock (a) 

Issued and outstanding 
Balances at beginning of year 
Issuance of new shares 

2021 
Shares Amount 

4,000,000,000 P2,OOO,OOO,OOO 
5,131,849,000 

2021 
Shares Amount 

2,326,853,336 Pl,I63,426,668 
1,282,962,329 1,282,962,329 

The NAV per share as of December 31, 2021 is 119.07. 

2020 
Shares AmOlUlt 

2,000,000,000 P2,OOO,OOO,OOO 

2020 
Sh~ Amount 

1,163,426,668 11'1,163,426,668 

On :gecember 4,2020, the 800 approved the increase in the Parent Company's authorized capital 
stock to 1114,985.0 million divided into 10,800.0 million common shares with a par value ofll1.00 per 
share and 4,185.0 million preferred shares with a par value oflll.00. The Parent Company filed the 
application for the increase in authorized capital stock with the SEC on December 22, 2020. 

On December 15, 2020, FLI subscribed to 2,700.0 million common shares and 1,046.3 million 
preferred shares out of the Parent Company's proposed increase in authorized capital stock. The 
consideration for the subscription amounting to P3,746.3 million shall be taken from the loans 
payable assigned to FLI (see Note 13). 

As of December 31, 2020, deposit for future stock subscription amounted to 111 ,889.6 million, 
respectively, inclusive of the assigned loans payable amounting to Pl,518.8 million and principal 
installments on loans paid by FLI on behalf of the Parent Company prior to assignment of loans in 
December 2020 amounting to 11370.8 million (see Note 13). 

On March 5, 2021, the BOD and the stockholders approved the reduction of the par value of the 
common shares of the Parent Company, from 1t1.00 per share to PO.50, resulting in a stock split 
whereby every existing one (1) common share with par value ofIlI.OO each will become 
two (2) common shares with par value of¥0.50 each. They further approved an amendment to the 
increase in authorized capital stock, from 122,000.0 million divided into 2,000.0 million common 
shares with a par value of:ll1.00 per share to P7, 13 1.8 million divided into 14,263,698,000 common 
shares with a par value of1l0.50 per share (see Note 23). 
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On March 12,2021, FLI subscribed to 2,565.9 million common shares out of the Parent Company's 
proposed amendment to the increase in authorized capital stock amounting to¥3,746.3 million 
superseding FLI's subscription to the Parent Company's shares on December 15, 2020. The Parent 
Company submitted the application for the reduction of par value and the amendment to the increase 
in authorized capital stock with the SEC on March 18, 2021. 

On July 2, 2021, these amendments have been approved by the SEC and the outstanding deposit for 
future stock subscription amounting to ¥l,889.6 million was applied against FLI's subscription to 
common stock. The Parent Company recorded APIC amounting to P2,518.4 million, net of stock 
issuance costs. The Parent Company incurred transaction costs incidental to the IPO that are directly 
attributable to the issuance or subscription of new shares amounting to 147.8 million in 2021. 

As of December 31, 2021, there are 13,067 holders of security of the Parent Company. 

Retained Earnings 
Appropriation 
On December 4, 2020, the BOD approved the release of its previous appropriation from its retained 
earnings amounting to ¥6,300.0 million. This pertains to previous appropriations made to fund 
projects already completed or transferred, thus will not require any appropriations anymore. 

Declaration of Property Dividends 
On February II, 2021, the BOD approved the declaration of the operational office buildings FLI 
Edsa, IT School, Concentrix Building (Convergys Building) and Cebu Tower 2 as property dividends. 
The aggregate carrying value of the properties amounted to:P1 ,69004 million (see Note 6). 

On December 4, 2020, the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of buildings Filinvest 
Axis Towers 2, 3 and 4, and SRP Lot 2 with carrying value amounting to ¥6,611.9 million 
(see Note 6). 

The distribution of these properties was made upon approval by the SEC on July 15, 2021. 

Declaration of Cash Dividends 
The following table shows the cash dividends declared by the Parent Company's BOD on the 
outstanding capital stock: 

Declaration date 
August 31, 2021 
November 18, 2021 

Record date 
September 15,2021 
December 3, 2021 

Dividend per 
common shares 

PO.112 
0.112 

Total 
dividends declared 

P547,991,135 
547,991,135 

Payment date 
September 30, 2021 
December 20, 2021 

After reconciling items, the Company's retained earnings available for dividend declaration as of 
December 31,2021 and 2020 amounted to PI,018.9 million and :Pl,680.9 million, respectively. 

The following table shows how the Company computes for its dividend per share: 

a. Dividends 
b. Weighted average number of outstanding 

common shares 
Dividends per share (alb) 

2021 
1'2,786,409,060 

3,514,911,602 
1'0.79 

2020 
1'6,611,906,765 

1,163,426,668 
1'5.68 
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Distributable Income under the IRR QfREIT Act of 2009 
Under the Revised hnplementing Ru1es and Regulations ofREIT Act of2009, section 4c, the Parent 
Company shall present a computation of its distributable dividend taking into consideration 
requirements under the provisions of the Act and the Rule. Distributable income is not a measure of 
perfonnance under the PFRS. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the distributable income 
amounted to ¥1,855.1 million, inclusive of distributable income from January 1 to August 11, 2021 
(pre-REIT listing) and August 12 to December 31, 2021 (post-REIT listing) amounting to 
111,316.4 million and ¥538.7 million, respectively. 

Capital Management 
The Company's primary objective is to maintain its current sound financial condition and strong debt 
service capabilities, as well as to continuously implement a prudent financial management program. 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions. It closely monitors its capital and cash positions and carefully manages its 
capital expenditures. Furthermore, the Company may also, from time to time, seek other sources of 
funding, which may include debt or equity issues, depending on its financing needs and market 
conditions. The Company monitors capital using a debt-to-equity ratio, which is totallong-tenn debt 
divided by total stockholders' equity. The Company includes within debt, interest-bearing loans and 
external borrowings whether in the fonn of long-tenn notes, bonds, and lease liabilities. 

The following table shows how the Company computes for its debt-to-equity ratio: 

Bonds payable (Note 14) 
Lease liabilities (Note 20) 
Loans payable (Note 13) 

Equity 
Debt-to-eguity ratio 

2021 
P5,987,044,949 

27,838,182 

6,014,883,131 
5,982,498,127 

1.01:1 

2020 
1'5,974,168,846 

2,190,115,165 
2,344,166,667 

10,508,450,678 
5,106,064,860 

2.06:1 

As a REIT entity, the Parent Company is subject to externally imposed capital requirements from its 
debt covenants and based on the requirements of the Aggregate Leverage Limit under the REIT 
Implementing Rules and Regulations. Thus, the Parent Company bas made adjustments to its policies 
and processes for managing capital for the year ended December 31, 2021. Per Section 8 of the REIT 
Implementing Rules and Regulations issued by the SEC, the total borrowings and deferred payments 
of a REIT should not exceed thirty-five percent (35%) of its Deposited Property; provided, however, 
that the total borrowings and deferred payments of a REIT that has a publicly disclosed investment 
grade credit rating by a duly accredited or internationally recognized rating agency may exceed thirty­
five percent (35%) but not more than seventy percent (70%) of its Deposited Property. Provided, 
further, that in no case shall a Fund Manager, borrow for the REIT from any of the funds under its 
management 

As of December 31, 2021, the fair value of the deposited properties amounted to 1152,379.5 million, 
resulting to a debt ratio of 11.4%. The Parent Company is compliant to this Aggregate Leverage 
Limit. 

17. Related Party Transactions 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the 
other party in making financial and operating decisions or the parties are subject to common control 
or common significant influence (referred herein as affiliates). Related parties may be individuals or 
corporate entities. 
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All material Related Party Transactions ("RPT") with a transaction value that reaches ten percent 
(10%) oftbe Company's total assets shall be subject to the review by the RPT Committee. 

Transactions that were entered into with an unrelated party that subsequently becomes a related party 
shall be excluded from the limits and approval of the Policy on Related Party Transactions ("Policy"). 
However, any renewal, change in the tenns and conditions or increase in exposure level, related to 
these transactions after a non-related party becomes a related party, shall subject it to the provisions 
of the Policy. In the event wherein there are changes in the RPT classification from non-material to 
material, the material RPT shall be subject to the provisions oftbe Policy. 

Outstanding balances as at December 31, 2Q21 anti 202Q are unsecured, interest free and require 
settlement in cash, unless othelWise stated. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has not 
made any provision for impaiIment loss relating to amounts owed by related parties. This assessment 
is undertaken each financial year by examining the financial position of the related party and the 
market in which the related party operates. 

A summary of the Company's related party transactions are shown in the table below: 

2021 
AmounV Outstanding 
Volume balance Terms Conditions No" 

Bank under common control 
Cash and cash equivalents 112,219,841,487 112,21',841,487 0.10 10"10 to 3.75% No impaimJent 17 Ca) 
Interest income 4,062,940 

112,223,904,427 112,219,841.487 
Trade receivables (Note 5) 
Parent Company Noninterest-bearing; 

Rental revenue 1125,827,386 114,140,316 due and demandable Unsecured 17 (b) 
Affiliate 

Nonintcrest-bearing; 
collectible every 20th 

Rental revenu e 96,513,930 29,374,766 day of the month Unsecured 17 (0) 
Service fee income (Note 21) 31,381.132 Noninterest-bearing Unscrured 17 (0) 
Commission income (Note 21) Noninterest-bearing U~==d 17 (d) 

.153,722,448 1133,515,082 
Other Noncurrent Asset 
Affiliate 

DCS connection charge 
(Note 11) (148,925,007) 11203,626,962 No impainnent 17 (f) 

Connection fees (Note 11) (9,568,811) (6,595,943) 
(lt138,992,19?) 11'197,031,019 

Accounts payable and accrued 
expenses (Note 12) 

Parent Company 
Nonintercst-bearing; 

Rental expense (11'41,183,886) (11'41,183,886) payable on demand Unsecured 17 (e) 
A.ffiliate 

Service and energy fees (12,276,703) (34,050,962) Noninterest-bearing Unsecured 17 (f) 

Affiliate 
Noninterest-bemng; 

Service fee (9,925,905) (4,024,132) on demand Unsecured 17 (d) 
Management fee, 

(Forward) 
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Lease liabilities 
Parent Company 

Lease liabilities (Note 20) 
Other N9!!CUITeIlt Liabilities 
Parent Company 

Security deposit 
Affiliate 

Bank under common control 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Interest income 

Trade receivables (Note 5) 
Parent Company 

Rental revenue 
Affiliate 

Rental revenue 
Service fee income (Note 21) 
Commission income (Note 21) 

Other NoncUiTCIlt Asset 
A.ffiliate 

DCS connection charge 
(Note 11) 

Connection fees (Note 12) 

Accounts payable and accrued 
~(NoteI2) 

Parent Comp<my 
Rental expense 

Affiliate 

Advances 
Accrued interest 
Service and energy fees 

(Note 20) 
Rental expense 

A.ffiliate 
Service fcc 

Management fee and 
manpower cost 

(Forward) 

Amount! 
Volume 

(112,1(i2,276,983) 

P549,299 

Amount! 
Vo"""" 

P738,640,5i5 
3,908,966 

P742,549,481 

1124,965,196 

88,007,272 
8,990,356 

23,166,200 
1'145,129,024 

1'15,266,182 

PI5,266,1E2 

(p-304,190,850) 

(350,OOO,OOO) 
(9,966,667) 

(290,551,981) 
(4,467,493) 

(35,361,288) 

(11:994,538,219) 
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Outstanding 
balance 

.-
(P7,827,359) 

Outstanding 
balance 

1'738,640,515 

P738,640,515 

(1;306,370 

146,729 

1'453,099 

1'352,187,969 
(16,164,153) 

1'336,023,216 

P-

(46,327,665) 

(13,950,031) 

(lI60,211 ,102) 

2021 

Noninterest-bearing; 
payable 

2020 

T_ 

0.1010% to 3.75% 

Noninterest-bearing; 
due and demandable 

Noninterest-beMing; 
collectible every 20th 

day of the month 
N oninterest-bearing 
Nonintercst-bearing 

Nonintcrest-bearing; 
payable on demand 

Interest-bearing at 6.0%, 
payable on demlllld 
Noninterest-bearing 
Noninterest-bearing; 
payable on demand 
Noninterest-benring 
Noninterest-bearing; 
payable on demand 

Noninterest-bearing; 
payable on demand 

Conditions No~ 

Unsecured 17 (c) 

Unsecured 17 (b) 

Conditions No~ 

No impairment 17 (a) 

Unsecured 17 (b) 

Unsecured 17 (b) 
Unsecured 17 (d) 
Unsecured 11 Cd) 

No impairment 11 Cf) 

Unsecured 11 eel 

Unsecured 
Unsecured 11 (e) 

Unsecured 17 (f) 
Unsecured 11 Ccl 

Unsecured 
11 (d) 

Unsecured 
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Lease liabilities 
Parent Company 

Lease liabilities {Note 20} 
Other NonCUrrent Liabilities 
Parent Company 

Security deposit 
Affiliate 

Security dep08its 

Amount! 
Volume 

(fl:2,149,362,141) 

(F7,278,060) 

(12,018,424) 
(pJ9,296,484) 
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Outstanding 
balance 

(f2,190,115,165) 

(117,278,060) 

(14,133,746) 
(P21,41 1,806) 

Significant related party transactions are as follows. 

2020 

Conditions No'" 

Noninterest-bearing; 
payable Unsecured 17 (e) 

Noninterest-be,aring; 
payable Unsecured 17 (b) 

Noninterest-bearing; 
payable Unsecured 17 (b) 

a) The Company maintains savings accounts and short-term deposits with East West Banking 
Corporation (EW), an affiliated bank. Cash and cash equivalents earn interest at the prevailing 
short-term investment rates. 

b) Lease agreements with related parties - Company as lessor 

The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with FLI, for the office 
space in one of the Parent Company's buildings. Lease period is from December 6, 2021 to 
December 5, 2031. 

The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Filinvest Alabang, 
Inc. (F AI), an entity under common control, for the office spaces in the Parent Company's 
buildings. Lease period is from September 2, 2019 to September 1, 2024 for Axis Tower 1 and 
April 1 , 2021 to March 31, 2031 for Vector One office. 

The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Pro-Excel Property 
Managers, Inc. (PEPMI), an affiliate, for the office space in one ofthe Parent Company's 
buildings. Lease period is from July 15, 2020 to July 14, 2025. The lease was pre-terminated as a 
result of the property dividend distribution effective July 14, 2021. 

The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Dreambuilders Pro, 
Inc. (DPI), a fellow subsidiary under FLI, for the office space in one of the Parent Company's 
buildings. Lease period is from August 10, 2017 to October 9,2022. The lease was 
pre-tenninated as a result of the property dividend distribution effective July 14, 2021. 

The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Chroma Hospitality, 
Inc., a fellow subsidiary under FLI, for the office space in one of the Parent Company's 
buildings. Lease period is from June 2, 2017 to June I, 2027. 

The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a lease agreement with Festival Supennall, Inc. 
(FSI), a fellow subsidiary under FLI, for the office space in one of the Parent Company's 
buildings. Lease period is from June 2, 2017 to June 1,2027. 

The Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a space rental agreement with Corporate 
Technologies Inc (CTI), for the office space in one of the Parent Company's buildings. Leasing 
period is from November 15, 2018 to November 14, 2023. 
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c) Lease agreements with related parties - Company as lessee 

The Parent Company, as a lessee, entered into a land lease agreement with FLI on the location of 
the buildings currently leased to third parties and on those still under construction. Rental 
expense is based on certain percentages of the Parent Company's gross rental income. 

In 2020, the Parent Company's lease agreement was amended as follows (see Note 20): 
• the Parent Company shall pay either a minimum guaranteed rent or a percentage share from 

Gross Lease, whichever is higher, effective July 1, 2020; and, 
• the lease terms were extended for an additional term of25 years. 

In 2021, the Parent Company's lease agreement was amended as follows (see Note 20): 
• rental rates shall be solely variable (10% or 15% based on Gross Lease Income); and, 
• in case of redevelopment, FLI and the Parent Company shall mutually agree on the minimum 

monthly rent during construction period. 
• lease period shall be in full force and effect for a period of 50 years which shall commence on 

February 11, 2021 and shall expire on February 10, 2071. 

In addition, the Parent Company, as a lessee, entered into a land lease agreement with FA! on the 
location of the parking currently leased out to third parties. Rental is based on a certain 
percentage of income earned from the parking space. 

d) Service agreements with related parties 

• The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with F AI whereby the Parent 
Company shall pay service fees for general management services rendered by the latter for 
the operations of the Parent Company. FA! is also the provider of water services within the 
Filinvest City where majority of the buildings of the Parent Company are located. 

• The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with Filinvest Cyberparks, Inc. (FCI), 
and Filinvest Asia Corp. (F AC), entities under cornman control, whereby the Parent 
Company shall lease out a portion of its office space and perform accounting and 
administrative services to the latter for a fee. 

• The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with FDC Retail Electricity Sales, 
Corporation (FDC RES), an entity under common control, whereby the Parent Company shall 
engage and pay the services rendered by the latter to provide the electricity requirements of 
its facilities. 

• The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with its affiliate, Parking Pro, Inc., to 
operate and maintain the Parent Company's parking facilities. 

• The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with ProOffice, an affiliate, whereby 
the Parent Company shall engage and pay the services rendered by the latter to operate 
maintain, manage, and market each Property, subject to the overall management and 
directions of the Fund Manager. 
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• The Parent Company entered inlo a service agreement with FREIT Fund Manager. inc. 
(FFMl), an affiliate, whereby the Parent Company shall engage and pay the services rendered 
by the latter to execute and implement the investment strategies for the Company. 

• The Parent Company entered into a facilities management agreement with Professional 
Operations and Maintenance Experts Incorporated (PROMEI), whereby the Parent Company 
shall engage and pay the services rendered by the latter to operate and maintain its equipment 
and premises. 

• The Parent Company entered into a service agreement with CTl, whereby the Company shall 
engage and pay for varied information and technology services. Services shall include 
application development, apps support and system maintenance, system application, software 
licensing and administration, internet bandwidth aIJocation, network, database and server 
management plus desktop and telecom support 

e) On February 27, 2019, the Parent Company availed advances from Fe! amounting 
Jl3oo,0 million. The Parent Company availed additional advances amounting to 1150.0 million on 
April 1, 2020. These advances were all paid in 2020. Related interest amounting Jl6.0 million 
was incurred by the Parent Company. 

f) BOT Agreement 
In accordance with the terms of Build Operate and Transfer (BOT) agreement between the Parent 
Company and Philippine DCS Development Corporation (pDDC), the Parent Company paid 
prepaid DCS connection charges to PDDC amowlting to P'248.9 million, to be consumed by 
existing and future buildings within Northgate Cyberzone in Muntinlupa City over the service 
period of 20 years. 

Amortized portion of DeS connection charge pertaining to existing buildings amounted to 
P12.6 million and ¥IS.O million in 2021 and 2020, respectively, These amounts were recognized 
as part of utilities expense in parent company statement of comprehensive income (see Note 2). 
In 2021, the Company derecognized prepaid DeS amounting P: 132.4 million pertaining to 
property dividends distributed and was charged to FLI. Connection and service charges incurred 
for these buildings as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, aggregated to P 197.0 million and 
¥336,0 million, respectively (see Note 11). 

g) Deed of ASSignment of BTO rights to FLI 
On February 26, 2021, the Parent Company entered into an agreement with FLI assigning its right 
to manage and operate the Towers 3 and 4 ofFilinvest Cebu Cyberzone Towers under the BTO 
Agreement and Agreement for Transfer and Conveyance, The consideration ammmting to 
Jl966.1 million was settled in November 2021. 

Key Management Personnel 
The key management functions of the Company are handled by Fel starting March 2021. For the 
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, compensation of other key management personnel directly 
paid by the Company pertains to short-term employee benefit amounting 111 .5 million and 
119.7 million, respectively. 

18. Retirement Cost 

The Company has a noncontributory, fimded defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all 
of its officers and regular employees. Under the PIan. all covered officers and employees are entitled 
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to cash benefits after satisfying certain age and service requirements. The retirement plan provides 
retirement benefits (equivalent to 70% to 125% of the final monthly salary for every year of service) 
after satisfying certain age and service requirements, The Company accrues retirement costs 
(included in "Retirement liability" in the parent company statements offmancial position) based on 
an actuarially detennined amount using the PUC method. 

Under the existing regulatory framework, Republic Act No. 7641 requires a provision for retirement 
pay to qualified private sector employees in the absence of any retirement plan in the entity, provided 
however that the employee's retirement benefits under any collective bargaining and other 
agreements shall not be less than those provided under the law. The law does not require minimum 
funding of the plan. The Company updates the actuarial valuation by hiring the services of a third 
party professionally qualified actuary. 

As of December 31 , 2021 , the Company has no remaining employees and the administrative 
functions were transferred to FCI (see Note 17). The retirement obligation outstanding as of 
December 31,2020 bas been reclassified 10 <Due to related parties' w}(Jer accounts payable and 
accrued expenses in the parent company statements of financial position. 

The following tables sununarize the components of"Pcnsion expense" recognized in the parent 
company statements of comprehensive income and "Retirement liability" recognized as part of other 
noncurrent liabilities in the parent company statements of financial position for the existing 
retirement plan as of December 31,2020. 

The funded status and amounts recognized in the parent company statements of fmancial position for 
the pension plan follow: 

Present value of defined benefit obligation 
Fair value of plan assets 
Net pension liabilities 

1'5,141,352 
(1 ,3\3,995) 

1'3,827,357 

In 2020, the recognized pension expense in profit or loss amounted to 110.49 million and the 
remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive income amoWlted to PI .3 mlilion. 

Cbanges in the present value of tbe defined benefit obligation follow: 

Balance at beginning of year 
Current service cost 
Interest expense 
AmOWlt to be recognized in OCI 
Transfers 
Balance at end of year 

Changes in the fair value of plan assets follow: 

Balance at beginning of year 
Contribution 
Interest income 
Remeasurement losses on plan assets 
Transfers 
Balance at end of year 

2021 
1'5,141,352 

(5,141,352) 

2021 
1'1,313,995 

(1,313,995) 

2020 
1'1 ,832,889 

457,912 
141,394 

2,709,157 

1'5,141,352 

2020 
I'-

1,419,104 
112,\09 

(217,218) 
(217,218) 

1'1 ,3 13,995 
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As of December 31, 2020, the plan asset amounting to ~1.3 million pertains to cash. The Company 
reviews the level of funding required for the retirement plan. The Company's objective is to match 
maturities of the plan assets to the retirement benefit obligation as they fall due. The Company 
monitors how the duration and expected yield of the investments are matching the expected cash 
outflows arising from the benefit obligations. 

Maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments as of December 31, 2020 follows: 

Year 1 1'4,429 
Year 2 5,408 
Year 3 6,639 
Year 4 8,258 
Year 5 10,241 
Year 6 to 50 102,562,979 

The principal assumptions used in determining pension benefits as of December 31, 2020 includes 
diScOlUlt rate and salary increase rate of 4.1 % and 8.0%, respectively. 

The sensitivity analysis below has been detennined based on reasonably possible changes of each 
significant asswnption on the defined benefit obligation (per 100 basis points) assuming all other 
assumptions were held constant: 

Discount rates 

Salary rates 

Increase (Decrease) 
(18%) 

24% 
22% 

(17%) 

Impact on DBO 
Increase (Decrease) 

(1'4,193,468) 
6,349,599 
6,296,529 

(4,253,434) 

Management believes that pension obligation will not be sensitive to the salary rate increases because 
it is expected to be at the same level of the remaining life of the obligation. 

19. Income Tax 

On June 6, 2000, the Company was registered with the Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA) 
pursuant to the provisions of Republic Act 7916 as an Economic Zone (ECOZONE) Facilities 
Enterprise. As a registered enterprise, the Company is entitled to certain tax benefits and non-tax 
incentives such as exemption from payment of national and local taxes and in lieu thereof a special 
tax rate of five percent (5%) of gross income. The Company is also entitled to zero percent (0%) 
value added tax for sales made to ECOZONE enterprises. 

The breakdown of provision for income tax shown in the parent company statements of 
comprehensive income follows: 

At 5% statutory income tax rate 
Net result from noo-PEZA activities: 

Current 
Deferred 

2021 
1135,471,289 

82,180,646 
(269,648,113) 

(1'151,996,178) 

2020 
1'70,860,967 

160,289,059 
(114,258,532) 

1'116,891 ,494 
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The current provision for income tax represents RClT in 2021 and 2020. Prior to the Parent 
Company's listing date on August 12, 2021, the Parent Company recognized provision for income tax 
amounting to PI17. 7 million. The Parent Company started to avail of its tax incentive as a RElT after 
its listing. 

As of December 31 . 2021, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based 00 the Company's 
effective tax rate of 0% under the REIT law. As of December 31, 2020, the components of the 
Company's net deferred tax assets (liability) follows: 

Presented ill profit or loss 

Deferred tax assets 
Lease liabilities 
Advance rentals 
Provision for future major repairs 
Accrual of pension obligation 
Provision for doubtful accounts 
Unrea1iud foreign CUIreI1.CY exchange loss 

Deferred tax liabilities 
Capitalized borrowing costs 
Adjustment related to straight-line recognition 

of rental revenue 
Right-of-use assets 

Prnenleti i" Del 
Deferred tax asset on net actuarial gains on pension 

liability 

P200,OO2,363 
66,779,445 

1,812,946 
514,052 

85,577 
13,067 

269,207,450 

(258,925,373) 

378,000 
(1'269,939 ,889) 

The reconciliation of provision for income tax at the statutory tax rate to provision for income tax 
shown in the parent company statements of comprehensive income follows: 

Tax at starutory rate 
Adjusnnents for. 

Income tax at 5% preferential 
",te 

Nontaxable income 
Additional deductible expense 

from dividends 
Adjustment to current tax in 

2020 recognized in 2021 
Movements in deferred taxes 
Interest income subjected to 

final tax 

2021 
PI51,788,989 

(141,885,155) 
(13,017,816) 

(273,995,568) 

(13,483,850) 
140,170,421 

(1,573,199) 
(p151,996,178) 

2020 
P593,3 19,985 

(283,413,371) 
(1,752,758) 

(185,604,025) 

(5,658,337) 
PI 16,891,494 

On March 26, 2021, President Rodrigo Duterte signed into law the CREATE Act which eyes to 
attract more investments and maintain fiscal prudence and stability in the Philippines. Republic Act 
(RA) 11534 or the CREATE Act introduces reform to the corporate income tax and incentives 
systems which took effect 15 days after its complete publication in the Official Gazette or in a 
newspaper of general circulation, on April I!, 2021. 

Ilillllllllnllll 
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As a resuJt of the CREATE law, the regular cotpOrale income taX (ReIT) rate decreased from 30% to 
25% effective July 1, 2020. As a result of the reduction in RCIT rate, the provision for current tax for 
the year eoded December 31, 2020 decreased by 1113.5 millioD and the creditable withholding tax as 
of December 31, 2020 increased by II: (3.5 million. For financial reporting purposes, these changes 
are recognized in the parent company financial statements as of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2021 in accordance with PIC Q&A 2020-07, Accounting for the Proposed Changes in 
Income Tax Rates under the CREATE Bill dated January 27, 2021 . 

Effective August 12,2021, as a REIT entity, the Parent Company is entitled to the following: (a) not 
subject to 2% minimum corporate income tax (MCIT), (b) exemption from value-added tax (VAT) 
and documentary stamp tax (DST) on the transfer of property in exchange of its shares, 
(c) deductibility of dividend distribution from its taxable income, and (d) fifty percent (50%) of the 
standard DST rate of the transfer of real property into the Company, including the sale or transfer of 
any and all secwity interest there to, provided they have complied with the requirements under RA 
No. 9856 and Implementing Rules and Regulations (IRR) ofRA No. 9856. 

20. Leases 

Company as lessee 
The Parent Company bas lease contracts for land as of January 1,2019. The Parent Company 's 
obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor's title to the leased assets. The Parent Company 
bas entered into land lease arrangements with lease terms of between 25 and 40 years. There are 
several leases that include extension option to lease the assets for additional 25 years based on mutual 
agreement of the parties. The remaining lease term of the ROU assets range from 16 to 39 years. 

The Parent Company's lease contract with Cebu Government pertaining to the BrO rights are 
presented under Intangible assets while the lease contracts with a third party and FLI are presented 
under Investment properties. 

On July I, 2020, the Parent Company and FLI amended their existing lease contract. The pertinent 
amendment provisions include the extension of the tenn of the lease to another 25 years and to set a 
minimum fIxed rental rate. This resulted to an addition to ROU assets and lease liabilities amounting 
P2,149.3 million at contract amendment date (see Note 9). 

On March I, 2021 , the Parent Company and FLI amended their existing lease contract The pertinent 
amended proviSions include removal of the requirement to pay minimum lease and that rental rates 
shall be solely variable (I.e., 1()o/o or 15% of gross lease income depending on the floor to area ratio). 
In case of redevelopment, FLI and the Parent Company shall murually agree on the minimum 
monthly rent during construction period (see Note 17). 

On March 31 , 2021, the Parent Company entered into an agreement with FLI assigning its right to 
manage and operate the Towers 3 and 4 of Filinvest Cebu Cyberzone Towers under the BTO 
Agreement and Agreement for Transfer and Conveyance. 

The above transactions resulted to derecognition of right of use assets and lease liabilities amounting 
to PI ,979.0 million and P2,168.2 million, respectively. and recognition of gain on derecognition of 
lease liabilities amounting P189.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. 

Ali of December 31, 2020, the Company derecognized a portion of lease liability and right of use 
asset with a carrying value ofP267.5 million and P261.7 million, respectively, attributable to property 
dividends declared (see Note 9). 

11111 ••• 11111111111111111111 

FLI00502
Text Box



- 48-

The rollforward analysis of right-of-use assets on land follows: 

COlit 
At January 1 
Derecognition 
As at December 31 
Accumulated Depreciation 
At January I 
Depreciation 

Cost 
At January 1 
Additions 
Derecognition 
As at December 31 

Accumulated Depreciation 
At January 1 
Depreciation 

Net Book Value 

Investment 
Properties 

(Note 9) 

Pl,946,93O, 753 
(1,946,930,753) 

Investment 
Properties 

(Note 9) 

P62,159,358 
2,149,262,141 

(264,490,746) 
1,946,930,753 

3,551,963 

, 
111,907,742,241 

2021 
Intangible 

A"", 
(Note ?) 

P112,423,917 
(90,347,379) 
22,076,538 

8,993,914 

2020 
Intangible 

A"", 
(Note 7) 

P-112,423,917 

112,423,917 

4,496,957 
4,496,957 

, 
PI03,430,003 

Total 

P-2,059,354,670 
(2,037,278,132) 

22,076,538 

Total 

P-174,583,275 
2,149,262,141 

(264,490,746) 
2,059,354,670 

8,048,920 

P2,OI1,172,244 

The following are the amounts recognized in the parent company statement of comprehensive 
income: 

Depreciation expense of right~of~use assets 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 
Rental expense (variable land lease payments) 

2021 
P12,772,233 

20,275,856 
271,083,960 

1'304,132,049 

2020 

1'43,530,462 
72,540,219 

297,968,918 
1'414,039,599 

Interest expense which was capitalized during the year relating to lease liability amounted to 
Itl.l million and P14.6 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. The capitalization rates used range 
from 4.7% to 5.19% in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

The rollforward analysis oflease liabilities follows: 

At January 1 
Additions 
Interest expense 
Payments 

2021 
¥2,190,115,165 

20,275,856 
(14,397,140) 

~A~t~D~~~e~m~b~e~,~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Lesscunentponion 1,848,085 
Lease liabilities ~ net of current portion 1'25,990,097 

2020 
¥283 ,428,528 
2,149,262,141 

72,540,219 
(47,613,247) 

92,617,060 
P2,097,498,105 
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The Company also has certain lease of land with variable rental payments and lease of office space 
considered as "low-value assets". The Company applies the lease of 'low-value assets' recognition 
exemptions for these leases. 

Total cash outflow related to principal payments oflease liabilities for the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 amounted to ¥15.6 million and 1147.6 million, respectively. 

Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted lease payments: 

Maturity 
1 year 
more than 1 years to 2 years 
more than 2 years to 3 years 
more than 3 years to 4 years 
more than 5 years 

Company as lessor 

2021 
Pl,894,287 

1,989,001 
2,088,451 
2,192,874 

63,198,521 

2020 
1'92,617,061 

97,457,093 
102,553,769 
107,920,946 

5,332,476,996 

As lessor, future minimum rental receivables under renewable operating leases follows: 

Within one year 
After one year but not more than five years 
After five years 

2021 
1'2,373,747,721 

5,940,841,604 
1,261,526,105 

119,576,115,430 

2020 
1'2,831,168,803 

8,429,851,003 
5,568,619,525 

1'16,829,639,331 

The Company entered into lease agreements with third parties and related parties covering real estate 
properties. These leases generally provide for either (a) fixed monthly rent (b) minimum rent or a 
certain percentage of gross revenue, whichever is higher. Most lease terms on commercial malls are 
renewable within one year, except for anchor tenants with lease ranging from 5 to 15 years 
(see Note 17). 

Rental income recognized based on a percentage of the gross revenue of mall tenants included in 
"Rental revenue" account in the parent company statement of comprehensive income amounted to 
1110.9 million and¥15.0 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

21. Other Income 

This account consists of: 

Tenant dues (Notes 7 and 9) 
Service fee income (Note 17) 
Commission income (Note 17) 
Miscellaneous 

2021 
1'869,351,782 

31,381,132 

21,989,755 
1'922,722,669 

Miscellaneous income pertains to penalties and charges from tenants. 

2020 
(As restated, 

see Note 2) 
1'999,318,508 

8,990,356 
23,166,200 
17,107,378 

1'1,048,582,442 
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22. Interest Income 

This account consists of: 

Interest income on: 
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 4 and 17) 
Others (Note 5) 

2021 

1'6,347,170 
3,639,226 

1'9,986,396 

2020 

1'3,908,966 

1'3,908,966 

Others consist mainly of interest and penalties on late rental payment of tenants. 

23. Earnings Per Share 

The Parent Company's earnings per share for the years ended December 31 are computed as follows: 

a. 
h. Weighted average number of outstanding 

common shares 
BasiclDiluted EPS (alb) 

3,514,911,602 
1'0.53 

2,326,853,336 
1'0.80 

The Company assessed that there were no potential dilutive common shares in 2021 and 2020. 

The weighted average outstanding common shares consider the effect of the stock split approved by 
the Parent Company's BOD and stockholder on March 5, 2021 (see Note 16). The EPS for the years 
ended December 31, 2020 was also adjusted to consider this stock split. 

24. Segment Reporting 

The Company has detennined that it is operating as one operating segment Based on management's 
assessment, no part or component of the business of the Company meets the qualifications of an 
operating segment as defined by PFRS 8, Operating Segments. 

The Company's leasing operations is its only income generating activity and such is the measure used 
by the chief operating decision maker (CODM) in allocating resources. The Company does not 
report its results based on geographical segments. The Company has no significant customer which 
contributes 10% of more to the revenues of the Company. 
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25. Fair Value Measurement 

The following table sets forth the fair value hierarchy of the Company's financial assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value and those for which fair values are required to be disclosed: 

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 

Bonds payable 
Security and other deposits 
Lease liabilities 

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 

Loans payable 
Bonds payable 
Security and other deposits 
Lease liabilities 

2021 

Carrying value 

P5,987,044,949 
750,990,427 

27,838,182 
¥6,765,873,s58 

2020 

Carrying value 

P2,344,166,667 
5,974,168,846 

849,074,060 
2,190,115,165 

Fair Value 
Significant 

unobservable 
inputs (Level 3) 

P5,699,255,351 
726,647,728 

25,692,831 
1"6,451,595,910 

Fair Value 
Significant 

unobservable 
inputs (Level 3) 

P2,243,880,721 
5,686,998,186 

821,552,066 
2,083,161,648 

Pll,357,524,738 1"10,835,592,621 

Due to the short-tenn nature of the transactions, the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables and current portion of accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate the fair market 
values. 

The fair value of noncurrent deposits is estimated using the disCOlIDted cash flow methodology based 
on the discounted value of future cash flows using the applicable risk-free rates for similar types of 
asset. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the difference between the fair value and carrying value of 
deposits is not significant. 

The methods and assumptions used by the Company in estimating the fair value of the financial 
instruments are: 

• Security and other deposits. The discount rates used ranges from 2.4% to 4.3% as of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020. Fair value is computed based on the expected future cash 
outflows. 

• Loans payable, lease liabilities and bonds payable. Liabilities with fIXed interest and not 
subjected to quarterly repricing is based on the discounted value of future cash flows using the 
applicable interest rates for similar types ofloans as of reporting date. The discount rates used 
range from 5.05% to 8.35% and 4.01% to 5.58% as of December 31, 2021 and 
December 31, 2020, respectively. 
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During the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, there were no transfers between 
Levell and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out ofLeve13 fair value 
measurements. 

26. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

The Company' s financial instruments comprise of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, long-term 
debt, accounts payable and accrued expenses, lease liabilities and security and other deposits. The 
main purpose of the long-term debt is to finance the Company's operations while all other financial 
instruments resulted from the conduct of business. 

The main risks arising from the Company's financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Company's risk management policies are summarized below: 

a. Interest rate risk 
The Company's exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the 
Company's loans payable. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, 
with all other variables held constant, of the Company's income before income tax. 

December 31, 2021 

December 31, 2020 

Increase 
(decrease) 

in basis points 
+100 
-100 

+100 
-100 

Effect on income 
before income 
tax/capitalized 

borrowing costs 

(1'23.4 million) 
23.4 million 

There is no impact on the Company's equity other than those already affecting the parent 
company statements of comprehensive income. 

b. Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations lll1der a financial instrument 
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its 
operating activities, primarily for its trade receivables, and from its financing activities, including 
deposits with banks and financial institutions, and other financial instruments. 

Credit risk arising from rental income from leasing properties is primarily managed through a 
tenant selection process. Prospective tenants are evaluated on the basis of payment track record 
and other credit information. In accordance with the provisions of the lease contracts, the lessees 
are required to deposit with the Company security deposits and advance rentals which helps 
reduce the Company's credit risk exposure in case of defaults by the tenants. For existing 
tenants, the Company has put in place a monitoring and follow-up system. Receivables are aged 
and analyzed on a continuous basis to minimize credit risk associated with these receivables. 

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Company which comprise 
cash and cash equivalents, the Company's exposure to credit risk relates to default of the 
counterparty with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amOlll1t of the instrllinents. 
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An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure 
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based groupings of various customer segments 
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by market segment and collateral type). The calculation reflects 
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable 
information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and 
forecasts of future economic conditions. 

The credit risk exposure on the Company's lease receivables using a provision matrix results to 
Il7.7 million expected credit loss for the year ended December 31, 2021. The expected credit loss 
rate has been set at 7.2% to 62.37% based on the historical collection pattern of the tenants. The 
loss given default rate is set at 9.1 % to 79.96% in the calculation of impairment on the 
receivables net of security deposit and advance rent as these can be used to offset unpaid 
receivables. 

In most cases, recoveries are higher than the amount of receivable at default. As of 
December 31,2021 and December 31, 2020, most of the Company's trade receivables are 
covered by security deposits and advances rentals. As of December 31, 2021, and 2020, the 
Company's allowance for ECL on its trade receivables amounted to f!7. 7 million and 
f!O.3 million, respectively (see Note 5). 

With respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, the Company's exposure to 
credit risk arises from default of the countetparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the 
carrying amount of these instruments. 

The table below shows the Company's credit quality as of December 31, 2021 and 2020: 

Cash and cash 
equivalents* 

Receivables 
Deposits 

2021 
Neither Past Due nor Impaired 

Standard Past Due but 
High Grade Grade not bnpaired 

112,586,852,631 
638,129,010 
53,497,322 

P3,278,478.963 

0-
116,866,623 

P116,866,623 
*Excludes cash an hand amounting to 1'343,000. 

Cash and cash 
equivalents* 

Receivables 

2020 
Neither Past Due nor hnpaired 

Standard 
High Grade Grade 

11870,424,532 

Past Due but 
not Impaired 

0-
144,487,561 

Past Due 
and Impaired Total 

Il- 112,586,852,631 
7,702;1.72 762,697,905 

53,497,322 
P7,702,272 P3,403,047,858 

Past Due 
and Impaired 

0-
285,258 

To"" 

11870,424,532 

The Company's high-grade receivables and deposits pertain to receivables and deposits from related 
parties and third parties which, based on experience, are highly collectible or collectible on demand, 
and of which exposure to expected credit loss is not significant. 

FLI00502
Text Box



- 54-

The analysis of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired follow: 

De<:ember 31, 2021 
December 31, 2020 

Liquidity risk 

1120,567,738 
55,829,258 

Liquidity risk: is defined as the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with the financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another fmancial asset. 
The Company's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility 
through the use of bank loans. The Company's practice is that float will be kept at a minimum. 

The tables below summarize the maturity profile oftbe Company's financial assets held to manage 
liquidity: 

2021 
Within >1 3 >3 5 0", 

On demand 1 xear lears Yean 5 Iearil ToW 
Cash and eash equivalents P515,722,841 112,071,472,790 I'- I'- • P2,587,195,631 
Receiv:lbles 727,583,529 35,114,376 762,697,905 
DCl!osits 53~47,321 53,947~21 

111,243,306.370 P2,106,S87,166 I'- I'- P53,947,321 .3,403,840,857 

2020 
Within >1 3 >3 , 0.& 

On demand 1 ;!ear ~ears y=" 5 :tears T",,1 
Cash and cash equivalents t>602,644,513 1'267,873,019 I'- I'- I'- 1'870,517,532 
Receivables 795,250,212 35,179,500 830,429,712 
Deeosits 40,903,155 40,903,155 

1'1,397,894,725 1'303,052,519 '" I'- 1'40,903,155 1'1,741,850,399 

Maturity profile of the Company's fmancialliabilities is shown below (in thousands): 

2021 
Upto a >1 3 >3 5 Over 

On demand lear total leal'll Years 5 lears Tot:lill 
Bonds payable I'- • P6.,OOO,OOO • 0- 116,000,000 
Lease liabilities 1,894 1,989 4,281 63,199 71,363 
Intereston bonds'" 307,184 5,050 312,234 
Accounts payable and 

accrued expenses 1,117,636 1,117,636 
Securi!;! and other d9!osils 98,519 250,766 312,075 661,360 

111,117,636 11407597 tr6,357 ,805 1t31MS6 1163,199 11&162,593 
"lndud~ folurt; inMrt;j;1 payable. 

2020 
Up 10 a >1 - 3 >3 - 5 0.& 

On demand ~eartotal ;r:ears y,= 5 ;r:em ToW 
Loans payable I'- 1'744,167 1'400,000 PI,200,OOO I'- P2,344,167 
Bonds payable 6,000,000 6,000,000 
Lease liabilities 92,617 232,749 401,374 1,463,375 2,190,115 
Interest on loans* 15,921 112,204 185,397 56,876 370,398 
Acoounts payable and accrued 

expenses 1,583,712 1,583,712 
Securi!;! and other d2:!sits 116,415 259,242 473,417 849,074 

Pl,599,633 1'1,065,403 1'1,077,388 1'8,131,667 111,463,375 1'13,337,466 
*Includes folure inM~J payable. 

1IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIInlIIIIIIIIIIII 
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27. Notes to Statements of Cash Flows 

Investing Activities 
The Company's noncash investing activities are as follows: 
• The Company recognized right~of~use assets presented under investment properties and lease 

liabilities amounting to 112,149.3 million in 2020 (nil in 2021; see Notes 8 and20). 
• Outstanding liabilities pertaining to investment properties purchased on account are recorded in 

the parent company statements of fmancial position under "Accounts payable and accrued 
expenses" account, amounting to nil and 112.6 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively (see Note 11). 

• Outstanding liabilities pertaining to intangible assets acquired on account are recorded in the 
parent company statements of financial position under "Accounts payable and accrued expenses" 
aCcOlUlt atnOlUlting to 1183.5 million as of December 31, 2020 (nil as of December 31, 2021). 

• Outstanding liabiljties pertaining to unpaid additions to noncurrent asset held for distribution are 
recorded in the parent company statements of financial position under "Accounts payable and 
accrued expenses" account, amounting to 1122.2 million as of December 31, 2020 (nil as of 
December 31, 2021; see Note 6). 

• The Company derecognized right of use of assets under "Investment properties" as a result of the 
amendment of lease contract with FLI. The net book value of this right of use assets amounted to 
Pl,842.0 million as of December 31,2021 (nil as of December 31,2020; see Notes 9 and 20). 

• The Company derecognized Prepaid Des connection charge under "Other noncurrent assets" as a 
result of the derecognition of related assets of property dividends amounting to P132.4 million as 
of December 31, 2021 (nil as of December 31,2020; see Note 11). This was offset against "Due 
to related parties" under accounts payable and accrued expenses. 

Financing Activities 
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities for the year ended December 31 , 2021 
and 2020 follows (in thousands): 

January 1, A vailmentJ Noncash December 31, 
2021 Addition PaImenu Movement 2021 

Loans payable 112,344,167 I'- I'- (P2,344,167) I'-
Bonds payable 5,974,169 12,876 5,987,045 
Lease liabilities 2,190,115 (15,564) (2,146,713) 27,838 
Accrued interest 113,037 (315,074) 304,258 102,221 
Dividends payable 6,611,907 2,786,409 (1,095,982) (8,302,334) 
Deposit for future stock 

subscriEtion 12889,583 {1J!89z583} 
1119,12;978 112,786,409 (PI,426,620} (Pt4,365,663) 116,117,104 

January I, Avaihnentl Noncash December 31 , 
2020 Addition PaY!!!;ents Movement 2020 

Loans payable P4,218,371 Pl,OOO,OOO (Pl,355,455) (1,518,749) 112,344,167 
Bonds payable 5,961,553 12,616 5,974,169 
Lease liabilities 283,428 (47,613) 1,954,300 2,190,115 
Accrued interest 109,323 (471.908) 475,622 113,037 
Dividends payable 348,340 (348,340) 6,611,907 6,611,907 
Deposit for future stock 

subscription 128892583 118891583 
1110,921,015 111,000,000 (!2,223,316) 119,425,279 PI92122,978 

Noncash movement includes amortization of debt issuance costs and interest expense for loans 
payable, bonds payable, and lease liabilities. 

FLI00502
Text Box



- 56-

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the noncash movement also include derecognition of lease 
liabilities, distribution of property dividends payable, and assignment of loans payable to FLI 
amounting 112,167.8 million and ¥g,302.3 million and 1012,344.2 million, respectively 
(see Notes 13, 16 and 20). 

28. Other Matters 

CQVID-19 Pandemic 
The Company continues to abide by and comply with all rules and regulations issued by the 
government in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic. In line with applicable rules and regulations, the 
said risks are mitigated by business continuity strategies set in place by the Company. Measures 
currently undertaken by the Company to mitigate the risks of COVID-19 pandemic on its opemtions 
include work-from-home arrangements depending on the quarantine protocols in place, proper and 
frequent sanitation of office premises, cancellation oflarge group meetings in person, an internal ban 
on foreign business travel, and the practice of social distancing through remote communication, 
among others. 

The general global slowdown and the imposition of community quarantine measures due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic had short- to medium-tenn effects on new Office Leasing activities. Prior to the 
pandemic, inquiries from potential tenants were about leasing entire floors of buildings but the 
demand was reduced to much smaller size cuts in 2020. Physical site inspections as required by all 
prospective tenants were halted due to the community quarantine restrictions. Contract signing and 
handover dates of new incoming tenants were adjusted to 2021. Construction rent free periods were 
given to accommodate fit out delays and social distancing guidelines on construction resulting from 
six to eight months delay in construction deliveries and construction manpower reduction by 50%. 
Non-renewal and pre-termination of contracts were also experienced in 2021 but this was 
counterweighed by the renewal of all lease expiries during the year at current market rates. 

Typhoon Odette 
Typhoon Odette did not hamper the operations ofFilinvest Cyberzone Cebu Tower I when it made 
landfall on December 16, 2021. The building remained operational on a 2417 basis despite the power 
interruption in the area, utilizing backup generators until power was fully restored on January 6, 2022. 
Damage to property was not material and eligible to receive insurance claims. 

1111111 ~ IIIIIIIIIIII~IIIIIIIIIIIIIII~I~ 

FLI00502
Text Box




